
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

 

MAYOR AND CABINET 
 

 

Date: WEDNESDAY, 11 JANUARY 2017 at 6.00 pm 

 
Committee Rooms 1 & 2 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
Enquiries to: Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327 
Telephone: 0208 314 9327 (direct line) 
Email: kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
MEMBERS 
 

 

Sir Steve Bullock Mayor L 
Councillor Alan Smith Deputy Mayor - Growth & Regeneration L 
Councillor Chris Best Health, Well-Being & Older People L 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia Resources L 
Councillor Janet Daby Community Safety L 
Councillor Joe Dromey Policy and Performance L 
Councillor Damien Egan Housing L 
Councillor Paul Maslin Children & Young People L 
Councillor Joan Millbank Third Sector and Community L 
Councillor Rachel Onikosi Public Realm L 

 

Members are summoned to attend this meeting 
Barry Quirk 
Chief Executive 
Lewisham Town Hall  
Catford 
London SE6 4RU 
Date: Wednesday, 04 January 2017 

 

 

 

 

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some 
business in private.  Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request. 

 



 

 

 ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA  

 

Item 
No 

 
 

Page 
No.s 

1.   Declaration of Interests 
 

1 - 4 

2.   Consideration of call-in of decisions on New Bermondsey CPO 
 

5 - 244 

3.   New Bermondsey Housing Zone 
 

245 - 274 

 
 

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
The public are welcome to attend our Committee meetings, however, occasionally, 
committees may have to consider some business in private.  Copies of reports can be 
made available in additional formats on request. 
 



 

 
 

 
 

   



 

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA 
 

 
You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public. 
 
The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or 
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording. 
 
If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must: 
 

 tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts; 
 

 only focus cameras/recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those members 
of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid other 
areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public may 
be sitting; and 
 

 ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting 
room. 
 

If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then 
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording. In such circumstances, the 
decision of the Chair shall be final. 



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\8\ai00015800\$c5u0nv3j.doc 

 

 

MAYOR & CABINET 
 

Report Title 
 

Declarations of Interests 

Key Decision 
 

No  Item No. 1 
 

Ward 
 

n/a 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: January 11 2017 

 
 
 
 
 Declaration of interests 
 
 Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on 
 the agenda. 
 
1 Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct :-  

 
(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2)  Other registerable interests 
(3)  Non-registerable interests 
 

 
2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 
(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 

gain 
 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c)  Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\8\ai00015800\$c5u0nv3j.doc 

 

 
(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough; and  

 
 (b)  either 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 

 
 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 

nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
(3)  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register 
the following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which 

you were appointed or nominated by the Council 
 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to 
charitable purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence 
of public opinion or policy, including any political party 

 
(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 
 
(4) Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be 
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close 
associate more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area 
generally, but which is not required to be registered in the Register of 
Members’ Interests  (for example a matter concerning the closure of a school 
at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
 



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\8\ai00015800\$c5u0nv3j.doc 

 

(5)  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 
 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity  and in any 
event before the matter is considered.  The declaration will be recorded 
in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary 
interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter 
and withdraw from the room before it is considered.  They must not 
seek improperly to influence the decision in any way. Failure to 
declare such an interest which has not already been entered in the 
Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where such an 
interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a 
fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event 
before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, 
participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless 
paragraph (c) below applies. 
 

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest.  If so, the member must 
withdraw  and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would 
affect those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to 
the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a 
registerable interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek 
the advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6)   Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests.  These are 
interests the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk 
of violence or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such 
interest need not be registered.  Members with such an interest are referred to 
the Code and advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

  
(7) Exempt categories 
 



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\8\ai00015800\$c5u0nv3j.doc 

 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing 
so.  These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the 

matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears 
exception) 

(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor 
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or 
of which you are a governor;  

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d)  Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 





MAYOR AND CABINET 
 

Report Title 
 

Response to Call-in of Mayor and Cabinet Decision – New Bermondsey 
(Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory Purchase 
Order 

Key Decision 
 

Yes  Item No.  

Ward 
 

All 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, Head of Planning, 
Head of Law  

Class Part 1 Date: 11 January 2017 
 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report reports on matters which led to the reconsideration of the decision by 

the Cabinet on 15 December 2016 being deferred. It also responds to the 
comments made by the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel on 13 December 
2016.  

 
1.2 The report which was due to be considered by the Cabinet at the meeting on 15 

December 2016 and which: 
 

1.2.1 informed the Cabinet of the response to the call-in and associated comments 
agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel on 20 September 2016 
in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules and asked the Cabinet to confirm the decision made on “New 
Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory 
Purchase Order” on 7 September 2016; and 

 
1.2.2 reported back to the Cabinet on the matters which led to a deferral of the re-

consideration of the decision on 28 September 2016 
 

is attached to this report as Appendix 1 and should be considered by the Cabinet 
along with this report. 

 
2. Purpose of the Report 
 
2.1 To inform the Cabinet of the response of Officers to the call-in agreed by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel on 20 September 2016 and the subsequent 
comments made by the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel on 13 December 
2016 and to ask the Cabinet to confirm the decision made on “New Bermondsey 
(Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” on 7 
September 2016. 

 



2.2 To report back to the Cabinet on the matters which led to the deferrals of the re-
consideration of the decision on 28 September 2016 and 15 December 2016 
respectively.  

 
3.  Recommendation 
 
 The Cabinet is requested to confirm the decision made on “New Bermondsey 

(Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” on 7 
September 2016. 

 
4. Background 

4.1 At a meeting of Mayor and Cabinet held on 7 September 2016, the Cabinet 
considered a report entitled “New Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) 
Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” and their decision was to agree the 
recommendations in that report. In accordance with the Constitution, this decision 
was notified to all members of the Business Panel within 2 days of being made. 

4.2 The decision was considered at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Business 
Panel on 20 September 2016 and their decision was to refer the matter back to 
Mayor and Cabinet for reconsideration. 

4.3 The decision was due to be reconsidered at the meeting of Mayor and Cabinet on 
28 September 2016, but the matter was deferred for the reasons set out in 
paragraph 7.1 of the report attached at Appendix 1. 

4.4 The decision was then due to be reconsidered at the meeting of Mayor and Cabinet 
on 15 December 2016. On 13 December 2016 the Overview and Scrutiny Business 
Panel were given the opportunity to make comments on the report to the Mayor 
and Cabinet for consideration by the Mayor and Cabinet when it met to reconsider 
its decision.  Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel’s comments following 
consideration of the report are set out at paragraph 5.1 below.  

4.5 At the meeting of Mayor and Cabinet on 15 December 2016, Cabinet deferred re-
consideration of the decision. Councillor Alan Smith, Chair of Cabinet, made the 
following statement: 

“In all of its deliberations about the proposed compulsory purchase order at New 

Bermondsey, the Council has been, and remains, firmly committed to the 

continued operation of the Millwall Football Club. We recognise that its continued 

operation must be at the heart of ant proposed redevelopment. To achieve this, 

the Council has throughout put in place measures to protect the Club and the 

Millwall Community Scheme, including through the imposition of planning 

obligations to secure the use of the new improved sporting facilities that would be 

provided if the redevelopment proceeds. 

For the first time, despite years of contact between the Council and the Club, on 

13 December 2016, the Chief Executive of Millwall Football Club in his spoken 



submission to the Council raised an issue which the Club has never before brought 

to our attention. The issue which is clearly important to the Club concerns the 

Category 2 status of the Millwall Football Club Youth Academy. The Club’s Chief 

Executive told the Council on 13 December that such status may be put in jeopardy 

by the current proposals for the use of the new sporting facilities to replace the 

Lions Centre, should the redevelopment proceed. We do not believe this to be the 

case. 

However, this is clearly a significant issue for the Club and, despite the fact that it 

has only been brought to the attention of the Council at this very late stage, it is an 

issue which the Council takes seriously. Since the issue was first raised, Council 

officers have been gathering information about the current arrangements between 

the Academy and the Millwall Community Scheme for use of the facilities at the 

Lions Centre. We need to get to the bottom of the existing arrangements so that 

we can understand what future protection would be needed. 

We believe that sufficient protections are in place already, but we want to be 

confident that if the compulsory purchase order proceeds, appropriate protections 

are in place to protect the Category 2 status. For this reason we are making further 

enquiries, including writing to the Club and the Millwall Community Scheme to set 

out for us in writing details of their current arrangements and to let us have 

information concerning the Category 2 status of the Academy. 

To allow members to consider the new information and its impact, I am proposing 
that the reconsideration of the decision made by the Cabinet on 7 September 2016 
to make a compulsory purchase order in respect of the New Bermondsey site be 
deferred to our next meeting on 11 January 2017. That will allow us to give this 
particular matter further consideration.” 

4.6 Accordingly, on 16 December 2016 the Chief Executive wrote to Steven Kavanagh, 
Chief Executive of Millwall Football Club and to Peter Walsh, Chair of Millwall 
Community Scheme. Responses were received and further letters have been sent 
out. Copies of the correspondence and the responses received to date are 
attached as Appendix 3 to this report. 

4.7 The officer response to the further comments made by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Business Panel on 13 December 2016 is set out at Section 5 of this report. 

 
5. Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel – Further Comments made on 13 

December 2016 
 

5.1 On 13 December 2016 the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel considered the 

report due to be considered by the Cabinet on 15 December 2016. Following 

discussion at the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel, Members agreed to 

make the following additional comments and requests to the Cabinet in support of 

their existing Call-in: 

 



i. Correspondence received from Eversheds and Shoosmiths be referred to the 

Cabinet and officers be asked to prepare a response. 

 

ii. the Cabinet be requested to ask officers to ensure that all Housing Action 

Zone bid documents are made available to Scrutiny Members, and a 

redacted copy made available to the public. 

 

iii. the Memorandum of Understanding should be signed before a CPO is 

approved.  
 

iv. the Cabinet be requested to ask PwC to give their professional  advice to 

members on assurances made by Renewal in respect of the Bermondsey 

CPO arrangements. 
 

v. the Cabinet be requested to ask officers to ensure that the Section 106 

agreement is reviewed by the Strategic Planning Committee.  
 

vi. the Cabinet be requested to ask officers to resolve issues raised on the 

Academy and the Community Trust before the CPO is approved. 
 

vii. Business Panel raised concerns about Renewal’s CPO signage. The Cabinet 

is requested to consider whether they would want to do business with a 

company, which despite an apology, had taken such a heavy handed 

approach with local residents and businesses. 
 

viii. the Lambeth Smith Hampton narrative seemed to be incomplete, and the 

Cabinet is requested to ensure that documents and correspondence relating 

to the CPO be made available in a timely manner 
 

6. Officer Response to Comments: 
 
6.1  Point i. 
 
6.1.1 On 13 December 2016, Eversheds acting on behalf of their client Millwall Football 

Club Limited wrote to Councillor Alan Hall. A copy of that letter is attached to this 
report at Appendix 4. Officers’ response to the issues raised in that letter are as 
follows, using the same headings used in the letter: 
 
Appointment of Renewal as Developer 

  
Taking each bullet point under this heading in turn: 

  
 
Bullet point 1 



 
It is acknowledged that Renewal does not have a track record in schemes of this 
scale and nature.  However, as confirmed by PwC, the Master Delivery Strategy 
and the use of specialist sub-developers and the attendant transfer of construction 
and residential market risks helps address concerns about Renewal’s lack of track 
record.   
  
On a point of accuracy, it is not correct to say that the Council has ‘appointed’ 
Renewal.  Renewal are bringing the scheme forward of their own accord and have 
assembled the majority of the land interests in the site and secured planning 
permission for the Scheme.  Members are being asked to consider whether to 
support completion of the land assembly required for the Scheme through the use 
of CPO powers.   
 
Bullet point 2 
  
This appears to be a statement of fact and it is not clear what is being suggested. 
The former leader is assumed to be a reference to David Sullivan, the former Mayor 
of Lewisham.  He left the Council in 2002 before Renewal commenced its land 
assembly exercise in the area and long before any decisions relating to the scheme 
came to be made by the Council.  Renewal have provided information to show that 
David Sullivan had sold all his shares in the UK registered companies by 19 June 
2006 and that he ceased to be a Director of the UK registered companies on 31 
August 2007. 
  
Information provided to the Council’s external lawyers Bond Dickinson confirms 
David Sullivan has not at any time had any involvement in the IoM companies.    

  
The former senior officer is a reference to Mushtaq Malik.  He left the Council in 
1995 before the Renewal companies were established and before the project 
began.  
 
Bullet point 3 
  
It is made clear in the Mayor and Cabinet report of 7 September 2016 that the 
shareholders in Renewal are incorporated overseas.  In relation to the comment 
about ‘tax havens’, as is made clear in the Mayor and Cabinet report of 15 
December 2016 (paragraph 6.2.1) the profits from the scheme will be liable to UK 
tax.  This is provided for in the Finance Act 2016.  

  
The beneficial owners are not anonymous. This information is contained in the 
PwC report and was therefore known to Council officers and available to Members. 
The ultimate owners of Renewal are: 

  



(1)  Independent Advisors Incorporated (IAI), which is ultimately owned 
and controlled by the Malik family trust established solely for the 
benefit of Mushtaq Malik and his dependents.  

  
(2)  Incorporated Holdings Limited (IHL), which is ultimately owned and 

controlled by a charitable trust, for which the principal beneficiary is 
the Jack Petchey Foundation, a UK registered charity.   

 
A letter from IHL confirming their ownership is attached to this report at Appendix 
6. The documentation relating to the Malik family trust has been reviewed and 
verified by the Council’s external lawyers Bond Dickinson, who have also 
confirmed that the documentation they have seen shows that all of the shares in 
IAI are held on trust for the benefit of the Malik family and are not held on trust for 
any other third party or entity. 
 
Bullet point 4 
  
The due diligence carried out has been extensive.  The issues regarding 
deliverability of the Scheme are addressed at length in the Mayor and Cabinet 
report of 7 September 2016 (paragraphs 7.47 – 7.74) which in turn set out the 
conclusions of the PwC and GL Hearn Reports. 
 
Bullet point 5 

  
Renewal are bringing the Scheme forward of their own accord and have 
assembled the majority of the land interests in the site and secured planning 
permission for the Scheme.   As is acknowledged in the Mayor and Cabinet report 
of 7 September 2016 (paragraph 7.60), the Council does not have a directly 
enforceable obligation from Renewal to deliver the whole of the scheme, but any 
such obligation would not in any event guarantee delivery.  Officers remain of the 
opinion that the necessary resources will be available and that the Scheme will 
provide a sufficient return to Renewal (or another developer/developers), such that 
the Council can be confident that if the CPO is confirmed, Renewal will wish to 
proceed with the Scheme (for the reasons given above), and the Scheme will be 
delivered.   
 
Bullet point 6 
 
Viability information was in fact provided through the planning application process 
which commenced in 2011 and long before the Mayor and Cabinet meeting of 13 
September 2013.  That aside, the report to Mayor and Cabinet on 13 September 
2013 was not considering the viability of the Scheme. As is made clear in Part 2 of 
the report to Mayor and Cabinet on 13 September 2013, a redacted copy of which 
has been provided to MFC: “The Mayor will not be asked to consider using 
compulsory purchase powers unless and until full financial due diligence has been 
undertaken and officers are satisfied that Renewal Group Limited has a viable 



business plan and funding strategy to deliver the scheme.” The GL Hearn viability 
report referred to was commissioned as part of this exercise and the information 
provided has been further updated and additional information provided since that 
time.  
  
In all the circumstances, the suggestion that the matter should be treated with 
“deep scepticism” or that this is somehow a “wholly extraordinary approach” is not 
accepted. 

  
LSH Brochure  
  
We do not know how the LSH Brochure found its way to the Guardian newspaper 
journalist (Barney Ronay) and no evidence has been provided to demonstrate how 
it came to be in his possession. 
  
In response to specific questions, the CEO of LSH has stated “LSH were not 
instructed to produce the document by IHL or any member of the Renewal Group. 
As I have indicated, a copy of this document was not seen or approved by IHL or 
Renewal.”   
  
This accords with Renewal and IHL’s statements that they had not instructed, seen 
or approved the LSH Brochure. 
  
The claim it is highly improbable the LSH Brochure was prepared without the 
client’s knowledge or approval does not accord with the statements received from 
those involved.  We have not received any evidence to suggest those statements 
are not correct.    
  
The Council has verified the terms of LSH’s engagement. The correspondence 
passing between IHL and LSH remains confidential, but it has been made available 
for inspection by Members under the relevant provisions of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
It is important to note that it is not disputed that LSH were engaged by IHL and that 
information would have been provided to LSH by IHL. However, LSH have 
confirmed that they were not instructed to produce the LSH Brochure.  
 
The position on the LSH Brochure is set out in detail in section 7 of the Mayor and 
Cabinet report of 15 December 2016. 

  
The inability of the Club to bid for the freehold of the land they leased 
  
This issue has already been fully addressed in the Mayor and Cabinet report of 15 
December 2016 (paragraph 6.4.2 (a) Point 1).  It is simply not accepted that ‘it was 
impossible for CBRE to advise the Club to make a bid’.  It was always open to MFC 
to make a bid, but they chose not to.  



  
Threat to future of MCT and Youth Academy 
  
This is dealt with at paragraph 6.6 (point iv) below. 
  
Misleading statements about extent of land owned or controlled by Renewal 
  
The position on the land and rights to be included in the CPO is set out correctly 
and in full at section 6 of the Mayor and Cabinet report of 7 September 2016. The 
land owned/controlled by Renewal is shown on the plan attached as Appendix 5 
to that report and the position has therefore been accurately and correctly 
presented to Members. The freehold and leasehold interests proposed to be 
included in the CPO are set out in full in the Table attached as Appendix 6 to that 
report. The position regarding the conditional Land Sale Agreement is also clearly 
set out in that report.  
 

6.1.2 On 9 December 2016, Shoosmiths also wrote to the Mayor and Members of the 
Cabinet on behalf of certain occupiers within the Site.  A copy of Shoosmiths’ letter 
is also included at Appendix 4.   A number of the points made by Shoosmiths have 
been made before in previous correspondence and have been addressed in the 
previous reports (see paragraphs 7.38 to 7.44, 7.75//7.76, Sections 11 and 12 of 
the Mayor and Cabinet Report of 7 September 2016 and relevant Appendices).  
  
With regard to engagement with the owner/occupiers, it is common in CPO cases 
for negotiations to be progressed by the developer, as is the case here.  As is 
explained at paragraph 6.7 below, the CPO Indemnity Agreement includes 
provisions regarding negotiations with landowners, including the Council’s 
involvement in negotiations generally and where any conflict arises if GL Hearn 
continue to act in a given case.  As has been made clear in previous reports, the 
Council has been in contact with owners and occupiers on a number of occasions 
and has made it quite clear that it remains willing and available to negotiate with 
owners/occupiers in the event they do not wish to deal with Renewal.  
  
The position as at 7 September 2016 regarding negotiations with the parties 
represented by Shoosmiths was set out in the Mayor and Cabinet report of that 
date (paragraph 7.10).  Since then, in October a Council officer met with Mr 
Sylvanus Onipede of Sylvanus Woodcraft (Unit 35 Bolina Industrial Estate) and Mr 
Van Nguyen (who owns Units 31/32 Bolina Industrial Estate together with Van Thi 
Ngoc Huynh).  Following the meeting, both Mr Onipede and Mr Nguyen have jointly 
appointed a local agent (Hindwoods) to act on their behalf in the search for an 
alternative location and in progressing negotiations. GL Hearn and Hindwoods are 
actively engaged in discussions and the search for suitable alternative locations 
for both Units 35 and 31/32 Bolina Industrial Estate.  Officers are monitoring the 
situation and will become involved in those negotiations if appropriate. 
  



With regard to Ms Winston, as Members are aware she is an artist/sculptor with 
premises at Unit 17 Excelsior Works.  The position regarding engagement remains 
as stated in the Mayor and Cabinet report of 7 September 2016.  Ms Winston has 
complained of stress caused by the situation and has also stated that she does not 
want to be disturbed whilst preparing for an important show this year.  Whilst 
Renewal and officers remain available and keen to progress matters with Ms 
Winston, they are conscious of her circumstances. 

 
6.2 Point ii. 
 

The Housing Action Zone bid documents are available for inspection by all 
Members in the offices of Legal Services. A redacted copy of the bid documents 
will be appended to the Mayor and Cabinet report and will therefore be available 
for public inspection. 

 
6.3 Point iii. 
 

It is not necessary for the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) to be signed 
before the CPO is approved. The GLA has stated that it will enter into the MoU 
with the Council once Mayor and Cabinet have approved it and following the CPO 
resolution becoming effective. The Memorandum of Understanding is the subject 
of a separate report which appears elsewhere on the Agenda of the meeting at 
which this report is due to be considered. 

 
6.4 Point iv. 
 
 The assurances made by Mushtaq Malik, Chief Executive on behalf of Renewal on 

12 December 2016 are attached to this report as Appendix 6. 
 
 The position regarding verification of the comments on Ownership is dealt with at 

paragraph 6.1 above. 
 
 The comments on Millwall Community Trust can only be taken at face value at this 

point. However, they provide reassurance regarding the relocation package to be 
offered and the way in which the relocation will work. It is also important to note 
that the Section 106 Agreement protects the Trust in the following ways: 

 

 there is no obligation upon MCS to vacate the Lions Centre until the new 
facilities at Energize are completed; 

 

 the replacement facility is to be provided to a detailed specification approved 
by the Council which must be at least of the same quality and nature as the 
existing facilities offered by the MCS; 
 

 a Lions Centre Relocation Strategy will be agreed which sets out the future 
needs of MCS; how the accommodation needs of MCS will be met; how the 



MCS will be accommodated and operational prior to demolition of the Lions 
Centre; a detailed specification for the replacement facility and programme 
of works; and a detailed statement of how the replacement facility will by 
occupied by MFS including written confirmation that MFS approve of the 
proposals.  
 

 the Lions Centre Relocation Strategy will be based on  liaison between the 
trustees of MCS, Millwall, the FA and Sports England with evidence of the 
liaison and agreement with MCS forming part of the strategy. 
 

 the developer is to submit the Lions Centre Relocation Strategy to the 
Council for approval prior to the commencement of phase 2 or any D2 use 
(whichever is the earlier).  No commencement of phase 2 and/or D2 space 
(whichever is the earlier) can take place until that strategy is approved. 

 

 the Replacement Facility must be open for use by the public in accordance 
with the approved strategy prior to the demolition of the existing facility; 
 

 no material operation can take place that would prevent the Lions Centre 
remaining operational in its current facility until the replacement facility is 
finished and open to the public; 
 

 Phases 2, 3, 4, 5 and 5A cannot be occupied unless in accordance with the 
approved Lions Centre Relocation Strategy. 

 
 It will be noted that in his e-mail of 12 December 2016, Mr Malik also includes 

comments (under the heading ‘Relationship with the Council’) about the previous 
involvement of Dave Sullivan in Renewal.  Additional information on this point is 
also included above under the heading Bullet point 2. So far as member and officer 
interests are concerned, the Chief Executive has confirmed that no current 
member or Council officer has declared any involvement, financial or otherwise, 
with Renewal or either of its shareholders. The position of the Mayor is as stated. 

 
 PwC have been asked to comment on the assurances and their response is 

awaited. 
  
6.5 Point v. 
 
 The Council Scheme of Delegation sets out the delegation to officers in relation to 

non-executive planning matters and those matters that are reserved to Strategic 
Planning Committee. Whilst the comment of the Overview and Scrutiny Business 
Panel is noted, as these are non-executive functions, it is not appropriate for the 
Cabinet to determine how decisions relating to those functions are made or to 
make any request in this respect.  

 
6.6 Point vi. 



 
 The current position is as set out at paragraph 4.6 of this report and copies of the 

correspondence are attached at Appendix 3. At the time of publishing this report, 
responses were still awaited from the Club and the Millwall Community Scheme 
and officers will therefore confirm the position regarding these issues at the 
meeting where this report is considered. 

 
6.7 Point vii. 
 
 As stated, Renewal have apologised for the signage referred to and this was an 

error of judgement on their part. The negotiations with landowners are being 
carried out by GL Hearn under a joint appointment with the Council and Renewal. 
This means that GL Hearn owe an equal duty of care to the Council and Renewal. 
Council officers are involved in these negotiations and, as has been made clear on 
a number of occasions, are available and willing to engage directly with landowners 
where landowners request this. Under the terms of the CPO Indemnity Agreement, 
if at any point the Council considers it should take over the negotiations, then there 
is a process for that to happen.  Further, if the Council considers that there is a 
conflict of interest if GL Hearn continues to act under the joint appointment, it may 
following discussion with Renewal request the appointment of its own surveyor in 
place of GL Hearn to undertake the handling of all further negotiations. The 
Council’s decision on this is final. As such, Members should be reassured as to 
how negotiations with the remaining landowners will be undertaken, the Council’s 
role in overseeing this process and the protections that are in place under the CPO 
Indemnity Agreement. 

 
6.8 Point viii. 
 

 The position on Lambert Smith Hampton is set out in detail in section 7 of the 
Mayor and Cabinet report of 15 December 2016. Further comments are contained 
at paragraph 6.1 above under the heading ‘LSH Brochure’. As already stated, the 
correspondence passing between IHL and LSH remains confidential, but it has 
been made available for inspection by Members under the relevant provisions of 
the Local Government Act 1972. This also applies and will continue to apply to all 
documents and correspondence relating to the CPO where these are not publicly 
available due to their containing exempt information. 

  
7.  Financial Implications: 
 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 
8. Legal Implications: 
 
8.1 Members’ attention is drawn to the legal implications in the Report attached at 

Appendix 1 (and the Report attached at Appendix 1 to that Report) and should also 
note that the Constitutional position is referred to in the body of that report. 



 
9. Crime and Disorder Implications: 
 
9.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this response.   
 
10.  Equalities Implications: 
 
10.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this response. 

 
11.  Environmental Implications: 
 
11.1 There are no environmental implications arising from this response. 
 
12.  Conclusion 
 
12.1  In all the circumstances, having regard to the matters raised by Overview and 

Scrutiny Business Panel and the other matters addressed in this report, Officers 
remain of the view that there is a compelling case in the public interest for the 
compulsory acquisition of the remaining land interests to enable the scheme to 
proceed. Officers therefore recommend that the Cabinet agrees the 
recommendation in this report. 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Mayor & Cabinet Report dated 15 December 2016 “Response to Call-in of 
Mayor and Cabinet Decision – New Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) 
Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” and all Appendices to that report 
 
Appendix 2: Overview & Scrutiny Business Panel report dated 13 December 2016 “New 
Bermondsey (formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) proposed CPO”  
 
Appendix 3: Correspondence with Millwall Football Club and Millwall Community Trust 
 
Appendix 4: Eversheds letter dated 13 December 2016 and Shoosmiths letter dated 9 
December 2016 
 
Appendix 5: Correspondence received from Richard Slack and Shirley Kehoe 
 
Appendix 6: Assurances given by the Chief Executive of Renewal on 12 December 2016 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
If you have any queries on this report, please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM Capital 
Programme Delivery 0208 3149283 





MAYOR AND CABINET 
 

Report Title 
 

Response to Call-in of Mayor and Cabinet Decision – New 
Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory 
Purchase Order 

Key Decision 
 

Yes  Item No.  

Ward 
 

All 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, Head of 
Planning, Head of Law  
 

Class Part 1 
 

Date: 15 December 2016 

 
1. Summary 
 

This report responds to the call-in and associated comments agreed by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Business Panel on 20 September 2016 in accordance with Paragraph 
14 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  It also reports on matters which 
led to the reconsideration of the decision on 28 September 2016 being deferred. 

 
2. Purpose of the Report 
 

2.1 To inform the Cabinet of the response of Officers to the call-in and to ask the 
Cabinet to confirm the decision made on “New Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey 
Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” on 7 September 2016. 

 
2.2 To report back to the Cabinet on the matters which led to a deferral of the re-

consideration of the decision on 28 September 2016.  
 
3. Recommendation 
 

 The Cabinet is requested to confirm the decision made on “New Bermondsey 
(Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” on 7 
September 2016. 

 
4. Background 

4.1 At a meeting of Mayor and Cabinet held on 7 September 2016, the Cabinet 
considered a report entitled “New Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) 
Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” and their decision was to agree the 
recommendations in that report. In accordance with the Constitution, this decision 
was notified to all members of the Business Panel within 2 days of being made. 



4.2 The decision was considered at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Business 
Panel on 20 September 2016 and their decision was to refer the matter back to 
Mayor and Cabinet for reconsideration. 

4.3 The decision was due to be reconsidered at the meeting of Mayor and Cabinet on 
28 September 2016, but the matter was deferred for the reasons set out in 
paragraph 7.1 of this report. 

 
5. Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel – Reasons for Call-in 
 

5.1 On 20 September 2016 the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel considered 
the Cabinet decision, and the original report. 

 
5.2  Following the consideration of a letter from Millwall FC, and presentations from the 

Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, Jordana Malik from the 
Renewal Group, Richard Pickering and Willow Winston, Business Owners, and 
Millwall FC Advisors David Prescott, Nigel Kennedy and Andrew Barrow, the 
Business Panel resolved to call in the Cabinet’s decision asking them to consider 
the issues described below: 
 

I. Business Panel have specific concerns and were uncertain that the officer 
report and presentation demonstrated the viability of Renewal’s delivery 
mechanism for the proposed development. It is accepted by all parties that 
Renewal has no track record. 

 
II. Business Panel was concerned that the Council’s reputational risk has not 

been fully considered. 
 

III. Business Panel was not convinced that the proposed CPO was in the public 
interest. Panel members were concerned about the lack of clarity surrounding 
the provision of sports facilities and affordable and social housing.   

 
IV. On consideration of a letter from Millwall FC presenting fresh information and 

evidence, Business Panel believes there are sufficient grounds for the 
Cabinet to reconsider their decision. 

 
V. Business Panel had previously raised concerns about the lack of 

transparency within this project and had requested the Mayor to ask the Chief 
Executive to review the arrangements to ensure due diligence was in place. 
Business Panel is concerned that to date they had not received a response 
to their request from the Chief Executive, having made a request directly to 
him after the Cabinet had declined to intercede on their behalf. 

 
VI. In conclusion, the Business Panel agreed that there were insufficient grounds 

for a compelling case in the public interest to confirm a CPO. 
 

6. Officer Response to Issues 



 
6.1 Issue I 

 
6.1.1 This issue is discussed at length in the Report to Mayor and Cabinet of 7 

September 2016, attached to this Report as Appendix 1 – see paragraphs 
7.47 – 7.74 of the Report.   

 
6.1.2 Concern has been expressed about Renewal’s lack of a track record. Whilst 

Renewal have delivered a large number of projects, none have been on this 
scale, although it is fair to say that not that many developers will have a 
track record in projects of this size.  The lack of a track record on major 
schemes does of course bring into sharp focus the ability of Renewal to 
deliver and the question of viability and deliverability and the likelihood of 
project delivery 

 
6.1.3 GL Hearn have reported on behalf of Renewal on project viability and 

deliverability.  This has been assessed by PwC who have advised on 
Renewal’s overall ability to deliver the scheme and in turn the proposed 
funding and delivery strategy.  Their advice covers the funding needs of the 
scheme and the assets of the shareholders.  In accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1972, the confidential documents referred to in those 
paragraphs and elsewhere in the Report were made available for inspection 
by Members prior to the Cabinet decision on 7 September 2016 and have 
remained available for inspection by Members since that date.    

 
6.2 Issue II 

 
 

6.2.1 It is perhaps natural to be cautious when dealing with projects which rely on 
investment from overseas companies.  However, overseas investment in 
development projects is commonplace in the UK, especially in London.  
Thus in 2015, the UK ranked third, after the US and Germany, for 
investment in development by foreign investors from emerging markets.   
Further, non-UK resident companies that carry on a UK property 
development trade are liable for UK tax on profits of that trade, regardless 
of whether the trade is carried on through a permanent establishment in the 
UK. 

 
6.2.2 Concern has been expressed about the lack of information about the trusts 

that sit behind the shareholders (Incorporated Holdings Limited and 
Independent Advisors Incorporated), and the ultimate beneficiaries of those 
trusts.  The identity of those trusts has in fact been disclosed and details are 
contained in the PwC Report, but the names have not been made public 
because to do so would enable the individual beneficiaries of those trusts to 
be identified which in turn would result in a breach of Data Protection 
legislation.  



 
6.2.3 Whilst the concern about reputational risk is understood, the identity of the 

ultimate beneficiaries of the trusts is of no real relevance to the question of 
whether the funding is likely to be available to enable the scheme to 
proceed, and thus to the question of deliverability.  These matters are 
addressed above. 

 
6.3 Issue III 

 
6.3.1 The public benefits resulting from the Scheme generally and the wellbeing 

objectives to be achieved are set out in the Mayor and Cabinet Report and 
the draft Statement of Reasons: see in particular paragraphs 7.42 and 7.43 
of the Report, and paragraphs 1.20, 3.6 to 3.20, 5.3 and Sections 9 and 11 
of the draft Statement of Reasons (at Appendix 1 to the Report). 

  
6.3.2 In relation to the sports component, the issue raised by Business Panel 

about the Sports Facilities appeared to relate to the change from the 
‘Sporting Village’ concept with the sports facilities dispersed around the Site 
to the Sports Facilities being provided in one block – ‘Energize’.  As is 
explained in the Report to Mayor and Cabinet on 7 September and the draft 
Statement of Reasons, this change was approved by Strategic Planning 
Committee (SPC) in December 2013 and the rationale for the change can 
be seen in the Report to SPC.  This followed discussions between Renewal 
and prospective occupiers of the Sports Facilities regarding their operational 
needs and governing bodies of various sports. From this work it was 
concluded that the majority of the new sports facilities should be 
consolidated in a single location rather than split across a number of 
buildings.  As was noted in the Report to SPC, whilst the location of the 
proposed D2 sports uses has changed, the overall floor space for sports 
uses, format and range of potential occupiers on the Site remains the same. 
 

6.3.3 In terms of public benefits, as is set out in the draft Statement of Reasons, 
the Energize Facility will comprise the largest indoor sports complex for 
community use to be built in London since Crystal Palace in 1964.  It will 
house four floors of sports facilities as follows: 

 

 A multi-purpose 3000 seat arena that can be used for regional and 
national competitions in sports such as Basketball, Netball, Table 
Tennis, Amateur Boxing and Handball. 
  

 An indoor 3G Football pitch that will be made available to Millwall 
Community Scheme (negotiations with MCS regarding surrender of the 
lease on their existing premises and relocation to the new facility are 
currently on-going) and which will divide into 5-a-side pitches for hire to 
the local leisure market. 
  



 A third arena will be sub divided into areas for table tennis, gymnastics 
and a multi-use sports area. 

  

 A fourth arena will house a 6-lane swimming pool and learner pool, a 
150-station gym and a home for the London Amateur Boxing 
Association and two local boxing clubs. 

  

 A large climbing/bouldering area will be provided, together with 
changing and showering facilities, classrooms, offices, cafes and sports 
related retail space and 3020 square metres for Onside, a new ‘Youth 
Zone’. 

 
6.3.4 Alongside sports facilities, ‘Energize’ will provide a series of outreach 

programmes from clubs and tenants from the sports centre to encourage 
participation in sport and provide education on nutrition, fitness and a 
healthy lifestyle. The existing planning permissions specifically prevent the 
use of this space for other purposes within Class D2 i.e. cinema, concert 
hall, bingo hall or dance hall.  Accordingly the sport-related focus of the 
development is safeguarded and any change to this would require a further 
application to the Council. 
 

6.3.5 The Section 106 Agreement also includes provision relating to delivery of 
the Sports Facilities.  The relevant Phase cannot commence until detailed 
confirmation of the capital and revenue funding projections for the 
construction, implementation and running of the Sports Facilities has been 
provided to the Council.  An occupancy restriction is also imposed 
preventing occupation of the Phase unless the Sports Facilities are being 
managed by the Surrey Canal Sports Foundation.  Further obligations 
require a ‘Sports Facilities Strategy’ to be submitted and approved providing 
for the provision and operation of the Sport Facilities and covering such 
matters as a business plan for the management of the facilities, proposed 
opening hours and uses, charging structure/entrance fees/membership 
subscription and operational costs, as well as details of the measures 
ensuring that the Sports Facilities are available to local people at discounted 
rates. 

 
6.3.6 The position regarding affordable housing was explained at the Mayor and 

Cabinet meeting on 7 September.  The Section 106 Agreement requires a 
minimum of 12% affordable housing (by habitable room) to be provided, of 
which at least 25% must be social rent or affordable rent (in the case of the 
latter the rent must be no greater than the lower of (and inclusive of service 
charge) 60% local market rent, the local housing allowance or the maximum 
housing cost element of the Universal Credit). The level of affordable 
housing is subject to financial review whereby if actual sales values for 
private units exceed target sales values as prescribed, 50% of any increase 
is to be applied to additional affordable housing within the scheme (unless 



the sum is less than the cost of providing an additional unit, in which case 
such sum is to be paid the Council). 

 
6.3.7 As is made clear in the Mayor and Cabinet Report and draft Statement of 

Reasons, the revised arrangements in relation to the Housing Zone funding 
which mean the new station works will be grant funded by the GLA, mean 
that the benefit received by Renewal will be applied to the delivery of 
additional affordable housing. The funding could directly deliver between 
approximately 40 (10 social rent or affordable rent and 30 shared ownership 
based on the current 75:25 tenure split) and 75 (based on 100% shared 
ownership) additional affordable units in the early phases depending on the 
tenure of those homes.  The Council would also be seeking to ensure that 
any income from those affordable units would go back into the scheme to 
deliver additional affordable housing.  Discussions with the GLA regarding 
tenure are continuing, but it is understood that they wish to ensure that best 
endeavours are made to maximise the number of affordable units, which 
will then influence the final tenure mix. 

 
6.4 Issue IV 

 
6.4.1 On 19 September, John Berylson, Chairman of Millwall FC wrote to 

Councillor Hall commenting on the Mayor and Cabinet meeting on 7 
September and raising a number of points which he asked Members to take 
into account at the Business Panel meeting on 20 September.  A copy of 
that letter is appended to this Report at Appendix 2.   

 

6.4.2 Taking each of the points raised in that letter in turn: 
 

 (a) Point 1 
  

MFC complain that the information provided to the Mayor and Cabinet 
meeting on 7 September omitted two key elements: (i) no mention was 
made of a possible tender exercise in relation to the Council’s freehold 
interests which was discussed in 2012 but did not proceed and the Council 
had not explained why; and (ii) that the Council effectively denied MFC the 
opportunity to bid for the Council’s freehold interest before proceeding to 
exchange contracts with Renewal.  Correspondence between MFC and the 
Council from late 2012 through to late 2013 is relevant to both these issues 
and point 3 below, and a copy of that correspondence is attached to this 
Report at Appendix 3. 

 
Regarding point (i), a tender exercise was discussed with MFC and MCS in 
2012.  The letters dated 3 December 2012, 29 January 2013 and 18 March 
2013 relate to why it did not proceed.  As can be seen, MCS indicated it did 
not wish to participate in any such tender exercise, Demos Kouvaris of MFC 
indicated misgivings about the process and requested that it be dropped, or 



at the very least, delayed, and the Council came to the view that the tender 
exercise should not proceed in any event. This was because the Council 
had reservations about whether such an exercise would be conducive to 
ensuring comprehensive re-development of the wider site within a 
reasonable and certain timeframe.  It is not therefore correct to say that no 
explanation was given for the tender process not proceeding.  

 
In relation to point (ii), MFC were professionally advised throughout the 
relevant period, including by well-known property consultants, CBRE.  
CBRE wrote to the Council on 6 November 2013 (not 7 November 2013 as 
referred to in MFC’s letter) asking for information about the material terms, 
including the price and any other material issues of the proposed sale to 
Renewal.  This information included commercially sensitive material.  The 
Director of Regeneration and Asset Management responded in his letter of 
13 November, noting MFC’s interest in bidding for the land and advising that 
whether it chose to do so was a matter for MFC. 
 
The fact remains that MFC did not need to have details of the offer made 
by Renewal in order to formulate a bid for the Council’s freehold interest in 
the land encompassed by the MCS and MFC leases, or the part they require 
to carry out their proposals.  They had ample opportunity to submit a bid, 
but chose not to do so. 

 
Further, in terms of best consideration, the Council was not legally obliged 
to invite MFC to bid for the freehold interest or otherwise to conduct a tender 
process in order to achieve best consideration.  MFC threatened to bring a 
legal challenge to the Council’s decision to enter into the land sale 
agreement on best consideration grounds but did not do so. It is reasonable 
to infer from this that MFC did not consider that such proceedings would be 
sustainable.  

 
(b) Point 2 
 
Freedom of Information request.  There are ongoing FOI/EIR proceedings 
which were due to be heard at the end of November, but have now been 
adjourned to 14 and 15 February 2017.  Those proceedings were 
commenced by a freelance journalist, but MFC have since confirmed that 
the request for information was made on their behalf.  The proceedings 
include an appeal on behalf of MFC against the Information Commissioner’s 
decision not to require disclosure of the consideration under the land sale 
agreement.  In the proceedings, the Council has made clear its grounds of 
opposition to disclosure and it is not necessary or appropriate to make any 
further comment at this stage.  

 
(c) Point 3 
 



MFC question the role of Strutt & Parker and the scope of their instruction.  
Strutt & Parker were appointed in February 2016 and the Mayor and 
Cabinet Report of 7 September explains their role and the scope of their 
instruction, namely, (i) to act as intermediary with the aim of bringing the 
parties together to see if an agreed position could be reached which would 
ensure comprehensive regeneration of the Site (paragraph 7.16 of the 
Mayor and Cabinet Report) and (ii) ‘to advise on the MFC Proposals in 
terms of their viability, deliverability and overall fit within the Council’s Core 
Strategy and regeneration objectives for the area’ (paragraph 7.23).   
 
Pursuant to (ii), Strutt & Parker appraised the McKay Masterplan proposals 
(MFC Proposals) which had been provided to the Council by MFC in 
August 2013.  So far as Officers are aware, the provision of these was not 
made subject to any constraint on the subsequent use or disclosure of the 
information by the Council. They were not provided by MFC as part of the 
exercise referred to at (i) above, and were therefore not covered by any 
agreement as to non-disclosure which applied to any information provided 
by MFC in the context of that exercise. Further and in any event, Strutt & 
Parker have advised that CBRE, MFC’s agents, were fully aware that they 
(Strutt & Parker) were reviewing the MFC Proposals.  
 
Strutt & Parker’s e-mail of 18 July to CBRE referred to in MFC’s letter is in 
the context of a separate point, namely the prospective exchange of 
information between MFC and Renewal following a meeting between them 
and Strutt & Parker in June.  In that e-mail, Strutt & Parker advised that their 
role in relation to any information received during that exercise would be as 
a conduit, and they (Strutt & Parker) would not be reviewing it, engaging in 
discussions or disclosing the information to the Council.  It was in response 
to this correspondence that CBRE first referred to the revised proposals.  
Given that Strutt & Parker had expressly said that any information received 
would not be passed on to the Council, Strutt & Parker sought confirmation 
from CBRE that this did not apply to the revised proposals and that the 
information on the revised proposals could be used to update Strutt & 
Parker’s appraisal of the MFC Proposals.  Strutt & Parker advise (as at the 
date of this Report) that no response has yet been received from CBRE.   
 
With regard to the plans which MFC suggest are the subject of a potential 
planning application, at no stage have MFC sought to commence pre-
application discussions on those plans.  A representative from CBRE did 
contact the Head of Planning on 2 September 2016, which was before the 
Mayor and Cabinet meeting on 7 September 2016, and in a further 
conversation on 5 September 2016 suggested that MFC intended to initiate 
pre-application discussions.  CBRE then advised on 4 October 2016 that 
further work was being undertaken and they would be in touch to discuss 
‘at an appropriate time’. Nothing further has been heard since then.  
 



(d) Point 4 
 
MFC state that “Renewal has stated publicly it will not work with Millwall”.  
The position is that, whilst Renewal has stated that it is does not envisage 
any JV or collaboration with MFC over the development, it has stated a wish 
to work towards a financial settlement with MFC and has invited MFC to 
quantify what it requires.  In this regard, MFC state “We have repeatedly 
stated in public what we require”.  It is acknowledged that MFC have said 
they wish to redevelop the land around the Stadium themselves or in 
partnership with a developer, and they have also said they wish to secure 
an income producing asset; but Officers are not aware of any statement 
from MFC quantifying the consideration/income level MFC considers it 
requires.  That is the point the Chief Executive was making at the Mayor 
and Cabinet meeting on 7 September.  

 
(e) Point 5 

 
MFC complain they have not seen Renewal’s viability information regarding 
the land around the Stadium/MCS land.  This information however remains 
confidential and commercially sensitive.  Further, there are a number of 
significant issues regarding deliverability of the wider scheme if the MFC 
and MCS land is omitted from the control of the developer of the wider 
scheme – these are explained in paragraph 7.25 of the Mayor and Cabinet 
Report and the GL Hearn paper ‘Review of Implications of Omission of MFC 
and MCS Land for Scheme Viability’ included in the Background Papers to 
that Report.  

 
(f) Point 6 
 
“The funds [for the MFC Proposals] are available and that point has been 
made in public several times.”  A mere statement that funding is available 
is not evidence of actual availability for the purposes of delivering MFC’s 
Proposals, even assuming those proposals were viable and that any other 
deliverability constraints could be overcome. 

 
“At no stage has the Council requested further information.”  As is 
summarised at paragraph 7.15 of the Mayor and Cabinet Report of 7 
September and can be seen from the attached bundle of correspondence, 
between December 2012 to November 2013 MFC were advised on several 
occasions that if the Council was to give any consideration to MFC’s plans, 
it would need, amongst other things, details of specific proposals, including 
not only drawings and timescales, a viable business plan, funding 
arrangements, and details of mechanics regarding delivery in conjunction 
with the wider site.  That information has not been forthcoming. 

 



Reference is made to a PWC Report of September 2013.  As referred to 
above, there are ongoing FOI/EIR proceedings which are now due to be 
heard in February 2017.  In the proceedings, the Council has made clear its 
grounds of opposition to disclosure and it is not necessary or appropriate to 
make any further comment at this stage.   

 
(g) Point 7 
 
MFC asserts that taxpayers’ funds are being spent by the Council on legal 
advice in connection with the FOI/EIR proceedings.  Such costs are in fact 
being reimbursed by Renewal.  As stated in the response to Point 2 above, 
the proceedings include an appeal on behalf of MFC against the Information 
Commissioner’s decision not to require disclosure of the consideration 
under the land sale agreement. This means that the Council is required to 
take part in these proceedings to deal with that aspect in any event.  

 
(h) Point 8 

 
The Chair of any meeting is responsible for the conduct of the meeting and 
for deciding who is permitted to speak at the meeting and for how long. 
Although requests to speak at a meeting can be made and considered by 
the Chair in advance of that meeting, there is nothing to prevent the Chair 
permitting or requesting any other person present to speak at the meeting 
where the Chair considers that this would be appropriate. On this basis the 
Director of Renewal who was present at the meeting was invited to address 
the meeting and to answer questions raised by Cabinet members.  

 
6.5  Issue V 

 
6.5.1 The Chief Executive was made aware of the Business Panel’s concerns 

several months ago.  It is the Chief Executive's role to ensure that the best 
and most cost effective professional advice is available to the Council’s 
decision makers.  This includes, where necessary, procuring expert external 
independent advice.  In the case of this scheme, the Council has 
commissioned appropriate external professional and legal 
advice.  Following the Business Panel’s recommendations, the Chief 
Executive reviewed the approach with the key officers concerned and 
subsequently met with the Chair of the Business Panel.  In this instance, the 
depth of due diligence undertaken by the external advisors is considered to 
be appropriate to protect the Council's position.  Thus in a meeting with the 
Chair of the Business Panel and the Executive Director for Resources & 
Regeneration held several weeks ago, the Chief Executive gave 
assurances that the known business and financial arrangements of 
Renewal would be made available to all Members, and this has taken place.  

 
6.6 Issue VI 



 
6.6.1 This issue is dealt with in the conclusion at Section 13 of this report.  

 
7. Matters arising following deferral of re-consideration of the decision on 28 

September 2016 
 
7.1  Members will recall that the decision was due to be reconsidered by Mayor and 

Cabinet at its meeting on 28 September 2016.  However, Mayor and Cabinet were 
informed that shortly before the meeting Council Officers had received a copy of a 
document that was the subject of external investigation and that it was therefore 
not possible to complete the reconsideration of the decision made on 7 September 
2016. Thus, consideration of the call-in was adjourned until further notice.  
 

7.2 The document in question is a brochure prepared by Lambert Smith Hampton 
(LSH) on behalf of International Holdings Limited (IHL), one of the shareholders in 
Renewal (LSH Brochure).  The LSH Brochure came to light as a result of an article 
in the Guardian newspaper on 27 September 2016.  A copy of the LSH Brochure 
has been provided to the Council and is appended to this Report at Appendix 4.  

 
7.3 Following the Mayor and Cabinet meeting on 28 September 2016, the Head of 

Law and Executive Director of Resources and Regeneration have investigated the 
circumstances around the LSH Brochure.  So too have LSH.  As a result, the 
following has been established:  

 

 IHL engaged LSH in April/May 2015 to advise on the New Bermondsey 
scheme as an investment opportunity.   

 LSH’s original proposed terms of engagement to IHL covered a review of a 
range of investment scenarios with potential investors, including outright 
acquisition, acquisition of IHL’s shareholding, JV structures, partial 
investment, and later stage option structures. LSH noted that at this stage 
their objective was to source “interest in principle” commitment from 
potential investors. 

 The scope of LSH’s mandate was amended in June 2015 so as to focus 
exclusively on introducing and brokering financial investors into a 
fundraising.  LSH also noted at the time that IHL might decide to sell part or 
all of their stake in that process. 

 It is evident from subsequent correspondence that IHL’s objective was to 
attract investment into the project, not to achieve an outright sale of its 
interest in it, and that wished to remain involved in the project.  

 In February 2016, IHL confirmed to LSH that it had decided to put a stop to 
the search for a funding partner until after the CPO process, and decided 
not to extend LSH’s instruction.   

 LSH have confirmed that during the course of the instruction, they produced 
the LSH Brochure, but that they had not been instructed by IHL or the 
Renewal Group or any individual in the Group to prepare it, nor was the 
LSH Brochure seen or approved by IHL or Renewal.   



 LSH further advise that the LSH Brochure was not publicised or made 
available to others. 

 IHL/Renewal have also confirmed that they had not seen the LSH brochure 
until a copy was provided by the Guardian newspaper. 

 As part of the investigation into the LSH Brochure further documentation 
prepared by LSH (of unknown date), and described by LSH as ‘marketing 
material’, has also come to light. This sets out factual information about the 
project, and makes no reference at all to IHL’s intentions in terms of project 
funding or whether it might wish to dispose of the whole or part of its interest 
in it. 

 IHL/Renewal have confirmed that, as with the LSH Brochure, LSH were 
given no instructions to prepare this documentation, nor did IHL or Renewal 
see or approve it.  

 Renewal have further confirmed that they were unaware until the LSH 
Brochure was produced in late September of the IHL instruction to LSH. 
 

7.4 In the course of the investigation, IHL and Renewal have given their assurance 
they remain 100% committed to the project and its delivery in full and that there is 
no intention to sell.   

 
7.5 PwC have indicated in their report that it is normal for developers at this stage of 

a development project not to have in place concluded arrangements for the funding 
of the project.   

 
7.6 PwC have reviewed the documentation relating to the IHL instruction to LSH and 

stated that it is not unusual for investors or developers to dispose of their interests 
at any point in the development cycle or to seek indicative bids as a market testing 
exercise. They confirm that, having reviewed this material, the findings in their 
report remain unchanged.  

 
8.  Financial Implications: 
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this response.  
 
9. Legal Implications: 
 
9.1 Members’ attention is drawn to the legal implications in the Report attached at 

Appendix 1 and should also note that the Constitutional position is referred to in 
the body of this report. 

 
10. Crime and Disorder Implications: 
 
10.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this response.   
 
11.  Equalities Implications: 
 



11.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this response. 
 

12.  Environmental Implications: 
 
12.1 There are no environmental implications arising from this response. 
 

13.  Conclusion 
 
13.1  In all the circumstances, having regard to the matters raised by Overview and 

Scrutiny Business Panel and the other matters addressed in this report, Officers 
remain of the view that there is a compelling case in the public interest for the 
compulsory acquisition of the remaining land interests to enable the scheme to 
proceed. Officers therefore recommend that the Cabinet agrees the 
recommendation in this report. 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Mayor & Cabinet Report dated 7 September 2016 - “New Bermondsey 
(Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order” 
 
Appendix 2: Chairman of Millwall FC Letter to Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 
Appendix 3: Correspondence between MFC and the Council from late 2012 through to 
late 2013 
 
Appendix 4: LSH Brochure 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
 

 
If you have any queries on this report, please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM Capital 
Programme Delivery Ext: 49283 
 
 



MA_34816038_1 1 

APPENDIX 1 December 15 2016 

MAYOR & CABINET 

Report Title 

 

New Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle)– Proposed Compulsory 

Purchase Order  

Key Decision 

 

Yes  Item No.   

 Ward 

 

New Cross 

Contributors 

 

Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, Head of Planning and 
Head of Law 

Class 

 

Part 1 Date:  7 September 2016 

 

1.0. Introduction  

1.1 This Report updates Mayor and Cabinet on the progress of the New Bermondsey 
(formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) regeneration project by the Council and the 
developer, Renewal Group Limited, and the current land assembly position and 
asks the Mayor to agree a number of recommendations relating to the acquisition 
of the land interests required to enable the New Bermondsey re-development to 
proceed.  For the purposes of this report, the developer is referred to throughout 
as “Renewal”.  References to the Site are to the New Bermondsey site which is 
shown edged red on the plan annexed to this report and marked ‘Site Plan’. 
 

1.2 This Report concerns the prospective use of compulsory purchase powers to 
assist with completion of the land assembly and acquisition of rights required to 
deliver the New Bermondsey scheme.  A Report recommending that a compulsory 
purchase order (CPO) be made was on the Agenda for the Mayor and Cabinet 
meeting on 17 February 2016, but that Report was withdrawn due to last minute 
representations regarding an owner/occupier within the Site and the nature of her 
occupation, a matter which Officers considered required investigation.  Officers 
have had regard to the issues raised in those representations and other 
representations received prior to the meeting on 17 February 2016 and those 
issues are addressed in this Report  
 

1.3 At the Mayor and Cabinet meeting on 17 February 2016, Councillor Best (Chair 
for the agenda item) expressed a wish for urgent discussions to take place 
between Renewal and Millwall Football Club to see if their differences over the 
proposals could be resolved.  An update on those discussions is also in included 
in this Report.  
 

2.0. Purpose of this Report 



MA_34816038_1 2 

2.1 In addition to updating Mayor and Cabinet on progress with the New Bermondsey 
scheme, this Report seeks the Mayor's approval for the Council to use its 
compulsory purchase powers under Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (1990 Act) and Section 13 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to enable land assembly and acquisition of 
new rights so as to facilitate the comprehensive re-development of the New 
Bermondsey site (the Scheme) and in turn contribute to the wider regeneration of 
the Deptford/New Cross Area as supported by the Council’s Core Strategy and 
other applicable policy.  The land and rights proposed to be acquired are 
described in Section 6 of this Report. 
 

2.2 This Report further seeks the Mayor’s approval to the acquisition by the Council 
for planning purposes of Renewal’s freehold interest (both its existing freehold and 
any freehold interest that Renewal may subsequently acquire by private treaty) in 
Phases 1A, 1B, 2 and 3 of the Site and the grant of a lease of that land to Renewal 
with an option for Renewal to then repurchase the freehold.  The purpose of this 
arrangement is to facilitate the comprehensive re-development of the Site by 
ensuring that third party rights do not impede the carrying out of the development.  
Further details are provided in Section 8 of this Report.  Consequential upon this 
proposed arrangement, a variation to the existing CPO Indemnity Agreement is 
proposed which is also addressed in Section 8 of this Report.  
 

2.3 A draft Statement of Reasons (“draft SoR”) for making the proposed CPO is 
attached to this Report at Appendix 1. Although the Statement of Reasons is non-
statutory, it is an important document and if the CPO is made, it will be served on 
owners, lessees/tenants and occupiers with the relevant statutory notices of 
making of the CPO.   The draft SoR has been prepared in accordance with the 
Government’s Guidance on Compulsory Purchase process published in October 
2015 (CPO Guidance) which replaces the previous advice in Circular 06/04.  
Should the Mayor resolve to proceed with the CPO, the draft SoR will be finalised 
to reflect matters as at the time the CPO is made and this is reflected in the 
delegation sought for the Executive Director of Resources and Regeneration.  
 

2.4 This Report and the attached draft SoR describe the factors which are relevant to 
any decision on compulsory purchase, including the applicable planning policy 
framework for the Scheme, matters relevant to deliverability of the Scheme within 
a reasonable timeframe, its impact on affected land owners and occupiers and 
whether the proposals could be achieved by other means.  It includes matters for 
the Mayor’s consideration in relation to the Council's public sector equality duty 
and the implications for the Human Rights of third parties. It addresses the overall 
question of whether there is a compelling case in the public interest for compulsory 
acquisition. 
 

2.5 References are made to the draft SoR throughout this Report, but Mayor and 
Cabinet are referred to the attached draft SoR generally and should read that 
alongside the content of this Report.  

 
3.0. Policy Context 



MA_34816038_1 3 

3.1 The applicable Planning Policy framework for the Scheme is set out in Section 4 
of the draft SoR and is discussed further below.  Also relevant are the Council’s 
regeneration and community strategies, as well as its Corporate priorities and 
asset management policies.  
 

3.2 'People, prosperity, place', Lewisham's regeneration strategy 2008-2020, sets out 
the Council's aspiration for a vibrant, dynamic Lewisham focussed around the 
themes of people - investing in the individuals and communities which are 
Lewisham’s greatest asset - prosperity - fostering the skills and economic 
opportunities for Lewisham to flourish and thrive - and place - developing high 
quality public spaces, sustainable buildings and protecting the areas which are 
sensitive to change. The strategy identifies the Site as a strategic site with the 
Borough. The strategy is also placed within the framework of the key national and 
regional policies which affect the Council’s work around regeneration of the 
Borough, including the Mayor of London’s London Plan Consolidated with 
Alterations Since 2011(March 2016) (London Plan). 
 

3.3 'Shaping our future', Lewisham's Sustainable Community Strategy 2008 - 2020, 
includes the 'Dynamic and Prosperous' theme, where people are part of vibrant 
communities and town centres, well connected to London and beyond. It details 
the Local Strategic Partnership's commitment to 'improving the quality and vitality 
of Lewisham's town centres and localities', and aspirations to 'support the growth 
and development of our town centres by working with commercial partners and 
developers', and 'maximise the use of our town centres as places to engage the 
local community'. 
 

3.4 Shaping our future’ identifies ‘Active healthy citizens as a key priority – where the 
Council are committed to ensuring that people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being, supported by high quality 
health and care services, leisure, culture and recreational activities’. 
 

3.5 Strengthening the local economy is a corporate priority, emphasising the 
importance of 'gaining resources to regenerate key localities, strengthen 
employment skills and promote public transport’. 
 

3.6 The Council's Asset Management Plan sets out the approach to using property 
effectively in order to achieve the Council's objective of making Lewisham the best 
place in London to live, work and learn. It acknowledges that the Council’s assets 
have a key role to play in supporting the Borough's regeneration aims. 
 

3.7 The Council's Local Development Framework sets the vision, objectives, strategy 
and policies that will guide development and regeneration in the Borough up to 
2025.  The Lewisham Core Strategy, the Lewisham Development Management 
Local Plan, the Lewisham Site Allocations Local Plan and the Lewisham Town 
Centre Local Plan, together with the London Plan form the statutory development 
plan for the Borough.  

 
4.0. Recommendations  

4.1 The Mayor is recommended to: 



MA_34816038_1 4 

 
(a) agree that, as set out in this Report at Section 7, the pre-conditions for 

compulsory purchase set by Mayor & Cabinet on 7th March 2012 have been 
met.  

(b) resolve to make a Compulsory Purchase Order pursuant to powers under 
Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (in 
accordance with the procedures in the Acquisition of Land Act 1981) for: 

i) the acquisition of the land shown coloured pink on the plan attached to 
this Report at Appendix 2, save for the interests of the Council, 
Renewal and persons with the benefit of rights of light; and 

ii) the acquisition of new rights over the land shown coloured blue on the 
plan attached to this Report at Appendix 2 

for the purpose of facilitating the comprehensive redevelopment, 
development and improvement of the Site to provide a mixed use 
residential-led scheme.  

(c) grant delegated authority to the Executive Director for Resources and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Head of Law: 

i) subject to a satisfactory Deposit or satisfactory alternative security 
being provided by Renewal pursuant to the CPO Indemnity 
Agreement dated 20 December 2013, to take all necessary and 
appropriate steps to secure the making, confirmation and 
implementation of the Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) including 
the publication and service of all notices and promotion of the 
Council’s case at any Public Inquiry, including but not limited to the 
steps described below; 

ii) to carry out any further or additional land referencing as may be 
considered appropriate, including service of requisitions for 
information pursuant to Section 16 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or Section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990;  

iii) to make any amendments, deletions, or additions to the draft Order 
Map and/or draft Schedules to the CPO so as to include and 
describe all interests in land and rights required to facilitate the 
carrying out of the Scheme;  

iv) to make such changes as may be considered necessary or 
appropriate to the draft Statement of Reasons prior to publication; 

v) to acquire interests and new rights in the Order Land either by 
agreement or compulsorily (including pursuant to any blight or 
purchase notices) and dispose of the same to Renewal; 

vi) to negotiate, agree terms and enter into agreements with interested 
parties, including agreements for the withdrawal of blight or 
purchase notices and/or objections to the CPO and/or undertakings 
not to enforce the CPO on specified terms, including where 
appropriate seeking the exclusion of  land or rights from the CPO;  



MA_34816038_1 5 

vii) in the event that the Secretary of State notifies the Council that it 
has been given the power to confirm the CPO to confirm the CPO if 
the Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, in 
consultation with the Head of Law, is satisfied that it is appropriate 
to do so; 

viii) in the event the CPO is confirmed by the Secretary of State (or by 
the Council if given the power to do so), to complete all necessary 
statutory procedures and to take steps to implement the CPO, 
including by way of General Vesting Declaration and/or Notice to 
Treat/Notice of Entry;  

ix) to take all steps in relation to any legal proceedings relating to the 
CPO, including defending or settling claims referred to the Upper 
Tribunal (Lands Chamber) and/or applications made to the courts 
and any appeals;  

x) to retain and/or appoint external professional advisers and 
consultants to assist in facilitating the promotion, confirmation and 
implementation of the CPO, the settlement of compensation and any 
other claims or disputes; 

xi) to take all such other steps as may be considered necessary or 
appropriate to acquire all interests and rights required for the 
Scheme (whether by agreement or CPO) and to dispose of the same 
to Renewal. 

(d) agree the acquisition by the Council for planning purposes pursuant to 
Section 227 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of Renewal’s 
freehold interest (both its existing freehold and any freehold interest that 
Renewal may subsequently acquire by private treaty) in land within Phases 
1A, 1B, 2 and 3 as shown shaded grey on the plan attached to this Report 
at Appendix 3 and the grant of a lease of that land to Renewal (with an 
option for Renewal to repurchase the freehold interest) on the terms set out 
in the Heads of Terms attached to this Report at Appendix 4, including any 
variation thereto as the Executive Director for Resources and 
Regeneration, in consultation with the Head of Law, may consider 
appropriate; 

(e) agree the variation of the CPO Indemnity Agreement of 20th December 
2013 to ensure the agreement provides for the Council to be indemnified 
by Renewal in respect of all compensation and other costs arising in 
respect of any interference with rights affecting the land acquired by the 
Council and leased back to Renewal as provided for in recommendation 
(d) above.  

5.0. Background 
 

5.1 Renewal has been assembling the Site since 2004 with a view to its re-
development.  Renewal promoted the Site through the development plan process 
leading to the adoption of the Council’s Core Strategy in 2011. 
 



MA_34816038_1 6 

5.2 In January 2011, Renewal (through its subsidiary, Renewal New Bermondsey 
Two Limited) submitted an application for planning permission for comprehensive 
mixed use residential led re-development of the Site.  
 

5.3 In March 2012, a report was presented to Mayor and Cabinet regarding in principle 
support for the use of CPO powers to assist with land assembly for the Scheme.  
The Mayor resolved in principle to use such powers, subject to certain pre-
conditions being satisfied which are addressed in this Report.   
 

5.4 On 30 March 2012, the Council granted outline planning permission (Outline 
Planning Permission) for the comprehensive phased, mixed-use development of 
the Site.  The Outline Planning Permission permits the development of the Site 
based upon a set of planning parameters that would enable detailed proposals to 
come forward for the following: 
 
The comprehensive, phased, mixed use development of the site for up to 240,000 
square metres (Gross External Area) of development comprising Class A1/A2 
(Shops and Financial and Professional Services) up to 3,000 square metres, 
Class A3/A4 (Cafes/Restaurants and Drinking Establishments) up to 3,000 square 
metres, Class A5  (Hot Food Takeaways) up to 300 square metres, Class B1 
(Business) between 10,000 -15,000 square metres, Class C1 (Hotels) up to 
10,000 square metres, Class C3 (Dwelling Houses) between 150,000 - 190,000 
square metres (up to 2,400 homes of different sizes and types), Class D1 (Non-
residential Institutions) between 400 - 10,000 square metres, Class D2 (Leisure 
and Assembly) between 4,260 - 15,800 square metres, involving the demolition of 
all existing buildings on the site with the exception of the Millwall FC Stadium 
(which is to be retained and its façade upgraded and /or re-clad), Plot Excelsior 2 
– Guild House (which is to be retained and extended), and Plot Excelsior 5 – 
Rollins House (which is to be retained, but not altered or extended as part of the 
planning application); the demolition and replacement of the existing Millwall FC 
grounds-person’s store of approximately 140 sqm; redevelopment to provide a 
series of new buildings (including roof top and basement plant); re-profiling of site 
levels; alterations to Surrey Canal road and the re-alignment of the Bolina Road; 
new streets and other means of access and circulation, including pedestrian/cycle 
paths, carriageways and servicing areas; areas for parking for emergency 
services vehicles and outside broadcast units; external areas of land and soft 
landscaping and publicly accessible open space; car and coach parking areas and 
accesses to them; cycle storage; and, supporting infrastructure works and 
facilities including sub-stations, energy centre(s), District Heating Network (DHN) 
connections to and between each plot, the proposed energy centre and the 
adjoining South East London Combined Heat and Power (SELCHP) plant (to the 
extent to which they lie within the Planning Application Boundary) and an ENVAC 
waste storage and handling system (including DNH and ENVAC connections to 
plots south of Surrey Canal Road under the carriageway of Surrey Canal Road, 
as altered).  Further details of the March 2012 outline consent are contained within 
Section 4 of the draft SoR.   
 

5.5 The parameter plans approved for the purpose of the Outline Planning Permission 
provide for an increase in the crowd capacity of The Den from 20,146 to 26,500 
should MFC secure promotion to the Premier League and require a larger 



MA_34816038_1 7 

Stadium.  The Outline Planning Permission was also subject to a Section 106 
Agreement entered into on the same date and making provision as follows: 
 

 Re-cladding of the MFC Stadium 

 Provision of car parking spaces to be used by MFC both on event and 
non-event days 

 Relocation of Millwall FC memorial garden and grounds keeps store 

 Relocation of Millwall Community Scheme to a replacement facility 

 Re-provision of coach parking spaces to be used by MFC on event days 

 An increase sustainable accessibility to the Stadium by providing the 
proposed pedestrian link to South Bermondsey Station, 

 Facilitation of the provision of a new Surrey Canal Road Station 

 Improved connectivity with the surrounding area for pedestrians and 
cyclists 

 Provision of a new bus terminus 

 Delivery of new sports facilities 

 Delivery of a multi faith centre 

 Provision of not less than 12% affordable housing (by habitable room) 

 Entering into of a CPO Indemnity Agreement with the Council 

 Contribution towards the provision of additional school places in the area 

 Contribution to improvements to Bridge House Meadows 

 Provision of a creative industries hub 

 Installation of ENVAC waste system 
 

5.6 In October 2013, Renewal submitted an application pursuant to Section 73 of the 
1990 Act to vary conditions on the Outline Planning Permission to reconfigure 
some of the uses within the Scheme, but the overall quantum of floorspace across 
the Site as a whole remained the same and the Section 73 application did not 
fundamentally change the nature or scale of the previously consented 
development.  The revised proposals include providing the bulk of the sports 
facilities in a single building on Timber Wharf (Phase 2). 
 

5.7 On 18 December 2015, the Council granted permission pursuant to the Section 
73 application (S73 Permission). The S73 Permission is subject to a Section 106 
Agreement which was completed on the same date and which includes (with 
appropriate variations) similar obligations to those contained in the S106 
Agreement of 2012 and applies those obligations to the development under the 
S73 Permission.  
 

5.8 On 20 December 2013, the Council entered into a conditional land sale agreement 
with Renewal relating to the disposal of the Council’s freehold interest in the land 
leased to Millwall Football Club (MFC) (excluding the Stadium itself) and in the 
Lion’s Centre, the latter being leased to Millwall Community Scheme (MCS).  
Further details of the agreement are provided below.  On the same date, the 
Council entered into a CPO Indemnity Agreement which addresses the land 
assembly required for the Scheme and provides for Renewal to cover the costs of 
the process (including by way of CPO, should the Council decide to exercise its 
powers – it is under no obligation to do so).  
 



MA_34816038_1 8 

5.9 Within the boundary of the land encompassed by the Outline Planning Permission 
and the S73 Permission is a property known as Rollins House.  ‘Rollins House’ 
includes Rollins House itself and Unit 12 Excelsior Works. Both planning 
permissions refer to Rollins House being retained unaltered.  In July 2014, 
Renewal submitted an application to redevelop the Rollins House site as part of 
the wider Scheme.  A decision on that application was deferred twice by Strategic 
Planning Committee (SPC).  In the event, the application was withdrawn by 
Renewal in June this year and the land forming the Rollins House site does not 
form part of this Report. 
 
Scheme progress since March 2012 
 

5.10 Following the grant of the Outline Planning Permission, in addition to continuing 
its efforts to assemble the Site, Renewal has focused on securing occupiers for 
the commercial spaces in the first three phases of development - Phases 1A, 2 
and 1B.  
 
(a) Phase 1A: Hillsong church is currently in detailed discussions with Renewal 

over the terms for delivery and occupation of the permanent faith building 
within this phase.  As part of their commitment to being in the Scheme, in 
2013 Hillsong created a 3,000 sq m temporary home in a warehouse on 
the Site at Stockholm Road and have established a 2,600 person monthly 
congregation amongst the local community. It is envisaged that detailed 
design work for the permanent faith building and the remainder of Phase 
1A will commence in quarter 1 2017 and estimated that construction work 
will start in quarter 2 2018 and will be completed by quarter 1 2020.  The 
Scheme will not be progressed unless the land assembly is complete and 
this timetable assumes a confirmed CPO is in place by the end of 2017.   

(b) Phase 2:  The re-development proposals include a 15,000 sq m sports 
facility, called Energize, which will be the largest indoor community multi 
sports complex in London since Crystal Palace was built in the 1960s.  The 
Surrey Canal Sports Foundation Ltd (SCSF) was established in 2010 as a 
charitable trust, independent of Renewal, to oversee the fund raising of the 
required £40m for delivery of Energize and to ensure its long-term 
availability to the community at local authority rates.  

So far the SCSF has received a pledge of the land from Renewal, valued 
at £10 million (as at 2011), along with in principle pledges of £2 m from 
Sport England and £500,000 from the Council.  In July 2014, the SCSF 
formed a partnership with OnSide, a charity which has created a network 
of youth centres primarily in northwest England at a cost of £5 - £6 million 
each. OnSide is seeking to open several Youth Zones in London and would 
like to incorporate a Youth Zone within the fabric of Energize. The SCSF is 
also in the early stages of similar discussions with Greenhouse Sports who 
provide sports coaching in deprived areas, with a view to them having a 
permanent home in Energize. Both of these organisations would make 
capital contributions to the building and whilst the amount of space they 
require is still being finalised, their involvement would bring the pledges for 
Energize up to the region of £23.5m. Once confirmed, this amount would 
be enough to trigger detailed designs for the building and a reserved 



MA_34816038_1 9 

matters planning application, which in turn would aid the fundraising of the 
remaining capital.   

In order to facilitate sport in the local community today, in 2013 the SCSF 
leased 2,200 sq m on-site at Stockholm Road to London Thunder 
Basketball Club (formerly known as Lewisham Thunder Basketball Club) 
and Fusion Table Tennis Clubs in which they have created a new home 
complete with two basketball courts, 16  table tennis tables, changing and 
classroom space and spectator seating. Renewal advise that this sports 
facility currently attracts c. 2,800 visits a month. 

It is envisaged that detailed design work for Phase 2 will commence in 
quarter 1 2017 and estimated that construction work will start in quarter 2 
2018 and that Phase 2 will be completed by 2020.  Again, this timetable 
assumes a confirmed CPO is required in order to complete the land 
assembly and that this is achieved by the end of 2017.    

(c) Phase 1B:   With its close proximity to the new Overground station which 
will allow quick travel times between the creative hubs around Old Street 
and Shoreditch, Phase 1B is proposed for a mix of creative industries 
centred around a significant public square. As with the other phases, 
Renewal is looking for an established occupier to operate this phase and 
preliminary discussions have commenced with a number of established 
creative organisations. Renewal remains confident of securing a significant 
creative business to this phase once New Bermondsey station is formally 
announced by Transport for London. 

5.11 On 20th February 2015, the Mayor of London and the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
announced that the Site had been designated as one of the first of the Mayor of 
London's Housing Zones. Housing Zone status has been awarded to areas 
identified as key opportunity sites, to maximise development, fast track homes 
and deliver much-needed infrastructure to boost development. As one of the first 
Housing Zones, the Site is recognised as a key development in London and is one 
of the few regeneration projects that has the capacity to deliver homes for 
Londoners faster by accelerating the development programme.  
 

5.12 Following the Housing Zone designation, the GLA has allocated in principle 
funding of £20 million towards delivery of key infrastructure associated with the 
Scheme, including the new Overground Station at Surrey Canal Road.  The GLA 
initially proposed that the allocated sum would be advanced to Renewal as loan 
funding.  In a revised approach, however, the GLA now proposes that a grant 
agreement (known as a Borough Intervention Agreement) is entered into between 
the Council and the GLA whereby the GLA will provide grant funding of c. £12 
million which will be passed by the Council to TfL with a requirement that TfL 
deliver the new Overground Station at Surrey Canal Road and open it within a set 
period.  The balance of the £20 million allocation will remain available for Renewal 
to take up through a second intervention, following due diligence and subject to 
contract (and therefore the current financial modelling does not take this into 
account at this stage).  A clear benefit of this approach is that as the new station 
will now be grant funded, this enables the sum which would otherwise be paid by 
Renewal towards the new station to be applied to the provision of additional 
affordable housing within the Scheme.  Thus, not only will the GLA’s current 
funding approach allow early delivery of the station and development of the first 



MA_34816038_1 10 

two phases of the Scheme (Phases 1A and 2) to proceed ahead of schedule 
delivering 532 new homes, it will also secure delivery of more additional affordable 
homes than were originally to be provided within the Scheme.   
 

5.13 A programme of regular monitoring meetings will be agreed between the GLA, 
Renewal and the Council to focus on accelerated delivery and delivery of the new 
station and additional affordable housing. 

 
6.0. Land and rights to be included in the Compulsory Purchase Order 
 
6.1 The boundary of the proposed Order Land is shown outlined red on the plan 

attached to this Report at Appendix 2 (CPO Resolution Plan), with the land to 
be acquired shaded pink and the land in respect of which new rights are to be 
acquired shaded blue. 
 

6.2 It should be noted that whilst much of the Site is shaded pink on the CPO 
Resolution Plan, this area includes interests already held/controlled by Renewal 
and the Council and the CPO would not include those interests.  It would also 
exclude any rights of light which it is proposed should be addressed in the manner 
set out in Section 8 of this Report. 
 

6.3 The land already owned/controlled by Renewal is identified on the plan attached 
to this Report at Appendix 5.  The Council owns the freehold interest in the 
Millwall FC Stadium which is leased to MFC and the Lion’s Centre which is leased 
to MCS, together with other small surplus areas of land transferred back to the 
Council by Rail for London (RfL) following completion of the East London Line 
extension. The land around the Stadium, MCS’s interest and the RfL surplus areas 
are subject to the conditional Land Sale Agreement entered into between the 
Council and Renewal in December 2013 providing for disposal to Renewal of the 
Council’s freehold interest.  
 

6.4 The freehold and leasehold interests proposed to be included in the CPO are listed 
in the Table attached to this Report at Appendix 6.  Column 1 within the Table 
includes a plan reference and the relevant plans are included within Appendix 6. 
Also included within Appendix 6 is a plan identifying the third party interests to be 
acquired.  As indicated in the Table at Appendix 6, as at the time of preparing this 
Report, 22 freehold and leasehold interests remain to be acquired as follows: 

 

 Phase 1A: Four interests are outstanding comprising one freehold and 
three leasehold interests, all in respect of industrial units.  Three of the four 
outstanding interests are minor interests where Renewal already owns a 
substantive long leasehold interest. 

 

 Phase 1B:  Five interests are outstanding, all of which are freehold 
interests.  Three of the five interests are industrial units and two are live-
work units, of which only one (Unit 17 Excelsior Works) is currently 
occupied; the other (Unit 18 Excelsior Works) is understood to be currently 
unoccupied. 
 



MA_34816038_1 11 

 Phase 4: One leasehold interest is outstanding, comprising the Millwall 
Football Club car park and Stadium surrounds. 
 

 Phase 5: Nine interests are outstanding comprising seven freehold and two 
leasehold interests, all in respect of industrial units. 
 

 Phase 5A: Two leasehold interests are outstanding, comprising the Millwall 
Community Scheme sports complex, together with the apparatus of a 
telecommunications operator. 

 
In addition to the above, freehold parcels of land are to be acquired from Network 
Rail in Phases 2, 3, 4 & 5.  The above summary also excludes highways plots, 
interests of utility providers, interests of occupational tenants of Renewal where 
Renewal expects to gain possession without the need for CPO (e.g. by exercise 
of a break clause), land which is under contract with Renewal and any business 
tenancies of land not in the ownership of Renewal.  The CPO will include these 
interests in land to ensure the Scheme can be delivered.   
 

6.5 The following are also proposed to be included in the Order: 
 
(a) mines and minerals which have been reserved out of titles where the areas 

concerned are likely to be impacted by piling/foundations required for the 
Scheme; 

(b) highways plots (sub-soil interests); 

(c) four substations that are on land to be redeveloped, plus existing rights of 
statutory undertakers with service connections within the Site which are 
likely to require removal or relocation to facilitate the Scheme.  The existing 
services are shown on the Utility Services plan attached to this Report at 
Appendix 7; 

(d) existing rights of way in favour of Network Rail providing access to railway 
embankments etc and which are likely to be interfered with as a result of 
the Scheme. 

6.6 New rights are also required to fulfil certain requirements of the Section 106 
Agreement.  These affect land owned by Network Rail, London Underground 
Limited and MFC. The rights include in summary (and subject to detailed drafting): 
 
(a) The right to construct, use (in common with others) and maintain a 

pedestrian and cycle access route from the north west corner of the Site to 
South Bermondsey Railway Station; 

(b) The right to carry out works to upgrade railway arches and underpasses at 
South Bermondsey Station, Zampa Road, Stockholm Road, Rollins Street, 
Bolina Road and the route to Surrey Quays and thereafter maintain the 
works;   

(c) The right to carry out works to landscape and thereafter maintain railway 
embankments adjoining the Site and to carry out habitat creation works on 
the said land; 



MA_34816038_1 12 

(d) The right to install and maintain conducting media under the railway arch 
between the South East London Combined Heat and Power facility and the 
Site to the extent it is required for the installation of the proposed district 
heating network that is to provide heat and power to the Scheme; 

(e) The right to carrying out and complete works to replace and improve the 
existing façade of the MFC Stadium, as required by the S106 Agreement. 

6.7 The position regarding negotiations with landowners is considered in more detail 
in Section 7 of this Report.  Renewal will continue, with the support of Officers, to 
seek to acquire the outstanding interests by agreement.  Officers have also written 
a number of times to the remaining landowners encouraging them to engage with 
Renewal and offering to engage directly with the landowners, should they be 
unwilling for any reason to deal with Renewal.  The most recent letter was sent to 
landowners by the Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration on 8 
August 2016 notifying them of the intention to present this Report to Mayor and 
Cabinet.  As at the date of publication of this Report, seven responses have been 
received to these letters.  Renewal and G L Hearn are following up on each of 
these responses.  
 

6.8 If the CPO is made, it will include a Schedule of the interests, including new rights, 
to be acquired, as well as those who have interests over the land to be acquired 
(e.g. rights of way etc) which may be affected by the development works.  The 
Order Map required to accompany the CPO will identify the land and new rights 
to be acquired.  Terraquest, experienced land-referencing agents, have been 
appointed by Renewal to carry out the necessary referencing and preparation of 
the CPO Map.  Further requisitions for information relating to ownership will be 
served as necessary before the Order Map and Schedule are finalised.  Final 
versions of the Map and Schedule will be published with the CPO when made. 
 

6.9 If the CPO resolution is made, this will be recorded in the Local Land Charges 
Register and disclosed on searches so that any potential purchasers will be aware 
that the land is subject to compulsory purchase.  
 

7.0. Pre-conditions to CPO Resolution 
 
7.1 As already referred to, on the 7th March 2012, the Mayor resolved ‘in principle’ to 

use CPO powers to support the land assembly required for the Scheme, subject 
to the following pre-conditions: 
 

i) the Mayor being satisfied that Renewal has used its reasonable 
endeavours to complete the assembly of the Site by agreement/private 
treaty and that the redevelopment proposals cannot otherwise be 
delivered; 

 
ii) the requirements of Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 

Sections 226, and 237 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (now 
Section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016) being met; 
 

iii) the Mayor being satisfied that there is a compelling case in the public 
interest to make a Compulsory Purchase Order;  



MA_34816038_1 13 

 
iv) the Mayor being satisfied that there is a delivery mechanism with Renewal 

and/or others in place, which ensures that there is a comprehensive 
redevelopment of the whole Site and that the new development will be built 
and completed within a reasonable time period;  
 

v) the Mayor being satisfied that Renewal has a viable business plan and 
funding strategy to deliver a comprehensive regeneration scheme, together 
with a full and sufficient indemnity agreement(s) and appropriate financial 
bond covering the costs of making and confirming any such 
CPO/appropriation for the purposes of Section 237 (now Section 203 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016); and 
  

vi) consideration of any issues raised by the Equalities Impact Assessment on 
the potential impact of the CPO.  
 

7.2 Officers consider that these pre-conditions have now been met, as discussed 
below under the relevant headings.  
 

(i) Negotiations with landowners 
 

7.3 GL Hearn have been jointly appointed by the Council and Renewal as CPO 
valuers to advise on property cost estimates for the compulsory acquisition of 
interests and to negotiate agreements with landowners and others with an interest 
in the proposed Order Land.  
 

7.4 As referred to above, Renewal owns a significant proportion of the Site required 
for the  Scheme, having actively been acquiring property by private treaty since 
2004. 22 identified land interests remain outside of Renewal’s ownership (or 
control if not formally conveyed) which are required in order to complete land 
assembly to bring forward the Scheme in its entirety.  These exclude highways 
plots, interests of occupational tenants of Renewal where Renewal expects to gain 
possession without the need for CPO, utilities interests, land under contract to 
Renewal and any business tenancies of land not in the ownership of Renewal.  
The 22 outstanding interests comprise mainly freehold or long leasehold interests 
in the industrial estates within the Site.  They also include two live/work units at 
17 and 18 Excelsior, the former being occupied by an artist/sculptor, the latter 
being understood to be currently unoccupied.  Certain interests are also required 
from Network Rail for which agreement has been reached in principle and 
Renewal is confident a formal agreement will be concluded in due course.  In 
terms of utilities interests, these relate to telecommunications equipment and 
substations.  Discussions have taken place with the providers, although 
concluding any agreement will be subject to the CPO being progressed.  
 

7.5 Additionally, new rights will be required as set out in paragraph 6.6 above.   
 

7.6 Renewal has provided the Council with details, including copy correspondence, of 
the extent of and current position on negotiations with landowners undertaken by 
both Renewal and GL Hearn. Officers have examined the material provided and 
are satisfied that Renewal has used reasonable endeavours over a substantial 



MA_34816038_1 14 

period to acquire the outstanding interests by negotiation.  It is continuing and will 
continue to try and move those negotiations forward with the support of Officers.  
Renewal has also submitted a relocation strategy which has been approved by 
the Council under the Section 106 requirements setting out its intentions with 
regard to continued occupation of the Site by tenants until possession is required 
and steps taken regarding assistance with relocation.  A copy of the relocation 
strategy is included at Appendix J to the draft SoR. 
 

7.7 In negotiations with the landowners, Renewal has also provided contact details 
for Council officers and encouraged landowners to contact the Council if they 
would prefer to deal with the Council, rather than Renewal.  The Council has also 
written to the landowners encouraging them to negotiate with Renewal and 
offering to treat with them and to provide formal valuations if they are unable or 
unwilling to reach agreement with Renewal.  The most recent letters to remaining 
owners/occupiers were sent on 11 December 2015, 19 January 2016 and most 
recently on 8 August 2016 notifying them of the intention to present this Report to 
Mayor and Cabinet.   
 

7.8 Renewal continue to make progress with land acquisitions by private treaty.  Since 
the previous Report to Mayor and Cabinet was withdrawn in February 2016, 
Renewal has acquired the freehold with vacant possession of Bridge House, 
Excelsior Works (previously a House in Multiple Occupation, but currently vacant), 
as well as the leasehold interest in Unit 4 and part of Units 5 & 6 of the Yard, Orion 
Business Centre.   
 

7.9 Notwithstanding the efforts made, however, attempts to acquire all the outstanding 
interests by agreement have to-date not been successful.   Prior to the Mayor and 
Cabinet meeting on 17 February 2016, representations were received by solicitors 
acting on behalf of four owner/occupiers that the impact on a CPO on the owners 
affected had not been properly assessed and that the necessary human rights 
balancing/proportionality exercise had not been properly carried out.  The units in 
question are three industrial units on the Bolina Estate (a furniture and cabinet 
maker and a car repair and MOT business) and a live/work unit at Excelsior Works 
currently occupied by an artist/sculptor.  The position regarding human rights is 
considered in paragraphs 7.38 to 7.44 below and Section 12 under the heading 
‘Human Rights’.   
 

7.10 In terms of negotiations with the four owner/occupiers concerned, the information 
provided by Renewal is as follows:  
 

 Unit 17 Excelsior Works: Negotiations have taken place with the 
owner/occupier, GL Hearn’s valuation has been provided and an 
offer made by Renewal for the purchase of the unit, although the 
valuation has been carried out without inspection as access has not 
been afforded.  Renewal has paid for the owner/occupier to receive 
independent valuation advice, although the owner/occupier has 
declined to share the valuation report with Renewal/GL Hearn.  The 
parties remain some way apart on valuation.  The owner/occupier  
has been in touch with Kalmars but has advised Renewal there are 
no suitable alternative properties available for her.  Discussions, are 



MA_34816038_1 15 

ongoing and a meeting is due to take place in September at which 
the parties have also agreed to discuss relocation opportunities.  
 

 Unit 35 Bolina Industrial Estate:  Negotiations have taken place with 
the owner/occupier, GL Hearn’s valuation has been provided 
following an internal inspection and an offer made by Renewal for 
the purchase of the unit.  The owner/occupier has received 
independent valuation advice, and whilst his agent has said the 
difference in valuation is significant, the owner/occupier has not 
shared the valuation with Renewal/GL Hearn. Possible relocation 
properties have been provided to the owner/occupier, but he 
maintains a direct replacement unit should be purchased for him.  
GL Hearn have explained the compensation process which is 
based on the value of the existing unit.  The owner/occupier has 
been in touch with Kalmars but has advised Renewal that there are 
no suitable alternative properties available.  GL Hearn and Renewal 
remain in contact with the owner/occupier. 
 

 Units 31 & 32 Bolina Industrial Estate:  The owner/occupiers  have 
not responded to Renewal/GL Hearn regarding correspondence in 
relation to relocation/ negotiation.  GL Hearn’s valuation has been 
provided and an offer made for the purchase of the unit, although 
the valuation has been carried out without inspection as access has 
not been afforded.  Renewal met with the owner/occupiers some 
months ago to explain likely timescales and the prospective CPO 
process, but received no further response.  The owner/occupiers 
have written to the Council maintaining that Renewal’s offer is too 
low and it is unrealistic to find alternative premises. Renewal is 
continuing to try and engage with the owner/occupiers and has 
provided Kalmars contact details to assist them with finding a 
suitable alternative property and has also offered to pay for 
independent valuation advice.  

 
7.11 In other cases, negotiations appear to have stalled with landowners unwilling to 

negotiate until the Council has made a decision regarding compulsory acquisition.  
 

MFC and MCS 

7.12 The largest remaining interests by area yet to be acquired are those vested in 
MFC and MCS.  
 

 MFC 

7.13 MFC’s land is required in order to deliver the wider scheme for which planning 
permission has been granted and which accords with the Council’s regeneration 
objectives as set out in the Core Strategy which seeks comprehensive 
redevelopment of the Site as set out in Sections 3 and 11 of this Report.  The Core 
Strategy recognises the importance of MFC and the Stadium to the Borough and 
it has been made clear to MFC that the Council considers it essential that MFC 
should be able to continue to operate the Stadium and that appropriate rights will 



MA_34816038_1 16 

be granted in favour of MFC to ensure that this will happen.  MFC has provided 
information to the Council and Renewal regarding the rights it will require over the 
land around the Stadium in the event the land is acquired by CPO and discussions 
have taken place in relation to the grant of those rights.  The Council and Renewal 
will pursue negotiations with MFC regarding agreement in respect of the rights 
required.  
 

7.14 Discussions have also taken place between Renewal, MFC and the Council over 
a number of years in relation to the acquisition of MFC’s leasehold interest in the 
land around the Stadium.  Renewal have submitted a formal offer to MFC for that 
interest, but MFC has so far remained unwilling to negotiate any agreement for 
the surrender of its  interest, maintaining that its wishes to itself redevelop the land 
around the Stadium (MFC Land) and the land leased to MCS (MCS Land) in a 
manner consistent with Renewal’s proposals.   
 

7.15 MFC has asserted that the Council has refused to consider its development 
proposals for the MFC Land and the MCS Land.  That is not correct.  
Correspondence and discussions have taken place over a lengthy period in which 
MFC stated its intention to bring forward proposals of its own and in which Officers 
repeatedly stressed that in order for the Council to be able to give proper 
consideration to any proposals, it would require detailed drawings and other 
information including a business case and funding strategy and the delivery 
mechanism to ensure comprehensive delivery of the wider site consistent with the 
Council’s key regeneration/policy objectives.  Despite being advised what is 
required and being given ample opportunity to provide it, no detailed plans or any 
planning application, nor any of the other required information has been submitted 
by MFC.  In August 2013, MFC submitted some high level proposals in a 
document prepared by McKay and Partners entitled ‘Millwall Masterplan 22 
August 2013’ (MFC Proposals).  This document is considered further at 
paragraphs 7.21 to 7.27 below under the heading ‘Could the CPO purpose be 
achieved by other means?’  At the time of this report going to print, information 
was received regarding some revisions to the MFC Proposals.  This information 
is being reviewed and an update will be provided in due course.  
 

7.16 As mentioned above, at the Mayor and Cabinet meeting on 17 February 2016, 
Councillor Best encouraged Renewal and MFC to meet to see if they could resolve 
their differences in relation to the development.  To facilitate this, the Council 
appointed Strutt & Parker to act as an intermediary with the aim of bringing the 
parties together to see if an agreed position could be reached which would ensure 
comprehensive regeneration of the Site.  Strutt & Parker corresponded and met 
separately with the parties to encourage an all-party meeting to discuss whether 
and how the regeneration of the Site could be progressed in a spirit of cooperation.  
Discussions have been held between MFC and Renewal during which MFC 
confirmed that its aim in seeking to develop the MFC Land and the MCS Land is 
to secure an ongoing revenue stream to support the operation of the football club.  
To-date, however, no agreement has been reached between the parties with a 
view to achieving that aim. 
 

7.17 More broadly, Renewal has made its position clear to MFC via Strutt & Parker that 
 



MA_34816038_1 17 

 It does not consider there is a realistic prospect of MFC bringing forward its 
own proposals on the MFC Land and the MCS Land; 
 

 It should lead on the development having made considerable investment 
in the Site over the last 12 years, demonstrated its commitment to the 
Scheme and being the only party in a position to deliver on a reasonable 
timescale; 
 

 It is not prepared to contemplate any joint venture with MFC, having 
concluded after 9 years of dealings that the respective organisations’ 
vision, objectives and philosophy are not compatible. 

 
7.18 Renewal has, however, committed to working with MFC to find a financial solution 

and believes that progress could be made if MFC engage with Renewal regarding 
a surrender of the lease of the MFC Land and if MFC quantifies the level of an on-
going revenue stream it requires.  Officers will continue to assist with efforts to 
progress discussions between the parties.  

MCS 
 

7.19 With regard to MCS’s interest, the Council and Renewal have engaged in detailed 
negotiations with MCS regarding the Heads of Terms for the surrender of their 
leasehold interest in the Lion’s Centre and subsequent relocation to the new 
sports facilities (Energize) within Phase 2 of the Scheme.  A series of meetings 
has taken place between the Council, Renewal and a representative from the 
MCS Board of Trustees to discuss surrender of their lease and the relocation of 
MCS. The Council has also funded legal advice to enable MCS to conclude 
negotiations.  Agreement has previously been reached on Heads of Terms, 
subject to agreement as to the level of compensation, the management model of 
Energize to which MCS would relocate and the costs to rent the office and storage 
space within that new facility.  Following a pause in negotiations, Renewal and 
MCS are again in dialogue.  

 
7.20 Making a CPO will not mean that attempts to acquire by agreement will cease.  

The CPO Guidance makes clear that compulsory purchase is intended as a last 
resort in the event that efforts to acquire by agreement fail. However, the CPO 
Guidance also recognises that valuable time might be lost if an authority waits 
until negotiations do fail before making a CPO.  Authorities are advised that it may 
often be sensible to plan a compulsory purchase timetable as a contingency 
measure and initiate formal procedures.  The CPO Guidance notes that this will 
also help to make the seriousness of the authority’s intentions clear which might 
in turn encourage those affected to enter more readily into meaningful 
negotiations.  Efforts will continue by Renewal, supported by the Council, to 
acquire the remaining interests by agreement and any interests acquired by 
private treaty will not be included in the CPO or (where acquisition is achieved 
after the CPO is made) a request made that the CPO be not confirmed in respect 
of such interest, as appropriate. 

 
Could the Order purpose be achieved by other means?  
 



MA_34816038_1 18 

7.21 The Site is allocated as a strategic site within the Council’s Core Strategy.  A key 
requirement of the Core Strategy is that the Site is brought forward for 
comprehensive development in accordance with a Masterplan.  The purpose for 
which land and rights are proposed to be acquired is to enable comprehensive 
redevelopment of the Order Land in accordance with the adopted planning policy 
framework. The Outline Planning Permission and the S73 Permissions 
encompass comprehensive redevelopment in accordance with those policies. 
 

7.22 The CPO Guidance advises that in deciding whether to confirm an order made 
under Section 222(1)(a) of the 1990 Act, as is proposed here, one of the factors 
the Secretary of State can be expected to consider is whether the purpose for 
which the order is being made could be achieved by any other means.  This may 
include the appropriateness of alternative proposals put forward by owners of the 
land, or any other persons, for its reuse, as well as examining the suitability of any 
alternative locations for the purpose for which the land is being acquired.  
 

7.23 In addition to seeking to bring the parties together, as part of their appointment, 
Strutt & Parker were asked to advise on the MFC Proposals in terms of their 
viability, deliverability and overall fit within the Council’s Core Strategy and 
regeneration objectives for the area. This is not a case where any scheme on the 
MCS land and the land around the Stadium could simply be ‘dropped in’ to the 
wider Scheme and the Strutt & Parker report highlights that there are a number of 
significant delivery constraints and other implications for the wider Scheme as 
discussed below. Moreover, Strutt & Parker have considered the viability of the 
MFC Proposals and advise that they are unlikely to be viable in isolation. 
 

7.24 GL Hearn have also reported on the deliverability implications for the wider 
Scheme if the MCS Land and the MFC Land were to be excluded.  They conclude 
that not only would removal of the MCS Land and the MFC Land cause a 
significant negative impact on financial viability, it would also result in a significant 
level of delivery uncertainty relating to land ownership, planning, deliverability and 
place-making.  In those circumstances, GL Hearn conclude that no developer 
(including Renewal) would be likely to implement the Scheme. Officers accept that 
conclusion. 

7.25 The principal deliverability constraints are: 
 

 MFC does not have control of the land required for the MFC Proposals.  
The proposals require the MCS Land but MFC has no legal interest in the 
MCS land and in any event the various restrictions under the leases to MFC 
and MCS and the duration of those leases, do not enable the re-
development of the landholdings.   
 

 The Council has contracted to sell its freehold interest in the MCS Land 
and the land around the Stadium to Renewal and is not in a position to deal 
with that interest.  It is worth noting that MFC has complained it was not 
allowed to bid for the Council’s freehold interest.  This  is not correct.  It 
was open to MFC to put in a bid for the Council’s freehold interest at any 
time.  Indeed, in November 2013 and prior to the Land Sale Agreement 
with Renewal in December 2013, MFC’s consultants expressed an interest 



MA_34816038_1 19 

on behalf of MFC in making a bid and the Council advised it was a matter 
for MFC whether to do so.  No bid was received; 
 

 The MFC Proposals do not accord with the existing consents which would 
need to be varied to accommodate the proposals. The Core Strategy 
requires a comprehensive approach across the whole site in accordance 
with an approved Masterplan and a Delivery Strategy which demonstrates 
how comprehensive development will be achieved.  A standalone 
piecemeal proposal would be contrary to adopted policy and would not 
provide the transformational development the Council’s regeneration 
objectives require;  
 

 The surrounding land remains in the ownership/control of Renewal. 
Delivery of key infrastructure and access routes to the edge of the land 
would be required with associated rights/easements.  No information has 
been provided by MFC either to Renewal or the Council as to the 
infrastructure and rights it requires for the MFC Proposals and there is no 
assurance that the MFC Proposals would be brought forward on a 
timescale which is compatible with the wider Scheme.  Infrastructure 
provision across the wider Site will require phasing, particularly in respect 
of the ENVAC and SELCHP connections and these will not be able to be 
delivered by MFC at a later stage in isolation;  
 

 A joint venture arrangement/development agreement or similar agreement 
would be required between Renewal and MFC.  The negotiation of any 
terms would be extremely complex and time consuming with an uncertain 
outcome.  Leaving aside the key issue of viability, significant issues around 
key infrastructure and rights, phasing requirements, apportionment of 
planning obligations and other planning requirements and landowner 
equalisation arrangements would need to be resolved, creating significant 
uncertainty and delay and threatening delivery of key regeneration 
objectives for the Borough; 
 

 As is typical of comprehensive schemes of this nature, profit is not realised 
until later phases and so such schemes rely on the whole site to be 
developed to achieve an acceptable level of viability.  The viability of the 
wider Scheme is dependent on the place-making uplift applied to later 
phases and as such relies on it coming forward as a whole.  

7.26 Given that it owns or controls the majority of the interests in the Site, Renewal is 
the obvious partner to bring forward the Scheme.  Not only would removal of 
separate parcels of land from the currently consented wider scheme render it 
unviable from a financial and delivery perspective, the separate development of 
other parcels would be likely to result in piecemeal development, risk the non-
achievement of comprehensive development of the Site and thus the regeneration 
objectives for the Site and surrounding area not being realised.  At best it could 
lead to substantial delays in the regeneration coming forward.  To ensure 
comprehensive re-development, a significant degree of co-operation would be 
required between the current owners, even assuming satisfactory terms could be 
reached, which to-date there has not been.  In all the circumstances, Officers do 



MA_34816038_1 20 

not consider that the MFC Proposals provide an appropriate means by which the 
purpose of the Order might be achieved within a reasonable timeframe. 
 

7.27 Nor are there any other alternative, credible development proposals currently 
proposed or likely to be capable of coming forward and implemented to secure 
the comprehensive development of the Site within a reasonable timescale without 
the need for CPO.   The Site is unique in terms of size, scale and location of 
development.  The Site is almost assembled, ready for implementation.  Officers 
consider the planning objectives cannot be achieved from pursuing any alternative 
site for this scale of major regeneration - there is no comparable area available for 
this scale of development, even if the Council had the resources to assemble a 
similar site in a reasonable timescale.   
 

7.28 A continuing dialogue between Renewal and MFC and efforts to reach agreement 
must continue to be encouraged and supported.  Given the anticipated 
development programme, however, if the regeneration proposals are to move 
towards realisation, Officers consider that formal CPO procedures should 
commence so that delivery of the necessary land assembly can be secured.  
Negotiations with Renewal, MFC and all other landowners will continue in parallel 
with the CPO process with every effort being made to try and conclude the 
remaining acquisitions by agreement ahead of confirmation of the CPO.   
 

7.29 Officers consider pre-condition (i) has been met. 
 

 (ii)  Statutory powers, CPO Guidance  

7.30 Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (1990 Act) 
empowers the Council, on being authorised by the Secretary of State, to acquire 
compulsorily land in its area if it thinks that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying 
out of development, redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the land. 
The Council must not, however, use this power unless it also thinks that the 
development, redevelopment or improvement is likely to contribute to the 
achievement of any one or more of the following objects: 
 
(a) the promotion or improvement of the economic well-being of the Council's 

area; 
(b) the promotion or improvement of the social well-being of the Council's area; 
(c) the promotion or improvement of the environmental well-being of the 

Council's area. 
 

(Section 226(1A) of the 1990 Act). 

7.31 The Mayor is directed to Section 3 of the draft SoR which sets out how the 
proposed compulsory acquisition is considered to fall within the provisions of 
Section 226 and delivers the well-being objectives required by Section 226(1A).  
 

7.32 In some circumstances, only new rights over land might be required, such as a 
new right of access. This being the case, it is usually not necessary to acquire the 
freehold or leasehold interest. Instead, section 13 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 enables the Council, subject to authorisation 
by the Secretary of State, to create and acquire new rights over land.  That is 



MA_34816038_1 21 

proposed here where only a right is required and not the entire land interest, the 
new rights proposed being referred to in paragraph 6.6 of this Report.  
 

7.33 Section 227 of the 1990 Act provides an equivalent power for the Council to 
acquire land (including rights over land) by agreement (as opposed to 
compulsorily) for the purposes described in paragraph 7.30.  As set out in this 
Report and as is reflected in the CPO Guidance, it is intended that efforts to 
acquire the necessary land and rights by agreement will continue in tandem with 
the CPO process. 
 

7.34 As indicated above, the Council and Renewal has entered into a CPO indemnity 
Agreement which governs the process of land assembly.  The Council has power 
under Section 233 of the 1990 Act, subject to the requirements of that Section, to 
dispose of any land acquired for planning purposes.  It is intended that land 
acquired pursuant to the terms of the CPO Indemnity Agreement will be disposed 
of to Renewal pursuant to Section 233.  
 

7.35 Upon completion of any compulsory acquisition, Section 236 of the 1990 Act 
provides that any rights of way or rights to apparatus are automatically 
extinguished (save those of statutory undertakers etc which are subject to 
separate procedures).  In addition, where land is acquired or appropriated by a 
local authority for planning purposes (whether by CPO or private treaty), Section 
203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (2016 Act) makes provision for certain 
third party rights to be overridden when the land is developed in accordance with 
planning permission. Development and use of such land in accordance with 
planning permission, either by the local authority or by a person deriving title under 
the authority, will be authorised, even though it interferes with a third party right, 
such as an easement, or it breaches a restrictive covenant on the use of the land. 
Any third party whose rights are overridden in consequence of Section 203 is 
entitled to statutory compensation, assessed in accordance with provisions in 
Section 204 of the 2016 Act regarding compensation.   
 

7.36 In terms of the Stadium land, it is proposed that the CPO includes the acquisition 
of MFC’s leasehold interest in the land surrounding the Stadium and also new 
rights over the Stadium land to enable the carrying out of the works to the Stadium 
façade. The Council will retain the freehold interest in the Stadium itself.  As 
referred to above, the freehold interest in the land around the Stadium is subject 
to the Land Sale Agreement entered into with Renewal in December 2013.  
 

7.37 Officers consider pre-condition (ii) has been met. 
 

(iii) Compelling case in the public interest 

7.38 The relevant considerations for the purposes of any resolution to use compulsory 
purchase powers are set out in this Report and the attached draft SoR.  The CPO 
Guidance also sets out the considerations to be applied when making a resolution 
to exercise such powers and the factors which will weigh with the Secretary of 
State when deciding whether to confirm a CPO.  These factors include what might 
be described as the overarching consideration as follows: 
 



MA_34816038_1 22 

“A compulsory purchase Order should only be made where there is a compelling 
case in the public interest.  An acquiring authority should be sure that the purposes 
for which the compulsory purchase order is made justify interfering with the human 
rights of those with an interest in the land affected. Particular consideration should 
be given to the provisions of Article 1 of the First Protocol to the European 
Convention on Human Rights and, in the case of a dwelling, Article 8 of the 
Convention." 

7.39 Human Rights considerations are addressed further in Section 10 of the draft SoR 
and in Section 12 of this Report.  As set out in Section 12 of this Report, Article 8 
of the Convention provides that everyone has the right to respect for his private 
and family life, his home and his correspondence and that there should be no 
interference with the existence of the right except in accordance with the law and 
as necessary in a democratic society in the interest of the economic well-being of 
the country, protection of health and the protection of the rights and freedoms of 
others. Article 1 of Protocol 1 provides that no-one shall be deprived of their 
possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions provided 
for by law.   

7.40 Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Convention are qualified rights 
and as such interference within them is permissible only in accordance with the 
law and the pursuit of the permissible aims set out in those Articles.  Further, any 
interference must achieve a fair balance between the general interests of the 
community and the protection of individual rights – there must be reasonable 
proportionality between the means employed and the aim pursued.  Case law has 
determined that there is no requirement to set out in any formulaic way the extent 
to which specific human rights are interfered with and that the necessary human 
rights balancing exercise has been held to be encompassed by the test of a 
compelling case in the public interest required in CPO cases.   The availability of 
compensation to affected persons is also relevant in assessing whether a fair 
balance has been struck.   
 

7.41 Where it has acquired units within the Site, Renewal has, where possible, kept 
existing tenants in the unit and amended tenancy agreements to include break 
clauses of 3 to 6 months to ensure it can achieve vacant possession as and when 
required.  Renewal intends to continue with that strategy of only requiring units to 
be vacated as and when required for the development.  The Convention rights of 
persons occupying the Site will, however, be interfered with through a confirmed 
CPO and they will ultimately be displaced from their properties.  Those whose 
properties are acquired under the CPO will be entitled to compensation. 
 

7.42 Officers consider that the degree of interference is necessary in the interests of the 
economic well-being of the country (in the terms set out in Article 8), is in the public 
interest (in the terms set out in Article 1, Protocol 1 rights) and is proportionate 
when weighed against the significant benefits which will be delivered by the 
Scheme for the Borough and the wider community as set out in this Report and the 
draft SoR.  In summary, these benefits entail: 

 

 Approximately 1,500 new permanent jobs and 470 temporary construction 
jobs; 



MA_34816038_1 23 

 Approximately 2,400 new homes, including affordable housing; 

 A new station on the East London Line;  

 2 new bus routes linking the Site to Lewisham and Central London; 

 Energize, a £40m state-of-the-art regional sports complex;  

 New cycling and pedestrian routes linking the Site to the wider area; 

 A new faith and community centre;  

 A new multi-faith and multicultural resources centre;  

 A 150 bed hotel and conferencing centre; 

 New GP facilities with other health services, which may include specialisms 
in sports injury; 

 The refurbishment of the park at Bridgehouse Meadows; 

 A creative/digital quarter; 

 A new and improved setting for The Den and Millwall Football Club and 
allowing for an increase in capacity of the Stadium from 20,146 to 26,500; 

 A new home for the Millwall Community Scheme; 

 5 new public squares and private gardens for residents;  

 Improvements to 14 surrounding railway arches and underpasses creating 
links into the surrounding areas; 

 Surrounding junction improvements;  

 Enhanced security and safety across the Site and surrounding areas 
 

7.43 Mayor and Cabinet are referred to Section 9 of the draft SoR which brings together 
the key aspects of the CPO case.  The significant benefits of the Scheme are 
further amplified in the Regeneration and Equalities Statement at Appendix K to 
the draft SoR.  Social benefits will be provided from the delivery of sustainably 
constructed new homes that will make a significant contribution to meeting private 
and affordable housing need in the Borough, as well as new community and leisure 
facilities. The concentration of development will be better able to access new and 
existing public transport.  By land assembly, rationalising, improving and providing 
new uses and infrastructure on the Site, there will be significant environmental 
benefits.  The Scheme will give rise to economic benefits in terms of major 
investment in the Borough, with jobs created from construction, new commercial, 
community and leisure uses.  The new resident and business population will 
contribute to the local economy.  Further details of the compelling case in the public 
interest are also set out in the draft SoR. 
 

7.44 Officers are satisfied that there is a compelling case in the public interest for the 
use of CPO powers. 
 

7.45 The CPO Guidance also makes clear that if the acquiring authority is unable to 
show how the CPO land is to be used and that the necessary resources are likely 
to be available to achieve the purpose of acquisition within a reasonable timescale, 
it is unlikely to be able to show the acquisition is justified in the public interest.  
These aspects, as follows, are discussed elsewhere in this Report and the draft 
SoR: 
 

 whether the purpose for which the land is being acquired fits in with the 
adopted planning framework for the area. In addition to this specific 
requirement, the general requirements of the CPO Guidance states that 



MA_34816038_1 24 

any programme of land assembly must be set within a clear strategic 
framework and that such framework will need to be founded on an 
appropriate evidence base and to have been subject to consultation 
processes including those whose property is directly affected (see Section 
11 of this Report and Section 4 of the draft SoR); 
 

 the extent to which the proposed purpose of acquisition would contribute to 
the achievement of the promotion and/or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of the Council's area (see paragraphs 
7.42 and 7.43 above and Section 3 of the draft SoR); 
 

 that the necessary resources, including funding, are likely to be available 
to achieve the purpose of the CPO within a reasonable timescale (see 
paragraphs 7.50 to 7.71 of this Report and Section 6 of the draft SoR); 
 

 that the scheme is unlikely to be blocked by physical or legal impediments 
(see elsewhere in this Section 7 and Section 8 of this Report and Section 
6 of the draft SoR);   
 

 whether the purposes for which the land is to be acquired could be 
achieved by any other means.  This can include considering the 
appropriateness of any alternative proposals put forward by the owners of 
the land or others, or examining the suitability of alternative locations for 
the purpose for which the land is being acquired  (see paragraphs 7.21 to 
7.28 of this Report and Section 6 of the draft SoR). 
 

7.46 Officers consider pre-condition (iii) has been met. 
 

(iv)  Viability/delivery mechanism 

7.47 As explained above, the CPO Guidance makes clear that if a CPO is to be 
confirmed, there must be a compelling case in the public interest and the purpose 
for which the CPO is made must justify interfering with the human rights of those 
affected.  If the acquiring authority is unable to show how the CPO land is to be 
used and that the necessary resources are likely to be available to achieve the 
purpose of acquisition within a reasonable timescale, it is unlikely to be able to 
show the acquisition is justified in the public interest.  When preparing its 
justification, the acquiring authority further needs to show the scheme is unlikely to 
be blocked by any physical or legal impediments to implementation.  The acquiring 
authority is also required to provide substantive information regarding sources of 
funding, including as to how potential shortfalls may be met if funding has not yet 
been finalised.  
 

7.48 The Site is one of five strategic sites identified within, and considered key to, the 
delivery of the Council’s Core Strategy. The Core Strategy sets out the ambition to 
transform the physical environment and achieve place-making objectives by 
delivering a comprehensive range of regeneration outcomes in the Borough. In 
conjunction with the Council, Renewal has spent almost 12 years shaping and 
facilitating the comprehensive regeneration of the Site. During this time Renewal 
has acquired by private treaty the vast majority of property interests required to 



MA_34816038_1 25 

assemble the Site and has secured the Outline Planning Permission and the S73 
Permission for the scheme which will deliver significant and comprehensive 
regeneration to this deprived area.  In doing so, Renewal has incurred significant 
capital expenditure in acquisition, design, planning and consultants’/advisors’ 
costs.  There can be little doubt that Renewal has made a significant financial 
commitment and has demonstrated a long term outlook and how serious it is about 
ensuring that this comprehensive Scheme is brought forward. 
 

7.49 That of itself this is not enough, however, and the Council needs to be satisfied 
that if it proceeds with a CPO to assemble the remaining interests, the necessary 
resources are likely to be in place to achieve the purpose of the acquisition within 
a reasonable timescale. As such, it needs to be satisfied the scheme is viable, 
deliverable and fundable.  
 

7.50 In April 2014, GL Hearn (a leading property consultancy) reported on the viability 
of the Scheme on behalf of the Council.  They concluded that the Scheme was 
financially viable on the basis of delivery of all aspects of the Scheme by a single 
developer.  At the request of the Council, in June 2015 Renewal appointed GL 
Hearn to take their evaluation a step further by bringing together the detailed 
information regarding viability and the approach to funding into a single report and 
then reviewing and assessing the proposed delivery strategy. The Council 
appointed PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) to provide financial and real 
estate due diligence and to review the GL Hearn report and updates to it.  The 
costs, values and other information included in the GL Hearn report has been 
updated to reflect the cost and values as at August 2016 and the revised approach 
to Housing Zone funding, and also to include commentary on market sentiment 
following the EU Referendum vote. The additional information provided by 
Renewal/GL Hearn has been reviewed by PwC’s and PwC’s key 
conclusions/considerations, which Officers accept, are set out below.  
 

7.51 GL Hearn have developed detailed, bottom up, appraisals using industry standard 
software to assess the viability and deliverability of Renewal’s intended delivery 
strategy using current planning permission and market cost and revenue 
assumptions. PwC consider those cost and revenue inputs to be reasonable and 
supported by market benchmarks. Furthermore, following a review of the outputs 
and funding assumptions made, PwC conclude that Renewal’s intended delivery 
strategy is appropriate and capable of delivering a commercial return and therefore 
would have a reasonable chance of being delivered in line with Renewal’s 
proposals.  
 

7.52 Renewal has established that the most appropriate strategy for delivering the 
comprehensive redevelopment is a Master Developer Strategy (MDS). Under the 
MDS, Renewal will enter into development agreements and grant long leasehold 
interests to house builders/sub-developers in respect of individual development 
plots/phases in an ordered manner over the development period.  Under this 
arrangement, Renewal will retain the freehold interest in the plots/phases, with sub-
developers developing out and receiving a long lease of the residential elements 
with the commercial units being handed back to Renewal at nil premium to be held 
as investments to drive long term revenue or sold.  There is strong developer 
demand for residential development opportunities in this part of London, 



MA_34816038_1 26 

particularly of the size of development that each phase represents and the 
assumed price point of the residential units.  
 

7.53 Under the proposed strategy, Renewal will maintain responsibility for the delivery 
of the Community Sports Facility (Energize) in Phase 2, the transport interchange 
and the urban/public realm. In addition, Renewal will retain design control across 
the whole development and retain the commercial property in each phase.  The 
Housing Zone proposals mean the new Overground Station will be delivered 
through grant funding, enabling additional funds to be applied to more affordable 
housing in the Scheme. 
 

7.54 The MDS approach will allow Renewal to offset much of the delivery risk but at the 
same time retain overall control to ensure that a comprehensive scheme and 
quality shared places/public realm can be delivered.  All are important public 
benefits that underpin the case for the CPO and facilitate the much-needed 
housing and policy ambition for comprehensive redevelopment in the area.  
 

7.55 PwC have confirmed that a MDS approach is a recognised commercial approach 
for large, complex, multifaceted schemes. There are a number of examples of this 
delivery route being employed elsewhere, including the Olympic Park in Stratford.  
PwC also note that the transfer of construction and residential market risk to a 
specialist sub-developer helps to dissipate the delivery risk borne by the master 
developer. 
 

7.56 As noted above, the GL Hearn appraisal model uses current market assumptions 
about a range of variable factors to evaluate the attractiveness of the MDS 
approach and potential returns. Within their appraisal, GL Hearn set out their 
assumptions regarding the absorption rate of residential sales into the market 
place, build costs and sales receipts. Renewal/GL Hearn have appointed DBK (a 
recognised project management, cost management and building consultancy with 
experience of large scale developments) to provide the build cost advice whilst 
sales values are based on GL Hearn’s own research.  
 

7.57 PwC have reviewed the modelling developed by GL Hearn and conclude: 
 

 The profit on cost and IRR (internal rate of return) assumed to be 
achieved are likely to be acceptable returns to a commercial developer 
for taking a Master Developer role and initiating a complex development 
such as the Scheme.  
 

 The assumed profit allowance of the sub-developers would be 
acceptable to commercial housebuilders in the current market, 
immediately post-Brexit, for serviced plots in Greater London with the 
benefit of outline planning consent. 
 

 Build costs and sales values, at Aug 2016 on a unit basis, are 
considered broadly reasonable 

 
7.58 Officers consider that the information provided and the review supports the premise 

that the Scheme is viable and that there is an appropriate delivery mechanism in 



MA_34816038_1 27 

place.  This conclusion is augmented by a number of legal agreements/proposed 
agreements which Officers consider combine to further support the delivery 
mechanism for the Scheme in support of the potential CPO, these are; 
 

 The Conditional Land Sale Agreement between the Council and Renewal 
dated 20th December 2013 relating to the Council’s freehold interest in the 
land around the Stadium and the Lions Centre. The sale is conditional upon 
Renewal entering into agreements with MFC and MCS or the interests 
being acquired by CPO if a private treaty agreement cannot be reached.  
The Agreement also includes provision for the transfer of the land back to 
the Council if the comprehensive scheme has not been commenced within 
4 years of the transfer of the Council’s interest to Renewal.  There is 
therefore an incentive on Renewal to commence the Scheme as soon as 
is reasonably practicable within the 4 year period. 
 

 The Section 106 Agreements entered into in March 2012 and December 
2015.  The requirements of the Agreements are summarised elsewhere in 
this Report, but it is noteworthy that financial commitments early on in the 
Scheme incentivise the development of later phases if returns are to be 
realised.  Given the upfront costs of the development, including major 
Section 106 contributions, the returns on the Scheme do not start to be 
realised until Phase 3 of the development which also supports the 
comprehensive development. 
 

 The Borough Intervention Agreement to be entered into with the GLA in 
connection with the Housing Zone status of the Site which will accelerate 
delivery of the new Overground Station on the East London Line and 
enable development of the first two phases of development (1A and 2) to 
proceed ahead of schedule delivering 532 homes earlier.  The balance of 
the £20 million funding is expected to be available towards further 
infrastructure requirements in relation to the Scheme, following due 
diligence and subject to contract (and therefore as already noted, the 
current financial modelling does not take this into account at this stage).  A 
separate report on the Housing Zone funding aspects will be presented to 
Mayor and Cabinet in due course. 
 

7.59 Those opposed to the Scheme have referred to Renewal’s lack of a track record 
in regeneration schemes of this nature and the absence of any development 
obligations with the Council. There is no policy requirement for a development 
agreement to be in place or to demonstrate certainty of delivery.  Objectors have 
complained that Renewal will profit from any CPO, but developers reasonably 
require a profit if they are to bear the cost and risk of bringing forward 
development.  It has been alleged that the Mayor and Cabinet report in February 
2016 confirmed that Renewal intends to simply sell plots and seek to make an 
immediate profit.  It is not clear whether this is a misunderstanding of the MDS 
approach which is clarified above, but Renewal has confirmed that at no stage 
has it or its shareholders sought to dispose of its interest in the Scheme nor does 
it intend to.  Further, Renewal and its shareholders will only achieve positive cash 
flows in the later phases and will therefore be incentivised to continue with the 
Scheme once started.  



MA_34816038_1 28 

 
7.60 Whilst the Council does not have a directly enforceable obligation from Renewal 

to deliver the whole of the scheme, any such obligation would not in any event 
guarantee delivery.  Officers remain of the opinion that the necessary resources 
will be available and that the Scheme will provide a sufficient return to Renewal 
(or another developer/developers), such that the Council can be confident that if 
the CPO is confirmed, Renewal will wish to proceed with the Scheme (for the 
reasons given above), and the Scheme will be delivered. 

 
7.61 in all the circumstances, Officers consider that the scheme has been 

independently verified as viable with appropriate delivery mechanisms in 
place and that pre-condition IV has been met  
 

(v) Business Plan / Funding Strategy 

7.62 Renewal’s intended MDS approach will significantly reduce the level of funding 
which would otherwise be required, as the majority of costs and risks for the 
development of individual plots/phases will be passed to sub-developers who are 
likely to be national house builders.  
 

7.63 GL Hearn have modelled the programme cash flows and these indicate that 
regardless of whether or not sunk costs are included, the peak debt funding 
requirement is reached in year 3 with the scheme only in surplus from year 7 
onwards.   
 

7.64 PWC have confirmed that they consider that the appraisals presented by GL Hearn 
have been properly considered and reflect Renewal’s development intentions. 
 

7.65 The other more immediate funding need and of direct focus to the Council is the 
ability for Renewal to fund the remaining acquisitions and support any CPO costs 
and expenses that arise.  In the event the Council resolves to proceed with a CPO, 
the CPO Indemnity Agreement provides for a cash deposit or satisfactory 
alternative security to be in place before the Council proceeds to make a CPO. 
Renewal have offered a performance bond from RBS to cover the liabilities under 
the CPO Indemnity Agreement to the value of approximately 175% of the estimate 
total costs, thereby providing a significant surplus.  This is an ‘on-demand’ bond 
enabling the Council to require payment from RBS if Renewal fail to pay under the 
CPO Indemnity Agreement.  Officers consider this is an acceptable form of security 
for the Council. It is noteworthy that the performance bond is to be given by RBS 
which is still in majority Government ownership.  RBS will have independently 
assessed Renewal’s ability to cover these costs prior to it agreeing to provide such 
bond, which further confirms the security. The bond is further referred to in Section 
8 of this Report. 
 

7.66 Renewal has set up a project company/special purpose vehicle as the delivery 
vehicle for the Scheme – this is a widely recognised approach to large scale 
project/programme delivery. The project company is not established with sufficient 
resources to deliver the scheme utilising its own funds. It has always been 
represented that the funding for the project would be provided by the shareholders 
of Renewal who are Incorporated Holdings Ltd and Independent Advisors 



MA_34816038_1 29 

Incorporated. The Renewal Group Ltd (registered in the Isle of Man) is a 100% 
subsidiary of Renewal Holdings Ltd (registered in the Isle of Man) which in turn is 
owned on a 50/50 basis by Incorporated Holdings Ltd (IHL) (registered in the Isle 
of Man) and Independent Advisors Incorporated (registered in the British Virgin 
Isles). 
 

7.67 PwC have confirmed that the delivery structure and funding mechanism adopted 
is not unusual and is common place in the delivery of large and complex 
developments. PwC have also reviewed the audited accounts of Renewal as at 31 
December 2015 and whilst there are no audited accounts for the parent 
shareholders (by reason of them not being based in the UK) the financial 
information provided by the shareholders indicates significant net assets. On the 
basis of this information PwC suggest that IHL has the potential to utilise or 
leverage its balance sheet to cover both the initial funding and the peak debt 
(excluding sunk costs) finance required by the project. Furthermore, whilst 
Renewal has stated the intention that future funding from shareholders will be 
100% shareholder debt in nature, the option to raise further bank debt exists and 
may be utilised.  However, if for any reason the shareholders failed to do this then 
there are alternative funding strategies for the project to proceed as set out in 
paragraphs 7.69 and 7.70 below. 
 

7.68 There is perhaps natural caution about reliance on offshore funding but it is 
considered that a number of factors should be taken into consideration in this 
regard, as follows: 
 

 Funding for the project to date has been provided almost entirely by 
shareholders, with only circa 18% funded by bank debt provided by RBS 
The debt provided by the shareholders is unsecured with no fixed 
repayment date and has 10% annual interest charges applied to the debt 
– the interest charges are included in the appraisal modelling. The 
implication therefore is that the shareholders will only see their principal 
investment and interest returned as the scheme is delivered. 
 

 Therefore, PWC note that whilst there is no absolute binding commitment 
on behalf of the shareholders to further fund the project they have 
significant investment in the project already which suggest that 
commercially further investment is highly likely.  
 

 PwC also note that, as is the norm at this stage of a project of this nature, 
Renewal has supplied a Development Agreement between themselves 
and its shareholders which covenants the shareholders to provide future 
cash flow requirements for the project. Whilst this is subject to the 
shareholders having the funds and the appraisal at the time being able to 
demonstrate a 10% development profit the sensitivity analysis carried out 
by GL Hearn shows that property prices would need to fall substantially 
below those assumed for Phases 1A and 2 of the Scheme for a 10% 
development profit not to be achieved.  Whilst they note that such a fall in 
house prices is not unprecedented, PwC agree that even taking account of 
the uncertainties created by the Brexit vote, it is more likely there will be a 
gradual reduction in house prices and not a fall of that magnitude. 



MA_34816038_1 30 

 

 PwC also note that a collapse in the housing market would not occur in 
isolation and that the impact on any appraisal would be mitigated by other 
market adjustments such as a fall in build costs which they would anticipate 
during a property recession. Renewal, in common with other master 
developers, would have the option to pause the development until such 
time as house prices recovered.  
 

 The GLA has designated the whole Scheme as one of the first Housing 
Zones and has agreed in principle to provide £20m of funding towards the 
Scheme.  
 

7.69 There are a number of other factors which also need to be taken into consideration 
when assessing the business plan/funding strategy and the justification for the use 
of CPO powers.  With  
 

 an assembled site; 
 

 Outline Planning Permission/S73 Permission for the comprehensive 
scheme, and 
 

 the MDS delivery approach 
 

the Scheme is generally considered bankable/fundable. If for any reason 
Renewal’s shareholders decide not to fund the scheme, it would be expected in 
those circumstances that traditional debt funding would be available to a developer 
to meet the maximum deficit arising during the course of the project. Given the 
residual value of the Site post completion of the land assembly exercise, such debt 
funding could be secured at favourable rates. Therefore assessing the Scheme on 
a non-developer specific basis, it is likely that the maximum deficit could be funded 
by another developer. 

7.70 PwC have also commented that based on the viability of the Scheme and the 
assumed returns, if Renewal were not to proceed with the intended development 
the opportunity would exist for an alternative commercial developer to come 
forward. This of course pre-supposes that the Site assembly was complete and 
that Renewal wished to dispose or needed to dispose of the assembled Site.   
 

7.71 It is Officers’ opinion that, if the Council wishes to see the comprehensive 
redevelopment come forward, this is only likely to occur if the Site (against which 
the Outline Planning Permission/S73 Permission has been granted) is assembled 
and that the regeneration scheme will only be achieved in a reasonable time period 
if the Council assist the land assembly by the exercise of its CPO powers.  
 

7.72 The Indemnity aspects are covered in the financial implications at Section 9 below.   
 

7.73 In all the circumstances, Officers’ are of the view that the Scheme is viable and 
deliverable, and has a reasonable prospect of coming forward in a reasonable 
timescale in the event the Council secures compulsory purchase powers to 
complete the land assembly exercise. 



MA_34816038_1 31 

   
7.74 Based on the above considerations, Officers believe that a suitable business 

plan and funding strategy exists to ensure that the Scheme can be brought 
forward in a reasonable timescale and that pre-condition V has been met. 
 

(vi) Equalities Impact 

7.75 The Council’s statutory duty pursuant to the Equality Act is summarised in Section 
12 of this Report. A Regeneration and Equalities Statement has been completed 
in respect of the proposed Compulsory Purchase Order. 
 

7.76 A summary of the Regeneration and Equalities Statement is included within 
Section 11 of the draft SoR.    
 

7.77  Officers consider pre-condition (vi) has been met. 
 
8.0. Acquisition of land currently owned by Renewal 

8.1 As indicated above, Renewal already own a significant proportion of the land 
required for the development.  Renewal has analysed the position regarding third 
party rights over the land it already owns (and land to be acquired) which may 
affect its ability to implement the scheme.  Renewal has appointed Bilfinger GVA 
(GVA) to provide specialist input on rights of light.  

 
8.2 GVA have been provided with the parameter plans for the permitted Scheme which 

detail the maximum and minimum heights of the various buildings.  Using accepted 
methods of assessment, including computer modelling, land registry documents 
and any information that they can source regarding the internal layout of buildings, 
GVA have undertaken an assessment to identify the level of impact on rights of 
light of neighbouring properties. In identifying properties that would be ‘injured’ by 
the proposed development, an assessment is taken to identify whether the level of 
light entering through a window will change as a result of the construction of a new 
development.  This is evaluated by assessing the amount of sky visibility (at 0.2%) 
available on the working plane, which is defined as the top of a table 850mm from 
the floor, on a ‘before development’ and ‘after development’ basis. 
 

8.3 Based on case law, GVA have classified that a property is injured where the extent 
of a room that is lit at the 0.2% sky visibility level reduces to a level below 50%. 
Where a room already is lit to a level of below 50% of its area, then any further 
reduction, regardless of extent, will constitute an injury.  The conclusion that a 
property has had an injury in respect to its right of light does not suggest that a 
room no longer receives any light (although in extreme cases this may be the case), 
just that the new development will result in an interference which results in the lit 
area of the room falling below 50%. 
 

8.4 GVA conclude that an actionable level of interference will be caused to 54 
properties as a result of the proposed development.  Of these, 21 are held by the 
Council in a single freehold title, 32 are private residential units and the other 
interest affected is the MFC Stadium. A plan is attached to this Report at Appendix 
8, which shows the residential properties affected and the buildings which will 
interfere with the rights of light.  These comprise flats and maisonettes within the 



MA_34816038_1 32 

apartment blocks at Bridge Meadows, Chilham House, and Reculver House (which 
are occupied by a mix of secure tenants and long leaseholders who have exercised 
the right to buy) and also by the MFC Stadium.  The Council owns the freehold 
interest in Chilham House and Reculver House and the right of light attaching to 
the Council’s interest will also be interfered with.  The impact on rights of light vary 
between minor, moderate, significant or severe. 
 

8.5 A further plan is attached at Appendix 8 which shows the cutbacks in the 
development which would be required to avoid the interference.  Avoiding such 
interference is, however, unworkable in that it is not a matter of simply moving or 
re-orientating buildings to avoid an interference with rights of light; a significant 
number of buildings would have to reduce in size considerably. Four of the towers 
(one in phase 1A one in phase 1B and two in phase 3) would be reduced to the 
height of the podiums they sit upon reflecting a cumulative loss of over 60 storeys 
of residential accommodation alone, 3 other buildings are lost completely (over 20 
storeys of development) and 12 other structures, including the sports centre, would 
need to reduce in height.  The accommodation to be provided in these buildings 
could not be replaced elsewhere on the Site given the design already maximises 
the potential of other blocks.   
 

8.6 To avoid interfering with rights of light would mean the number of units delivered 
on the Site would have to be significantly reduced.  The impact on the level of 
residential accommodation which could be delivered on the Site would be 
substantial and would result in the development opportunity not being maximised.  
A portion of the new sports facility would also be lost.  GL Hearn has advised that 
the loss of the residential accommodation would have a significant impact on the 
development’s viability, likely prejudicing the delivery of other aspects of the 
Scheme and the public benefits of the wider development being realised. 
 

8.7 In terms of assessing whether it is necessary to interfere with the rights in question, 
this involves both consideration not only as to whether the interference is physically 
necessary, but also as to whether agreement might be reached with those with the 
benefit of the right for release of the right.  GL Hearn or the Council has approached 
those with the benefit of the rights to light with a view to reaching agreement 
regarding release of the rights, subject to payment of consideration.  Those 
affected have been notified of the potential impact and offered an opportunity to 
meet to discuss the matter further and undertake a survey of their property in order 
to accurately assess any impact. To date only one response has been received, 
with the respondent requesting a survey.  This has now been carried out and 
Renewal are in the process of instructing GVA to assess the impact.  
 

8.8 Unless the rights of light are released or overridden, those with the benefit of the 
rights could seek to prevent the re-development scheme proceeding so far as it 
interferes with their rights.  Section 203 of the 2016 Act authorises interference with 
third party rights such as easements, restrictive covenants etc in respect of land 
acquired (by agreement or compulsorily) or appropriated by a local authority for 
planning purposes, where the interference results from development in accordance 
with planning permission.  Rights of light are considered to be rights encompassed 
by Section 203 of the 2016 Act. Note that an authority can only appropriate land it 
already owns, so appropriation is not relevant for present purposes.   



MA_34816038_1 33 

 
8.9 Note also that if and to the extent the land affected by the rights of light might be 

acquired by the Council through CPO, then as that would be an acquisition for 
planning purposes under Section 226 of the 1990 Act, by virtue of Section 203, 
Section 203 will be engaged through that process. We are therefore only dealing 
here with land already owned by Renewal or which might be acquired by Renewal 
by private treaty.  
 

8.10 The protection in Section 203 applies not only to the local authority, but also to 
anyone deriving title from it.   Where Section 203 is engaged, any interference with 
a third party right is converted to an entitlement to compensation based on the 
reduction in value of the third party’s land attributable to the interference with the 
rights attaching to it. 
 

8.11 As indicated above, Section 203 is engaged by an acquisition by a local authority 
for planning purposes. The power to acquire land for planning purposes is 
contained in Sections 226 (compulsory acquisition) and 227 (acquisition by 
agreement) of the 1990 Act.  Under Section 227, a local authority can acquire land 
for the purposes for which they might be authorised to acquire it compulsorily under 
Section 226.  Thus, when acquiring by agreement, the local authority must be 
satisfied the acquisition fulfils the same tests as apply to power of compulsory 
acquisition under Section 226.  The Section 226 tests are set out in paragraph 7.29 
of this report which cross refers to the relevant section of the draft SoR.  
 

8.12 Officers consider that the acquisition of Renewal’s land for planning purposes, with 
the consequence that this will engage Section 203 of the 2016 Act, will facilitate 
the carrying out of the development, re-development or improvement of the Site.  
It will enable the development to be constructed pursuant to the planning 
permissions which have been granted notwithstanding it involves interference with 
third party rights which might otherwise impede the development. 
 

8.13 Officers propose that the land owned by Renewal (including land shown on the 
Acquisition Plan which may subsequently be acquired by Renewal by private 
treaty) upon which the construction of the consented buildings will interfere with 
rights should be acquired by the Council and disposed back to Renewal, thus 
engaging Section 203 of the 2016 Act.  It is considered that this will facilitate the 
development by ensuring the third party rights do not prejudice delivery of the 
Scheme.  It will also contribute to delivery of the well-being benefits in the greater 
public interest, as identified in Section 3 of the SoR.   
 

8.14 The arrangement will enable third party rights to be interfered with and in 
considering whether to proceed, consideration should  be given to the protections 
under Human Rights legislation.  Section 12 addresses the application of Article 8 
of the Convention (of relevance to residential occupiers) and Article 1 of the First 
Protocol applies to both individuals and other legal persons and so is also of 
application to the rights held by corporate entities for example. 
 

8.15 In considering the approach, the action must be proportionate and represent a fair 
balance between public interest and private rights: Is it proportionate?  Having 
regard to the significant regenerative, well-being and other public and economic 



MA_34816038_1 34 

benefits to be delivered through the re-development proposals, it is considered that 
the degree of interference is necessary in the interests of the economic well-being 
of the country (in the terms set out in Article 8), is in the public interest (in the terms 
set out in Article 1, Protocol 1 rights) and is proportionate in each case.   As referred 
to above, any third party interference with third party rights will carry a right to 
compensation in respect of any diminution in value caused to the third parties’ 
property as a result of the interference.  
 

8.16 Once acquired, Section 233 of the 1990 Act authorises the Council to dispose of 
any land held for planning purposes, in such manner and subject to such conditions 
as appear to the local authority to be expedient to secure the best use of that 
land/buildings or works which have been, or are to be, erected, constructed or 
carried out on the land or to secure the erection, construction or carrying out of 
buildings or works appearing to them to be needed for the proper planning of their 
area.  Section 233 requires Secretary of State consent to any disposal which is for 
a consideration less than that reasonably obtainable and is not a 
disposal/assignment of a lease of 7 years or less.  The Council has been advised 
by GL Hearn in respect of valuation matters concerning the Section 203 
transaction, including certifying that the disposal under such transaction satisfies 
the requirements of Section 233 of the 1990 Act.  The Council has also been 
advised that the proposed structure gives rise to minimal SDLT liabilities which in 
any event will be Renewal’s responsibility. 
 

8.17 Heads of terms for the proposed transaction have been agreed, subject to Mayor 
and Cabinet approval, between Officers and Renewal.  These are attached at 
Appendix 4.   
 

8.18 Renewal as developer will be primarily responsible for any compensation payable 
under Section 204 of the 2016 Act.  The Council will, however, retain residual 
liability in the event Renewal fails to discharge its liability.  It is therefore appropriate 
that Renewal should indemnify the Council in respect of such residual liability.  
Officers recommend that the CPO Indemnity Agreement should be varied to 
encompass any such liability, thus ensuring the performance bond to be given by 
RBS also provides security for this potential additional liability  
 

8.19 Members are asked to approve the acquisition and disposal and the variation to 
the CPO Indemnity Agreement for the reasons set out in this report.   
 

9.0. Financial implications 

9.1 As provided for in the CPO Indemnity Agreement, all costs incurred by the Council 
in connection with the acquisition process are to be met by Renewal, including, by 
way of summary: 
 

 administrative costs of the CPO, including time spent by Council staff and 
fees incurred on consultants in advising on land acquisition/CPO aspects 
and progressing the CPO and land referencing aspects; 
 



MA_34816038_1 35 

 legal costs (including in respect of time incurred by the Council’s legal 
section and also fees incurred by the external legal advisers and in engaging 
Counsel); 
 

 other CPO related expenses, including all costs, fees and expenses relating 
to any public inquiry (if there is one) in respect of the CPO, any costs related 
to purchase or blight notices etc; 
 
(The above costs are subject to interim invoicing to Renewal under the 
terms of the CPO Indemnity Agreement). 

 Land acquisition and compensation costs (including land value, acquisition 
costs and disturbance payments to all affected landowners, lessees or 
tenants which arise from the acquisition of their interest; 
  

 Any compensation payments payable (in addition to those arising from 
acquisition), including for example, statutory disturbance payments, 
payments in respect of injurious affection, interference with third party rights 
etc, in consequence of the Scheme. 

 
9.2 As set out in Section 8 of this Report, it is proposed that the CPO Indemnity 

Agreement is varied to ensure it covers the compensation and other costs which 
the Council may incur in consequence of the proposed acquisition of Renewal’s 
freehold interest (both the existing freehold and any freehold interest which may 
subsequently be acquired by Renewal by private treaty) in land within Phase 1A, 
1B, 2 and 3 as identified on the Acquisition Plan, and the lease back of the relevant 
land on the terms set out in Appendix 8.  The comments on the CPO Indemnity 
Agreement apply equally to the agreement as proposed to be varied.  
 

9.3 As explained elsewhere in this Report, the CPO Indemnity Agreement provides 
for a cash deposit or alternative security to be put in place following a CPO 
Resolution to cover the costs secured under the CPO Indemnity Agreement. 
Renewal proposes to provide an on-demand performance bond from RBS in 
respect of all costs and expenses payable under the CPO Indemnity Agreement. 
In the event that Renewal does not provide the bond then the Council is not 
obliged to proceed with the CPO or to undertake any other steps under the CPO 
Indemnity Agreement until security for the costs is in place. Officers advise that 
the Council should not proceed to make the CPO unless a satisfactory Deposit or 
alternative security is in place. 
 

9.4 In terms of project management, the CPO project is being led by the Council’s 
Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration, with support from the Head 
of Planning and Head of Law.  Joint working has taken place with Renewal and 
their professional advisors on the preparation and making of the CPO and will 
continue in its progress through to confirmation and implementation.  
 

9.5 In terms of risk management, Renewal will continue to negotiate with landowners 
and wherever possible acquire all necessary land and rights by agreement during 
the preparation and making of the CPO and thereafter, and until such time as the 



MA_34816038_1 36 

Council considers it reasonable to take over the negotiations and/or acquire the 
land compulsorily.  
 

9.6 The Council’s costs which include internal and external costs (e.g. legal input and 
other consultants) and costs incurred on land acquisition matters, including 
compensation matters, are rechargeable to Renewal under the CPO Indemnity 
Agreement. Any financial exposure of the Council is currently minimised as costs 
are billed regularly to Renewal.  Any failure to pay entitles the Council to ‘down 
tools’ under the CPO Indemnity Agreement.  Once a CPO resolution is made, as 
explained above, provisions are in place for a cash deposit or alternative security 
to be provided. Officers consider the proposed RBS on-demand performance 
bond to provide appropriate security.  
 

9.7 Once the CPO process gets underway, the Council may be legally obliged to take 
steps at certain stages which will result in expense.  With the performance bond 
in place, however, any financial exposure to the Council is mitigated. Any risk of 
the performance bond being insufficient to cover the costs of the CPO has also 
been mitigated by the amount of the bond being substantially higher than the 
amount currently estimated as being required to cover the costs of the CPO, 
including any rights of light claims. Should it transpire at any time that the bond is 
considered insufficient to cover the likely costs, then the CPO Indemnity 
Agreement provides a process for increasing the amount under the security with 
the Council not being obliged to take further steps until the amount has been 
increased. 
 

9.8 Throughout the process Officers would seek to ensure that the security is 
adequate to cover the Council’s exposure through full monitoring and anticipation 
of costs and ensuring, should it become necessary, additional sums are secured 
under the security. 
 

9.9 In terms of holding any land acquired under the CPO, the intention is to transfer 
all interests to Renewal as soon as practicable.  In order to minimise this risk the 
transfer will be made as soon as possible after the land has been acquired, and 
mechanisms such as holding irrevocable deeds of transfer to Renewal will be 
explored so that the risk (if any) only lasts for the minimum possible time. 
 

9.10 Officers are satisfied that the arrangements outlined above mean that any 
financial exposure to the Council in relation to the CPO process can be mitigated 
to avoid material exposure. The CPO Indemnity Agreement has been drafted to 
minimise the risk to the Council, and Renewal has a strong and proven track 
record of meeting the Council’s costs to date. 
 

9.11 In relation to the acquisition under Section 227 and disposal to Renewal, the 
Council has been advised by GL Hearn that in terms of compliance with Section 
233 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 there are no issues and following the 
CPO order the Council has been advised that the initial acquisition by the Council 
of a third party land interest will be SDLT exempt and only Renewal will incur 
SDLT on the transfer to them (which will be its responsibility). 
 

Financial due diligence (linked to pre-conditions (iv & v) 



MA_34816038_1 37 

9.12 In September 2013, at the point of recommending to the Mayor that the Council 
enter into the Conditional Land Sale Agreement, Officers noted that the 
recommendation for the CPO resolution would not be brought forward until such 
time as "full financial due diligence has been undertaken and officers are satisfied 
that Renewal Group Limited has a viable business plan and funding strategy to 
deliver the scheme.” 
 

9.13 To this end the Council commissioned independent advice from PwC to undertake 
a due diligence review of Renewal’s overall ability to deliver the New Bermondsey 
development scheme and its financial standing. PwC’s review is based in large 
part on their assessment of the GL Hearn report commissioned by Renewal and 
which included a review of the viability of the Scheme. The key conclusions of 
both the PwC report and GL Hearn report are as set out in Section 7 of this Report. 
 

9.14 Overall the conclusions are that the scheme is viable, that the costs of the CPO 
will be covered by the on-demand performance bond (once signed) and that the 
Scheme can either be financed by Renewal’s shareholder companies (though it 
should be noted that financial information provided by the shareholders is 
unaudited as the shareholders are based offshore) or potentially through debt 
finance or on the basis the assembled Scheme would be attractive to another 
developer. 
 

9.15 Renewal Group Limited (registered in the Isle of Man) is a 100% subsidiary of 
Renewal Holdings Limited (also registered in the Isle of Man) which in turn is 
owned on a 50/50 basis by Incorporated Holdings Ltd (IHL) (registered in the Isle 
of Man) and Independent Advisors Incorporated (IAA) (registered in the British 
Virgin Isles). Renewal has confirmed that IAI is ultimately controlled by a family 
trust and that IHL is ultimately controlled by a charitable trust. The Council should 
note that the nature of the unaudited information provided including ownership 
means that it has not been independently verified.  
 

9.16 In relation to the RBS performance bond, paragraphs 9.1 – 9.8 above set out the 
Council’s rights under the CPO Indemnity Agreement and this is considered to 
mitigate material financial exposure to the Council The bond must be in place 
before the Council proceeds with any CPO.  
 

10.0. Risk Assessment 

10.1 A risk register has been prepared for this project and a Project Implementation 
Document (PID) has been prepared and will be monitored by the Council’s SCT 
Proposed CPO Board.    The CPO Indemnity Agreement of December 2013 is 
considered to provide the Council with a robust mitigation mechanism for all the 
protection it needs to avoid almost all financial risks, and Section 9 discusses any 
financial risk to the Council.    
 

11.0. Comments from the Head of Planning 

11.1 The Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD) sets out the vision, 
objectives, strategy and policies to manage development in the Borough over the 
next 15 years (2011 to 2026). The Core Strategy is the Council’s key planning 
policy document and together with Development Management Local Plan and the 



MA_34816038_1 38 

London Plan forms the development plan for the Borough. The Core Strategy 
allocates five sites in the north of the Borough as ‘strategic sites’ one of which is 
New Bermondsey under its former name of the Surrey Canal Triangle (Core 
Strategy Strategic Site Allocation 3, SSA3). 
 

11.2 The strategic sites are considered central to the achievement of the Core Strategy 
as redevelopment can collectively transform the physical environment and 
achieve place making objectives by delivering a comprehensive range of 
regeneration outcomes in the Borough’s most deprived areas. This includes 
significant numbers of new homes, a range of economic, employment and training 
opportunities, accessibility improvements (public transport, pedestrian and cycle), 
and infrastructure provision and public realm improvements. 
 

11.3 The Scheme represents an opportunity to transform the environment and 
infrastructure and create a new destination around the Borough’s premier sporting 
destination (the MFC Stadium) which currently is not enhanced or improved by 
the surrounding industrial estates. 
 

11.4 The Core Strategy policy (SSA3) allocates the Site for mixed use development 
and requires a comprehensive phased approach to redevelopment in line with an 
approved Masterplan. For the purposes of this Site, the outline planning 
application and supporting documentation which the Council resolved to approve 
on 13th October 2011, also carried through to the Section 73 application, 
represents the Site’s masterplan.   The policy seeks to create a ‘destination’ that 
could act to focus and attract other regeneration opportunities. It ensures 
development facilitates and takes advantage of the proposed new station on the 
London Overground network and the existing sporting and leisure facilities at the 
MFC Stadium to create a new high quality destination in an area which is relatively 
devoid of local facilities. Specifically the policy: 
 

 ensures the continued operations of Millwall Stadium and supports its 
potential redevelopment; 
 

 seeks a range of uses including employment, retail, housing (up to 2,400 
new homes), leisure and community; 
 

 makes provision for a range of infrastructure including the London 
Overground Station at Surrey Canal Road and substantial improvements 
to walking and cycling routes, including on-site amenity space; 
 

 ensures high quality design of all new buildings and spaces. 
 

11.5 The Core Strategy is intended to encourage third party landowners and 
developers to bring forward their land and buildings for re/development where 
appropriate. The Council has been working with landowners and their agents to 
assist the process of bringing forward development within the earliest possible 
period. This particularly applies to the strategic site allocations. However, it is 
accepted that there may be instances where landowners may be reluctant or 
unwilling to bring forward their land for development. In such circumstances the 
Core Strategy acknowledges that the Council may choose to use its compulsory 



MA_34816038_1 39 

purchase powers to achieve the Core Strategy’s wider regeneration objectives 
(paragraph 9.24, Core Strategy). 
 

12.0. Legal implications 

12.1 The Mayor is being asked to consider the exercise of the powers under Section 
226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act and Section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 to make a CPO for the acquisition of land and new rights. 
The legal requirements and appropriate cross-references to the draft SoR are 
covered within this Report and the draft SoR.  
 

12.2 In exercising the powers, the Council must also have regard to the CPO Guidance.  
The overarching requirement to demonstrate a compelling case in the public 
interest is set out in paragraph 7.38 – 7.44 of this Report, together with the 
additional factors which the Council must have regard to in making its decision.   
 

12.3 The Mayor is also being asked to authorise the acquisition for planning purposes 
under Section 227 of the 1990 Act of Renewal’s current and future freehold 
interests in land at 1A, 1B, 2, 3 and 4 and the lease back of that land to Renewal 
(with an option for Renewal to repurchase the freehold interest).  The 
circumstances and implications of this arrangement are set out in Section 8 of this 
Report.  
 

 Section 203 

12.4 Land acquired by the Council for the Scheme whether by private treaty or pursuant 
to CPO will be acquired for planning purposes under Section 226 or 227 of the 
1990 Act.  The land will be acquired subject to any existing interests and rights 
belonging to third parties, including rights of light, and the land will be sold subject 
to any such interests and rights on disposal. However, under Section 203 of the 
2016 Act, the development of land which has been acquired or appropriated for 
planning purposes in accordance with planning permission is authorised, 
notwithstanding that it would interfere with any interests or rights affecting the land.  
The benefit of Section 203 passes to persons deriving title from the local authority, 
provided the interference is caused by development with planning permission and 
there remains sufficient connection between the development and the original 
purpose of acquisition.  The ability to rely upon Section 203 removes the potential 
for excessive compensation claims and the ability for owners to obtain injunctions 
preventing the redevelopment or claim damages. 
 

12.5 Where rights are interfered with, the owners of any such interests are entitled to 
compensation as provided for in Section 204 of the 2016 Act.  The primary 
responsibility for payment of compensation rests with the developer, but the local 
authority retains residual liability in the event the developer defaults.  The CPO 
Indemnity Agreement requires Renewal to pay any Section 237 (now Section 203) 
compensation.  This is considered to be in respect of third party land, however, 
and not any Section 204 compensation which would arise from the acquisition and 
lease back of Renewal’s land as set out in Section 8 of this Report.  It is therefore 
proposed that the CPO Indemnity Agreement is varied to ensure Renewal is 
responsible for the compensation and costs arising in respect of any interference 
with rights in respect of the land the subject of that proposed transaction.  



MA_34816038_1 40 

 
 Equality Act 2010 Implications 

12.6 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together all previous equality legislation in 
England, Scotland and Wales. The Act includes a new public sector equality duty 
(the equality duty or the duty), replacing the separate duties relating to race, 
disability and gender equality. The duty came into force on 6 April 2011. The duty 
covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

12.7 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to: 

 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act; 
 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not; 
 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 
 

12.8 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation or other prohibited conduct or to promote equality of opportunity or 
foster good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.  It is a duty to have regard to the need to achieve the goals 
listed at paragraph 12.7 above.  
 

12.9 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the 
decision and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, 
bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must 
understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected 
characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. It is not an absolute 
requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 
or foster good relations. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from case to 
case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances. 

12.10 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently  issued Technical 
Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled 
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of 
Practice”.  The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates 
to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the 
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should 
do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but 
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling 
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical 
guidance can be found at:  https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-
guidance/equality-act-codes-practice 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice


MA_34816038_1 41 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-
technical-guidance  
 
 

12.11 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 
guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty: 
  

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty; 

 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making; 

 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities; 

 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities; 

 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities. 
 

12.12 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further 
information and resources are available at 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-
duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/. 
 

12.13 Paragraph 7.75 of this Report refers to the Regeneration and Equalities Statement 
which has been carried out in this case and cross-refers to the summary of that 
assessment in Section 11 of the draft SoR.  
 
Human Rights Act 1998 Implications  

12.14 The Human Rights Act 1998 effectively incorporates the European Convention on 
Human Rights into UK law and requires all public authorities to have regard to 
Convention Rights. In making decisions Members therefore need to have regard 
to the Convention. The rights that are of particular significance to the Mayor’s 
decision are those contained in Articles 8 (right to home life) and Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of possessions). 
 

12.15 Article 8 provides that everyone has the right to respect for his private and family 
life, his home and his correspondence.  The right is qualified to the effect that there 
should be no interference with the right except in accordance with the law and as 
necessary in a democratic society in the interest of the economic well-being of the 
country, protection of health and the protection of the rights and freedoms of 
others. Article 1 of Protocol 1 provides that every natural or legal person is entitled 
to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. Again the right is qualified to the 
effect that no one is to be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest 
and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of 
international law.  Further, the right does not in any way impair the right of a state 
to enforce such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of property in 
accordance with the general interest.  
 

12.16 As qualified rights, interference with the Article 8 and Article 1, First Protocol rights 
is permissible only if what is done has its basis in law, is done to secure the 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/


MA_34816038_1 42 

permissible aim set out in the relevant Article (for present purposes, economic 
wellbeing (Article 8) or the public interest (Article 1)) and is necessary in a 
democratic society.  The interference must pursue the legitimate aim and be 
proportionate to the aim being pursued.  In determining the level of permissible 
interference, the courts have held that any interference must achieve a fair 
balance between the general interests of the community and the protection of the 
rights of individuals – there must be reasonable proportionality between the 
means employed and the aim pursued.  The availability of an effective remedy 
and compensation to affected persons is relevant in assessing whether a fair 
balance has been struck.  Case law in a CPO context has determined that there 
is no requirement to set out in any formulaic way the extent to which individual 
human rights are interfered with and that the necessary human rights balancing 
exercise is encompassed by the test of a compelling case in the public interest.    
 

12.17 If a CPO is made and confirmed, this will result in the taking of property and the 
rights of persons occupying the Site will be interfered with.  The nature of the 
properties/occupations involved is set out elsewhere in this Report.   Officers 
consider that the degree of interference is necessary in the interests of the 
economic well-being of the country (in the terms set out in Article 8), is in the public 
interest (in the terms set out in Article 1, Protocol 1 rights).  In making the 
recommendations in this Report, Officers have carefully considered the balance 
to be struck between individual rights and the wider public interest and have also 
had regard to the alternative means of securing the redevelopment of the Order 
Land and the associated regeneration of the area.  Officers have concluded the 
interference is proportionate when weighed against the significant benefits which 
will be delivered by the Scheme for the Borough and the wider community as set 
out in this Report, the draft SoR and the Regeneration and Equalities.  
Compensation will be payable in accordance with law including compensation for 
property on the basis of the market value of the interest acquired, together with 
disturbance, statutory loss payment and where appropriate home loss payments.  
 

13.0. Environmental Implications  

13.1 There are no immediate environmental implications associated with the 
recommendations of this report.   The planning report referred to in the 
background papers has the environmental implications concerning the Scheme.  

  

14.0. Crime and disorder implications 

14.1 There are no immediate implications associated with the recommendations of this 
report.  The planning report referred to in the background papers has the 
implications concerning the Scheme.  
 

15.0. Conclusion 

15.1 Each of the Pre-Conditions to making a CPO set out in the 7th March 2012 Report, 
have been addressed and considered by Officers. 
 

15.2  On balance, the Mayor is recommended to resolve to make a CPO and to agree 
the other recommendations set out in Section 4 of this Report.  



MA_34816038_1 43 

 
16.0. Background Papers  

16.1 Copies of all background papers have been made available in the members' room 
prior to the meeting at which this report is due for consideration. The papers are 
listed in the table below. 

 
 Strategic Planning Committee report 

Land to the North and South of Surrey Canal Road  
Report 13.10.11 - 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=194&MId=2067  

 

 Strategic Planning Committee report 
Land to the North and South of Surrey Canal Road  
Report 13.12.13 - 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=194&MId=3015  

 

 SCT “in principle” CPO and land appropriation report 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8486/Surrey%20Canal%20
Triangle%20Regeneration.pdf 
 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8488/Appendix%201%20S
urreyCanalRdCPO%20Plan.pdf 
 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8489/Appendix%202%20S
urreyCanal%20Rd%20Land%20Ownership%20Plan.pdf 

 

 Surrey Canal Triangle Regeneration – Update on Land Assembly and 
Conditional Land Sale Agreement between LBL and Renewal. 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s24507/Surrey%20Canal%20Triangl
e%20Regeneration.pdf 

 

Short title of document Date File Location Contact Officer 

Strategic Planning 
Committee Report 

Land to the North and South 
of Surrey Canal Road 

13.10.11 Laurence House   Michael Forrester 

Strategic Planning 
Committee Report 

Land to the North and South 
of Surrey Canal Road 

13.12.13 Laurence House Michael Forrester 

SCT “in principle” CPO and 
land appropriation report 

7.3.12 Laurence House Kplom Lotsu  

Surrey Canal Triangle 
Regeneration – Update on 
Land Assembly and 

13.9.13 Laurence House Kplom Lotsu  

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=194&MId=2067
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=194&MId=3015
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8486/Surrey%20Canal%20Triangle%20Regeneration.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8486/Surrey%20Canal%20Triangle%20Regeneration.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8488/Appendix%201%20SurreyCanalRdCPO%20Plan.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8488/Appendix%201%20SurreyCanalRdCPO%20Plan.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8489/Appendix%202%20SurreyCanal%20Rd%20Land%20Ownership%20Plan.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s8489/Appendix%202%20SurreyCanal%20Rd%20Land%20Ownership%20Plan.pdf


MA_34816038_1 44 

Conditional Land Sale 
Agreement between LBL 
and Renewal. 

Regeneration and Equalities 
Statement – Quod 

Appendix K of the report 

26.08.16 Laurence House Kplom Lotsu 

GL Hearn – Review of 
Implications of Omission of 
MFC and MCS Land for 
Scheme Viability 

30.08.16 Laurence House Kplom Lotsu 

GVA Rights of Light Report December 
2016 

Laurence House Kplom Lotsu 

 

If any person would like further information on this report, please contact Kplom Lotsu 
on 0208 314 9283 or Kplom.Lotsu@lewisham.gov.uk 

List of Annexures/Appendices 

Site Plan 
Appendix 1: Draft Statement of Reasons 
Appendix 2: CPO Resolution Plan 
Appendix 3: Section 227 Acquisition Plan 
Appendix 4: Section 227 Acquisition Heads of Terms 
Appendix 5: Plan of Renewal’s Existing Ownership 
Appendix 6: Table of Freehold and Leasehold Interests to be Acquired, plans of 
freehold, head leasehold and under leasehold interests, plan showing third party 
interests to be acquired. 
Appendix 7: Utilities Plan 
Appendix 8: Rights of Light Plans  
 
All appendices may be viewed at: 
 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=4304 
 
and 
 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=14894#mgDocuments 
 
 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=4304
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=14894#mgDocuments






































































































d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\0\8\ai00015805\$eujkz1ci.doc 

MAYOR AND CABINET 
 

Report Title 
 

Report Back on Matters Raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Key Decision 
 

No  Item No.   

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Senior Committee Manager 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 15 December 2016 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 

To report back on any matters raised by the Overview & Scrutiny Business 
Panel following their consideration of a report at their meeting on 13 
December 2016. 

 

New Bermondsey (Formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) 

 

1.1 Following discussion at the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel, 

Members agreed to make the following additional comments and 

requests to the Cabinet in support of their existing Call-in: 

 

i. Correspondence received from Eversheds and Shoosmiths be 

referred to the Cabinet and officers be asked to prepare a 

response. 

 

ii. the Cabinet be requested to ask officers to ensure that all 

Housing Action Zone bid documents are made available to 

Scrutiny Members, and a redacted copy made available to the 

public. 

 

iii. the Memorandum of Understanding should be signed before a 

CPO is approved.  
 

iv. the Cabinet be requested to ask PwC to give their professional  

advice to members on assurances made by Renewal in respect 

of the Bermondsey CPO arrangements. 
 

v. the Cabinet be requested to ask officers to ensure that the 

Section 106 agreement is reviewed by the Strategic Planning 

Committee.  
 



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\0\8\ai00015805\$eujkz1ci.doc 

vi. the Cabinet be requested to ask officers to resolve issues raised 

on the Academy and the Community Trust before the CPO is 

approved. 
 

vii. Business Panel raised concerns about Renewal’s CPO signage. 

The Cabinet is requested to consider whether they would want 

to do business with a company, which despite an apology, had 

taken such a heavy handed approach with local residents and 

businesses. 
 
 

viii. the Lambeth Smith Hampton narrative seemed to be 

incomplete, and the Cabinet is requested to ensure that 

documents and correspondence relating to the CPO be made 

available in a timely manner 

 
 

 

 

 

 































SECTION 08 – 385

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES 
OF THE EFL FOR SEASON 2016/17
CONTENTS
GENERAL
Definitions ........................................................................................................................................387
General .............................................................................................................................................397
Applications to Operate Academies ....................................................................................................397

STRATEGY, LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT OF THE ACADEMY
Strategic documents .........................................................................................................................401
Academy Performance Plan ...............................................................................................................401
Performance Management Application ............................................................................................. 402
Technical Board ................................................................................................................................ 402

EFFECTIVE MEASUREMENT
Academies: Licensing, Evaluation and Audit ....................................................................................... 403
Productivity Profile ........................................................................................................................... 403

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT, PLAYER DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRESSION
Performance Clock ........................................................................................................................... 404
Individual Learning Plans and Multi-disciplinary Reviews ................................................................... 404

STAFF
General ............................................................................................................................................ 406
Academy Management Team ............................................................................................................ 407
Academy Manager ............................................................................................................................ 407
Academy Secretary ........................................................................................................................... 409
Head of Academy Coaching ............................................................................................................... 409
Coaches ............................................................................................................................................410
Goalkeeping Coaches .........................................................................................................................410
Senior Professional Development Coach ............................................................................................. 411
Coaches: Qualifications and Professional Development ....................................................................... 412
Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine .................................................................................... 413
Lead Sports Scientist .........................................................................................................................414
Lead Strength and Conditioning Coach ............................................................................................... 415
Senior Academy Physiotherapist ........................................................................................................ 415
Physiotherapists and Sports Therapists...............................................................................................416
Academy Doctor ................................................................................................................................ 417
Performance Analysts ........................................................................................................................ 417
Head of Education .............................................................................................................................418
Head of Recruitment .........................................................................................................................419
Minority Candidates ......................................................................................................................... 420
Interns ............................................................................................................................................ 420

COACHING
Coaching Programme ....................................................................................................................... 420
Coaching Hours ................................................................................................................................. 421
Development Centres ........................................................................................................................422



SECTION 08 – 386

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

GAMES PROGRAMME
General .............................................................................................................................................423
Performance Analysis ....................................................................................................................... 424
Foundation Phase Games Programme ............................................................................................... 424
Youth Development Phase Games Programme ................................................................................... 426
Professional Development Phase Games Programme ......................................................................... 429
Professional Development League ..................................................................................................... 431
Games Programme: Postponement etc. of Matches ............................................................................432

EDUCATION AND WELFARE
General .............................................................................................................................................433
Induction Events .............................................................................................................................. 434
Reports on Educational Progression .................................................................................................. 434
Delivery of the Education Programme ................................................................................................435
Welfare, Social Development and Lifestyle Management ................................................................... 439
Player Exit/Release Strategy ............................................................................................................. 439

SPORTS SCIENCE AND MEDICINE
Sports Science and Medicine Programme ........................................................................................... 440

TALENT IDENTIFICATION AND RECRUITMENT
Scouts: Qualifications ....................................................................................................................... 442
Scouts: Attendance at Matches ......................................................................................................... 442
Scouts: Disciplinary Action ................................................................................................................ 443
Registrations and Provision of Information by the League .................................................................. 443
Time/Distance Rules ......................................................................................................................... 444
Trials ............................................................................................................................................... 444
Pre-Registration Agreements ............................................................................................................ 446
Registrations.................................................................................................................................... 447
End of Season Procedure ................................................................................................................... 449
Termination of Registration .............................................................................................................. 450
Scholarships ...................................................................................................................................... 451
Appeal Against Termination ...............................................................................................................452
Appeal Against Disciplinary Decision ..................................................................................................452
Order of Costs ....................................................................................................................................452
Further Appeal ..................................................................................................................................453
Approaches by and to Clubs and Inducements .....................................................................................453

FACILITIES
Facilities .......................................................................................................................................... 454

FINANCE AND EXPENSES
Finance ............................................................................................................................................ 459
Expenses.......................................................................................................................................... 459

COMPENSATION 
Compensation .................................................................................................................................. 460

APPENDIX A – SAFEGUARDING
Part 1 – The EFL Child Protection Statement ....................................................................................... 465
Part 2 – Specific Requirements ........................................................................................................... 465

APPENDIX B – CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SCOUTS...........................................................................467



SECTION 08 – 387

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

GENERAL
Note: throughout this document binding Rules are shaded in light blue. Guidance and other notes are also 
included for the assistance of Clubs. Such guidance and notes do not, however, form part of the Rules. 

Definitions
Rule 1 sets out definitions used in the Youth Development Rules. All other capitalised terms used in this 
section of the Rules are defined in Regulation 1 of the EFL Regulations.

 1 In this Section of the Rules the following terms shall have the following meanings:

 1.1 “Academy” means an establishment for the coaching and education of Academy Players 
operated by a Club in accordance with the requirements of this Section of the Rules and licensed 
by the PGB pursuant to Rule 18.

 1.2 “Academy Doctor” means the Official referred to in Rule 103.

 1.3 “Academy Financial Information” means a budget for the following season, together with a 
comparison of the budgeted and actual figures for the previous season, all of which information 
shall be set out in the format to be prescribed by the League.

 1.4 “Academy Management Team” has the meaning set out in Rule 57.

 1.5 “Academy Manager” means the person responsible for the strategic leadership and operation of 
a Club’s Academy, whose role and responsibilities are more particularly defined at Rules 59 to 65. 

 1.6 “Academy Performance Plan” means a document which sets out: 
  a) the goals, strategy and measurable short-term and long-term performance targets for 

all aspects of the work of the Club’s Academy, such strategy and performance targets 
to be consistent with the Club’s Vision Statement, Coaching Philosophy and Playing 
Philosophy; and 

  b) without prejudice to the generality of paragraph a), how the Academy will deliver and 
integrate its Coaching, Education, Games and Sports Science and Medicine Programmes.

 1.7 “Academy Player” means a male player (other than an Amateur Player, Non-Contract Player (in 
the EFL) or a Trialist) who is in an age group between Under 9 to Under 21 and who is registered 
at a Club which operates an Academy pursuant to these Rules, save for any player who:

  a) the Board is satisfied has developed technical, tactical, physical, psychological and social 
skills of such a level that he would not benefit from continued coaching in the Academy 
or participating or continuing to participate in its Games Programme (which includes, for 
the purpose of this definition, the League Competition referred to in Rules 163 to174; and

  b) has entered into a Standard Contract with that Club.

Guidance
It is emphasised that Academy Players aged 17 or older may no longer be classified as such only where the 
Board approves an application by the Club in the light of all the circumstances relevant to the particular 
Academy Player and on such terms as the Board considers appropriate.

The duties of a Club in relation to the provision of an Education Programme, Safeguarding and Welfare, 
Social Development and Lifestyle Management continue.

Clubs’ attention is drawn to Rule 78 which requires Clubs to develop and implement a procedure to enable 
the transition of Academy Players to the senior squad, and also to Rule 118.1 which provides that each 
Academy Player has access to coaching tailored to his individual needs. Any decision by a Club to cease 
treating an Academy Player as such where it is not reasonable to do so in the light of his overall development 
and skill level may be treated at being a breach of this Rule.



SECTION 08 – 388

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.8 “Academy Secretary” means the Official referred to in Rule 66.

 1.9 “Academy Staff” means those Officials of a Club employed or otherwise engaged to work in the 
Club’s Academy.

Guidance
The term “employ” is used in the Rules with reference to Academy Staff, but it is accepted that the 
relationship need not necessarily be one of employment. For example, a Club may enter into a contract for 
services with Part Time youth coaches whereby no employment relationship will arise. Any references to 
“employ” or “employment” in this section of the Rules shall be interpreted accordingly.

 1.10 “Artificial Surface” means a playing surface which in the reasonable opinion of the League 
meets the requirements of the FIFA Quality Concept for Football Turf and:

  a) any new outdoor Artificial Surface pitch installed by a Club which operates or applies to 
operate a Category 1 Academy must achieve the FIFA recommended 2 star rating under 
the FIFA Quality Concept for Football Turf; and

  b) any new indoor Artificial Surface pitch installed by a Club which operates or applies to 
operate a Category 1 Academy must achieve the FIFA recommended 2 star rating under 
the FIFA Quality Concept for Football Turf.

Guidance
To achieve and maintain the FIFA 2 star rating under the FIFA Quality Concept for Football Turf, the Artificial 
Surface pitch needs to be certified on an annual basis by a FIFA accredited agent.

Existing Artificial Surface pitches have a natural life span. Accordingly, as they reach the end of their natural 
life span, they should be replaced with pitches that achieve the necessary star rating under the FIFA Quality 
Concept for Football Turf.

 1.11 “Audit Tool” means the online application maintained by the League and approved by the PGB 
for the purpose of undertaking (in particular by the ISO) the evaluation and audit of Academies 
by the assessment of:

  a) the extent to which a Club meets the criteria for Academies set out in these Rules;
  b) the extent to and manner in which a Club meets or exceeds the recommended best 

practice criteria which are set out in the Audit Tool; and
  c) its Productivity Profile.

 1.12 “Authorised Games” means:
  a) international matches arranged by a national association including preparation and 

trials therefor; or
  b) matches in which the Academy Player plays for the Club holding his registration:
  i) in its first teams; or
  ii) which are comprised in a Games Programme; or
  iii) which are comprised in Festivals or Tournaments, participation in which is limited 

to Academy teams or which are sanctioned by The Football Association or by a 
foreign national association; or

  c) friendly matches organised by the Club holding the Academy Player’s registration and 
played at an Academy, participation in which is limited to Academy Players registered 
at an Academy or Trialists but excluding matches between two teams consisting of one 
Club’s Academy Players; or



SECTION 08 – 389

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

  d) friendly matches against any opposition played outside the season dates set out in the 
Games Programme Schedule in which the Academy Player plays for the Club holding his 
registration; or

  e) matches organised by the English Schools Football Association or Independent Schools 
Football Association or an association affiliated to either of such Associations in which the 
Academy Player plays with the prior agreement of his Parents (in the case of an Academy 
Player under the age of 18 years), all participation in such matches to be notified by the 
Academy Player to the Club holding his registration; or

  f) trial matches for other Clubs or Premier League clubs in which the Academy Player plays 
with the prior written permission of the Club holding his registration; or

  g) any other match authorised by the Board.

 1.1 “Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification” means the qualification of that name issued by or on 
behalf of The Football Association.

Guidance
The Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification (“BFAS”) is a course which has been developed and delivered by 
The FA since Season 2012/13.

The BFAS will need to be renewed every three years (it is hoped as part of the renewal of the main Academy 
coaching qualifications).

 1.14 “Category” means one of the four categories into which each Academy shall be assigned in 
accordance with the criteria and procedures set out in this section of the Rules, and “Category 
1”, “Category 2”, “Category 3” and “Category 4” shall be construed accordingly.

 1.15 “Charter for Academy Players and Parents” means the information to be provided by the 
League to the Parent of each Academy Player upon each occasion of his registration for a Club 
and which will contain:

  a) information about the consequences of the Academy Player becoming registered with a Club;
  b) a summary of the Club’s obligations to the Academy Player, and the Academy Player’s 

obligations to the Club. 

 1.16 “Chief Executive” means the Official referred to in Regulation 16.15.1(c) (in the case of 
Championship Clubs) and the equivalent Official (for League One and Two Clubs).

 1.17 “Club Board” means those Directors of the Club whose particulars are registered under section 
162 of the Act.

 1.18 “Coach Competency Framework” means a document which sets out the key competencies and 
behaviours which the Club expects its Academy coaches to possess and demonstrate.

 1.19 “Coaching Philosophy” means a written statement which sets out in detail (including by describing 
the content of individual coaching sessions for each Academy Player) the means by which the Club 
will coach its Academy Players in each age group so that they have the best opportunity to develop 
the technical, tactical, physical, psychological and social skills that the Club wishes players in each 
position on the pitch to acquire, as set out in the Club’s Playing Philosophy.



SECTION 08 – 390

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.20 “Coaching Curriculum” means a Club’s coaching curriculum which must be set out in writing and include: 
  a) the technical, tactical, physical, psychological and social skills that the Club wishes its 

Academy Players to develop; 
  b) the appropriate means of coaching Academy Players in order that they develop those 

skills (having due regard to their age); and
  c) specific coaching curricula for each Development Phase.

 1.21 “Continued Professional Development” means ongoing training for Academy Staff, relevant 
to their discipline, of such quality, content and frequency as is necessary to ensure that each 
member of Academy Staff has the necessary knowledge and expertise in order to fulfil his role.

 1.22 “Core Coaching Time” means between 8.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, save that  
in the Foundation Phase and Youth Development Phase it also includes between 9am and 5pm 
on Saturdays.

 1.23 “Core Condition” means each of the individual Rules referred to below:

Rule Number Description

29 Academy Performance Plan in place

59-65 Academy Manager* (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT) 

*The Academy Manager Role can still be combined with the Head of Academy Coaching 
role as long that there is a full time Academy Operations Manager.

68-69 Head of Academy Coaching* (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT) 

*The Academy Manager role can still be combined with the Head of Academy Coaching 
role as long as there is an additional Full Time Academy Operations Manager.

66 Academy Secretary (CONTRACT)

108 Head of Education (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

87-93 Head of Sports Science and Medicine (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

109 Head of Recruitment (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

76-77/79-86 Senior Professional Development Coach (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

70-72/79-86 Coach 1 Foundation Phase (Lead Phase Coach): (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

70-72/79-86 Coach 2 Foundation Phase (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

70-72/79-86 Coach 1 Youth Development Phase (Lead Phase Coach): (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

70-72/79-86 Coach 2 Youth Development Phase (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

70-72/79-86 Coach 1 Professional Development Phase (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

70-72/79-86 Coach 2 Professional Development Phase (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

73-75/79-86 Goalkeeping Coach(es): (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

185 Academy Safeguarding Officer (CONTRACT)

94-96 Lead Sports Scientist (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

97-98 Lead Strength and Conditioning Coach (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

103 Medical

99 Senior Academy Physiotherapist (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)

100-102 Registered Physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions Council and Sports 
Therapists (QUALIFICATIONS AND CONTRACT)



SECTION 08 – 391

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

104-105 Performance Analyst 1 (CONTRACT)

104-105 Performance Analyst 2 (CONTRACT)

179-183 Education Programme in place for Full Time Training Model (FTTM) and Hybrid Training 
Model (HTM); includes monitoring academic progression

302 Grass pitches Note: The ISO will also report on the number and condition of grass pitches 
for this to be assessed in terms of the adequacy of available grass pitches and demand.

307 Floodlit outdoor Artificial Surface pitch site at the Academy

302 Designated Goalkeepers (Grass) Training Area

308 Indoor Artificial Surface pitch

309 Changing Rooms

309 Washing and toilet facilities

310 Team meeting room on site (20 people)

311 Guest / Parents’ Lounge (50 people)

312 Match Analysis Suite to hold 20 people (fully equipped)

314 Academy Administration Office space and facilities

314 Private meeting room on site

316 Classrooms for 20 people (min. 20 computers)

54 Each member of Academy Staff has an employment contract or a statement of terms of 
employment or in the case of a non-employee, a contract for services

Other The ISO will be asked to confirm also that the following are being addressed:
•	 Health	and	Safety	audit	result	at	the	current	acceptable	standard	which	for	PL	Clubs	is	

a score of at least 85% 
•	 Safeguarding	provisions:	compliance	with	Appendix	A

 1.24 “Development Action Plan” means an individualised plan, developed and implemented in 
accordance with these Rules, for the professional development of an Academy coach.

Guidance
See further Rules 83 to 86. 

 1.24A “Designated Safeguarding Officer” means the Official responsible for the Academy’s 
arrangements for the safeguarding of children and to whom any sign or suspicion of abuse 
relating to a child must be reported.

 1.25 “Development Centre” means an establishment operated by a Club in England or Wales for the 
coaching of children which is not an Academy and includes any such establishment by whatever 
name or title it is known.

 1.26 “Development Phase” means the Foundation Phase, the Youth Development Phase or the 
Professional Development Phase as the context requires, and “Development Phases” means all 
of the former.

 1.27 “Education Advisory Group” means the group consisting of two Persons appointed by the 
Premier League, two appointed by the EFL, and an independent chair.



SECTION 08 – 392

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.28 “Education Ombudsman” means an expert appointed by the League to undertake, amongst 
other things, the verification of Clubs’ Hybrid and Full Time Training Models to ensure that 
they comply with these Rules, and to advise the Education Advisory Group and PGB thereon. An 
Education Ombudsman shall either be an experienced educational practitioner or a coach who 
has extensive experience in youth development.

 1.29 “Education Programme” has the meaning set out in Rule 179.

 1.30 “Elite Player Performance Plan” means the document of that name dated May 2011.

 1.31 “Emergency Action Plan” means a plan detailing the medical facilities and personnel who shall 
be available at each Club’s home matches in the Games Programmes, and the contingency plan 
for how any medical emergencies at such matches shall be dealt with.

 1.32 “FA Advanced Youth Award” means the advanced qualification for Academy coaches to be 
developed and awarded by The Football Association.

Guidance
The FA Advanced Youth Award contains a specialist element relevant to each Development Phase. Coaches 
will be required to hold the specialism relevant to the age group that they coach.

 1.33 “FA Youth Award” means the non-age specific qualification for Academy coaches awarded by 
The Football Association.

 1.34 “Festival” means an event, which may be spread over more than one day, at which teams from 
three or more Clubs (or clubs) play a series of matches in an environment in which the matches 
are competitive but the results are not given any particular significance.

 1.34A “Former League Club” means a Club relegated to the National League at the end of a Season 
and which continues to operate an academy (but it is not an Academy) in accordance with the 
provisions of Regulation 63.3 

 1.35 “Foundation Phase” means the Under 9 to Under 11 age groups inclusive.

 1.36 “Foundation Phase Games Programme” means the games programmes organised by the 
Premier League and the EFL for teams in each of the Under 9 to Under 11 age groups as set out in 
Rules 136 to 140.

 1.37 “Full Time” means, when applied to a role specified under these Rules, one where the working 
hours are at least 35 hours per week (subject to such additional hours as the Club may require). A 
Full Time role may be fulfilled by more than one Official (e.g. on a job-share basis) provided that 
the minimum hours stated above are undertaken. 

Guidance
A Club will not be penalised should a member of its Academy Staff fulfilling one of the roles required by 
these Rules to be Full Time if working slightly less than 35 hours per week provided that the required 
outputs of that role are being satisfactorily delivered. See further, by way of comparison, Rule 52 and the 
guidance thereunder.

 1.38 “Full Time Education” means the education provided for registered pupils at primary or secondary 
schools or full-time equivalent students at colleges of further education.



SECTION 08 – 393

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.39 “Full Time Training Model” means:
  a) in the Professional Development Phase a programme of coaching and education whereby 

the Academy Player’s academic education shall be scheduled to enable four hours of 
coaching per day (which may be split into two sessions of two hours each) to take place 
within the Core Coaching Time; and

  b) in the Youth Development Phase, a programme which complies with the following:
  i) The Academy Player shall receive within the Core Coaching Time a minimum of 

twenty hours of education. 
  ii) The Academy Player shall receive a significant amount of coaching within the 

Core Coaching Time. The exact amount of such coaching to take place within the 
Core Coaching Time is to be determined by the Club for each individual Academy 
Player. The Club shall demonstrate the amount of coaching is significantly more 
than the amount of coaching in the Core Coaching Time which the Club gives to its 
Academy Players engaged on the Hybrid Training Model. Full details must be set 
out in the Academy Player’s individual coaching plan referred to in Rule 118. 

  iii) No single coaching session shall endure for more than 90 minutes, and if there 
are two or more coaching sessions on a single day, there shall be a period of rest 
between each session sufficient to ensure that the Academy Player is fully rested, 
and of at least 90 minutes’ duration, unless the Academy Player’s individual 
coaching plan recognises that he may have shorter rest periods. 

  iv) The Club’s delivery of the Full Time Training Model must comply with these Rules.

 1.40 “Futsal” means the variant of association football that is played in accordance with the Futsal 
Laws of the Game as published from time to time by FIFA (with any such variation thereto as the 
League may from time to time determine), the current such Laws being available at:

  http://www.fifa.com/mm/document/affederation/generic/51/44/50/futsallawsofthegameen.pdf 

 1.41 “Games Programme” means the Foundation Phase Games Programme, the Youth Development 
Phase Games Programme, or the Professional Development Phase Games Programme. 

 1.42 “Games Programme Schedule” means the period during which matches in the Games Programmes 
shall take place. 

Guidance
The Games Programme Schedule incorporates two periods of “downtime” for matches in the Foundation 
Phase and Youth Development Phase Games Programmes. The first such period generally encompasses 
the last two weeks of July and the first two weeks of August, and the second encompasses two weeks over 
Christmas. The exact dates for each Season’s period of downtime will be set out in the Games Programme 
Schedule when it is published by the League in the preceding Season. A provisional date of 31 January in each 
Season has been set for the publication of the Games Programme Schedule (although it may be subject to 
amendment thereafter but before the start of the following Season to accommodate, for example, newly-
classified or re-classified Academies). 

the League will conduct at least two consultation meetings with Clubs per season to consider the Games 
Programme Schedule for the following season. The first of these will take place in the autumn, and the 
second in the early new year. 

 1.43 “Head of Academy Coaching” means the Official referred to in Rule 68. 

 1.44 “Head of Education” means the Official referred to in Rule 108.

 1.45 “Head of Recruitment” means the Official referred to in Rule 109.



SECTION 08 – 394

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.46 “Hybrid Training Model” means a programme of coaching and education whereby the coaching 
of an Academy Player primarily takes place outside of the Core Coaching Time save that, subject 
to the provisions of these Rules, he may be released from attendance at school during the 
School Day for a maximum of half a day a week (if he is in the Foundation Phase) or two days a 
week (if he is in the Youth Development Phase). 

Guidance
Clubs’ attention is drawn to Rule 197.2, pursuant to which they must provide all necessary additional 
educational support so that the Academy Player’s education is not prejudiced as a result of being released 
from school to undertake coaching during the Core Coaching Time. 

 1.47 “Individual Learning Plan” means an individual plan for each Academy Player setting out 
measurable objectives for the development that he needs to undertake and the means by which 
he will obtain those objectives.

 1.48 “Intermediate First Aid for Sport Qualification” means the qualification of that name issued by 
or on behalf of The Football Association.

 1.49 “ISO” means the independent standards organisation to be appointed from time to time by the 
PGB for the purposes of undertaking the ISO Audits.

 1.50 “ISO Audit” has the meaning set out in Rule 14.

 1.51 “Lifestyle Management Skills” means the personal and social skills and knowledge which it 
is considered desirable for Academy Players to develop, and training in Lifestyle Management 
Skills shall include (without limitation) training or coaching in the following:

  a) dealing with the media;
  b) use of social media;
  c) anti-doping; 
  d) Gambling, anti-corruption and other matters of sporting integrity;
  e) financial management; 
  f) equality and diversity;
  g) wellbeing i.e. mental health and nutrition; and
  h) further education and careers advice.

 1.52 “Multi-Disciplinary Review” means a review of all aspects of a Academy Player’s football, 
athletic and educational performance and development and which shall include:

  a) reports from all relevant Academy Staff (including from the coaching, education and 
sports science and medicine disciplines);

  b) for Academy Players on the Full Time Training Model or the Hybrid Training Model, 
reports and educational data from the Academy Player’s school (and where the League 
requests, all Academy Players on the Part Time Training Model);

  c) self-assessment by the Academy Player; and
  d) short, medium and long-term targets for the Academy Player’s football, athletic and 

educational performance and development.

 1.53 “Part Time” means, when applied to a role specified under these Rules, one where the working 
hours are less than 35 hours per week. A Part Time role may be fulfilled by two or more Officials 
(e.g. on a job-share basis).



SECTION 08 – 395

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Guidance
No minimum number of hours is specified for Part Time roles required under these Rules. This is left to 
Clubs’ discretion. However, the League and the ISO will require to be satisfied that the required outputs 
and results are achieved by a Club’s staffing structure. See further, by way of comparison, Rule 52 and the 
Guidance thereunder.

 1.54 “Part Time Training Model” means a coaching curriculum whereby the coaching of an Academy 
Player does not require him to miss any part of the School Day.

 1.55 “Performance Analysis” means the analysis of the physiological, technical and tactical 
performance of each individual Player and, in a game, of the team as a whole. Performance 
Analysis shall be undertaken by means of such video and/or IT technology as the League shall 
from time to time determine.

 1.56 “Performance Analysts” means the Officials referred to in Rules 104 and 105.

 1.57 “Performance Clock” means the application utilised for recording, measuring, monitoring 
and evidencing all aspects of an Academy Player’s progression, development and education in 
accordance with the format and procedures to be set by the League.

Guidance
The Education Management System has been developed as a new function contained within the 
Performance Clock. It must be used for assisting the management of Academy Players’ educational 
attainment data, and reference to the Performance Clock in these Rules, particularly in the context of 
education, should be read accordingly.

 1.58 “Performance Management Application” means the online support service to be developed 
and maintained by the League and utilised by each Club for the purposes of assisting the 
management of the Academy and recording and analysing data. Such data shall include 
(without limitation):

  a) each Academy Player’s Performance Clock;
  b) key data on Academy Staff such as records of qualification and Continued Professional 

Development;
  c) such information as the League may from time to time require for the purposes of 

national or Category-wide benchmarking; and
  d) data received from The Football Association in respect of an Academy Player who plays 

for, or who is coached by The Football Association with a view to playing for, an England 
representative side.

 1.59 “PGB” means the Professional Game Board of The Football Association.

 1.60 “Playing Philosophy” means a written statement which sets out:
  a) the principles, values, playing style and tactical approach of all of the Club’s teams 

(including its first team); and
  b) profiles detailing, for each age group and the first team, the Club’s desired technical, 

tactical, physical, psychological and social skills of players in each position on the pitch.

 1.61 “Productivity Methodology” means the methodology developed by the League for analysing 
the registration and playing history of Players and, as a consequence thereof, for producing 
each Club’s Productivity Profile.



SECTION 08 – 396

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.62 “Productivity Profile” means an analysis, produced by the League using the Productivity 
Methodology, of each Club’s track record in developing Academy Players, that is to say:

  a) the extent to which Academy Players coached by or at its Academy have progressed to 
become established professional Players; and accordingly; and

  b) the extent to which the Club is successful in contributing to the development of 
established professional Players.

 1.63 “Professional Development Leagues” means the leagues of that name managed, organised 
and controlled by the Premier League (in the case of Clubs operating Category 1 and Category 2 
Academies) or by the EFL (in the case of Clubs operating Category 3 and Category 4 Academies) 
and “Professional Development League 1”, “Professional Development League 2” and 
“Professional Development League 3” shall be construed accordingly.

 1.64 “Professional Development Phase” means the Under 17 to Under 21 age groups inclusive.

 1.65 “Professional Development Phase Games Programme” means the games programmes 
organised by the Premier League and the League for teams in the Professional Development 
Phase as set out in Rules 156 to 162.

 1.66 “Qualified Teacher Status” means the accreditation which an individual must obtain in order to 
teach in state-maintained schools in England and Wales.

 1.67 “Scholarship Agreement” means an agreement made between a Club and an Academy Player in YD11.

 1.68 “School Day” means the times when the pupils of a school are required to attend that school as 
determined by its governors.

 1.68A “Scout” means any person employed or engaged by a Club (whether on a Full Time or Part Time basis 
and whether or not he is remunerated in any way for his services) whose duties include identifying to 
his Club players whose registration as Academy Players the Club may wish to secure. 

 1.68B “Scout Identification Card” means a formal means of identification to be issued by each Club to 
each of its registered Scouts which shall include:

  a) the name of the Club which employs the Scout; and
  b) a photograph of the Scout.

 1.69 “Senior Academy Physiotherapist” means the Official referred to in Rule 99.

 1.70 “Senior Professional Development Coach” means the Official referred to in Rule 76.

 1.71 “Sports Science and Medicine Programme” means an integrated, interdisciplinary programme 
for the provision of sports science and medical, services and analysis as more particularly 
described in Rules 213 to 224.

 1.72 “Sports Therapist” means a Person who holds at least an undergraduate degree in sports therapy.

 1.73 “Technical Board” has the meaning set out in Rules 34 to 36.

 1.74 “Tournament” means a grouping of competitive matches between three or more Clubs (or clubs 
whose results are given significance (e.g. there may be a winner of the Tournament) and which are 
typically played together at one venue and over a short period of time (e.g. one day or a few days).

 1.75 “Training Camp” means an event for the Academy Players of one Club and which lasts for one or 
more days and at which a variety of coaching and other on-pitch and off-pitch activities takes place. 



SECTION 08 – 397

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 1.76 “Training Model” means the Full Time Training Model, the Hybrid Training Model or the Part 
Time Training Model.

 1.77 “Trialist” means a player playing in age groups Under 9 to Under 21 who is attending an Academy 
on trial under the provisions of Rules 236 or 237.

 1.78 “Vision Statement” means a written statement of the Club’s desired culture, values, ambitions 
and strategic aims, and the behaviours and activities which the Club has adopted and will adopt 
(including within its Academy) in order to achieve the same.

 1.79 “Youth Development Phase” means the Under 12 to Under 16 age groups inclusive. 

 1.80 “Youth Development Phase Games Programme” means the games programmes organised by 
the Premier League and the League for teams in each of the Under 12 to Under 16 age groups, full 
details of which are set out in Rules 141 to 155. 

 2 For the purposes of this section of these Rules: 
  2.1 Academy Players shall be placed in one of 13 age groups commencing with age group 

Under 9 and ending with age group Under 21; and
  2.2 the age group into which each Academy Player shall be placed shall be determined by his 

age on 31 August in the year in question, save in the case of players in the Under 21 age 
group, who must be under the age of 21 as at 1 January in the year in which the Season 
concerned commences (i.e. for Season 2016/17 born on or after 1 January 1995).

General

 3 If a Club engages in the training and development of young players then it must:
  3.1 obtain a licence to operate an Academy; and 
  3.2 operate its Academy in accordance with this section of the Rules.

 4 The maximum term of a licence to operate an Academy shall be three years, unless revoked 
earlier in accordance with these Rules or extended by the PGB at its sole discretion. 

 5 There shall be four Categories of Academy.

Applications to Operate Academies

 6 Each Club which operates or applies to operate an Academy shall give the League and the ISO 
access to such facilities, personnel, documents and records as they reasonably require in order 
to undertake their responsibilities under these Rules.

 7 A Club which wishes to operate (or continue to operate) a Category 1 Academy with effect from  
1 July 2016 must:

  7.1 have submitted to the PGB by 1 May 2015 a written application to do so, signed on behalf 
of the Club by an Authorised Signatory; and

  7.2 submit to the League by 30 July 2015 evidence (in the form prescribed by the League from 
time to time) that it is compliant with the Core Conditions.



SECTION 08 – 398

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 8 The PGB, acting on the advice of the ISO, shall determine whether each applicant Club complies 
with the Core Conditions and notify each such Club of its determination by 1 September 2015.

 9 The PGB shall determine that a Club either:
  9.1 does not comply with the Core Conditions, in which event the PGB shall not grant it a 

licence to operate a Category 1 Academy; or
  9.2 complies with the Core Conditions, in which event the Club must by 30 September 

2015 complete the Audit Tool.

 10 The ISO shall conduct an ISO Audit of each Academy at least once every three years (subject to 
any decision of the PGB that an ISO Audit shall be undertaken less frequently or any requirement 
of these Rules which provides for ISO Audits to be undertaken more frequently), the results of 
which shall be made available to the Club, the League and the PGB.

 11 The ISO will undertake an ISO Audit between October 2015 and March 2016 of each Club to which 
Rule 9.2 applies.

 12 Each applicant Club shall be given reasonable notice of the dates of its ISO Audit and may not 
change those dates save with the permission of the PGB, which shall only be granted if the PGB 
is satisfied there are exceptional circumstances which justify such a change.

Guidance
It is anticipated that the ISO will require to visit each Club for around three days in order to undertake its 
ISO Audit.

 13 Save where Rule 9.1 applies, the PGB shall not determine the applications to operate Category 
1 Academies with effect from 1 July 2016 until all the ISO Audits undertaken pursuant to Rule 11 
have been completed.

 14 In respect of each Club which applies for a licence to operate an Academy, the ISO shall 
undertake an analysis (“the ISO Audit”) of the matters set out in Rule 1.11(a) to (c).

 15 Where a Club which wishes to obtain a licence to operate (or continue to operate) a Category 2, 
3 or 4 Academy 

  15.1 the Club shall:
  15.1.1 submit to the League an application by the deadline stipulated by the 

League prior to the commencement of the relevant Season;
  15.1.2 co-operate with the League’s assessment (by whatever means) of the Club’s 

compliance with the criteria applicable to the relevant Category;
  15.2 where the League is satisfied, acting reasonably, that the Club will meet the criteria 

applicable to the Category applied for, the League shall recommend to the PGB that 
the PGB award a provisional licence to operate an Academy for that Category;

  15.3 where the League is not satisfied that the Club will meet the criteria applicable to the 
relevant Category, the League may recommend to the PGB that the PGB award:

  15.3.1 a provisional licence to operate an Academy for such lower Category as 
appropriate having regard to the criteria which are met by the Club as 
evidenced by the application; or

  15.3.2 no provisional licence to operate an Academy at all;



SECTION 08 – 399

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

  15.4 The PGB shall give due consideration to:
  15.4.1 a Club’s application for a provisional licence to operate an Academy; and
  15.4.2 the recommendation of the League in accordance with Rule 15.3, and shall 

determine the Category of each Academy in respect of which it grants a 
provisional licence to operate an Academy, if any. A Club shall only have the 
right to make representations to the PGB in connection with its application 
for a provisional licence if Rule 15.3 applies.

 16 The ISO Audit shall utilise the Audit Tool by assessing and recording thereon a score in respect of 
the matters set out in Rule 1.11(a) to (c). 

 17 Prior to an ISO Audit being presented to the PGB, the ISO shall:
  17.1 give to the Club a copy of it and of the ISO’s recommendation as to whether the Club 

should be granted a licence to operate an Academy and if so what the Category of the 
Academy should be;

  17.2 thereafter hold a meeting with Officials of the Club and representatives of the League 
to discuss it; and

  17.3 consider any representations made by the Club or the League about the Club’s ISO 
Audit and make all appropriate amendments to the ISO Audit consequent upon those 
representations.

Guidance
It is expected that the Club Officials who will attend the meeting with the ISO and the League referred to in 
Rule 17.2 will include the Academy Manager and the Chief Executive.

 18 The PGB, having given due consideration to a Club’s ISO Audit and recommendation and to the 
advice of the League, shall (where appropriate) issue all licences to operate Academies and shall 
determine the Category of each Academy in respect of which it grants a licence.

 19 In determining the Category of each Academy the PGB will consider and rely upon an anonymised 
report from the ISO on all applications for the same Category, which shall include a comparison 
of the scores obtained by each applicant and their Malus Scores, and a recommendation by the 
ISO as to the Category to be awarded, together with reasons.

 20 For the avoidance of doubt, a Club shall only have the right to make representations to the PGB 
in connection with its application for a licence to operate an Academy if it believes that the ISO 
Audit contains manifest error.

 21 A Club may only appeal against the decision of the PGB not to issue it a licence to operate an 
Academy, or against the PGB’s determination of the Category of its Academy, if that decision was:

  21.1 reached as a result of fraud, malice or bad faith; or
  21.2 reached as a result of procedural errors so great that the rights of the Club have been 

clearly and substantially prejudiced; or
  21.3 reached as a result of a perverse interpretation of the law; or
  21.4 one which could not reasonably have been reached by any tribunal which had applied 

its mind properly to the facts of the case. 

 22 Any appeal by a Club pursuant to Rule 21 shall be dealt with in accordance with Rule K (Arbitration) 
of the Rules of The Football Association. 



SECTION 08 – 400

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 23 A Club may not:
  23.1 re-apply for a licence to operate an Academy within three years of the determination 

by the PGB of an application made by it unless:
  23.1.1 the PGB is satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances which justify a 

further application; and
  23.1.2 the Club bears any costs of the League, ISO and PGB reasonably incurred 

by any of those bodies in assessing and determining the Club’s further 
application; or

  23.2 apply for a licence to operate an Academy higher than that which the Club is licensed 
to operate where those Clubs already operating in that higher Category are scheduled 
to be re-audited in the following Season.

Guidance
Whether there are exceptional circumstances which justify a further application will be entirely at the 
discretion of the PGB. By way of example only, the following may be considered to be “exceptional 
circumstances”. However, each case will be judged on its own facts and accordingly there is no guarantee 
that even if the following apply the PGB will grant permission for a re-application.

The circumstances referred to above include a change in ownership or strategic priority within the Club 
leading to a significantly high level of commitment to and investment in the Academy. The Club would need 
to demonstrate an improvement in performance against targets, not simply plans to improve performance. 

 24 Upon a Club making a further application pursuant to Rule 23, the ISO shall conduct a further ISO 
Audit of the Club.

 25 Any Club or Official making a false statement (whether made verbally or in writing) or falsifying 
a document in connection with:

  25.1 an application for a licence to operate an Academy; 
  25.2 the League’s annual evaluation undertaken pursuant to Rule 38;
  25.3 an ISO Audit; or
  25.4 any other provision of these Rules; 
  shall be in breach of these Rules and shall be liable to be dealt with in accordance with the 

provisions of Section 8 of the League’s Rules.

 26 If, in breach of Rule 3.2, a Club fails to comply with any Rule in this section, or if a Club or Official 
makes a false statement or falsifies a document as set out in Rule 25, then the PGB may:

  26.1 revoke the Club’s licence to operate an Academy; or
  26.2 suspend the Club’s licence to operate an Academy for such time as it shall determine 

during which the Club shall have the opportunity to ensure it becomes compliant with 
the relevant Rule; or 

  26.3 determine that the Club’s Academy shall have a lower Category than its current Category;
  26.4 withdraw or suspend the Club’s entitlement to any central funding provided for the 

purposes of youth development; and
  in any of the above cases require the ISO to undertake an ISO Audit of the Club’s Academy as soon 

as reasonably practicable. 



SECTION 08 – 401

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 27 Without prejudice to Rules 26, 229A and 229B, any breach of Rules 3.2, 6, 25, 32.2, 42 to 50, 54, 
55, 56.1, 116 to 120, 123.2, 127 to 129, 131, 132, 139, 140, 153 to 155, 162 to 164, 171, 172, 176, 177, 180 
to 189, 193 to 204, 211, 216, 217, 220, 223 to 226, 226C, 226D, 226F, 227, 229, 243, 245, 246, 249 
to 251, 257, 263, 266, 267, 278, 281, 284 to 286, 296, 297, 299, 300, 317 or 320 shall be liable to be 
dealt with under the provisions of Section 8 of the League’s Regulations.

Guidance
Failure to comply with any of the Rules in this section, other than those specified in Rule 27 above, will 
not ordinarily lead to liability to disciplinary action under Section 8. However, such failure to comply may 
be dealt with pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Club’s Academy licence and may lead to the 
revocation, suspension or downgrading of that licence, or the withdrawal or suspension of central funding, 
pursuant to Rule 26.

the League considers that the Rules specified in Rule 27 are of such a nature that breach should open the 
possibility of disciplinary action under Section 8 because they impact upon other people or entities, and in 
particular, Academy Players and/or other Clubs.

STRATEGY, LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT OF THE ACADEMY
Strategic Documents

 28 Each Club which operates an Academy shall document and make available to the League and to 
the ISO its Vision Statement, Playing Philosophy and Coaching Philosophy each of which shall be:

  28.1 drawn up by the Technical Board; and 
  28.2 annually reviewed and approved by the Club Board.

Academy Performance Plan

 29 Each Club which operates an Academy shall prepare and make available to the League and to the 
ISO its Academy Performance Plan.

Guidance
See also Rule 9.2 which requires the Academy Performance Plan to be submitted as part of the Club’s 
application to operate (or continue to operate) an Academy with effect from 1 July 2016.

 30 The Academy Performance Plan shall be drawn up under the guidance of the Academy Manager 
in consultation with such Officials as the Club may consider appropriate (including, by way of 
example only, the Manager, the Chief Executive, the Academy Management Team and the 
technical director if the Club has appointed one and the Technical Board) and shall be reviewed 
annually by the Academy Manager. 

 31 The Club Board shall: 
  31.1 annually review and approve the Academy Performance Plan; 
  31.2 ensure that the Academy Performance Plan is communicated to all relevant Officials; and
  31.3 measure the performance of the Academy each year against the objectives, strategy 

and specific performance targets set out in the Academy Performance Plan and ensure 
that appropriate action is taken if the performance targets have not been met.



SECTION 08 – 402

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Performance Management Application

 32 Each Club which operates an Academy shall:
  32.1 utilise the Performance Management Application from the date of its implementation 

by the League and record on it the data listed in Rule 1.58; 
  32.2 ensure that the data held on the Performance Management Application which is 

within the Club’s control is held securely and is only released to, or accessed by, those 
persons who require access to it pursuant to any of these Rules; and

  32.3 provide the League with such information as it may from time to time require for the 
purposes of analysing and benchmarking on a national or Category-wide basis any 
aspect of the performance of Academy Players or Clubs. 

 33 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that the Performance Management 
Application is available for access by the following individuals:

  33.1 relevant Academy Staff; and
  33.2 Parents of its Academy Players aged 17 and younger, and the Academy Players 

themselves, in relation to information contained on the Performance Management 
Application which relates to that Academy Player (but excluding information which in 
the Club’s reasonable opinion ought not to be so disclosed).

Technical Board

 34 Each Club which operates an Academy shall establish a Technical Board.

 35 The membership of the Technical Board shall consist of such Officials as the Club Board deems 
necessary in order for the Technical Board to properly perform the functions with which it is 
tasked by these Rules, and accordingly may include: 

  35.1 the Chief Executive;
  35.2 the Manager;
  35.3 the Academy Manager;
  35.4 such Officials as can give input from the following functional areas:
  35.4.1 recruitment;
  35.4.2 coaching; and
  35.4.3 Professional Development Phase coaching; and
  35.5 any other Official that the Club deems appropriate. 

 36 The Technical Board shall provide technical advice and support in the development of the 
Club’s Playing Philosophy, Coaching Philosophy and Coach Competency Framework, and in the 
development, implementation and monitoring of the Academy Performance Plan.



SECTION 08 – 403

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Guidance
The Club may wish to give consideration to tasking the Technical Board with involvement in the following 
functions, in addition to those listed in the above Rule:

•	 defining	the	profile/role	of	the	Senior	Professional	Development	Coach;

•	 management	of	the	transition	of	players	into	the	first	team	squad;

•	 defining	the	Club’s	recruitment	strategy	(e.g.	home-grown	players	vs	external	recruitment);	

•	 playing	opportunities	for	Academy	Players	at	first	team	level;	and

•	 any	other	functions	which	the	Club	deems	appropriate.

Each Club may wish to give consideration to employing a technical director. The employment of a technical 
director is not mandatory.

EFFECTIVE MEASUREMENT
Academies: Licensing, Evaluation and Audit

 37 Each Club which operates an Academy shall conduct an annual self-assessment of its Academy 
which shall:

  37.1 be led by its Academy Manager; 
  37.2 assess the extent to which the Club meets and/or exceeds the criteria pertaining to the 

relevant Category of Academy set out in this section of the Rules and in the Audit Tool;
  37.3 utilise the Audit Tool; and
  37.4 be made available to the League, the ISO and, if required, the PGB.

 38 the League shall conduct:
  38.1 on-going monitoring of each Academy; and
  38.2 an annual evaluation of each Academy which shall:
  38.2.1 consider the Club’s annual self-assessment referred to in Rule 37 and its 

most recent Academy Financial Information;
  38.2.2 assess the extent to which the Club meets and/or exceeds the criteria 

pertaining to the relevant Category of Academy set out in this section of 
the Rules and in the Audit Tool;

  38.2.3 utilise the Audit Tool; and
  38.2.4 be made available to the Club, the ISO and, if required, the PGB.

 39 A Club shall be entitled to publish the results of its ISO Audit and the Category of its Academy.

Productivity Profile

 40 Each year the League will provide each Club which operates an Academy with an up to date 
Productivity Profile, benchmarked (on an anonymised basis) against other Clubs (and, if 
appropriate, Premier League clubs).

 



SECTION 08 – 404

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT, PLAYER DEVELOPMENT  
AND PROGRESSION
Performance Clock

 41 Each Club which operates an Academy shall maintain a Performance Clock for each of its 
Academy Players and ensure that it is made available to:

  41.1 the Academy Player; 
  41.2 his Parent (and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing the Club shall 

provide to the Academy Player and his Parent a copy of his Performance Clock if he 
ceases to be registered with the Club);

  41.3 the League; and
  41.4 the ISO.

Guidance
1  The Performance Clock records the player’s progress throughout his development. The Performance 

Clock is an embedded application in the Performance Management Application. Information is 
carried forward year on year (and from club to club) to build into a comprehensive record of the 
player’s development. The Performance Clock should provide a breakdown of the time spent in 
individual and team technical and practical development, matches played, sports science and 
medicine (including psychological and social development) and educational progression. The 
Performance Clock logs qualitative information and evidence documented by both coach and player 
relating to a player’s successful progression in the above areas. The Performance Clock also evidences 
the Academy Player’s Multi-disciplinary Reviews. 

2  It should be noted that while there is scope within the Performance Clock for the Academy Player to 
give feedback and comments, the primary responsibility to maintain Performance Clocks lies with 
the Club. Any Club which fails to maintain its Academy Players’ Performance Clocks, and make them 
available in accordance with Rule 41, may jeopardise its categorisation. 

Individual Learning Plans and Multi-disciplinary Reviews

 42 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that it undertakes a Multi-disciplinary 
Review in respect of each Academy Player: 

  42.1 every 12 weeks (if he is in one of the Under 9 to Under 11 age groups); 
  42.2 every 6 weeks (if he is in one of the Under 12 to Under 18 age groups); and
  42.3 with such frequency as is necessary according to his developmental needs (if he is one 

of the Under 19 to Under 21 age groups).

Guidance
Neither the Academy Player nor his parent need be present at the Multi-disciplinary Review. See however 
the Club’s obligations under Rules 44, 45 and 47 to 49. 

 43 Each Multi-disciplinary Review shall assess the performance and development of the Academy 
Player against his performance targets set at previous Multi-disciplinary Reviews. At the end of 
each Multi-disciplinary Review the Club shall update the Academy Player’s Individual Learning 
Plan to take account of conclusions reached at the Multi-disciplinary Review.



SECTION 08 – 405

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 44 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that it conducts a meeting with each of its 
Academy Players:

  44.1 at least every 12 weeks (if he is in one of the Under 9 to Under 11 age groups); 
  44.2 at least every 6 weeks (if he is in one of the Under 12 to Under 18 age groups); and
  44.3 with such frequency as is necessary according to his development needs (if he is one of 

the Under 19 to Under 21 age groups).

 45 At the meetings referred to in Rule 44, the Club shall:
  45.1 discuss with the Academy Player his Individual Learning Plan; and
  45.2 take all appropriate action (for example by way of amending his Individual Learning 

Plan to set mutually agreed performance targets and/or such individual coaching, 
athletic development or educational support as may be necessary).

 46 Each Multi-disciplinary Review shall be recorded on the Academy Player’s Performance Clock.

 47 Each Club which operates an Academy shall meet with the Parent of each Academy Player under 
the age of 18 at least twice a year and provide to and discuss with the Parent a detailed review 
of all aspects of the Academy Player’s performance and development based on his most recent 
Multi-disciplinary Reviews. 

 48 A written record of the discussion referred to in Rule 47 shall be given to the Parent and noted on 
the Academy Player’s Performance Clock.

 49 Each Club which operates an Academy shall, between 1 May and 30 June in each year, provide to 
the Parent of each Academy Player under the age of 18 an annual written report on all aspects of 
the Academy Player’s performance and development over the preceding Season. 

 50 Each Club shall permit a representative of the League to attend Multi-Disciplinary Reviews if so 
requested by the League.

Guidance
It is recommended that one of the meetings referred to in Rule 47 is held at around the mid-season point 
and the other at the end of the season. The annual written report referred to in Rule 49 should form the 
basis of the end of season meeting.

Regular reviews of all aspects of an Academy Player’s development are a key part of the Elite Player 
Performance Plan. Each periodic Multi-disciplinary Review will have input from each discipline within the 
Academy (coaching, education and welfare, and sports science and medicine).

The following best practice recommendations are made, which supplement the above minimum requirements.

1 Multi-disciplinary Reviews should not only measure the Academy Player’s progression against his own 
performance targets, but also benchmark his development against that of his peers.

2 The procedure for undertaking Multi-disciplinary Reviews with Academy Players should follow a 
standard protocol. The meeting should involve the head coach for the Academy Player’s Development 
Phase and the Head of Education (particularly if the Club is providing education to the Academy Player), 
plus any other relevant Academy Staff (e.g. sports scientists) as required.

3 Similar protocols may be adopted for the meetings with Parents. Thus, it is recommended that the 
meeting is attended by the head coach for the Academy Player’s Development Phase, the Head of 
Education and any other relevant Academy Staff.



SECTION 08 – 406

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

STAFF
General

 51 Each Club which operates an Academy shall establish a staffing structure for its Academy which shall: 
  51.1 subject to Rule 52 include the mandatory posts required by this section of the Rules for 

the Category applicable to its Academy; and
  51.2 have regard to the guidelines and best practice set out in the Elite Player Performance Plan.

 52 Save for the Academy Manager and the coaches described in Rules 70 and 71, a Club need not 
employ those Academy Staff whose employment is mandatory for the Category of its Academy 
pursuant to these Rules provided that the Club is able to demonstrate to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the League, the ISO or the PGB (whichever body is appropriate), that its staffing 
structure includes the same expertise and achieves the same results as if all the mandatory 
posts required by this section of the Rules were filled.

Guidance
The functions covered by the mandatory posts must be delivered by all Clubs operating an Academy. 
However, the League acknowledges that Clubs should have flexibility in the organisation of their staffing 
structure provided that the structure that is adopted delivers the same outputs and results as if the 
mandatory posts were filled. 

The exceptions to this are the post of Academy Manager and the coaches set out in Rules 70 and 71: a Club 
must employ a Full Time Academy Manager in accordance with Rules 59 to 65 and coaches in accordance 
with Rules 70 and 71.

 53 The Club shall document its staffing structure in an organisational chart which shall:
  53.1 show the reporting lines of each member of Academy Staff; and
  53.2 be made available to Academy Staff, the League and the ISO.

 54 The relationship between a Club and each member of its Academy Staff shall be appropriately 
documented by way of:

  54.1 an employment contract; or 
  54.2 a statement of terms of employment pursuant to Section 1 of the Employment Rights 

Act 1996; or
  54.3 in the case of a non-employee, a contract for services.

 55 Each member of Academy Staff shall be given: 
  55.1 a written job description (which may be contained in the document referred to in Rule 

54); and
  55.2 an annual performance appraisal.

 56 Each Club which operates an Academy shall: 
  56.1 provide Continued Professional Development to members of Academy Staff where 

required to do so pursuant to these Rules; and
  56.2 take all reasonable steps to ensure that each member of Academy Staff who is required 

by these Rules to undertake Continued Professional Development does so.

Guidance
It is envisaged that CPD will be delivered partly by Clubs and partly externally (e.g. by The Football Association).



SECTION 08 – 407

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Academy Management Team

 57 Each Club which operates an Academy shall establish an Academy Management Team which shall: 
  57.1 be led by the Academy Manager; and
  57.2 in addition to the Academy Manager consist of such other Officials as the Club Board 

deems necessary in order for the Academy Management Team to properly perform 
the functions with which it is tasked by these Rules and otherwise, and which may 
accordingly include the Head of Education, the Head of Sports Science and Medicine, 
the Head of Recruitment, the Head of Academy Coaching and the Academy Secretary.

 58 The Academy Management Team shall assist the Academy Manager in running the operations of 
the Academy in accordance with the Club’s Academy Performance Plan. 

Guidance
This Section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52. If a Club does not employ one of the Officials 
described in Rule 57.2, Clubs should consider including representation from the relevant functional area on 
the Academy Management Team. 

Academy Manager

 59 Each Club which operates an Academy shall employ a Full Time Academy Manager.

 60 The Academy Manager’s appointment shall be approved by the Club Board.

 61 The Academy Manager shall report to the Chief Executive or to such other senior administrative 
Official of the Club as the Club Board shall approve.

 62 The responsibilities of the Academy Manager shall include (unless otherwise approved by the Board):
  62.1 guiding the development of the Club’s Playing Philosophy, Coaching Philosophy and 

Coaching Curriculum;
  62.2 drawing up the Academy Performance Plan as set out in, and subject to the provisions 

of, Rule 30;
  62.3 implementing the Academy Performance Plan; 
  62.4 advising the Club Board on: 
  62.4.1 whether the Academy has met the performance targets set out in the 

Academy Performance Plan; and
  62.4.2 the action to be taken by the Club if the Academy has not met those 

performance targets; 
  62.5 ensuring the effective use by all appropriate Academy Staff of the Performance 

Management Application, Performance Clocks, and the Audit Tool, including ensuring 
that all relevant data is recorded thereon;

  62.6 the design, implementation and management of the Academy’s Coaching Curriculum; 
  62.7 conducting an annual self-assessment of the Academy in accordance with the 

provisions of Rule 37;
  62.8 providing all necessary assistance to the League in connection with its on-going 

monitoring and annual evaluations of the Academy and to the ISO in connection with 
the ISO Audits;

  62.9 ensuring that all Academy Staff undertake the Continued Professional Development 
required of them by this section of the Rules;



SECTION 08 – 408

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

  62.10 being the line manager of the Head of Education, Head of Coaching, and Head of 
Recruitment; and

  62.11 liaising with the Club’s Manager as appropriate.

Guidance
It is acknowledged that some Academy Managers may also have important roles as coaches and that the 
above responsibilities may limit the time they have for coaching. As a consequence, the Academy Manager 
will be entitled to delegate some of his functions to other staff at the Academy to enable him to continue 
to undertake coaching. In particular, if the Academy Manager also has coaching responsibilities, Clubs may 
wish to give consideration to appointing an Operations Manager, being a senior administrator who will have 
day-to-day responsibility for many of the executive and operational issues of the Academy. However, it 
should be borne in mind that the Academy Manager will remain ultimately responsible for all of the above 
matters regardless of any delegation. 

 63 Subject to Rule 64, each Academy Manager must hold:
  63.1 an up to date UEFA A Licence; and 
  63.2 an FA Youth Award; and
  63.3 an FA Advanced Youth Award. 

Guidance 
An Academy Managers’ development programme will be developed in conjunction with Clubs 

Rule 63.3 will be complied with regardless of which of the age-specific specialist element of the Award the 
Academy Manager holds, so long as he holds one.

 64 A Club may appoint as Academy Manager a person who does not hold the qualifications set out 
in Rule 63 provided that the Head of Academy Coaching:

  64.1 holds these qualifications; 
  64.2 is tasked with overseeing the Coaching Curriculum; and
  64.3 is a member of the Academy Management Team and sits on the Technical Board.

Guidance 
Consideration is being given to a specific course/qualification for Academy Managers who do not hold 
the required coaching qualifications. This may become mandatory for such Academy Managers. Further 
guidance will be given to Clubs in due course.

 65 The Academy Manager must undertake Continued Professional Development organised by 
the Club. In addition, where the Academy Manager holds a qualification set out in Rule 63, he 
must attend such training provided by The Football Association as is necessary to maintain the 
validity of that qualification and at least five hours of in-service training to be provided by the 
League every year and hold a current Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or 
higher qualification approved by the Board.

Guidance 
The Board will deem the current first aid qualification held by an Academy Manager to be an equivalent 
to BFAS until such time as the Academy Manager acquires the BFAS qualification. However, all Academy 
Managers must hold the BFAS qualification by the conclusion of Season 2015/16.



SECTION 08 – 409

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Academy Secretary

 66 Each Club which operates an Academy shall appoint an Academy Secretary who shall be 
employed Full Time (in the case of a Club which operates a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy), 
and at least Part Time (in the case of a Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy). 

 67 The Academy Secretary shall:
  67.1 provide administrative support to the Academy Manager and the Academy Management 

Team;
  67.2 act as the point of contact between the Academy and the League for all administrative 

matters, including the submission of required information; and
  67.3 be familiar with all relevant provisions of these Youth Development Rules, as amended 

from time to time.

Guidance
This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Head of Academy Coaching

 68 Each Club which operates an Academy shall employ a Head of Academy Coaching who shall: 
  68.1 report to the Academy Manager;
  68.2 subject to Rule 62.6, have responsibility for delivery of the Academy’s Coaching 

Curriculum; 
  68.3 be responsible for designing and delivering the Club’s Continued Professional 

Development programme, which shall reflect the Club’s Playing Philosophy and 
Coaching Philosophy and each coach’s Coach Competency Framework for all the Club’s 
Academy coaches;

  68.4 discharge the responsibilities with regard to Development Action Plans set out at 
Rules 84 to 86;

  68.5 hold at least an up to date UEFA A Licence, an FA Youth Award, and an FA Advanced 
Youth Award; 

  68.6 hold a current Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or higher 
qualification approved by the Board;

  68.7 have recent and relevant experience of coaching Academy Players in an Academy (or 
of a comparable environment); 

  68.8 be employed Full Time (in the case of a Head of Academy Coaching employed in a 
Category 1 or Category 2 Academy) or at least Part Time (in the case of a Category 3 or 
Category 4 Academy);

  68.9 attend at least five hours of in-service training to be provided by the League each year; 
and

  68.10 attend such training to be provided by The Football Association as is necessary to 
maintain the validity of the qualifications set out in Rule 68.5; and

  68.11 in conjunction with each of the Club’s coaches, plan, deliver and monitor the delivery 
of individual development plans for each such coach. 

 69 In addition to the in-service training referred to in Rule 68.9, the Head of Academy Coaching 
must undertake Continued Professional Development organised by the Club.



SECTION 08 – 410

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Guidance
It is recommended (and mandatory in the circumstances set out in Rule 64) that the Head of Academy 
Coaching will be a senior appointment in the Academy and a member of the Academy Management Team 
and sit on the Technical Board. 

This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Coaches

 70 Each Club which operates an Academy shall employ as a minimum the number of Full Time 
coaches for each Development Phase in accordance with the Category of its Academy as set out 
in the following table:

Foundation 
Phase

Youth Development 
Phase

Professional 
Development Phase

Category 1 2 2 2

Category 2 1 2 2

Category 3 1 1 2

Category 4 N/A N/A 2

Guidance
For those Clubs which operate a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy, the Academy Manager and Head of 
Academy Coaching may count towards the minimum numbers required under Rule 70. Further consideration 
will be given to this in due course as it is however best practice that they are not included in the count of 
coaches under Rule 70.

 71 In addition to the coaches set out in Rule 70 each Club shall employ sufficient additional 
coaching staff (Full Time or Part Time) to ensure that the coach to Academy Players ratios set 
out in Rule 119 are maintained. 

 72 Each Club shall appoint one Full Time coach in each Development Phase who shall be the lead 
coach for that phase and be responsible for managing the delivery of coaching within it, and 
who shall hold at least an up to date UEFA A Licence.

Guidance
It is recognised that a number of Lead Foundation Phase Coaches do not currently (July 2015) possess the 
A-Licence qualification and no Club shall be penalised if such coaches do not hold this award provided an 
appropriate process is undertaken to attain. Such process may include consideration of updated course 
structures by The FA. 

Goalkeeping Coaches

 73 Each Club which operates an Academy shall employ, either on a Full Time or Part Time basis, such 
goalkeeping coaches as are necessary to ensure that each Academy Player who is a goalkeeper 
receives the required hours of coaching set out in Rule 116.



SECTION 08 – 411

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 74 Each goalkeeping coach must:
  74.1 attend at least five hours of in-service training to be provided by The Football 

Association each year; 
  74.2 attend the first aid training for Academy coaches provided by The Football Association 

at least once every three years; and
  74.3 undertake Continued Professional Development organised by the Club.

 75 Each goalkeeping coach must hold an up to date UEFA B Licence and an FA Goalkeeping Coaching 
B Licence.

Guidance
This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Senior Professional Development Coach

 76 Each Club which operates a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy shall (and a Club which operates  
a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy may) appoint a Senior Professional Development Coach 
who shall: 

  76.1 report to the Academy Manager;
  76.2 liaise with the Manager;
  76.3 hold a UEFA A Licence and the FA Advanced Youth Award with the age specific specialist 

element relevant to the Professional Development Phase;
  76.4 oversee on a day-to-day basis the Coaching Curriculum for the Under 19 to Under 21 

age groups;
  76.5 manage the transition of Academy Players to the Club’s senior squad in accordance 

with the Club’s procedure for the same described in Rule 78; 
  76.6 contribute to the Multi-disciplinary Reviews of all Academy Players in the Professional 

Development Phase; and
  76.7 manage the Club’s team which competes in the Professional Development League.

 77 Each Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy that does not appoint a Senior 
Professional Development Coach in accordance with Rule 76 shall assign a member of the 
coaching staff responsible for the coaching of the Club’s professional players to act as a liaison 
coach who shall:

  77.1 liaise with the Academy Manager;
  77.2 liaise with the Manager; and
  77.3 manage the transition of Academy Players to the Club’s senior squad in accordance 

with the Club’s procedure for the same described in Rule 78.

 78 Each Club which operates an Academy shall develop, implement and provide evidence of a 
procedure to enable the transition of Academy Players to its senior squad.

Guidance
This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

 



SECTION 08 – 412

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Coaches: Qualifications and Professional Development

 79 Subject to Rule 80, each coach (excluding goalkeeping coaches to whom Rule 74 applies) must 
from the commencement of and throughout their employment hold:

  79.1 an up to date UEFA B Licence (save where these Rules require a coach to hold an up to 
date UEFA A Licence); and

  79.2 an FA Youth Award; and
  79.3 an up to date FA Advanced Youth Award with the age-specific specialist element 

relevant to the Development Phase which he coaches.

 80 A coach employed by a Club prior to 1 July 2015 who does not hold a qualification required by 
Rules 79.2 and 79.3 shall acquire it by 30 July 2017.

Guidance
These Rules require the following Academy Staff to hold an up to date UEFA A Licence:

•	 Head	of	Academy	Coaching	(Rule	68.5);

•	 Senior	Professional	Development	Coach	(Rule	76.3).	

 81 Each coach (including goalkeeping coaches) must attend at least five hours of in-service 
training to be provided by The Football Association or League each year and hold a current Basic 
First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or higher qualification approved by the Board.

 82 In addition to the in-service training referred to in Rule 81, each coach must undertake 
Continued Professional Development organised by the Club.

Guidance
the League, the Premier League and The Football Association will establish and maintain a national 
database of qualifications of coaches, and the in-service training they have undertaken.

 83 Each Club which operates an Academy shall prepare a Coach Competency Framework, which 
must be approved by its Technical Board.

 84 Each Club shall ensure that the Head of Academy Coaching provides to each of its Academy 
coaches (including goalkeeping coaches and the Senior Professional Development Coach) a 
Development Action Plan, that is to say the Head of Academy Coaching shall undertake an 
assessment of the competencies of each Academy coach and discuss this with him, and agree 
with him the competencies and behaviours which he needs to develop, and the activities which 
he will undertake in order to develop them, and the timeframe within which he will undertake 
them, and record the same in writing and give a copy to the coach.

 85 The Club must record evidence that the actions referred to in the Development Action Plan have 
been undertaken, and review those actions within an appropriate period with the coach, and 
amend the Development Action Plan if necessary.

 86 The Club shall ensure that the Head of Academy Coaching reviews, and if necessary amends, 
each coach’s Development Action Plan with such frequency as is necessary.



SECTION 08 – 413

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine

 87 Each Club which operates a Category 1 and Category 2 Academy shall appoint a Full Time Head 
of Academy Sports Science and Medicine who shall report to either the Academy Manager or the 
Official who is responsible for Sports Science and Medicine for the entire Club (and whichever he 
reports to, he shall liaise closely with the other).

 88 Each Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy shall demonstrate to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the League, the ISO or PGB (whichever body is appropriate) that its Sports Science 
and Medicine Programme for Academy Players is appropriately managed and delivered. 

Guidance
A Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy may choose to buy in support for this function 
on a part time basis. 

 89 The Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine shall be responsible for managing and 
delivering the Sports Science and Medicine Programme for all Academy Players registered with 
the Club. 

 90 The Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine: 
  90.1 shall be either: 
  90.1.1 a registered physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions 

Council; or
  90.1.2 a registered medical practitioner licensed to practise by the General Medical 

Council (and shall comply with the General Medical Council’s requirements 
concerning annual appraisal, scope of practice, indemnity and revalidation 
of doctors) with a diploma in Sport and Exercise Medicine or equivalent or 
higher qualification; or

  90.1.3 the holder of at least a master’s degree in sports science (or other relevant 
discipline) from a recognised university and have or be working towards 
British Association of Sport and Exercise Sciences accreditation; and 

  90.2 shall have recent and relevant professional experience in a sports performance 
environment. 

Guidance
Under Rule 90.1.2, where the Academy Doctor is not head of department the further qualification is still 
necessary if the doctor is providing independent unsupervised management in the area of Sport and 
Exercise Medicine. Under Rule 90.1.3, it is anticipated that British Association of Sport and Exercise Sciences 
accreditation will be a requirement for this post in 2016/17.

 91 The Head of Academy Sports Science Medicine shall hold either:
  91.1 if he is a registered physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions 

Council or a registered medical practitioner, a current Football Association Advanced 
Resuscitation and Emergency Aid certificate or an equivalent or higher qualification 
approved by the Board; or

  91.2 if he is neither of the above, a current Intermediate First Aid for Sport Qualification or 
an equivalent or higher qualification approved by the Board.



SECTION 08 – 414

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 92 For the avoidance of doubt, if the Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine is not a 
registered physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions Council or a registered 
medical practitioner (as set out in Rule 91.1 and 91.2 respectively) then the primacy of decisions 
regarding the clinical treatment of Academy Players shall rest with a physiotherapist or 
registered medical practitioner.

 93 The Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine must undertake Continued Professional 
Development organised by the Club or the League. 

Guidance
It is envisaged that the person who is appointed to this role shall have had recent relevant experience 
(which will be assessed by the League and/or the ISO), including managerial experience in a sports science 
environment. 

This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Lead Sports Scientist

 94 Each Club which operates a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy shall appoint a Full Time Lead 
Sports Scientist who shall: 

  94.1 hold at least a bachelor’s degree in sports science (or another relevant discipline) from 
a recognised university;

  94.2 have recent and relevant professional experience in a sports performance environment; 
  94.3 co-ordinate and lead the sports science services for the Academy; and
  94.4 hold a current Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or higher 

qualification approved by the Board.

 95 Each Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy shall demonstrate to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the League, the ISO or the PGB (whichever body is appropriate) that it delivers 
sufficient and appropriate sports science services to its Academy Players.

 96 The Lead Sports Scientist must undertake Continued Professional Development organised by 
the Club.

Guidance
For Clubs’ obligations generally regarding the provision of sports science and medicine, see Rules 213 to 224.

It is envisaged that the person appointed to this role will have recent, relevant experience (which will be 
assessed by the League and/or the ISO). A Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy may 
choose to buy in support for this function on a part time basis. 

The Board will deem the current first aid qualification held by a Lead Sports Scientist to be an equivalent to 
BFAS until such time as the Lead Sports Scientist acquires the BFAS qualification. However, all Lead Sports 
Scientists must hold the BFAS qualification by the conclusion of Season 2015/16.

This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.



SECTION 08 – 415

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Lead Strength and Conditioning Coach

 97 Each Club which operates a Category 1 or 2 Academy shall employ a Lead Strength and Conditioning 
Coach who shall:

  97.1 in the case of a Category 1 Academy, be employed Full Time, and in the case of a 
Category 2 Academy, be employed at least Part Time;

  97.2 be responsible for providing to the Club’s Academy Players appropriate strength and 
conditioning training and monitoring as part of the Sports Science and Medicine 
Programme; 

  97.3 hold at least a bachelor’s degree in sports science (or another relevant discipline) from 
a recognised university and have or be working towards British Association of Sport 
and Exercise Sciences accreditation;

  97.4 hold a current Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or higher 
qualification approved by the Board; 

  97.5 have attended the following workshops run by the UK Strength and Conditioning 
Association (or equivalent workshops run by any equivalent body):

  97.5.1 Foundation Workshop and Certification (Level 1);
  97.5.2 Weightlifting Workshop;
  97.5.3 Plyometric, Agility and Speed Workshop; 
  97.5.4 Planning Effective Programmes Workshop; and
  97.6 report to the Lead Sports Scientist.

 98 The Lead Strength and Conditioning Coach must undertake Continued Professional Development 
organised by the Club.

Guidance
It is recommended that Category 2 Academies employ the Lead Strength and Conditioning Coach on a Full 
Time basis, but the League acknowledges that this may not always be possible, therefore, the minimum 
role is stated to be Part Time.

This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Senior Academy Physiotherapist

 99 Each Club which operates an Academy shall appoint a Senior Academy Physiotherapist who shall:
  99.1 be Full Time in the case of a Category 1, Category 2 or Category 3 Academy and at least 

Part Time in the case of a Category 4 Academy;
  99.2 be a registered physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions Council 

(save that a Club which operates a Category 3 or 4 Academy may continue to employ 
as its Senior Academy Physiotherapist any Person so employed at the time of these 
Rules coming into force who does not hold the qualifications specified in this Rule 
provided that he has successfully completed The Football Association’s Diploma 
in the Treatment and Management of Injuries course or an equivalent or higher 
qualification. Any person appointed thereafter must hold the qualifications specified 
by this Rule);

  99.3 have recent and relevant professional experience in a sports performance environment;



SECTION 08 – 416

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

  99.4 with effect from the start of Season 2014/15 if employed by a Club which operates a Category 
1 or Category 2 Academy hold a current Football Association Advanced Resuscitation and 
Emergency Aid certificate or if employed by a Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 
4 Academy hold a current Intermediate First Aid for Sport Qualification (or in either case an 
equivalent or higher qualification approved by the Board);

  99.5 co-ordinate and lead the physiotherapy service within the Academy; 
  99.6 ensure that Rules 223.1 and 224 are complied with; and
  99.7 undertake Continued Professional Development organised by the Club.

Guidance
This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Physiotherapists and Sports Therapists

 100 In addition to the Senior Academy Physiotherapist referred to at Rule 99, each Club which 
operates a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy shall employ at least one Full Time physiotherapist 
who shall be a registered physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions Council.

 101 Any Sports Therapist employed by a Club must be subject to the management and supervision 
of a registered physiotherapist member of the Health and Care Professions Council.

 102 Each physiotherapist and Sports Therapist employed pursuant to Rules 100 and 101 must undertake 
Continued Professional Development organised by the Club and each such physiotherapist shall 
hold a current Intermediate First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or higher qualification 
approved by the Board.

Guidance
All Sports Therapists must have a doctor or paramedic registered with the Health and Care Professions 
Council working alongside them on match day in the Professional Development Phase. At Category 3 and 
Category 4 the foregoing shall apply unless a Sports Therapist holds a current Intermediate First Aid for 
Sport Qualification. For younger age groups, Rule 224 applies.

Sports Therapists are not currently eligible to be registered with the Health and Care Professions Council. It 
is likely that this may change in the year or two and that if and when it does, an amendment to the Rules will 
be proposed to require all Sports Therapists working within Clubs to be so registered.

Clubs should also note that IFAS is only a minimum requirement, and Clubs may wish to ensure medical staff 
undertake additional qualifications, e.g. AREA.

This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.



SECTION 08 – 417

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Academy Doctor

 103 Each Club which operates an Academy shall appoint an Academy Doctor who shall:
  103.1 be a registered medical practitioner licensed to practise by the General Medical 

Council (and shall comply with the General Medical Council’s requirements concerning 
annual appraisal, scope of practice, indemnity and revalidation of doctors); 

  103.2 be available to assess and, if appropriate, undertake the treatment of any playing 
injuries suffered by an Academy Player;

  103.3 undertake Continued Professional Development; 
  103.4 be available for consultation at the Academy on at least one occasion per week (in addition 

to any attendance at matches); and
  103.5 be responsible for the preparation of each Club’s Emergency Action Plan.

Guidance
1 Whether the Academy Doctor should be Full Time or Part Time has not been specified, it being 

recognised that the role may be fulfilled by a doctor who also has responsibilities for the professional 
squad, or who has other professional responsibilities outside the Club.

2 See also Rules 223 and 224 concerning the medical cover at coaching and matches.

3 the League will gather and share best practice in relation to Emergency Action Plans.

4 This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.

Performance Analysts

 104 Each Club which operates a Category 1 Academy shall employ a minimum of two Full Time 
Performance Analysts. 

 105 Each Club which operates a Category 2 Academy shall employ a minimum of two Performance 
Analysts, one on a Full Time basis, and the other at least Part Time.

Guidance
For Category 2 Academies, the Performance Analysts could be, for example, a student undertaking a 
Master’s degree in a sports science related field who is on a placement as part of their Master’s course.

 106 The Performance Analysts shall undertake Performance Analysis of Academy Players registered 
with the Club.

 107 The Performance Analysts must undertake Continued Professional Development organised by 
the Club.

Guidance
This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.



SECTION 08 – 418

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Head of Education

 108 Each Club which operates an Academy shall appoint a Head of Education who shall: 
  108.1 report to the Academy Manager;
  108.2 have responsibility for:
  108.2.1 the organisation, management and delivery of the Club’s Education 

Programme;
  108.2.2 the educational progression of all Academy Players registered with the 

Club (subject to the duties of any educational establishment at which an 
Academy Player’s education is taking place);

  108.2.3 ensuring that the education of an Academy Player engaged on the Hybrid 
or Full Time Training Model is not prejudiced as a result of his being so 
engaged;

  108.2.4 ensuring all documents and records relating to the education of Academy 
Players required by these Rules are in place and up-to-date;

  108.3 undertake benchmarking of the educational progression of each year group of 
Academy Players engaged on the Hybrid and Full Time Training Models against 
national data, and make the result of that benchmarking available to the League;

  108.4 ensure that the Academy’s educational provision reflects the strategy and performance 
targets set out in the Club’s Academy Performance Plan;

  108.5 hold Qualified Teacher Status and have relevant experience (in the case of Category 
1 and 2 Academies) or, as a minimum, possess a teaching qualification or further 
education teaching qualification (in the case of Category 3 and Category 4 Academies); 

  108.6 be Full Time (in the case of Category 1 and Category 2 Academies); and 
  108.7 undertake Continued Professional Development organised by the Club.

Guidance
See also:

1 Rule 209 which requires each Club to nominate a member of Academy Staff to be responsible for 
the management and delivery of the Club’s programme to educate Academy Players in Lifestyle 
Management Skills. It is recommended (although not mandatory) that the Head of Education and 
Welfare is tasked with this. 

2 Rule 211 pursuant to which the Head of Education and Welfare or other appropriate Official must manage 
the Club’s exit/release strategy.

This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.



SECTION 08 – 419

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Head of Recruitment

 109 Each Club which operates an Academy shall employ a Head of Recruitment who shall:
  109.1 report to the Academy Manager;
  109.2 have responsibility for the organisation, management and delivery of the Club’s 

policies and procedures for the recruitment of Academy Players;
  109.3 have responsibility for the recruitment and training of the Club’s Scouts (including 

taking all reasonable steps to ensure that they comply with the requirements 
regarding qualifications, registration and Continued Professional Development set 
out at Rules 225 to 226F);

  109.4 be in possession of such qualification as the League may require from time to time; 
  109.5 undertake at least five hours of in-service training each year; 
  109.6 undertake Continued Professional Development organised by the Club; and 
  109.7 be Full Time in the case of Category 1 and Category 2 Academies, and at least Part Time 

in the case of Category 3 and 4 Academies.

Guidance
1 Ideally a Club’s strategy for talent identification and recruitment should flow from its Vision Statement 

and Playing Philosophy and be fully integrated into its Academy Performance Plan and the multi-
disciplinary approach to youth development envisaged by the Elite Player Performance Plan. Clubs may 
wish to document a recruitment strategy which sets out:

	 •	 the	profile	of	the	players	it	seeks	to	recruit	in	each	age	group,	having	regard	to	the	desired	technical,	
tactical, maturation, social and psychological characteristics required at each age;

	 •	 its	target	groups	(e.g.	local	v	national	recruitment,	players	attending	Development	Centres	or	local	
schools/boys’ clubs etc);

	 •	 synchronisation	 between	 coaches	 and	 recruiters	 to	 ensure	 that,	 for	 example,	 assessment	
procedures match those by which the Academy’s existing Academy Players are assessed, and that 
new recruits transit easily into the Academy environment;

	 •	 a	 strategy	 for	 late	developers	 (including	 the	Academy’s	own	Academy	Players	whose	maturation	
rates are slow but who eventually catch up with their peers); and

	 •	 ensuring	accurate	scouting	records	are	maintained.

  Clubs may then wish to develop an activity plan to implement the recruitment strategy. 

2 With regard to Rule 109.4 above, it is envisaged that a new qualification for scouts will be developed in 
due course. 

3 This section of the Rules should be read subject to Rule 52.



SECTION 08 – 420

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Minority Candidates

 109A  Each Club which operates an Academy shall comply with the provisions of Regulation 109 of the 
League Regulation (Minority Candidates). 

Interns

 110 The Head of Academy Sports Science and Medicine must ensure that the Club records and, if requested, 
makes available to the League, the following details of every intern working within the Academy:

  110.1 name, date of birth and contact details (phone number, address and email address);
  110.2 qualifications (both academic and sporting such as coaching qualifications);
  110.3 details of the intern’s current course, including the institution at which he is enrolled, 

the name of the course, and the name and contact details of his tutor; and
  110.4 the contact details of a member of Academy Staff who is responsible for supervising 

the intern whilst he is at the Academy.

Guidance 
Clubs’ attention is also drawn to Appendix A of these Rules: Safeguarding. Clubs must ensure that these 
Rules are complied with in respect of any intern to whom they are applicable. Clubs must also ensure that 
they comply with all applicable legislation, including that concerning the national minimum wage.

COACHING
Coaching Programme

 111 Each Club which operates an Academy shall prepare (and make available to the League and to 
the ISO on request) a Coaching Curriculum which shall have regard to:

  111.1 the Club’s Vision Statement, Coaching Philosophy and Playing Philosophy;
  111.2 the Club’s Academy Performance Plan; 
  111.3 sections 6.6 – 6.8 of the Elite Player Performance Plan (save as regards the reference to 

minimum hours of coaching, as to which see Rule 116); and
  111.4 these Rules. 

 112 The Club’s Coaching Curriculum shall be drawn up by the Academy Manager (or, in the 
circumstances set out in Rule 64, the Head of Academy Coaching) who shall consult with all 
appropriate Club Officials (which may include the Manager, the Chief Executive, coaching staff, 
the Academy Management Team and the Technical Director if the Club has appointed one).

 113 The Club’s Technical Board shall approve the Club’s Coaching Curriculum.

Guidance
Reference is made in the Rule to sections 6.6 to 6.8 of the Elite Player Performance Plan, which set out 
further detail about the Coaching Curriculum in each Development Phase.

It is recommended that the Coaching Curriculum gives particular consideration to desired outcomes and 
the coaching strategies needed to achieve them at each Development Phase. 

See also Rule 62.6 (role of Academy Manager in the Coaching Curriculum) and Rule 68.2 (role of the Head 
of Academy Coaching).



SECTION 08 – 421

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Coaching Hours

 114 The coaching of age groups Under 15 and older in Category 1 and Category 2 Academies shall 
take place over 46 weeks of each year, such weeks to be determined by reference to the Games 
Programme Schedule (including the two periods set out therein during which no matches in the 
Foundation Phase and Youth Development Phase Games Programmes shall take place).

 115 All other coaching in Academies shall take place over 40 weeks of each year.

 116 Save as otherwise permitted by the PGB, the minimum hours of coaching to be delivered by 
Academies each week to each Academy Player (subject to his fitness) and the permitted Training 
Model per Category and per Development Phase are as follows:

FOUNDATION PHASE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT 
PHASE

PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT PHASE

Category 1 Coaching hours 
per week

4 rising to 8 for older 
Academy Players

10 rising to 12 for older 
Academy Players

14 reducing to 12 for 
Academy Players who 
have commitments 
to the professional 
squad during 
the Professional 
Development Phase

Permitted 
Training Model

Part Time, Hybrid Part Time, Hybrid, 
Full Time

Full Time

Category 2 Coaching hours 
per week

3 rising to 5 for older 
Academy Players

6 rising to 12 for older 
Academy Players

14 reducing to 12 for 
Academy Players who 
have commitments 
to the professional 
squad during 
the Professional 
Development Phase

Permitted 
Training Model

Part Time Part Time, Hybrid Full Time

Category 3 Coaching hours 
per week

3 4 rising to 6 for older 
Academy Players

(See Guidance below)

12

Permitted 
Training Model

Part Time Part Time Full Time

Category 4 Coaching hours 
per week

 

N/A N/A 14 reducing to 12 for 
Academy Players who 
have commitments 
to the professional 
squad during 
the Professional 
Development Phase 
Games Programmes

Permitted 
Training Model

N/A N/A Full Time

Guidance
1 The above hours of coaching are the minimum the Rules require per week, subject to the Academy 

Player’s fitness. It is acknowledged, however, that Academies can alter these hours as they see fit, 
provided that the above stated hours are achieved on average over each six or 12 week Multi-disciplinary 
Review period (as relevant). As regards “subject to fitness”, this includes not only where an Academy 
Player is recuperating from injury, but also where in the opinion of the coaching staff and/or the medical 
and sports science staff, his coaching hours need to be reduced for him to receive adequate rest and 
recovery and/or avoid overuse injuries.



SECTION 08 – 422

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 Coaching in the above tables refers to on-the-pitch coaching (and for the avoidance of doubt excludes 
time in matches). It is expected that Clubs will need to spend additional time in other environments off 
the pitch in order to work with Academy Players to assist them in developing the key technical, tactical, 
physical, psychological and social skills.

 Where an Academy falls short of providing its Academy Players with the above hours of coaching, the 
Academy will need to demonstrate that despite this, its Academy Players are being provided with a 
proper coaching curriculum. This can be demonstrated by the progression of the Academy Player at 
each stage of the development process.

2 For Category 3 Clubs in the Youth Development Phase, the hours stated above should be applied as follows:

 U12 and U13: .................. 4 hours

 U14: ............................. 5 hours

 U15 and U16: ................. 6 hours

3 A Club may be permitted to operate a Training Model in a particular Development Phase other than as 
set out in the table in Rule 116. This would need to be approved in advance by the PGB (who may take 
advice from the Education Advisory Group).

 117 The maximum time in which Academy Players in the Foundation Phase can be engaged in a 
single coaching session is 90 minutes and there will be appropriate rest periods between each 
such session.

 118 Each Club shall ensure that: 
  118.1 each Academy Player has access to an individual coaching plan tailored to his specific 

needs; 
  118.2 each Academy Player is made aware of his individual coaching plan (and any changes 

thereto) as soon as reasonably practicable in advance of his being coached in 
accordance with it; and

  118.3 all coaching is recorded on the Academy Player’s Performance Clock. 

 119 Each Club shall ensure that a coach to Academy Players and Trialists ratio of 1:10 is maintained 
for all coaching sessions (save that the ratio for Category 1 Academies using the Full Time 
Training Model shall be 1:8).

 120 Each Club shall ensure that each Academy Player in age groups Under 9 and older participates at 
least once a year in a Festival (or other coaching event such as a Training Camp or a Tournament) 
which lasts for at least two days.

 121 Each Club shall ensure that each of its coaches plans each coaching session by setting out the 
learning objectives which the session is designed to achieve and the coaching which will be 
given in order to achieve them.

Development Centres

 122 Each Club which operates a Category 1, Category 2 or Category 3 Academy may operate one or 
more Development Centres, to be located within one hour’s travelling time of the location of its 
principal venue for the provision of coaching and education to Academy Players.

 123 A child being coached at a Club’s Development Centre:
  123.1 may not be registered for that Club;
  123.2 may not play in matches for that Club unless registered as a Trialist; and
  123.3 will be free to play for other teams.



SECTION 08 – 423

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 124 Clubs which operate Development Centres shall keep an attendance record of all the children 
who participate in coaching sessions thereat.

 125 Each Development Centre operated by a Club may be inspected from time to time by the League 
and by the ISO.

 126 Without prejudice to the generality of Rule 125, the inspection referred to in that Rule may include:
  126.1 inspection of the facilities provided; and
  126.2 assessment of whether the coaching provided at the Development Centre is in 

accordance with the Club’s coaching syllabus.

 127 No Club shall cause or permit a child whose registration is held by another Club (or club) or with 
whom another Club (or club) has entered into a pre-registration agreement which remains 
current to attend its Development Centre.

 128 No Club shall cause or permit a team representing its Development Centre to play football 
against a team representing another Club (or a Premier League club).

Guidance Note
The above Rules are based on the existing provisions concerning Development Centres. It is proposed that 
further consultation is undertaken with Clubs to explore and redefine the future role of Development Centres.

GAMES PROGRAMME
General

 129 Save as permitted by the Board, Clubs shall not affiliate to any other youth leagues or enter any 
cup competitions except The Football Association Youth Challenge Cup.

 130 An Academy Player whose registration is held by a Club which operates an Academy shall play 
football only in a Games Programme or in Authorised Games and in coaching and training games 
(participation in which is limited to registered Academy Players and Trialists) organised by and 
played at an Academy.

 131 A Club which operates an Academy shall not require, cause or allow an Academy Player whose 
registration it holds to play football except as permitted by Rule 130.

 132 Each Club which operates an Academy shall record in each Academy Player’s Performance Clock:
  132.1 each match in which he has played; and 
  132.2 his playing time in each match. 

Guidance
With regard to Rule 132.1, the matches which are to be recorded on an Academy Player’s Performance Clock 
include all Authorised Games in which he plays.

The Performance Clock may be used to record other playing information about the Academy Player, e.g. 
substitutions, cautions, position played in. It forms part of the Performance Management Application.



SECTION 08 – 424

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Performance Analysis

 133 Each Club operating a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy shall:
  133.1 have such technical facilities as are necessary to undertake the Performance Analysis 

required of it by Rule 133.2;
  133.2 undertake Performance Analysis (including, in the case of a Club which operates a 

Category 1 Academy, by undertaking GPS evaluation in the Professional Development 
Phase and in the Youth Development Phase if the Full Time Training Model is utilised) 
of training activity and matches in the Youth Development Phase Games Programme, 
the Professional Development Phase Games Programme and the Professional 
Development League;

  133.3 use the results of such Performance Analysis in its monitoring of the coaching and 
development of Academy Players in the Youth Development Phase and the Professional 
Development Phase; and

  133.4 make available to the League such Performance Analysis data as it reasonably shall 
require to undertake the benchmarking of data for that Academy against national trends.

 134 Each Club operating a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy shall comply with Rule 133 but only in 
respect of players in the Under 17 to Under 18 age groups.

 135 Subject to a Club complying with Rule 133 or 134 (as appropriate depending on the Category 
of its Academy), and to a sufficient number of Clubs (and Premier League Clubs) likewise 
complying, the League will make available to it benchmarked data derived from comparing the 
Performance Analysis data it has submitted to the League with that submitted by other Clubs 
(on an anonymised basis).

Guidance
The League will produce further detail of the proposed national programme of Performance Analysis for 
the older Academy age groups. The proposals in this regard will be presented to Clubs in due course. If Clubs 
approve these proposals, then (subject to Club approval) a requirement will be inserted in the Rules for 
Clubs to contribute information to this national programme.

Foundation Phase Games Programme

 136 The Premier League will organise a games programme for teams in each of the Under 9 to Under 
11 age groups of Clubs operating Category 1 and 2 Academies (and for the avoidance of doubt 
teams from both Categories shall participate together in this games programme).

 137 The EFL will organise a games programme for teams in each of the Under 9 to Under 11 age 
groups of Clubs operating Category 3 Academies. 

 138 The games programmes referred to in Rules 136 and 137 shall consist of matches which:
  138.1 shall be competitive but whose results (except in the case of Tournaments) shall not 

give any particular competitive significance between Academies (for example, no 
league table or the like shall be produced);

  138.2 subject to Rule 138.3 shall be organised on a local basis so that, as far as reasonably 
possible no team has to travel more than one hour to an away match (save that longer 
travel times may be necessary in order that each Club can participate meaningfully in 
the games programme);

  138.3 may be played in Festivals organised on a local, regional or national basis and each 
Club which operates a Category 1 Academy shall organise and host a minimum of three 
Festivals per Season;



SECTION 08 – 425

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

  138.4 shall take place during the Games Programme Schedule;
  138.5 may include matches against representative county schoolboy sides (being sides 

selected by the English Schools’ Football Association);
  138.6 shall be played outdoors, save in respect of:
  138.6.1 Clubs operating Category 1 or 2 Academies when, during the second half of 

December and the whole of both January and February, they shall be played 
indoors; and

  138.6.2 Clubs operating Category 3 Academies when, during the second half of 
December and the whole of both January and February, they may be played 
indoors.

  138.7 shall consist of matches played in accordance with the following formats (save that 
some matches played indoors may be played as Futsal games):

Age group Team size Pitch size (yards) Goal size (feet) Ball size

Under 9 4v4, 5v5 or 7v7 30x20 to 40x30 
(4v4 and 5v5)

50x30 to 60x40 
(7v7)

12x6 3 (or 4 at the 
Home Club’s 

option)

Under 10 4v4, 5v5  
and 7v7

30x20 to 40x30 
(4v4 and 5v5) 

50x30 to 60x40 
(7v7)

12x6  
(4v4 and 5v5)

12x6 to 16x7 
(7v7)

4

Under 11 7v7 or 9v9 50x30 to 60x40 
(7v7)

70x40 to 80x50 
(9v9)

12x6 to 16x7 
(7v7)

16x7 (9v9)

4

   The participating Clubs shall endeavour to agree which of the above formats shall be 
utilised, but in default of agreement the home Club shall decide.

Guidance 
For Category 1 and 2 Academies the Premier League will organise a regional indoor programme during the 
second half of December, and the entirety of January and February. In particular, a programme of Futsal 
will be delivered for Category 1 and Category 2 Academies. Clubs will be free to apply to organise Authorised 
Games outside pursuant to Rule 139.2.

The Premier League will organise Tournaments (lasting more than one day) for each of the Under 9, Under 
10 and Under 11 age groups in the May or June of each year (and in scheduling them it will be borne in mind 
that June is often the month when Academy “downtime” occurs). The Tournaments so arranged for the 
Under 11 age group will include teams from clubs in countries other than England and Wales. 

In order to deliver the Foundation Phase Games Programme to all Clubs, the target travel time of 1 hour may 
be exceeded from time to time, in particular in order to accommodate those Clubs whose home “locality” 
is small. 

Both Leagues will co-operate to create cross-Category festivals from time to time which shall include all 
Categories of Academy and be regionally based.

The Premier League will stage a six-week programme of festivals of Futsal and other small-sided indoor 
football for each age range in the Foundation Phase will be staged. This programme will run from November 
to February and be organised on a basis of five regions (North East, North West, Midlands, London and South 
West, and London and South East). A Futsal tournament involving a regional qualification process culminating 
in a national finals event will be organised for each of the Under 9, Under 10 and Under 11 age groups. 



SECTION 08 – 426

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 139 Each Club which operates a Category 1, Category 2 or Category 3 Academy:
  139.1 must participate fully in the Foundation Phase Games Programme; and 
  139.2 may organise and participate in additional Authorised Games of the types listed 

in paragraphs c), d), f) and g) of that definition only (which shall be notified to the 
Premier League (if the Club operates a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy) no later 
than 72 hours before they are scheduled to take place).

Guidance
The Games Programme Schedule will incorporate free weeks (in addition to those referred to in Rule 178) 
during which no fixtures will be arranged by the League or Premier League. This will allow Clubs to organise 
additional fixtures pursuant to Rule 139.2. In addition, Clubs will be able to rearrange fixtures in the 
Foundation Phase Games Programme in order to attend tournaments and Festivals provided suitable notice 
is given, the integrity of the Games Programme is maintained, and a suitable date for the rearrangement 
of the fixture is agreed.

 140 Each Club shall ensure that each of its Academy Players in the Foundation Phase shall, subject 
to fitness, participate in at least half the playing time in any one Season of matches in the 
Foundation Phase Games Programme and any other matches organised by the Club pursuant to 
Rule 139.2 such playing time to be reasonably spread out over the Season.

Guidance
An Academy Player in the Foundation Phase may still play for his school team or school representative 
county side. 

When assessing whether Rule 140 has been complied with, each Academy Player’s playing time over the 
course of the Season will be assessed and an average calculated (i.e. the Academy Player need not play in 
half the time of every match). In addition, Rule 140 requires that the playing time is spread relatively evenly 
over the course of the fixture programme. This is to ensure Clubs do not try to backload playing time at the 
end of the Season simply to ensure the average is met.

Youth Development Phase Games Programme

 141 The Premier League will organise a games programme for teams in each of the Under 12 to Under 
14 age groups of Clubs operating Category 1 and 2 Academies (and for the avoidance of doubt 
teams from both Categories shall participate together in this games programme). the League 
will also organise a games programme for teams in the Under 15 age group of Clubs operating 
Category 1 Academies and of those Category 2 Academies wishing to participate.

 142 The EFL will organise a games programme for teams in each of the Under 12 to Under 14 age 
groups of Clubs operating Category 3 Academies. 

 143 The games programme for Category 1 Clubs referred to in Rule 141 shall include the Under 
13, Under 14 and Under 15 Premier League National Cups participation in which shall not be 
mandatory. 

 144 Each Club must inform the League by 30 April in each year whether it wishes to compete in the 
Under 13, Under 14 and Under 15 Premier League National Cups the following Season. 



SECTION 08 – 427

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 145 The games programmes referred to in Rules 141 and 142 shall consist of matches which shall: 
  145.1 be competitive but whose results (save for matches in the Under 13, Under 14 and 

Under 15 Premier League National Cups) shall not be given any particular competitive 
significance between Academies (for example, no league table or the like shall be 
produced);

  145.2 (in the case of the games programme referred to in Rule 141) be organised on a 
regional basis so that as far as reasonably possible no team has to travel more than 
two hours to an away match save that longer travel times may be necessary:

  145.2.1 in order that each Club can participate meaningfully in the games 
programme; and

  145.2.2 for matches in the Under 13, Under 14 and Under 15 Premier League 
National Cups. 

  145.3 (in the case of the games programme referred to in Rule 142) be organised on a local 
basis so that as far as reasonably possible no team has to travel more than one hour to 
an away match and/or regional basis so that as far as reasonably possible no team has 
to travel more than two hours to an away match (save that in both cases longer travel 
times may be necessary in order that each Club can participate meaningfully in the 
games programme);

  145.4 shall include one or more Festivals or Tournaments for each Club organised on a 
regional, national or international basis (which may include matches organised 
pursuant to Rule 150), with the number of such Festivals and Tournaments increasing 
for the older age groups in the Youth Development Phase;

  145.5 take place during the Games Programme Schedule;
  145.6 be played outdoors, except for matches for age groups Under 12 to Under 15 during the 

second half of December and the whole of both January and February involving teams 
of Category 1 and Category 2 Academies, which shall be played indoors; and 

  145.7 consist of matches played in accordance with the following formats (save that some 
matches played indoors may be played as Futsal games):

Age group Team size Pitch size (yards) Goal size (feet) Ball size

Under 12 11v11

(or 9v9 if both 
Clubs so agree) 

90x60  
(11v11)

70x40 to 80x50 
(9v9)

21x7 (11v11)

16x7 (9v9)

4

Under 13 11v11 90x60 21x7 4

Under 14 11v11 90x60 to 100x60 21x7 to 24x8 5

Under 15 11v11 110x70 24x8 5

Guidance
In order to deliver the Youth Development Phase Games Programme to all Clubs, the target travel time of 
two hours may be exceeded from time to time, particularly in order to accommodate those Clubs whose 
home geographical “region” is small. 



SECTION 08 – 428

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 146 The Premier League shall organise a games programme for teams consisting of Academy Players 
in the Under 16 age group of Clubs operating Category 1 Academies, and another for teams of 
Academy Players in these age groups of Clubs operating Category 2 Academies.

 147 Save for any matches played abroad pursuant to Rule 150, the games programme for Category 1 
Clubs referred to in Rule 146 shall:

  147.1 be constituted either on a national basis or, if a majority of those Clubs (and Premier League 
clubs) which operate Category 1 Academies so determine by no later than 31 March in the 
preceding Season, on a regional basis (as that term is defined in Rule 148); and 

  147.2 be competitive but whose results shall not be given any particular competitive significance 
between Academies (for example, no league table or the like shall be produced).

 148 The games programme for Category 2 Clubs referred to in Rule 146 shall be organised on a 
regional basis, that is to say so that as far as reasonably possible no team has to travel more than 
two hours to an away match (save that longer travel times may be necessary in order that each 
Club can participate meaningfully in the games programme).

 149 Matches in the games programmes for Category 1 and Category 2 Clubs referred to in Rule 
146 shall, unless the board of the Premier League otherwise permits, be played on Saturdays 
and arranged so that as far as possible a Club’s fixtures in it mirror those of its teams in the 
Professional Development Phase Games Programme.

 150 As part of the Youth Development Phase Games Programme, the Premier League shall organise 
matches (which may be organised as Tournaments) against teams from clubs in membership of 
a national association other than The Football Association or The Football Association of Wales. 
Such matches shall be organised regularly for Clubs operating Category 1 Academies and from 
time to time for Clubs operating Category 2 Academies.

 151 The EFL shall organise a games programme for teams consisting of players in the Under 15 and 
Under 16 age groups of Clubs operating Category 3 Academies, to be played on a regional basis 
so that as far as reasonably possible no team has to travel more than two hours to an away 
match (save that longer travel times may be necessary in order that each Club can participate 
meaningfully in the games programme).

 152 Matches played pursuant to Rules 146 to 151 shall, when played outdoors, be played in 
accordance with the following format:

Team size Pitch size (yards) Goal size (feet) Ball size

11v11 110x70 24x8 5

 153 Each Club which operates a Category 1, Category 2 or Category 3 Academy:
  153.1 must participate fully in the Youth Development Phase Games Programme (save that 

participation in the Under 13 and Under 14 Premier League National Cups is voluntary); and
  153.2 may organise and participate in additional Authorised Games of the types listed in 

paragraphs (c), (d), (f) and (g) of that definition only (which shall be notified to the 
Premier League (in the case of a Club operating a Category 1 or Category 2 Academy) 
no later than 72 hours before they are scheduled to take place).

Guidance
The Games Programme Schedule will incorporate free weeks (in addition to those referred to in Rule 178) 
during which no matches will be arranged by the League or Premier League. This will allow Clubs to organise 
additional matches pursuant to Rule 153.2.



SECTION 08 – 429

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 154 Each Club shall ensure that each of its Academy Players in the Under 12 to Under 14 age 
groups shall, subject to fitness, participate in half the playing time of matches in the Youth 
Development Phase Games Programme and any other matches organised by his Club pursuant 
to Rule 153.2, the Academy Player’s playing time to be reasonably spread over the Season.

 155 Each Club shall ensure that each of its Academy Players in the Under 15 to Under 16 age groups 
shall, subject to fitness, participate in at least 20 matches per Season (being matches in the 
Youth Development Phase Games Programme or any other matches organised by his Club 
pursuant to Rule 153.2). Participation in a match shall for the purposes of this Rule mean playing 
at least 50% of the game time. 

Guidance
An Academy Player in the Youth Development Phase may still play for his school team or school 
representative county side.

When assessing whether Rule 154 has been complied with, each Academy Player’s playing time over the 
course of the Season will be assessed and an average calculated (i.e. the Academy Player need not play in 
half the time of every match). In addition, Rule 154 requires that the playing time is spread relatively evenly 
over the course of the fixture programme. This is to ensure clubs do not try to backload playing time at the 
end of the Season simply to ensure the average is met.

Professional Development Phase Games Programme

 156 The Premier League will organise two games programmes, one for teams of Clubs operating 
Category 1 Academies and one for teams of Clubs operating Category 2 Academies.

 157 The EFL will organise a games programme for teams of Clubs operating Category 3 and Category 
4 Academies, and following such consultation determine with those Clubs in its absolute 
discretion what games programme(s) should be developed for those Clubs, Rules relating to the 
games programme and (subject to Rule 158.3) how that games programme should be delivered.

 158 The games programmes organised by the Premier League and the EFL pursuant to Rules 156 and 
157 will be constituted on the following geographical bases:

  158.1 Category 1: a regional league, with some matches played on a national basis and some 
international matches against teams representing clubs in membership of national 
associations other than The Football Association or The Football Association of Wales 
(and such matches may be played either in England or abroad);

  158.2 Category 2: 
  158.2.1 in two leagues, each of which shall be constituted on a geographical basis 

(for example one league of northern based teams and one of southern 
based teams), the exact constitution of each league to be determined 
by the Board in its absolute discretion having regard to those Clubs (and 
Premier League clubs) which operate Category 2 Academies;

  158.2.2 where practical, international matches against teams representing clubs in 
membership of a national association other than The Football Association 
or The Football Association of Wales (and such matches may be played 
either in England or abroad); and

  158.3 Categories 3 and 4: 
  158.3.1 in two or more leagues, each of which shall be constituted on a geographical 

basis (for example one league of northern based teams and one of southern 
based teams), the exact number of leagues and their geographical constitution 
to be determined by the EFL in its absolute discretion and having regard to those 
Premier League clubs (and Clubs) which operate Category 3 and 4 Academies.



SECTION 08 – 430

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 159 Matches in the Professional Development Phase Games Programme organised under Rule 156:
  159.1 shall be played in accordance with the Laws of the Game (and for the avoidance of 

doubt shall be in the 11 v 11 format);
  159.2 shall be for Players in the Under 18 age group (and younger) only, save that a Club may 

name in its team sheet a goalkeeper in the Under 19 age group;
  159.3 shall only have five substitutes named on the team sheet (and for the avoidance of 

doubt up to three substitutes may enter the field of play);
  159.4 shall consist of competitive leagues and Tournaments; and
  159.5 may include of an optional Futsal programme organised by the Premier League (for 

Clubs operating Category 1 and Category 2 Academies) in the months of December, 
January and February.

 160 Matches in the Professional Development Phase Games Programme organised under Rule 157:
  160.1 shall be played in accordance with the Laws of the Game (and for the avoidance of 

doubt shall be in the 11 v 11 format);
  160.2 shall be for Players in the Under 18 age group (and younger) only, save that up to 2 

Players in the Under 19 age group may be named on the team sheet for a match 
provided they are:

  160.2.1 a goalkeeper; or
  160.2.2 registered as a Scholar and are only continuing as a Scholar beyond the age 

of 18 because of injury or other extenuating circumstances as approved by 
the League of which the Club is a member in accordance with that League’s 
relevant procedures;

  160.3 shall only have five substitutes named on the team sheet (and for the avoidance of 
doubt all five substitutes may enter the field of play);

  160.4 shall consist of competitive leagues and/or Tournaments; and
  160.5 may include an optional Futsal programme organised by the Premier League in the 

months of December, January and February.

 161 Further provisions binding on Clubs competing in the Leagues referred to in Rule 159.4 shall be 
set out in the rules of those Leagues.

 162 Each Club which operates an Academy:
  162.1 must participate fully in the Professional Development Phase Games Programme;
  162.2 may organise and participate in additional Authorised Games (which shall be notified 

to the relevant League no later than 72 hours before they are scheduled to take place).

Guidance
Each Academy Player who is eligible to participate in the Professional Development Phase Games 
Programme shall be given the opportunity to regularly participate in Authorised Games in each Season.



SECTION 08 – 431

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Professional Development League

 163 Each Club which operates a Category 1 Academy shall compete in Professional Development 
League 1.

 164 Each Club which operates a Category 2 Academy shall compete in Professional Development 
League 2 unless it is able to demonstrate to the League that its starting 11s in its first team 
matches during the preceding Season in the Premier League, the League Competition (including 
play off matches), the EFL Cup, The Football Association Challenge Cup, the EFL Trophy, the 
UEFA Europa League and/or UEFA Champions League included on average at least five Players in 
the Under 21 age group or younger.

 165 Each Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy may compete in the development 
league to be organised by the EFL. 

 166 The Premier League will organise Professional Development League 1, which shall consist of a 
national league competition played on a competitive basis.

 167 The Premier League will organise Professional Development League 2, which shall consist of a 
league or leagues played on a competitive basis organised on a regional basis, the composition 
of such regional league(s) to be at the absolute discretion of the board of the Premier League 
who shall so far as reasonably possible determine the composition of each such league to 
ensure that each Club has to travel no more than three hours to each match (save that longer 
travel times may be necessary in order that each Club (or club) can participate meaningfully in 
Professional Development League 2).

Guidance
Clubs who operate Category 2 Academies have expressed a desire to have some element of their Games 
Programme in the Professional Development Phase organised on a national basis, and not just on a regional 
basis as set out in Rule 167. The Premier League will work to develop this proposal further.

 168 The EFL will, if required, organise (or procure the organisation of, for example, through the 
Football Combination or Central League) Professional Development League 3, which shall 
consist of a league or leagues played on a competitive basis and organised on a regional basis, 
the composition of such regional league(s) and the minimum number of matches to be played 
by each Club to be at the absolute discretion of the EFL who shall so far as reasonably possible 
determine the composition of each such league to ensure that each Club (or club) has to travel 
no more than three hours to each match (save that longer travel times may be necessary in 
order that each Club (or club) can participate meaningfully in Professional Development League 
3). For the avoidance of doubt teams of Clubs operating Category 3 and Category 4 Academies 
shall compete together in Professional Development League 3.

 169 Eligibility in each of the Professional Development Leagues shall be limited to players in age 
group Under 21 or younger, save that each Club may nominate on its team sheet for any match in 
a Professional Development League no more than: 

  169.1 one older goalkeeper; and
  169.2 the number of older outfield players determined pursuant to Rule 170.

 170 The number of older outfield players referred to in Rule 169 shall be determined in respect of 
each Professional Development League by such number as a majority of the Clubs (and Premier 
League clubs) who compete in it so determine by no later than 31 March in the preceding Season 
(and in any case shall be no fewer than three and no greater than five). 



SECTION 08 – 432

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 171 At least three matches in the Professional Development League shall be played at the Club’s 
ground registered pursuant to Regulation 13.6, and other matches may be played at an 
alternative ground subject to the approval of the League or the Premier League (as appropriate). 
Such alternative grounds may include a pitch at the Club’s Academy provided that it is floodlit 
(where appropriate), has a fenced off pitch and provides a spectator area.

Guidance
The League’s Executive or the board of the Premier League (as appropriate) will need to be satisfied, prior to 
approving any alternative ground (including one at an Academy) that it provides satisfactory facilities for 
the playing of matches in the Professional Development League. Such facilities include the pitch, floodlight 
levels, changing rooms for the teams and Match Officials, and spectator areas. Further consultation on 
these issues will be undertaken in due course.

 172 Unless otherwise authorised by the Board, and subject to any transitional arrangements 
authorised by the Board in respect of Season 2012/13 pursuant to which some midweek matches 
may be scheduled, matches in the Professional Development Leagues shall be played on 
Saturdays, save that the home Club shall, subject to the rules of the Professional Development 
Leagues, have discretion to change the date and kick-off time of a match to Friday evening, or 
any time on Sunday or Monday.

 173 Further provisions binding on Clubs competing in the Professional Development League shall 
be set out in the rules of those Leagues.

 174 The Premier League will in addition organise international matches (which may take place by 
way of Tournaments) for teams competing in Professional Development Leagues One and Two.

Games Programme: Postponement etc. of Matches 

 175 A match in the games programme between Academy teams in age groups Under 9 to Under 16 
inclusive shall not be cancelled, postponed or abandoned except with the written consent of 
the Board or on the instructions of the officiating referee (or if the officiating referee is a minor, 
the official of the county FA who has accompanied him to the match) who shall be empowered 
to instruct that such match be cancelled, postponed or abandoned only if he considers that the 
pitch is unfit for, or if adverse weather conditions preclude, the playing of the match in which 
event the Club at whose ground the match should have been played shall within seven days give 
to the League notice in writing to that effect.

 176 Except in the case of an Under 9 to Under 16 games programme match which, without either 
participating Club being at fault, is cancelled, postponed or abandoned under the provisions 
of Rule 175, any Club which causes the cancellation, postponement or abandonment of such a 
match will be in breach of these Rules.

 177 The Board shall have power to specify the equipment and facilities to be provided by Clubs for 
the playing of matches between Academies. 

 178 In consultation with The Football Association, a minimum of four weekends each Season will be 
identified by the League upon which there will be no fixtures for Academy teams, such weekends 
being devoted to international development, selected players’ courses and in-service training 
of coaches and staff.



SECTION 08 – 433

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

EDUCATION AND WELFARE
General

 179 Each Club which operates an Academy shall establish an Education Programme which shall set 
out the activities to be undertaken by the Club to ensure that the education of its Academy 
Players and Players under the age of 21 is supported effectively and which:

  179.1 is appropriate to the Category of its Academy;
  179.2 complies with all applicable requirements set out in this section of the Rules; and
  179.3 is evaluated by the Club within each Development Phase to ensure it is meeting its 

objectives as set out therein.

 180 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that each of its Academy Players receives a 
formal education programme which: 

  180.1 is appropriate to his age and Training Model; 
  180.2 meets his specific academic needs;
  180.3 complies with all legal requirements; 
  180.4 is structured to ensure that his academic development is not compromised as a result 

of his being coached by the Club’s Academy; 
  180.5 in the case of an Academy Player who is entered into a Scholarship Agreement with the 

Club, consists of either the advanced apprenticeship framework for sporting excellence 
(AASE) or any other programme of education approved in writing by the League;

  180.6 shall continue notwithstanding that the Academy Player signs a professional contract 
and which shall comply with the requirements of the Education and Skills Act 2008 
with regard to education and training.

Guidance
In relation to Rule 180.5 any other programme of education approved in writing by the EFL will be in 
conjunction with the PFA.

 181 Each Academy Player’s educational progression under his Education programme shall be 
recorded on his Performance Clock.

 182 Each Club which operates an Academy shall nominate a member of staff who shall be responsible for:
  182.1 liaising with the school at which Academy Players are being educated;
  182.2 ensuring that any issues concerning an Academy Player’s education arising from that 

liaison are addressed to the satisfaction of the school; and
  182.3 ensuring that for Academy Players on the Full Time and Hybrid Training Models (and 

where the League requests, for Academy Players on the Part Time Training Model) 
each Academy Player’s school reports and educational data are obtained from his 
school and recorded on his Performance Clock. 

Guidance
Clubs’ attention is drawn to the Guidance note under Rule 1.57: the Education Management System is 
a function contained within the Performance Clock. It must be used for assisting the management of 
Academy Players’ educational attainment data, and reference to the Performance Clock in these Rules, 
particularly in the context of education, should be read accordingly. 



SECTION 08 – 434

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 183 Each Club shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that it protects the welfare of each of its 
Academy Players and Players under the age of 21 by offering support for his wellbeing and 
pastoral care generally.

 184 The provisions of Appendix A of these Rules (concerning the Safeguarding of Vulnerable Groups 
and Safe Recruitment) apply to Academies and Development Centres.

 185 Without prejudice to the generality of Rule 184 each Club shall appoint an Academy Safeguarding 
Officer who shall undertake the functions set out in Appendix A specifically with regard to the 
Academy.

 186 Clubs and Academy Staff shall observe and comply with the requirements of the Code of 
Practice entitled “The Health and Safety of Academy Players on Residential Tours, Festivals, 
Tournaments and Visits” document as issued by the League from time-to-time and any breach 
thereof shall be treated as a breach of these Rules.

 187 Clubs shall ensure that their Academy Players are insured in accordance with advice circulated 
by the League from time to time.

 188 Clubs shall establish, maintain and, when necessary, implement a complaints procedure for 
Academy Players and Parents, a copy of which shall be submitted to the League.

 189 The Code of Conduct as issued by the League from time-to-time shall be binding on Academy 
Players of compulsory school age attending Academies and their Parents and on Clubs and 
Officials and any breach thereof by such Academy Players or by Clubs or Officials shall be treated 
as a breach of these Rules.

Induction Events

 190 Each Club shall arrange a pre-season induction event for Academy Players and their Parents and 
there shall be at least one such induction event per Development Phase.

 191 The induction meeting referred to in Rule 190 shall provide such information to the Academy 
Players and their Parents as is necessary in order for them to understand the coaching and, if 
relevant, education that the Academy Player will receive from the Club.

 192 Each Club which operates an Academy shall permit a representative of the League to attend 
such induction meetings on request.

Reports on Educational Progression

 193 Each Club which operates an Academy shall provide progress reports to the Parent of each 
Academy Player to whom it provides a full time education programme.

 194 The progress reports shall:
  194.1 detail the educational progression of the Academy Player; and
  194.2 be provided as and when necessary, but as a minimum at least once every 12 weeks.

Guidance
With regard to Rule 194.2, Rule 42.2 states that Academy Players in the Under 12 to Under 18 age groups 
shall receive a Multi-disciplinary Review every six weeks. The educational progress report need only be 
undertaken once every 12 weeks (i.e. not for each Multi-disciplinary Review) but must be undertaken as 
part of a Multi-disciplinary Review.



SECTION 08 – 435

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Delivery of the Education Programme

 Part Time Training Model
 195 Each Club which operates an Academy shall, in respect of each of its Academy Players being 

trained under the Part Time Training Model:
  195.1 inform the Academy Player’s school that he is being so trained; 
  195.2 if the League so requests obtain from the Academy Player’s school his school reports 

and, where possible, educational attainment data;
  195.3 use the information obtained (if any) to monitor the Academy Player’s academic 

progression by reference to his school reports and, where possible, educational 
attainment data, and record it on his Performance Clock; and

  195.4 liaise with the school on a regular basis in order to discuss and address any issues 
concerning the Academy Player’s education which have risen or may arise as a 
consequence of his being trained at the Club’s Academy. 

Guidance
The Part Time Training Model may be used by Category 1, 2 and 3 Academies in the Foundation Phase (Under 
9 to Under 11), and by Category 2 and 3 Academies in the Youth Development Phase: see further Rule 116.

The Part Time Training Model envisages that coaching will take place outside the Core Coaching Time, but 
Clubs should nevertheless establish good communication with each Academy Player’s school, obtain his school 
reports and, where possible, educational attainment data, monitor and record his academic progression on his 
Performance Clock, and address any relevant issues which arise as a result of the Academy Player being coached 
at the Academy (and in particular any conflict between the demands of his coaching and those of his education).

 Hybrid Training Model
 196 Each Club which operates the Hybrid Training Model must appoint a sufficient number of 

appropriately qualified teaching staff to provide the educational support referred to in Rule 197.2.

 197 Each Club which operates an Academy shall, in respect of each of its Academy Players being 
trained under the Hybrid Training Model:

  197.1 undertake all necessary liaison and co-operation with the Academy Player’s school to ensure 
that the required element of coaching can take place within the Core Coaching Time;

  197.2 provide to the Academy Player such additional educational support (to be detailed in 
the written agreement referred to in Rule 197.5) as shall be necessary to compensate 
for teaching he has missed, and to ensure that his education is not adversely affected, 
as a result of being released from school to undertake coaching during the Core 
Coaching Team;

  197.3 obtain from the Academy Player’s school his school reports and, where possible, 
educational attainment data;

  197.4 monitor the Academy Player’s academic progression (including by use of the information 
obtained from the Academy Player’s school pursuant to Rule 197.3) and record the 
information obtained pursuant to Rule 197.3 it on his Performance Clock in a timely fashion 
and at least every 12 weeks (to coincide with dates of his Multi-disciplinary Reviews);

  197.5 enter into a written agreement with the Academy Player’s school and Parent which 
sets out details of the delivery of the Hybrid Training Model to the Academy Player, 
including weekly timetables, the likely impact on the Academy Player’s education, and 
any additional educational support to be provided by the Club; 

  197.6 liaise with the school at least every six weeks in order to discuss and address any 
issues concerning the Academy Player’s education which may arise or have arisen as a 
consequence of his being so trained.



SECTION 08 – 436

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Guidance
The Hybrid Training Model may be used by Category 1 Academies in the Foundation Phase (Under 9 to Under 
11), and by Category 1 and Category 2 Academies in the Youth Development Phase: see further Rule 116.

Clubs’ attention is drawn to the following comments in section 7.3.1 of the EPPP. Although these comments 
refer to the Foundation Phase, they are relevant to the Hybrid Training Model generally. 

“It is assumed that the majority of the coaching will be delivered after school and at weekends. Flexing the 
season will also enable Academies to gain greater access to players. It is recommended that wherever possible 
and particularly in the case of Category 1 Academies where the contact time is highest, the after school sessions 
are established inside the Core Coaching Time and this may require some negotiation with schools and parents 
to establish the programme effectively. Close liaison with schools to ensure that players are managing the joint 
workloads is appropriate but no other specific education interventions are being proposed in this phase.”

 Full Time Training Model
 198 Each Club which operates an Academy shall, in respect of each of its Academy Players in the 

Youth Development Phase being trained under the Full Time Training Model, ensure that it 
provides the Academy Player with coaching and education in accordance with a programme 
which complies with Rules 199 to 204 and which is approved in advance by the League. 

 199 The education element of the Full Time Training Model must comply with these Rules and be 
structured in accordance with one of the four options set out below or in accordance with such 
other proposals as the League may approve. 

 200 Each Club which operates the Full Time Training Model must:
  200.1 enter into an agreement with any school at which its Academy Players are being 

educated setting out the obligations of the Club and the school in respect of the 
education of those Academy Players;

  200.2 ensure that Academy Players in the Under 12, Under 13 and Under 14 age groups 
being educated at schools are fully integrated with other pupils of their age, which 
obligation shall include (without limitation) attending lessons with such other pupils 
according to the school’s normal timetable (save where the Academy Players are being 
coached in the Core Coaching Time in accordance with these Rules);

  200.3 ensure that there is in place a written agreement between the Club, each Academy 
Player engaged on the Full Time Training Model, his Parent and his school which sets 
out full details of his education and coaching curriculum;

  200.4 ensure that the education programme of each such Academy Player provides him with 
a minimum of 20 hours’ education during each week of the school term;

  200.5 ensure that appropriate staff/student ratios are utilised for all educational activity in 
which the Academy Player is engaged;

  200.6 ensure that each such Academy Player’s education is tailored to his academic ability 
and attainment targets and meets national guidelines;

  200.7 obtain from the Academy Player’s school his school reports and, where possible, 
educational attainment data; and

  200.8 monitor the Academy Player’s academic progression (including by use of the 
information obtained from the Academy Player’s school pursuant to Rule 200.7) and 
record the information obtained pursuant to Rule 200.7 on his Performance Clock 
in a timely fashion and at least every 12 weeks (to coincide with dates of his Multi-
disciplinary Reviews).

Guidance
With regard to Rule 200.8, pursuant to Rule 42.2 Academy Players in the Under 12 to Under 18 age groups 
must receive a Multi-disciplinary Review every six weeks. The requirement in Rule 200.8 must be undertaken 
at every second such Multi-disciplinary Review.



SECTION 08 – 437

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 201 Without prejudice to the generality of Rule 38, each Club which operates the Hybrid or Full Time 
Training Model must in respect of each such Training Model:

  201.1 not do so unless the PGB has pre-approved and annually certified its proposed delivery 
of the Training Model; and

  201.2 permit the League and PGB to monitor and assess its delivery of the Training Model, 
including in respect of an individual Academy Player, in order to ensure that it complies 
with these Rules; and

  201.3 forthwith implement any changes to its delivery of the Training Model that the League 
or PGB may require.

Guidance
The League and PGB may take advice from the Education Advisory Group (and utilise the Education 
Ombudsmen) in connection with the assessment pursuant to Rule 201. 

In the case of concerns over a Training Model which has been previously approved, it is anticipated that 
in the first instance an action plan to address any issues would be drafted, and the Club Support Manager 
or Education Ombudsman would work with the Club over a specific period to put the recommendations in 
place. Accordingly, Rule 202 below would be regarded as a last resort.

 202 If the League is not satisfied that a Club’s delivery of the Hybrid or Full Time Training Model 
complies with these Rules:

  202.1 it may refuse to an application to register an Academy Player on it; and
  202.2 the Board may exercise its powers set out in Rule 273.

 203 If a Club wishes to engage an Academy Player on the Full Time Training or Hybrid Model (whether 
or not the Academy Player is already registered with the Club), it shall complete and submit to 
the League Form YD4A signed on behalf of the Club by an Authorised Signatory.

 204 If the registration of an Academy Player on the Full Time Training Model is terminated by the Club 
or by the Board of its own volition, or if he changes to another Training Model, the Club shall, 
unless his Parent agrees otherwise, continue to provide to him until the end of the academic 
year in which he reaches the age of 16 education and accommodation in accordance with the 
arrangements made at the time of he was first engaged on the Full Time Training Model.

Guidance
The Full Time Training Model may be used by Category 1 Academies in the Youth Development Phase, and 
must be used by all Academies in the Professional Development Phase: see further Rule 116.

Form YD4A must be used for all Academy Players whom the Club wishes to engage on the Full Time Training 
Model. If the Academy Player is not already registered with the Club, Form YD4 (Academy Player Registration 
Application) must also be completed and submitted to the League (see Rule 257). If the Academy Player is 
already registered with the Club, Form YD4 need not also be submitted. Clubs’ attention is drawn to the 
undertakings that they must give under YD4. 

The four options referred to in Rule 199 are set out below. This list of options is not exhaustive, and Clubs 
are free to develop other models which deliver the same results as the options set out in the Elite Player 
Performance Plan.

Each Club’s proposals for how it will deliver the Full Time Training Model must be approved in advance by 
the League. the League may also check each Club’s delivery of the Full Time Training Model in order to verify 
that it is in accordance with these Rules and with the pre-approved proposals, and in order to verify that no 
Academy Player’s education is being prejudiced as a result of his being prejudiced as a result of his being 
engaged on the Full Time Training Model. Clubs’ attention is drawn to Rules 272 and 273 in this regard. 



SECTION 08 – 438

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Option 1
Clubs may enter into contractual relationships with an identified school or schools at which Academy 
Players receive their education. 

The relationship will need to be flexed in terms of the amount of time that Academies would require 
Academy Players to be available for daily coaching. The school day will need to be flexed to accommodate 
the Coaching Curriculum whilst ensuring that boy’s educational development does not suffer. 

Specific tutor support for the Education Programme will be required for all Academy Players engaged in the 
Full Time Training Model over and above the normal curriculum. Additional tutor support will need to be 
individually tailored to the Academy Players’ needs.

Clubs will need to decide how and where Academy Players will be coached. The optimum environment is 
at the Club’s dedicated training facilities but this will require a school in Education Option 1 to be in close 
proximity to the Club’s training facility so that the Academy Players can move easily between the school 
and the Club. With the Full Time Training Model, the school will need to be in close proximity to the training 
ground or else the training will need to be accommodated at the school.

The other major consideration for Clubs which operate Category 1 Academies will be the need to provide 
dedicated housing, house parents and a secure environment in which to live and work whilst staying with 
the Club. This will need to apply to all Academy Players who live outside a short commute from their Club’s 
training ground.

Option 2 
In this option, Clubs may choose to develop and extend their own educational facilities at the training 
ground and, in effect, develop an onsite school facility. For Clubs which operate a Category 1 Academy, 
accommodation would still be required on or near the training ground to house the Academy Players and 
the associated social and welfare support would need to be factored into the delivery of this approach. Clubs 
may continue to contract an educational partner/provider but the schooling would take place at the Club.

Option 3
Clubs may wish to establish their own schools. These schools may be general in their recruitment with 
specialist classes or groups of classes catering for the Academy Players’ specialist needs. In this Education 
Option the same issues regarding the location of the school on or near the training ground remain relevant 
as does the need to provide appropriate housing and care.

Option 4
Where two or three Academies are clustered together, especially in urban areas, it may be possible to 
identify a single school where each of the Clubs sends their Academy Players. This school would then 
become the hub for the Academies. The Coaching Curriculum may be split between the training ground and 
the school premises subject to the location of the school in relation to the Club.

Further guidance in respect of education in the Professional Development Phase, where all Clubs must 
utilise the Full Time Training Model, is set out in paragraph 7.3.3 of the Elite Player Performance Plan:

All Clubs in the Professional Development Phase will be required to deliver the Full Time Training Model. 
Academy Players will have access to training up to four hours a day in two separate sessions. The season 
will be developed increasingly to mirror the professional game so there will be less opportunity to flex the 
season for purposes of creating greater coaching contact time during the summer months.

Clubs which operate Category 1 and 2 Academies will have the necessary infrastructure at their training 
grounds to enable them to provide formal education provision for Academy Players in the Under 17 and 
Under 18 age groups which may be delivered principally at the training ground rather than offsite at a school 
or college.



SECTION 08 – 439

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

This approach envisages the delivery of the formal education components at the training ground in purpose 
built facilities and as part of an integrated flexible weekly programme which compliments and supports the 
Coaching Curriculum. The delivery of the formal education programme may be either through fully qualified 
in house staff or through an outside provider who is able to meet the needs and demands of the integrated 
programme. Delivering the Education Programme in this way will provide maximum flexibility allowing 
coaches to flex and stretch the Coaching Curriculum to suit the particular needs of each Academy Player.

Category 3 and 4 Academies will not necessarily be equipped to provide the formal education component at 
the training ground. Category 3 and 4 Academies may choose to deliver the formal education provision off 
site at a local education provider. This will require Heads of Education to ensure that as flexible an Education 
Programme as possible can be created in partnership with a school/college so that coaches can gain access 
to the required time for coaching.

 205 Each Club which operates an Academy shall notify the League, in such a manner as the League 
shall from time to time specify, of the Training Model on which each of its Academy Players is 
engaged and, if an Academy Player changes to the Hybrid Training Model or Part Time Training 
Model, forthwith inform the League of the change and provide such evidence as the League may 
require to show that the Academy Player and his Parent consented to the change.

Welfare, Social Development and Lifestyle Management

 206 Each Club which operates an Academy shall establish a programme to educate each of its 
Academy Players in Lifestyle Management Skills.

 207 The programme referred to in Rule 206 shall ensure that each Academy Player trained under the 
Full Time Training Model and/or in the Professional Development Phase has the opportunity to 
engage in activities outside the Academy which will encourage him to take an active part in the 
community and develop an understanding of good citizenship.

 208 Each Academy Player shall engage in the activities referred to in Rule 207 unless he has good 
cause not to do so and each Club shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that each of its 
Academy Players does so engage. 

 209 Each Club which operates an Academy shall nominate a member of Academy Staff to manage 
and deliver the said programme.

 210 Each Club shall nominate an Official to be responsible for the welfare and supervision of 
Academy Players engaged on the Part Time Training Model or Hybrid Training Model, while they 
are present at the Club’s facilities.

Player Exit/Release Strategy

 211 Each Club which operates an Academy shall devise and implement a programme, to be 
managed by its Head of Education and Welfare or other appropriate Official to assist its Academy 
Players released from the Academy at completion of their Under 16, Under 17 or Under 18 year in 
circumstances where it appears they will not be joining another Club (or club).

 212 Any such programme in respect of Academy Players being released at the completion of their 
Under 18 year shall be designed so that it dovetails with the support programme for such 
released Academy Players to be operated by the League.



SECTION 08 – 440

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

SPORTS SCIENCE AND MEDICINE
Sports Science and Medicine Programme

 213 Each Club which operates an Academy shall establish a Sports Science and Medicine Programme 
(in accordance with the criteria set out in these Rules which apply to the Category of its Academy) 
for the benefit of its Academy Players.

 214 Each Club’s Sport Science and Medicine Programme shall be managed by its Head of Academy 
Sports Science and Medicine (in the case of a Club which operates a Category 1 or Category 2 
Academy) or by an appropriately qualified Official (in the case of the Club which operates a 
Category 3 or Category 4 Academy).

 215 The Sports Science and Medicine Programme of each Club should detail the planned provision to 
each of its Academy Players of at least the following areas:

  215.1 sports science (including physiology, biomechanics, physical testing and measurement);
  215.2 physiotherapy (including hydrotherapy and sports massage);
  215.3 medical services (including the prevention and treatment of injury and diet and nutrition);
  215.4 Performance Analysis; and
  215.5 psychology. 

 216 The progress and development of each Academy Player under the Sports Science and Medicine 
Programme (including without limitation the results of the tests set out in Rule 217, and full 
details of any injuries, the treatment thereof, and the length of any period of rehabilitation) 
shall be noted in his Multi-disciplinary Review and recorded in his Performance Clock. 

 217 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that each of its Academy Players undergoes 
the following tests to measure physical and physiological fitness (as such tests are defined in 
the Audit Tool):

  217.1 age-appropriate medical and physical screening;
  217.2 anthropometric assessments;
  217.3 physiological/fitness testing;
  217.4 movement and posture/functional screening;
  217.5 predictive testing of size and shape/maturation measurement (save that a Club 

operating a Category 4 Academy shall not be obliged to conduct such tests);
  217.6 psychological profiling (Category 1 Academies only); and 
  217.7 monitoring of physical exertion (Category 1 Academies only);
  and shall submit to the League such information as it may from time to time require in order to 

establish a national database of athletic development. 

 218 Subject to a Club complying with Rule 217, the League will make available to it (on an anonymised 
basis) benchmarked data derived from the information provided to it by all Clubs.

 219 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that each of its registered Academy Players 
on the Full Time Training Model is registered with an NHS general practitioner for the provision 
of general medical services, using the address at which he resides.



SECTION 08 – 441

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 220 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that details of all injuries suffered by its 
Academy Players and of all rehabilitation are recorded and provided to the League and the FA in 
order that a national audit of injury and rehabilitation may be maintained.

 221 Subject to a Club complying with Rule 220, the League will make available to it benchmarked 
data derived from the national audit of injury and rehabilitation.

 222 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that it has in place an Emergency Action Plan, 
and that all relevant Academy Staff are aware of its contents, and that it provides a copy of it in 
advance of all its home matches in the Games Programmes to its opponents.

Guidance
See Rule 103.5: the Academy Doctor shall be responsible for the preparation of his Club’s Emergency Action 
Plan. the League will assist with the sharing of Emergency Action Plans.

 223 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that there is available at all games involving 
Academy teams appropriate first aid or primary care provision and, without prejudice to the 
generality of the foregoing or to any Rules applicable to an Authorised Game, that:

  223.1 a doctor who holds a current Football Association Advanced Resuscitation and 
Emergency Aid certificate or an equivalent or higher qualification approved by the 
Board or paramedic (in the case of a Club which operates a Category 1 or Category 
2 Academy) or a physiotherapist who holds the Intermediate First Aid for Sport 
qualification or an equivalent or higher qualification approved by the Board (in the 
case of a Club which operates a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy) is present at each 
game in the Professional Development Phase Games Programme; and

  223.2 a doctor or physiotherapist who holds the Intermediate First Aid for Sport qualification 
or an equivalent or higher qualification approved by the Board is present at each venue 
at which matches in the Foundation Phase and Youth Development Phase take place;

  223.3 a defibrillator is maintained at each venue at which matches are played and at which 
coaching takes place and that at all times a member of staff qualified in its use is 
present during matches and coaching.

Guidance
Rule 81 requires each coach to hold a current Basic First Aid for Sport Qualification or an equivalent or higher 
qualification approved by the Board. Thus, all coaches attending matches in all of the Development Phases 
should hold this qualification. Knowledge of how to use a defibrillator is a requirement of the Basic First Aid 
for Sport Qualification. Accordingly, the net effect of these Rules is that there must be somebody present at 
all games who knows how to use a defibrillator.

Each Club’s Emergency Action Plan should include details of the members of Academy Staff required by 
Rules 223.1 and 223.2.

 224 A physiotherapist qualified as set out in Rule 99.2 or Rule 100 or a coach who holds The Football 
Association’s Diploma in the Treatment and Management of Injuries or an equivalent or higher 
qualification or a member of staff who holds a current emergency first aid qualification awarded 
by the FA, the British Red Cross, St John Ambulance (or by another entity provided it is approved 
by the Health and Safety Executive as an emergency first aid qualification) shall be present at all 
coaching taking place in Academies (without prejudice to the requirements of Rule 223).



SECTION 08 – 442

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

TALENT IDENTIFICATION AND RECRUITMENT
Scouts: Qualifications

 225 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that each of its Scouts:
  225.1 is in possession of such qualification as the League may require from time to time; 
  225.2 understands and complies in full with these Rules and the Code of Conduct for Scouts; and
  225.3 undertakes Continued Professional Development each year.

 226 Each Club shall ensure that, where the relevant Scout’s duties include those referred to in 
Rule 226, in addition to complying with the Scout registration requirements of these Rules, it 
provides evidence to the League within five days of employing or engaging the Scout that the 
Scout holds the qualification required by Rule 225.1, and the League shall register the Scout 
where it is satisfied that the registration requirements of this section of these Rules have been 
complied with and the Scout holds the qualification required by Rule 225.1.

 226A The League shall register a Scout and shall notify the applicant Club to that effect upon being 
satisfied that: 

  226A.1 the Scout holds the qualification required by Rule 225.1;
  226A.2 the Scout is not currently registered as the Scout of another Club.

 226B At the start of each season each Club shall issue a Scout Identification Card to each of its 
registered Scouts.

 226C Except during the period of five days referred to in Rule 226, no Club shall employ a Scout who 
is not registered with the League pursuant to Rule 226A unless it has made an application to 
register him which has yet to be determined.

 226D Upon a Club which operates an Academy ceasing to employ or engage a registered Scout, it shall 
within five days thereof:

  226D.1 give notice to that effect to the League who shall thereupon remove his name from 
the register; and

  226D.2 return his Scout Identification Card to the League.

 226E Scouts shall conduct themselves in accordance with the Code of Conduct for Scouts set out in 
Appendix B.

 226F Each Club which operates an Academy shall take all reasonable endeavours to ensure that its 
Scouts comply in all respects with Rule 226E and the Code of Conduct for Scouts. 

Scouts: Attendance at Matches

 227 Each Club which operates an Academy shall permit the Scouts of other Clubs to attend at 
matches played in the Games Programmes provided that:

  227.1 the Club which has employed or engaged the Scout notifies both Clubs involved in the 
match of the Scout’s proposed attendance by no later than 12 noon on the last Normal 
Working Day before the published date of the match; and

  227.2 the Scout is able to produce on demand to the home Club his Scout Identification Card.



SECTION 08 – 443

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 228 Each Scout shall inform the home Club of his arrival at a match.

 229 Each Club which operates an Academy shall prepare and produce a document setting out the 
process of how Scouts employed by that Club should approach Academy Players (and other 
players) and the process thereafter. Such process should comply in full with these Rules and the 
Code of Conduct for Scouts and should build upon the training that the Scout received while 
obtaining the relevant scouting qualification referred to in Rule 225.1.

Scouts: Disciplinary Action

 229A Any breach by a Scout of Rule 226B shall amount to a breach of these Rules and the League 
shall be entitled to take disciplinary action against the Scout and/or his Club for such breach 
in accordance with Section 8 of the League’s Regulations. In addition to the sanctions available 
under Section 8, an additional sanction of the removal of a Scout’s registration shall also be 
available at the conclusion of the disciplinary proceedings, should a breach be held to exist.

 229B Any breach by a Club of Rule 226C or Rule 226F shall amount to a breach of these Rules and 
the League shall be entitled to take disciplinary action against the Club for such breach in 
accordance with Section 8 of the League’s Regulations. In addition to the sanctions available 
under Section 8, an additional sanction of the removal of a Scout’s registration shall also be 
available at the conclusion of the disciplinary proceedings, should a breach be held to exist.

Registrations and Provision of Information by the League

 230 Upon receiving an application by a Club to register an Academy Player, the League shall immediately 
provide to the Academy Player’s Parent a copy of these Rules and of the Parent’s Charter. 

 231 Subject to Rule 232, the League will undertake the registration (which shall be backdated to the 
date of application) of the Academy Player if: 

  231.1 seven days have elapsed from the date the League receives the application referred to 
above; and

  231.2 during that time, the League has not been contacted by the Academy Player or his 
Parent to inform the League that he no longer wishes to be registered as an Academy 
Player for that Club.

  and in such circumstances, the Academy Player may be coached by and play for the Club during 
the period of seven days referred to in Rule 231.1. The provisions of Rules 296 and 299 shall apply 
during the period referred to in Rule 231.1

 232 Without prejudice to its powers of inquiry under Section 8 of the Regulations, prior to undertaking 
any registration of an Academy Player, the League may, in its absolute discretion, request:

  232.1 any Official of the Club seeking to register the Academy Player, any Official of a Club 
with which the Academy Player has previously been registered, the Academy Player 
himself and/or his Parent(s) to appear before it to answer questions; and

  232.2 such Persons or any Club (or club) to produce documents,
  in each case, to ensure that there has been no breach of Rules 296 to 299.

 233 Where a request is made by the League in accordance with Rule 232, the League may, in its 
absolute discretion, stay the registration of the Academy Player until it is satisfied that there has 
been no breach of Rules 296 to 299 (and, in such circumstances, the Academy Player may not be 
coached by or play for the Club seeking to register him until the League notifies the Academy 
Player and the Club that the registration has been undertaken).



SECTION 08 – 444

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 234 If the Academy Player directly or indirectly contacts another Club, and such contact results in 
the Academy Player becoming registered with that other Club without the consent of the Club 
referred to in Rule 230, the other Club shall be presumed to have breached Rule 296. 

 Guidance
Rule 230
The League will where possible send the Rules and Charter to Parents by email with a read-receipt, or by 
recorded delivery if no email address is provided. 

Rule 234
The presumption set out in this Rule is rebuttable if the new Club can establish to the satisfaction of the 
Board that it did not in fact breach Rule 296.

Time/Distance Rules

 235 Subject to Rule 264, each Club which operates an Academy shall be permitted to register 
Academy Players who reside within the travel times measured from the location of the Club’s 
principal venue for the provision of coaching and education set out in the following table.

Permitted Recruitment time/distance

Foundation Phase Youth Development  
Phase

Professional Development 
Phase

Category 1 1 hour •	 No	limit	for	Academy	
Players engaged in the 
Full Time Training Model;

•	 1	½	hours	for	all	 
other Academy Players  
in the Youth Development 
Phase.

No limit

Category 2 1 hour 1	½ No limit

Category 3 1 hour 1	½ No limit

Category 4 N/A N/A No limit

  Any question or dispute concerning the travelling time requirements in this Rule shall be 
determined by the Board.

Trials

 236 Subject to the conditions set out in Rules 237 and 243, a Trialist may attend an Academy for up to 
six consecutive weeks in any one Season without being registered provided that:

  236.1 at least seven days’ prior written notice to that effect shall be given to any junior club 
of which such Trialist is a member; and

  236.2 before the trial commences his particulars shall be notified forthwith to the League 
by sending to the League Form YD8 duly completed, together with proof of his home 
address and date of birth in such a form as is required by the League.

 237 In the case of the Trialist in one of the age groups Under 9 to Under 16, a Club may apply to the 
League for permission to extend the period of six weeks referred to in Rule 236 for an initial 
additional period of six weeks, and then for a further period of six weeks thereafter.



SECTION 08 – 445

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 238 An application to extend a trial period must be:
  238.1 made by the Club at least two weeks before the Trialist’s trial period is due to expire;
  238.2 accompanied by such information and assurances as the League may require; and
  238.3 consented to by the Trialist and his Parent.

 239 An application to extend a trial period shall only be granted by the League if it is satisfied as to 
arrangements put in place by the Club for the welfare and education of the Trialist.

 240 A Trialist may not register with another Club (or club) during the initial 6 week trial period but 
may at any time terminate an extended trial period to which he is subject.

 241 Rule 41 (Performance Clocks) and Rule 42 (Multi-disciplinary Reviews) shall apply with regard to 
Trialists.

 242 Each Club shall give the League all such access to information and persons as it may require in 
order to monitor the welfare and progression of Trialists and to determine whether to grant an 
application to extend a trial period.

Guidance
The Education Ombudsman may be asked to advise on the actual and proposed arrangements put in place 
by the Club to provide for the educational progression on any Trialist in respect of whom an application 
under Rule 242 is made.

 243 The conditions referred to in Rule 236 are as follows:
  243.1 a trial may be offered or given by a Club to anyone in age groups Under 9 to Under 

11 inclusive who has his permanent residence within one hour’s travelling time of the 
Club’s Academy;

  243.2 a trial may be offered or given by a Club which is permitted to recruit nationally 
(because it operates a Category 1 Academy and is permitted to recruit nationally 
pursuant to Rule 235) to anyone in age groups Under 12 and Under 13;

  243.3 a trial may be offered or given by any Club to which Rule 243.2 does not apply to 
anyone in age groups Under 12 and Under 13 who has his permanent residence within 
one and a half hours’ travelling time of the Club’s Academy;

  243.4 a trial may be offered or given by a Club to anyone in age groups Under 14 to Under 16 
inclusive;

  243.5 subject to Rule 243.6.2 a trial may be offered or given by one or more Clubs to an 
Academy Player in age group Under 16 who has been informed by the Club holding his 
registration that it will not offer to enter into a Scholarship Agreement with him; any 
such trial or series of trials may not in the aggregate exceed six weeks;

  243.6 a trial may not be offered or given to anyone:
  243.6.1 who is on trial at another Academy; or
  243.6.2 whose registration is held by another Club (or club) except with the written 

consent of such Club (or club) or in the case of an Academy Player who is 
exercising his entitlement under either Rule 268, Rule 269 or Rule 270 to seek 
registration as an Academy Player at the Academy of another Club (or club). 

   Any question or dispute concerning the travelling time requirements in this Rule shall 
be determined by the League in its absolute discretion.



SECTION 08 – 446

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 244 If a Trialist attending an Academy is injured so that he cannot be coached or play football or if 
the period of his trial is interrupted by any other occurrence, application may be made to the 
League in writing to extend the period of his trial, giving full reasons therefor, and the League 
shall have power to extend such period in such terms as it may think fit.

 245 If before the date upon which a Trialist’s trial period is due to end his trial is terminated, notice 
to that effect shall be given to the League by sending to the League YD8A duly completed.

 246 Upon a Trialist commencing a trial, the League may provide to him and his Parent a copy of these 
Rules and such other information as the League considers relevant.

 247 Where a Club makes an application to the League in Form YD4 that an Academy Player who is a 
Trialist with that Club at the time of the application be registered as an Academy Player with that 
Club, the relevant trial will be immediately deemed cancelled by the League and the provisions 
of Rules 230 to 234 shall apply

Pre-Registration Agreements

 248 Subject to the provisions of Art. 19 of the FIFA Regulations for the Status and Transfer of Players, 
on or after 1st January in any Season a Club may enter into a pre-registration agreement with a 
player who does not reside within one and a half hours’ travelling time of its Academy provided 
that such a player is then:

  248.1 in his Under 16, Under 17 or Under 18 year; and 
  248.2 in Full Time Education; and
  248.3 not registered with another Club or Premier League club.

 249 A pre-registration agreement shall be in Form YD9 and shall include an undertaking by the 
Club to enter into a Scholarship Agreement with the player upon the Club having acquired the 
player’s registration and:

  249.1 in the case of a player in his Under 16 year, on or after the last Friday in June in the 
academic year in which the Academy Player reaches the age of 16; or

  249.2 in the case of a player in his Under 17 or Under 18 year, upon his ceasing Full Time Education.
  Unless authorised in writing by the Board, a breach of such an undertaking will constitute a 

breach of these Rules.

 250 Clubs shall submit to the League copies of all pre-registration agreements within five days of 
their being entered into.

 251 A written coaching curriculum shall be annexed to each pre-registration agreement and the 
player shall not be coached by or at the Club’s Academy or participate in its matches, tours, 
Festivals, Training Camps or Tournaments until the programme has been approved in writing by 
the Board and then only to the extent set out in the programme.



SECTION 08 – 447

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Registrations

 252 Except for Trialists attending trials in accordance with Rule 236, and players attending 
Development Centres and players with whom a Club has entered into a pre-registration 
agreement in accordance with Rule 248, no player shall be coached by or at an Academy or 
participate in matches, tours, Festivals, Training Camps or Tournaments in which the Club 
operating that Academy is involved unless that Club holds his registration.

Guidance
The League may introduce a scheme of player identification for matches that form part of the Games 
Programme and Academy coaching sessions to monitor compliance with Rule 252 (among others).

 253 Subject to Rule 254, players in age groups Under 9, Under 10, Under 11, Under 12, Under 14 and Under 
16 shall be registered for one year and those in age groups Under 13 and Under 15 for two years. 

 254 The:
  254.1 registration of an Academy Player shall endure until the last Friday in June in the 

academic year in which he reaches the age of 16 if:
  254.1.1 he is engaged in the Full Time Training Model; or
  254.1.2 the Club has made an application to the Board to this end, having offered 

to engage the Academy player on the Full Time Training Model and the 
Academy Player having rejected this offer for sound educational reasons. In 
such a case the Board shall enquire into the circumstances and satisfy itself 
as to the bona fides of the application, and if so satisfied shall have the power 
to determine that the Academy Player’s registration should so endure;

  and
  254.2 registration of Youth Players entered into prior to the date of implementation of these 

Rules (being with effect from 1st July 2012) shall endure for the original period of that 
registration.

 255 The registration of Academy Players will be undertaken by the League.

 256 Registrations of Academy Players undertaken by the Premier League which are held by Clubs 
relegated to the League shall be treated as having been undertaken by the League provided all 
circumstances surrounding that registration comply with these Rules, failing which the League 
shall be at liberty to reject that registration unless otherwise determined by the Board.

 257 An application for the registration of an Academy Player at an Academy shall be made by 
completing and submitting to the League Form YD4 signed on behalf of the Club by an 
Authorised Signatory together with a copy of both the Code of Conduct referred to in Rule 
189 and proof of both the Academy Player’s home address and date of birth in such form as is 
required by the League.

Guidance
The League may introduce a scheme of player identification for matches that form part of the Games 
Programme and Academy coaching sessions to monitor compliance with Rule 252 (among others). 
Accordingly, the League may require that further information and/or documents be submitted at the 
same time as Form YD4 to facilitate such a scheme. Such information/documents may include, by way of 
example, a current photograph of (and/or biometric data relating to) the Academy Player.



SECTION 08 – 448

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 258 A Club shall request each Academy Player (or if he is a minor his Parent) to complete the ethnicity 
monitoring questionnaires at the same time that he completes Form YD4. If he does so the Club 
shall submit the completed ethnicity monitoring questionnaire to the League at the same time 
that it submits Form YD4. If the Academy Player or his Parents (as applicable) elects not to 
complete the questionnaire, he should nevertheless submit form YD4 to the League forthwith.

 259 An application in YD4 shall be refused if it is made in respect of a player with whom a Club (or 
club), other than the applicant Club, has entered into a pre-registration agreement which 
remains current.

 260 Except in the case of a Scholar, a player shall not be registered as an Academy Player unless he is 
in Full Time Education.

 261 The Board may from time to time direct the minimum number of Academy Players to be 
registered by each Club in each age group, and each Club shall comply with any such direction.

 262 The maximum numbers of Academy Players registrable by a Club at any one time are as follows:
  Age groups Under 9 to Under 14 inclusive: ................................................ 30 in each age group
  Age groups Under 15 and Under 16 inclusive: ............................................. 20 in each age group
  Age groups Under 17 to Under 18: ..................................................... 30 across both age groups
  Age groups Under 19 to Under 21 inclusive .................................................15 in each age group

 263 No application to register any Academy Player in the Under 9 age group, maybe signed by the 
Academy Player before the third Saturday in May immediately preceding his Under 9 year.

 264 A player in age groups Under 14 to Under 16 inclusive who resides more than one and a half hours’ 
travelling time from the nearest Academy may be registered as an Academy Player at the nearest 
Club which operates an Academy of the appropriate Category subject to the following conditions:

  264.1 an application for registration of an Academy Player under the provisions of this 
Rule shall be accompanied by a written coaching curriculum which shall include full 
particulars of any coaching the Academy Player will receive at or in the locality of his 
place of residence;

  264.2 the coaching curriculum shall be designed so as to ensure that it does not cause the 
Academy Player to be absent from school;

  264.3 in the case of an Academy Player registered under the provisions of this Rule at an 
Academy, the Head of Education shall make enquiries of the Academy Player’s school 
at least four times each Season during the currency of his registration so as to satisfy 
himself that the Academy Player’s best interests are being served by the coaching 
curriculum and that it is not adversely affecting his education; the result of each 
enquiry shall be reported in writing to the Academy Manager who in the event of an 
adverse report shall apply to the Board for the cancellation of the Academy Player’s 
registration; and

  264.4 unless any other travelling arrangements have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by or on behalf of the Board, on the occasion of each visit by the Academy 
Player to the Academy at which he is registered he shall be accompanied on both the 
outward and the return journey by his Parent.



SECTION 08 – 449

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 265 An application to register an Academy Player shall be refused if:
  265.1 the Academy Player is in age groups Under 10, Under 11 or Under 12; and
  265.2 the registration of that Academy Player was held by another Club or Premier League 

club (“the former Club”) within the period of 12 months prior to the making of the 
application; and

  265.3 the former Club had given notice to that Academy Player under the provisions of Rules 
267.1 or 267.2 that it intended to retain his registration; and

  265.4 the Club making the application had within the said period of 12 months registered 
two Academy Players in age groups Under 10, Under 11 or Under 12 whose registrations 
had been held by the former Club,

  unless the Club making the application and the former Club agree otherwise.

 266 On or before the third Saturday in May in every year each Club shall send to the League a list in 
Form YD5 containing the names of each of the Academy Players whose registration it then holds 
(other than those who have entered into a Scholarship Agreement whose names are included in 
the list required by Regulation 66.1), indicating which it retains, which it intends to retain and 
which it intends to terminate with effect from the first Saturday in June.

End of Season Procedure

 267 Except in the case of an Academy Player who has been offered and has accepted a Scholarship 
Agreement in accordance with Rule 277:

  267.1 on or before the third Saturday in May in every year in which his registration is held, 
each Club shall give or send to each of its Academy Players in age groups Under 9 
to Under 11 Form 30 notifying him whether it intends to retain or to terminate his 
registration with effect from the first Saturday in June; and

  267.2 on or before the third Saturday in May, each Club shall give or send to each of its 
Academy Players in age groups Under 12 and Under 14 Form 30 notifying him whether 
it intends to retain his registration for the next two seasons or to terminate it with 
effect from the first Saturday in June.

 268 An Academy Player who receives notification under Rule 267.1 or Rule 267.2 of his Club’s intention 
to terminate his registration shall be at liberty following receipt of such notification to seek 
registration as an Academy Player at the Academy of any other Club (or club).

 269 An Academy Player who receives notification under Rule 267.1 or Rule 267.2 of his Club’s intention 
to retain his registration shall likewise be at liberty after the first Saturday in June to seek 
registration as an Academy Player at the Academy of any other Club (or club) provided that:

  269.1 by the first Saturday in June he has given written notice to his Club and the League 
terminating his registration; and

  269.2 he has received the League’s written acknowledgement of the same.

 270 An Academy Player in age group Under 16 who has not received an offer to enter into a Scholarship 
Agreement by 1 March shall thereafter be at liberty to seek registration as an Academy Player at 
the Academy of any other Club (or club) and, in such circumstances (save where the Academy 
Player concerned remains in Full Time Education beyond his Under 16 year), the Club that holds 
his registration shall not be entitled to receive compensation from any Club (or club) that 
subsequently registers the Academy Player for its training and development of that Academy 
Player in accordance with Rule 325.



SECTION 08 – 450

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Termination of Registration

 271 Subject to Rule 272, the registration of an Academy Player who has not entered into a Scholarship 
Agreement with a Club shall terminate upon the happening of the earliest of the following events:

  271.1 the Academy Player completing his Full Time Education; or
  271.2 the receipt by the League at any time of a mutual cancellation notification in Form 

YD7 or YD10 duly completed and signed by the Academy Player and his Parent and on 
behalf of the Club holding his registration; or

  271.3 the receipt by the League of the Academy Player’s notice duly given in accordance with 
the provisions of Rule 269.1; or

  271.4 the first Saturday in June following the receipt by the League of Form YD30 upon which 
his Club has indicated its intention to terminate the Academy Player’s registration; or

  271.5 the expiry, surrender, suspension or revocation of the Academy licence of the Club 
holding the registration.

 272 The Board shall have power at any time to cancel the registration of an Academy Player:
  272.1 upon the written application of either:
  272.1.1 the Academy Player or, if the Academy Player is a child, his Parent on his 

behalf (and one of the grounds, but not the only ground, on which such an 
application may be made is that the categorisation of the Club’s Academy 
has been lowered pursuant to Rule 26.3); or 

  272.1.2 the Club holding his registration; or
  272.2 of its own volition in the circumstances set out in Rule 273.

 273 If the Board is not satisfied that a Club is complying with any one or more of the Rules concerning 
the Hybrid or Full Time Training Model, or if it is of the view that the education of an Academy 
Player engaged on the Hybrid or Full Time Training Model is being prejudiced as a result of his 
engagement thereon (regardless of whether the Club is in compliance with these Rules) it may, 
either of its own volition or on the written application of an Academy Player who is affected 
thereby (or of his Parent on his behalf if he is a child):

  273.1 cancel the registration of the Academy Player; or
  273.2 order that the Academy Player be deemed to be engaged on one of the other Training 

Models. 

 274 The Board will not exercise its powers set out in Rule 273 without having first given the Club, the 
Academy Player and his Parent the opportunity to make representations to it.

 275 The Board shall determine such an application in such manner as it shall think fit and, in 
particular, shall have power to appoint one or more suitably qualified persons to enquire 
into all the circumstances of the application (adopting such procedures as are considered 
appropriate) and to report to the Board, recommending whether the application should be 
granted or refused. If the application is granted, the Board may impose conditions (e.g. as to 
compensation) on the cancellation of the registration.

 276 Upon an Academy Player’s registration terminating by virtue of the provisions of Rule 271.2, the 
League shall provide him with a copy of Form YD7 or YD10 as evidence thereof.



SECTION 08 – 451

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Scholarships 

 277 On or after 1 January in the year in which he attains the age of 14 years and in any event on or 
before 1 March in his Under 16 year, a Club may offer to enter into a Scholarship Agreement with 
an Academy Player whose registration it holds. 

 278 Failure by a Club to honour any offer of a scholarship made pursuant to Rule 277 without 
reasonable cause shall render that Club liable to disciplinary action pursuant to Section 8 of the 
League’s Regulations.

 279 A Club may likewise offer to enter into a Scholarship Agreement with an Academy Player in age 
group Under 16 who is seeking registration under the provisions of Rule 270. 

 280 A Club which operates a Category 4 Academy may only offer to enter into a Scholarship 
Agreement with:

  280.1 anyone who is not an Academy Player; or
  280.2 an Academy Player in age group Under 16 who is seeking registration under the 

provisions of Rule 270,
  but only on or after 1 January in his Under 16 Year.

 281 Any offer made under the provisions of Rules 277, 279 or 280 shall be in Form 33, a copy of which 
shall be sent to the Secretary by the Club making the offer within five days of it being made.

 282 An Academy Player receiving an offer in Form 33 shall respond thereto within 28 days by 
completing and submitting to the Club making the offer Form 34, a copy of which shall be sent 
to the League by the Club within five days of receipt. An Academy Player who does not accept 
the offer shall be at liberty after the first Saturday in June following his Under 16 year to seek 
registration at any other Club (or club).

 283 An Academy Player who fails to respond as required by Rule 282 shall be deemed to have not 
accepted the offer.

 284 A Club may enter into a Scholarship Agreement with an Academy Player if:
  284.1 it holds his registration; or
  284.2 his registration is not held by another Club (or club); and
  284.3 (except in the case of an Academy Player who has entered into a Scholarship Agreement 

with another Club (or club) which has been cancelled by mutual agreement) he is 
under the age of 18 years; and

  284.4 the Scholarship Agreement commences no earlier than the last Friday in June in the 
academic year in which the Academy Player reaches the age of 16. 

 285 An Academy Player who enters into a Scholarship Agreement with a Club shall be: 
  285.1 entitled to receive such remuneration as shall be determined by the Board from time 

to time; and
  285.2 required to complete his Education Programme (as defined in the Scholarship Agreement). 



SECTION 08 – 452

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 286 The registration of an Academy Player who enters into a Scholarship Agreement with a Club shall 
be effected by completion of and submission to the League of Football Association Form G(4), 
signed on behalf of the Club by an Authorised Signatory, together with copies of the Academy 
Player’s Scholarship Agreement, the initial duration of which must not exceed two years, and 
birth certificate.

 287 If the parties to a Scholarship Agreement have agreed in writing that they will enter into a 
Standard Contract prior to or immediately upon the termination of the Scholarship Agreement, 
and provided that the written agreement between them specifies the length of the contract and 
full details of all the remuneration and benefits payable under it, the Club shall not be obliged 
to complete and sign a mutual cancellation notification upon the Academy Player’s application 
for cancellation of his registration pursuant to clause 13.1 of the Scholarship Agreement. If the 
Club chooses not to cancel the Academy Player’s registration, the Academy Player shall remain 
registered with the Club and the Scholarship Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

Appeal against Termination 

 288 An appeal by an Academy Player under the provisions of clause 10.3 or by a Club under the 
provisions of clause 12.3 of the Scholarship Agreement shall be commenced by notice in writing 
addressed to the other party to the agreement and to the League.

Appeal against Disciplinary Decision

 289 An appeal by an Academy Player under the provisions of paragraph 3.3.2 of the Schedule to the 
Scholarship Agreement shall be commenced by notice in writing addressed to the Club and to 
the League.

 290 Appeals pursuant to Rule 288 or Rule 289 shall be referred to the Player Related Dispute Commission.

 291 The Player Related Dispute Commission may allow or dismiss any such appeal and make such 
other order as it thinks fit.

Order for Costs

 292 The Player Related Dispute Commission shall have power to make an order for costs:
  292.1 in determining appeals under Rule 288 or Rule 289; and 
  292.2 if any such appeal, having been commenced, is withdrawn.

 293 The Player Related Dispute Commission shall have power to determine the amount of any such 
costs which may include, without limitation, those incurred by the Company in the conduct of 
the appeal.

 294 Costs ordered to be paid as aforesaid shall be recoverable:
  294.1 in the case of a Club, under the provisions of Article 80; or 
  294.2 in the case of an Academy Player, as a civil debt.



SECTION 08 – 453

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

Further Appeal

 295 Within 14 days of a decision of the Board given under the provisions of Rule 291 either party may 
by notice in writing appeal against such decision to The EFL Appeals Committee in accordance 
with Regulations 71.2 to 71.17 inclusive, whose decision shall be final.

Approaches by and to Clubs and Inducements 

 296 A Club shall not, either directly or indirectly, make any approach to or communicate with:
  296.1 an Academy Player registered with another Club (or club); or
  296.2 a player with whom another Club (or club) has entered into a pre-registration agreement 

which remains current.

 297 A public statement made by an Official of or Agent for a Club expressing interest in an Academy 
Player whose registration is held by another Club (or club) or a player with whom another Club 
(or club) has entered into a pre-registration agreement which remains current shall be deemed 
for the purpose of Rule 296 to be an indirect approach in breach of that Rule.

 298 Except as permitted by Rules 268 and 269, an Academy Player whose registration is held by a 
Club shall not, either directly or indirectly, make any approach to another Club (or club).

 299 Except that a Club may, not earlier than 1 January next following the commencement of his 
Under 16 year, offer an Academy Player a contract as a Contract Player upon his attaining the age 
of 17 years and subject to Rules 248 and 277:

  299.1 no Club shall induce or attempt to induce a player to become registered as an Academy 
Player by that Club by offering him, or any person connected with him, either directly 
or indirectly, a benefit or payment of any description whether in cash or in kind;

  299.2 no Club shall likewise induce or attempt to induce an Academy Player to enter into 
a Scholarship Agreement and in particular no Club shall pay or offer to pay to an 
Academy Player upon his entering into a Scholarship Agreement remuneration in 
excess of the remuneration referred to in Rule 285.1;

  299.3 no Academy Player shall, either directly or indirectly, accept any such inducement.



SECTION 08 – 454

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

FACILITIES
Facilities

 300 Each Club which operates an Academy shall ensure that:
  300.1 it provides as a minimum the facilities and accommodation set out in Rules 302 to 313; and
  300.2 if it operates a Category 1 Academy, such facilities and accommodation are available 

for the exclusive use of its Academy at all times when it requires access to them in 
order to comply with these Rules. 

 301 Save where otherwise indicated, or with the permission of the Board, the facilities and 
accommodation set out in Rules 302 to 313 shall be provided at the Club’s principal venue for the 
coaching and education of Academy Players.

 302 Grass pitches

Category 1 a)  A sufficient number of grass pitches of the appropriate sizes (as required by the Rules 
relating to Games Programmes and with goals sized as required by the Rules relating 
to Games Programmes) to enable the Club to play all its matches in the Games 
Programmes and fulfil its commitments under these Rules as regards coaching. 

b)  One floodlit grass pitch enclosed with perimeter fencing and with designated areas 
for spectator attendance (save that if a Club is unable to obtain planning permission 
for floodlighting then the requirement for floodlighting shall be waived); 

c)  A designated area (on grass) for the coaching of goalkeepers.

Categories 2 & 3 a) A sufficient number of grass pitches of the appropriate sizes (as required by the Rules 
relating to Games Programmes and with goals sized as required by the Rules relating 
to Games Programmes) to enable the Club to play all its matches in the Games 
Programmes and fulfil its commitments under these Rules as regards coaching. 

b) A designated area for the coaching of goalkeepers.

Category 4 a) A sufficient number of grass pitches of the appropriate sizes (as required by the Rules 
relating to Games Programmes and with goals sized as required by the Rules relating 
to Games Programmes) to enable the Club to play all its matches in the Games 
Programmes and fulfil its commitments under these Rules as regards coaching. 

b) A designated area (on grass) for the coaching of goalkeepers.

 303 Each Club shall take all reasonable steps to maintain each grass pitch used by its Academy at all 
times when such pitches are required by the Academy for matches or coaching. 

 304 The League shall inspect the Academy grass pitches of each Club which operates a Category 1 or 
Category 2 Academy at least twice a year, and of each Club which operates a Category 3 Academy 
from time to time.

 305 Each Club shall take such steps as the Board may require if the Board is not satisfied that a pitch 
is being maintained to an adequate standard.

 306 Without prejudice to the generality of Rule 303, each Club shall ensure that the quality of its 
pitches used for matches in the Games Programmes is not adversely affected by coaching taking 
place on them.

Guidance Note
Because of Rule 306, Clubs may need to have a greater number of pitches than the bare minimum necessary 
to fulfil matches in the Games Programme.



SECTION 08 – 455

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 307 Artificial Surface pitch

Categories 1 
and 2

One floodlit outdoor Artificial Surface pitch (save that if a Club is unable to obtain 
planning permission for floodlighting then the requirement for floodlighting shall be 
waived).  It is recommended (and mandatory with effect from 1 July 2016) that this pitch 
measures 105 metres in length and 68 metres in breadth, unless otherwise permitted 
by the League.

Categories 3 
and 4

Access to one floodlight outdoor Artificial Surface pitch (which need not be at the 
principal venue).

 308 Indoor area for training and the playing of matches
  Note: ideally a Club’s indoor facility should be located at its principal venue for the coaching of 

Academy Players and any new facility must be located at the principal venue. It is accepted, however, 
that a number of Clubs have existing indoor facilities which are located elsewhere, or that it may 
be impossible for a Club’s indoor facility to be located at its principal venue for planning reasons. In 
such cases, where the Board is satisfied that the Club’s indoor facility may be located other than at its 
principal venue, there shall also be a requirement that the Rules relating to the maximum travel time 
from an Academy Player’s residence to the coaching venue are complied with.

Categories 1 
and 2

One indoor Artificial Surface pitch measuring a minimum of 60 yards by 40 yards which 
shall be owned by the Club (or alternatively the Club must have a legally enforceable 
agreement with the owner of the facility for its use by the Club, expiring not earlier than 
the end of the current Season) and which shall be for the exclusive use of the Academy 
at all times. (Note: an indoor pitch which complies with the size requirements set out in 
Regulation 13 is recommended).

Categories 3 
and 4

Access to one indoor pitch measuring 60 yards by 40 yards during the months of 
November to April.  Alternatively, the pitch may measure 30 yards by 20 yards but if so 
the Club shall only be permitted to coach the following maximum numbers of Academy 
Players at any one time:

Age groups Under 9 to Under 14 inclusive: 18 in each age group
Age groups Under 15 and Under 16 inclusive: 15 in each age group
Age groups Under 17 to Under 21 inclusive: 12 in each age group

Guidance
The Premier League and the League are consulting on the requirements for Category 3 Clubs’ indoor facilities 
to have an Artificial Surface.



SECTION 08 – 456

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 309 Changing rooms and washing facilities

Category 1 to 4 a) suitably-sized changing rooms equal in number to the number of teams (including 
visiting teams) playing at the Academy at any one time so that each such team has 
exclusive use of a changing room.

b) a sufficient number of washing and toilet facilities, of a suitable quality, for the 
exclusive use of all registered Academy Players;

c) a sufficient number of separate washing and toilet facilities, of a suitable quality, for 
the use of visiting teams;

d) a sufficient number of separate changing rooms and washing and toilet facilities, 
of a suitable quality, for the exclusive use of Match Officials (with separate male 
and female facilities in the case of Category 1 and Category 2 Academies only, with 
appropriate arrangements made at Category 3 and 4 Academies to facilitate the 
changing requirements of both male and female Match Officials);

e) (in the case of Category 1 and Category 2 Academies only) a sufficient number 
of changing rooms and washing and toilet facilities, of a suitable quality, for the 
exclusive use of therapists and coaches employed at the Academy and other relevant 
Academy Staff;

Guidance
Portacabins remain acceptable as dressing rooms at Category 1 Academies until 1 December 2017. Any structural 
work required to achieve Category 1 status will need to be completed by no later than 1 December 2017.

Sufficient and suitable facilities must be provided at all venues. Thus, if a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy 
utilises an Artificial Surface pitch or an indoor pitch which is located away from its principal venue, it must ensure 
that there is substantial compliance with this Rule 309 with regard to changing room and washing facilities.

A changing room may not be used as any of the other rooms (e.g. team meeting room) required by these Rules.

 310 Team meeting room

Categories 1 to 4 A dedicated room large enough to hold 20 people and equipped with individual desks 
(one per person), audio/visual projection equipment and a large screen, internet access 
and computers.

Guidance 
In Category 3 and 4 Academies, this room:

a) need not be located at the principal venue; but

b) if it is so located (but not otherwise), may also be used as the guest lounge described in Rule 311.

 311 Guest lounge

Categories 1 to 4 A guest lounge for the use of Parents at each training session and match that is open to 
Parents.  The guest lounge shall be large enough to hold 50 people and have access to 
refreshments and toilet facilities. 

Note: in Category 3 and 4 Academies, this room may also be used as the team meeting 
room described in Rule 310 provided that it is large enough.



SECTION 08 – 457

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 312 Match analysis suite

Categories 1 
and 2

A room large enough to hold 20 people and equipped with such appropriate video and 
IT technology as is necessary to undertake, and present the results of, Performance 
Analysis.  If the facility is shared with the professional squad, access for the Academy 
sufficient for its purposes needs to be clearly demonstrated.

Categories 3 
and 4

A match analysis suite is recommended but not mandatory.

 313 Medical facilities
  Such medical facilities as the Club requires to deliver its Sports Science and Medicine Programme.

Guidance 
Each club should carefully consider provision of facilities suitable for the medical practice undertaken at 
each venue. In general, a medical consulting room should be not less than 16 square metres and should be 
larger if it includes a separate area for the examination couch. 

There should be provision for:

•	 Privacy	sufficient	to	ensure	confidentiality	of	consultation;
•	 Desk,	examination	couch	and	equipment	to	facilitate	medical	examinations	to	include:
 o Thermometer;
 o Sphygmomanometer;
 o Otoscope and ophthalmoscope;
 o Stethoscope;
•	 Electronic	or	paper	medical	records	in	secure	format;
•	 Secure/lockable	filing	system;
•	 Secure/lockable	storage	for	any	medicines;
•	 Sufficient	provisions	for	all	aspects	of	medical	treatment	to	be	undertaken	including:
 o Protocols and equipment for the provision of Basic Life Support and if not provided elsewhere;
 o Protocols and equipment sufficient for Advanced Trauma and Life Support;
•	 Basin	with	hot	and	cold	water,	provision	of	hand	cleansers,	clinical	taps,	hand	drying	facilities	and	all	

necessary provision for effective infection control procedures;
•	 Provision	of	space	and	seating	for	person	accompanying	examinee;
•	 Flooring	and	fittings	of	materials	which	can	be	cleaned	to	meet	infection	control	standards;
•	 Telephone.

 314 Administration office space

Categories 1 to 4 a) Such office space and access to IT, email and the internet as each member of Academy  
 Staff requires in order to perform the responsibilities set out in his job description;

b) A private meeting room.

Guidance 
For Category 3 and Category 4 Academies, these can be provided at a place other than the principal venue 
(e.g. at the Club’s stadium).



SECTION 08 – 458

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 315 Academy Player accommodation

Categories 1 to 4 Sufficient and adequate accommodation for all registered Academy Players and 
Trialists under the age of 18 not residing with their Parents.  Clubs shall comply with any 
guidelines about Academy Player accommodation published by the League from time 
to time and with all applicable legal requirements in relation to the provision of such 
accommodation.

Such accommodation shall be located in as close proximity as is reasonably practicable 
to the Club’s principal venue for the coaching and education of Academy Players and to 
the place at which Academy Players undertake their education (if this is not the  
principal venue).

Guidance
Clubs may provide such accommodation by lodging students with private households (subject to 
compliance with all applicable legal requirements including as to DBS checks) or by operating their own 
dedicated facilities (such as hostels).

 316 Classrooms

Category 1 A minimum of three classrooms which shall each:

•	 contain	sufficient	desks	for	20	students;

•	 contain	20	computers	with	access	to	the	internet;

•	 conform	in	all	respects	with	any	requirements	for	classrooms	issued	by	the	
Department for Education.

Categories 2 A minimum of two classrooms which shall each:

•	 contain	sufficient	desks	for	20	students;

•	 contain	20	computers	with	internet	access.

At least one of the classrooms must conform in all respects with any requirements for 
classrooms issued by the Department for Education.

Category 3 & 4 Access for Academy Players and Trialists to a study area large enough to hold 20 people 
and which contains at least 20 computers with internet access.

Guidance
In Category 3 and 4 Academies, this may also be used as the team meeting room provided that the 
timetabling of lessons in the classrooms allows. 

Flexibility will be accorded to a Club’s provision of classrooms depending on the number of Academy Players 
that are engaged in each Training Model.

Clubs which operate a Category 3 or Category 4 Academy who have in place an artificial surface which does 
not meet the requirements of such a pitch as defined in Rule 1.10 may continue to use such a pitch until the 
end of its natural life. Thereafter however, they must use a pitch which complies with the definition.



SECTION 08 – 459

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

FINANCE AND EXPENSES
Finance

 317 Each Club which operates an Academy shall by 1 July in each year submit to the League its 
budgeted Academy Financial Information for its Academy for the following Season.

 318 Each Club which operates an Academy shall by 1 September in each year submit to the League 
its actual Academy Financial Information for its Academy for the previous Season together with 
the budgeted Academy Financial Information for that Season.

 319 The Academy Financial Information required by Rule 317 shall be submitted in the format 
required by the League.

 320 The League may, at its discretion, require (and the Club shall deliver), such further information 
and explanations as it deems fit in connection with the Academy Financial Information 
submitted by the Club pursuant to Rules 317 and 319.

 321 The League shall have the power to obtain an independent audit of a Club’s Academy Financial 
Information submitted pursuant to these Rules.

 322 Each Club’s Academy Financial Information shall be assessed by the Board in order to determine 
whether to award to the Club a grant from the Professional Youth Game Fund.

Guidance
The League will produce benchmarked Club by Club information (on an anonymised basis) with regards to 
expenditure on youth development on an annual basis. 

The League will keep the Academy Financial Information provided to it pursuant to Rules 317 and 319 
confidential save that:

1 the League may disclose the Information if properly required to do so by law or by any regulatory 
authority;

2 the League may disclose the Information to the ISO or the PGB (and if it does so, the League shall use all 
reasonable endeavours to ensure that the ISO or PGB keeps the Information confidential); 

3 the League may disclose the Information to any person or entity retained to undertake an audit of a 
Club’s Academy Financial Information pursuant to Rule 321 (and if it does so, the League shall use 
all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the person or entity so retained keeps the Information 
confidential); and

4 the League may use the Information to develop and publish benchmarked information on an 
anonymised basis. 

Expenses

 323 Without prejudice to Rules 296 to 299, each Club that operates an Academy shall be permitted 
to reimburse Academy Players and their Parents for actual expenses legitimately incurred as a 
direct result of the Academy Player’s participation in the activities of the Academy, in accordance 
with such guidance as is issued by the League to Clubs from time to time.

 324 Without prejudice to Rules 296 to 299, no payment of any kind may be made by a Club to an 
Academy Player or his Parent (whether directly or indirectly) outside the terms of the guidance 
issued by the Board in accordance with Rule 323, without the express prior consent of the League.

 



SECTION 08 – 460

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

COMPENSATION
Compensation

 325 The registration of an Academy Player at an Academy shall impose an obligation on the applicant 
Club or Premier League club (“the Applicant Club”) to pay compensation for the training and 
development of that Academy Player to any Club or Premier League club or Former League Club 
which previously held his registration (“the Training Club”) provided that:

  325.1 the Training Club had indicated in Form 30 (or, in the case of a Premier League club, 
the equivalent Premier League form) its intention to retain the Academy Player’s 
registration; or

  325.2 the Training Club had offered to enter into a Scholarship Agreement pursuant to Rule 
277 with the Academy Player; or

  325.3 the Academy Player sought registration at the Applicant Club because he had moved 
residence outside the permitted travelling time from his last Training Club; or

  325.4 Save where Rule 270 applies, the Training Club and Academy Player mutually agreed 
to terminate the Academy Player’s registration pursuant to Rule 271.2 and agreed that 
the Training Club should retain the right to receive compensation should the Academy 
Player sign for another Club (or club); or

  325.5 the Board has made a determination to that effect pursuant to Rule 275; and
  325.6 in all the above cases, the Training Club held a valid licence to operate an Academy in 

accordance with these Rules (or to operate a Football Academy or Centre of Excellence in 
accordance with the Rules pertaining to youth development which these Rules replaced).

 326 The amount of compensation referred to in Rule 325 shall be:
  326.1 such sum as shall be due pursuant to this section of the Rules; or
  326.2 as regards the compensation payable by the Applicant Club to the most recent Training 

Club, such sum as shall have been agreed between them.

 327 Rules 329 to 339 govern the compensation due in respect of an Academy Player who is in, or 
about to enter, any age group between Under 9 and Under 16 at the time when he is first 
registered with the Applicant Club save for an Academy Player to whom Rule 328.2 applies.

 328 In default of agreement between the Applicant Club and the Academy Player’s most recent 
Training Club, the Professional Football Compensation Committee shall (in accordance with the 
provisions of Appendix 4 of the Regulations) determine the compensation payable to the latter 
in respect of an Academy Player:

  328.1 who is in any age group between Under 17 and Under 21 when he is registered for the 
Applicant Club; or

  328.2 to whom the Training Club made an offer of a Scholarship Agreement pursuant to Rule 277. 

 329 The compensation due in respect of an Academy Player to whom Rule 327 applies shall consist 
of an initial fee payable to the most recent Training Club (and to be paid within seven days of 
the Academy Player being registered for the Applicant Club) and, if the Academy Player is in age 
group Under 12 or older, contingent compensation is payable to all qualifying Training Clubs in 
accordance with these Rules.

 330 The initial fee referred to in Rule 329 shall be calculated by:
  330.1 multiplying the applicable annual fixed fee (or fees) calculated in accordance with 

Rule 331 by the applicable number of years; and
  330.2 adding thereto any initial fee (capped at such sum as would have been payable when 

calculated in accordance with this section of the Rules) paid by the most recent 
Training Club when it acquired the registration of the Academy Player.



SECTION 08 – 461

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 331 In Rule 330:
  331.1 the “applicable annual fixed fee” means the fee set out in the table in Rule 332 

referable to: 
  331.1.1 the age group of the Academy Player during any year that he was registered 

with the Training Club; and
  331.1.2 the Category of the Training Club’s Academy during that year; and
  331.2 the “applicable number of years” means the number of years for which the Academy 

Player was registered for the Training Club (subject to Rule 338).

Guidance
There may be two “applicable fixed fees”. For example, if an Academy Player was registered with a Category 
2 Training Club from the age of Under 9 to Under 16, then the applicable fixed fee is £3,000 for each of his 
initial three years of development (totalling £9,000) and £25,000 for each of the five subsequent years 
(totalling £125,000) making a total initial fee of £134,000. 

 332 The applicable annual fixed fees by reference to the age group of the Academy Player and the 
Category of Academy are as follows:

Age group of the  
Academy Player

Category of the Academy of the 
Training Club at the relevant time

Applicable Annual  
Fixed Fee

Under 9 to Under 11 All Categories £3,000

Under 12 to Under 16 Category 1 £40,000

Under 12 to Under 16 Category 2 £25,000

Under 12 to Under 16 Category 3 £12,500

Guidance
In order to give effect to the compensation Rules under the EPPP, Clubs’ previous football academies and 
Centres of Excellence will have a “deemed”, retrospective categorisation to give effect to the provisions for fixed 
fee compensation in respect of the years up until the coming into force of the Rules. The following applies:

Status Deemed retrospective Category for the purposes of 
calculating compensation (in respect of the period up 
until the end of Season 2011/12)

Club operated a licensed Football Academy which is placed 
into Category 1 under the new Rules (all Category 1 Clubs will 
be the subject of an ISO audit by no later than 31 May 2012)

Category 1

Club operated a licensed Football Academy which is not 
placed into Category 1 under the new Rules.

Category 2

Club operated a licensed Centre of Excellence. Category 3



SECTION 08 – 462

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 333 The contingent compensation referred to in Rule 329 shall consist of:
  333.1 appearance fees calculated by reference to the number of First Team Appearances (up 

to a maximum of 100) made by the Academy Player for the Applicant Club or any other 
Club or Premier League club for whom the Academy Player subsequently becomes 
registered (including, with effect from the commencement of Season 2015/16 only, by 
way of a Temporary Transfer or other loan) and to the divisional status of the relevant 
Club as set out in the table in Rule 334;

  333.2 if the Academy Player’s registration is transferred prior to his twenty-third birthday 
to a club affiliated to a national association other than The Football Association 
(save for any Welsh club which is a member of the League, the Premier League or the 
Premier Division of the National League), 20% of any Compensation Fee, Loan Fee and 
Contingent Sum that the Applicant Club receives which is in excess of:

  333.2.1 any amounts of training compensation and/or solidarity payment paid to 
the Applicant Club and the Training Club pursuant to the FIFA Regulations 
for the Status and Transfer of Players; and

  333.2.2 the actual sum (if any) paid by the Applicant Club to the Training Club to 
acquire the Academy Player’s registration;

  333.3 5% of all Compensation Fees, Transfer Fees, Loan Fees and Contingent Sums paid in 
respect of:

  333.3.1 all future transfers of the Academy Player’s registration to Clubs (or clubs) 
in membership of the League, the Premier League or the Premier Division 
of the National League; and

  333.3.2 all future transfers on loan to a club affiliated to a national association 
other than The Football Association (save for any Welsh club which is a 
member of the League, the Premier League or the Premier Division of the 
National League).

Guidance
Clubs will be obliged to pay contingent compensation as it falls due (payment within seven days of the 
triggering event). 

 334 The appearance fees referred to in Rule 333.1 are as follows:

Divisional Status of the Club

Number of First 
Team Appearances

Premier League 
Club

EFL Championship 
Club

EFL League One 
Club

EFL League Two 
Club

10 £150,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

20 £150,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

30 £150,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

40 £150,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

50 £150,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

60 £150,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

70 £100,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

80 £100,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

90 £100,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000

100 £100,000 £25,000 £10,000 £5,000



SECTION 08 – 463

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 335 In Rule 333: 
  335.1 “First Team Appearance” means an appearance either in the starting eleven or as a 

playing substitute in a first team fixture in the Premier League, the EFL Championship 
and Leagues One and Two (including play-offs), the EFL Cup, the FA Cup, the EFL Trophy, 
the UEFA Europa League or the UEFA Champions League;

  335.2 in the event that the Academy Player’s registration at a Club (or Premier League club) 
is terminated (whether by efluxion of time, cancellation, transfer or otherwise) prior 
to his having made sufficient appearances to trigger one of the payments set out 
in Rule 334, that Club (or Premier League club) shall pay a pro rata amount to the 
relevant Training Club(s) and the obligation to pay future sums pursuant to that Rule 
shall transfer to any new Club (or Premier League club) for whom the Academy Player 
subsequently becomes registered; and

  335.3 “Compensation Fee”, “Transfer Fee”, “Loan Fee” and “Contingent Sum” shall be interpreted 
to exclude compensation payable pursuant to Rule 325. 

 336 Reference in Rules 333 and 335 to the transfer or termination of an Academy Player’s registration 
shall be interpreted to include transfers or terminations of his registration after he has ceased 
to be an Academy Player and Clubs who subsequently sign the Academy Player shall be bound 
to comply with Rules 333.1 and 333.3 and for the avoidance of doubt the original Applicant Club 
shall not be liable to the Training Club in respect of:

  336.1 any appearance fees payable pursuant to Rule 333.1 and due in respect of appearances 
made by the Academy Player after he has ceased to be permanently registered for the 
Applicant Club;

  336.2 sums payable pursuant to Rule 333.2 and 333.3 arising from transfers in respect of 
which the Applicant Club was not the Transferor Club. 

 337 Any agreement between a Club and another Club (or club) as to the compensation payable on 
the transfer of a registration, whether pursuant to Rule 326.2 or otherwise, may not take effect 
so as to vary the contingent compensation payable pursuant to this section of the Rules to any 
other Club (or Premier League club).

 338 If an Academy Player has spent part only of any year at the Training Club, the amount of 
compensation in respect of that year shall be calculated pro rata (taking into account whether or 
not the Training Club’s Academy was operational or not during the Close Season or any part of it).

 339 If the Academy Player has been registered for a Training Club for part only of the period between 
the start of his Under 12 year to the conclusion of his Under 16 year, the amount of contingent 
compensation payable to that Training Club calculated in accordance with these Rules shall be 
paid pro rata to the Training Club. 

Guidance
Rule 339 covers the following situations:

1 Where an Academy Player has been registered for only one Training Club but not for the entirety of the 
period from the start of his Under 12 year to the conclusion of his Under 16 year; and

2 Where the Academy Player has been registered for more than one Training Club during the period.

 In either case, the Training Club(s) receive(s) contingent compensation pro rata to the period that it/
they held the Academy Player’s registration.



SECTION 08 – 464

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

 340 The compensation set by the Professional Football Compensation Committee in respect of 
an Academy Player to whom Rule 328 applies shall be determined in accordance with the 
Committee’s Regulations (as set out at Appendix 4 of the Regulations). 

 341 The new registration of a Contract Player under Regulation 60 shall impose an obligation on 
the Club next holding his registration to pay to the former Club (or club) compensation for the 
training and development of that Player if the Club (or club):

  341.1 had held that Player’s registration as an Academy Player;
  341.2 had offered to enter into a Scholarship Agreement with him which offer he had not 

accepted; or
  341.3 had entered into a Scholarship Agreement with him and either:
  341.3.1 the Scholarship Agreement had been terminated at the Player’s request; or
  341.3.2 in accordance with the terms thereof the former Club (or club) had offered 

him a contract as a Contract Player which offer he had not accepted. 

 342 The amount of compensation payable pursuant to Rule 341 shall be:
  342.1 such sum as shall have been agreed between the applicant Club (or club) and the 

former Club; or
  342.2 such sum as the Professional Football Compensation Committee on the application of 

either Club (or club) shall determine pursuant to Rule 340.

 343 Any agreement between Clubs or between a Club and a Premier League club as to the amount 
of compensation payable shall be in writing, and a copy provided to the League within 5 days of 
being entered into.

 344 All compensation (including instalments thereof and contingent sums) payable to a Club, Premier 
League or the League Club shall be paid by the Applicant Club into the Transfer Fee Account.

Guidance 
The fixed fees set out in Rules 332 and 334 are to be revised annually by the PGB. 

The Regulations of the Professional Football Compensation Committee referred to in Rule 340 are in 
Appendix 4 of the EFL Regulations. They remain unchanged as regards the calculation of compensation for:

•	 Academy	Players	in	the	Under	18	and	older	age	groups;

•	 an	Academy	Player	with	whom	the	Training	Club	had	agreed	to	enter	into	a	Scholarship	Agreement;	and

•	 an	Academy	Player	with	whom	the	Applicant	Club	enters	into	a	Scholarship	Agreement.



SECTION 08 – 465

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

APPENDIX A – SAFEGUARDING
Part 1 – The EFL Child Protection Statement

The aim of The EFL is to:
a) develop a positive and pro-active position in order to best protect all children and young people who 

play football, enabling them to participate in an enjoyable and safe environment. 

b) facilitate the provision of child protection awareness training at Clubs in conjunction with, and 
supported by, The Football Association and the NSPCC. 

c) demonstrate best practice in the area of child protection. 

d) promote ethics and high standards throughout football. 

The key principles underpinning this Policy are that: 
a) the welfare of children and young persons is, and must always be, the paramount consideration. 

b) all children and young people have a right to be protected from all forms of abuse and unlawful 
discrimination regardless of their age, sex, gender reassignment, disability, race, culture, language, 
racial origin, heritage or sexual orientation. 

c) all suspicions and allegations of abuse will be taken seriously and responded to swiftly and appropriately. 

d) working in partnership with children and young people and their parents/carers is essential. 

 Children Services Departments have a statutory responsibility to ensure the welfare of children and 
young people. The EFL is committed to working together with Social Services Departments and Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards in accordance with their procedures. 

 Where The EFL believes circumstances exist which may harm a child or children or poses, or may pose, 
a risk of harm to a child or children, the League shall refer the matter to The Football Association for 
investigation and action in accordance with the appropriate Football Association Disciplinary Procedures 
for safeguarding children, or if appropriate the statutory agencies such as the Police, Children’s Services 
Department or Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO). 

Part 2 – Specific Requirements

1 For the purposes of this Part 2, Regulated Activity has the same meaning as given to it in Section 5 
and Schedule 4 of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 as amended by the Section 64 of the 
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, as amended, extended or re-enacted from time to time.

2 No person shall work in and/or be employed or retained by an Academy or Development Centre in a 
Regulated Activity unless:

 2.1 that person has completed and submitted to the Academy Manager of the Academy at which they 
seek to be employed, a self-certification form in Form YD2;

 2.2 they have obtained from the Disclosure and Barring Service an enhanced criminal records check at 
the appropriate level and to the satisfaction of The Football Association; and

 2.3 their particulars are held on the Academy’s single central record of persons employed or retained by 
the Academy (SCR).

3 Academies shall ensure that any other individual employed, retained to work or working at the Academy 
obtains an enhanced criminal records check from the Disclosure and Barring Service where the role 
being fulfilled falls into any of those roles identified as requiring such a check in guidance as issued by 
the League and/or The Football Association from time to time. Any such individual’s details shall be 
recorded in the Academy’s SCR.



SECTION 08 – 466

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

4 There shall be made available for inspection by a duly appointed officer of the League, at all reasonable 
times, evidence to demonstrate compliance with paragraphs 2 and 3 above including a copy of the SCR.

5 At each Academy operated by a Club, a member of staff shall be assigned as the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer, and that person shall be trained in child protection issues and shall be given 
specific responsibility for the same and in particular shall:

 5.1 ensure there are written child protection policies and procedure based on the principles set out in 
guidance as issued and/or distributed by the League from time to time;

 5.2 ensure compliance by the Academy with paragraphs 2 and 3 above;

 5.3 ensuring all staff who work with children undertake appropriate safeguarding training for their role in 
accordance with guidance as issued by The Football Association and/or the League from time to time;

 5.4 liaise with Youth Players, parents, staff, the police, local authority statutory agents including 
the LADO, Social Services Departments, the League, The Football Association and other relevant 
persons and bodies in relation to child protection issues; 

 5.5 promote awareness of child protection issues generally within the Academy and encourage and 
monitor the adoption of best practice procedures in that regard; and

 5.6 work together with designated safeguarding officers from other departments of the Club (under 
the leadership of the Safeguarding Senior Manager) to support a strategic approach to safeguarding 
within the Academy and the Club as a whole.

6 The minimum qualification for such member of staff shall be the satisfactory completion of The FA 
Safeguarding Children Workshop and annual attendance at Safeguarding Workshops approved by the League.

7 The name and contact details for the Designated Safeguarding Officer shall be notified to the League’s 
child protection advisor at the commencement each Season and within 2 Working Days of any change in 
Designated Safeguarding Office at any other time.

8 Youth Rules 54 and 55 shall apply.



SECTION 08 – 467

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT RULES OF THE EFL

APPENDIX B – CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SCOUTS
1 The function of a Scout is to identify to his Club players with whom his Club may wish to enter into 

negotiations with a view to securing their registration. Scouts are not themselves entitled to enter into 
any such negotiations nor are they able to make promises to or offer inducements to any players whom 
they approach.

2 Scouts are employed by and represent their Clubs and are Officials within the meaning of the Regulations 
of the League by which they are bound. 

3 Scouts must therefore be familiar with the Regulations and in particular these Rules relating to Youth 
Development. They must maintain an awareness of and at all times comply with the Regulations and 
Rules setting out the circumstances in which their Club may make an approach to a Player or Academy 
Player (as defined in the Regulations) whose registration is held by another football club.

4 When acting in the course of his duties a Scout shall at all times carry the formal means of identification 
issued to him by his Club and shall produce the same upon demand.

5 Scouts are responsible for the conduct of their contacts and shall be liable for any act or omission by a 
contact which constitutes a breach of the Regulations.

6 Scouts shall conduct themselves in a manner befitting their role as Officials of their Clubs and shall take 
all possible steps to promote the reputation of the game of association football and to prevent it being 
brought into disrepute.

7 A Scout shall forthwith disclose to his Club the nature and extent of any direct or indirect interest he 
may have in any transaction or arrangement involving his Club and he shall account to his Club for any 
benefit which either directly or indirectly he derives therefrom.

8 A Scout shall conduct himself at all times in an ethical and professional manner and shall observe the 
highest standards of integrity and fair dealing.



Eversheds LLP 
One Wood Street 
London 
EC2V 7WS 
United Kingdom 
 
T: +44 20 7497 9797 
F: +44 20 7919 4919 
DX 154280 Cheapside 8 
 
eversheds.com 

 

 

lon_lib1\15412850\1\rolfev  

Eversheds LLP is a limited liability partnership, registered in England and Wales, registered number OC304065, registered office One Wood Street, London EC2V 7WS.  
Authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority.  A list of the members' names and their professional qualifications is available for inspection at the 
above office.  For a full list of our offices please visit eversheds.com  
 

 

Councillor Alan Hall 
London Borough of Lewisham 
Laurence House 

1 Catford Road 
London  
SE6 4RU 
 

Date:  13 December 2016 

Your ref:   

Our ref: GRIMBLRJ\156536-000009 

Direct:  +44 20 7919 4983 

Email:  johngrimbley@eversheds.com 

 

By Email Only (cllr_alan.hall@lewisham.gov.uk) 
 

Dear Councillor Hall 

NEW BERMONDSEY (FORMERLY SURREY CANAL TRIANGLE) PROPOSED 
COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 
 
We write on behalf of our client, Millwall Football Club Ltd (“the Club”) in relation to tonight’s 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel.  
 
Our client and advisors have obviously carefully noted the reasons for call-in given at the 

meeting of the Panel on 20 September and the report containing the officers’ response to those 
issues included with the agenda papers for today’s meeting. Our clients and their advisers 
share the grave concerns expressed by the Panel about the background and circumstances 
leading up to the decision by Mayor and Cabinet to make the compulsory purchase order and 
consider that the officers’ response leaves fundamental points unanswered. 
 

Appointment of Renewal as developer 

 
There are many aspects of the transactions with Renewal which represent significant 
departures from what would reasonably be expected in the circumstances. For example: 
 
 The Council appoints a company that it acknowledges has no track record in 

undertaking developments of the scale of the New Bermondsey Development – which 

would be amongst the largest in London; 

 The founders of Renewal were the former leader and former senior officer of Lewisham 
Council; 

 The parent companies of Renewal are registered in off-shore tax havens and the 
beneficial owners are anonymous; 

 PWC was denied access to information about the parent companies in 2013 and was 

unable to do due diligence but the Council nevertheless proceeded to enter into a 

binding conditional sale agreement of the freeholds of the Club’s and MCT’s leasehold 
land; 

 Given the above points, it frankly beggars belief that the Council considered it prudent 
not to have sought an open and transparent tendering process to ensure that the 
developer was one on whom the Council could rely and had the experience, skills and 
clear access to appropriate funding that would ensure delivery of the scheme; 

 Having entered into a conditional sale agreement of the Council’s interests in December 

2013, it is apparent that the Council had not even conducted a viability assessment of 



 

Date:  13 December 2016  

Your ref:    

Our ref: GRIMBLRJ\156536-000009  

Page: 2 

 

 
 

lon_lib1\15412850\1\rolfev  

 

the scheme.  According to paragraph 7.50 of the report to Mayor and Cabinet, GL 
Hearn did not initially report on viability until April 2014! 

Some of these factors alone would be regarded as grounds for deep scepticism but, taken 
together, they represent a wholly extraordinary approach to delivery of a project. In any other 

sphere of its major operations and service delivery, would the Council have allowed such a set 
of circumstances to accumulate? 
 
LSH Brochure 
 
Section 7 of the officers’ issues report deals with the question of the LSH brochure.  

 
In that report it is stated that LSH advised that the LSH brochure was not publicised or made 
available to others. However, it is an inescapable fact that the brochure was sufficiently 
available for it to come into the hands of the Guardian newspaper.  

 
It is highly improbable that a sales brochure with so much detail would be prepared without 
the client’s knowledge or approval. We note the sales brochure contains information on a 

detailed corporate structure of Renewal – the very same structure that was redacted in the 
2013 PWC report and remained so until the belated disclosure by the Council in the context of 
FoI proceedings in October 2016. We can only presume that that structure was deemed highly 
confidential by Renewal and the Council when it was evidently disclosed to LSH.   
 
Has the Council verified the terms of engagement between IHL and LSH? 
 

The inability of the Club to bid for freehold of the land they leased 
 
In Mr Holmans’ letter to Demos Kouvaris of the Club’s parent company dated 29 January 2013, 
he stated, at paragraph 8, that the Council envisaged retaining its freehold interest in respect 
of the land leased to the Club and MCT.   
 

However, without any communication to the Club between January and September 2013, 
Mayor and Cabinet resolved at its September 2013 meeting to dispose of those freehold 
interests to Renewal. This unexplained reversal was made in the teeth of officers’ full 
knowledge of the Club’s interest and concerns.  
 
CBRE, on behalf of the Club, on 6 November 2013 stated that it wished to bid for those freehold 
interests. However, the Council, through Mr Holmans’ letter of 13 November 2013 did not 

provide any terms or basis for which a bid could be made. In those circumstances, it was 
impossible for CBRE to advise the Club to make a bid.   
 
Threat to future of MCT and Youth Academy 
 
MCT has only received a derisory offer, which it has rejected and has not agreed terms to 
surrender its lease. There have been no further negotiations and we understand that MCT are 

still awaiting a response from Renewal.  
 

The future of MCT in Lewisham is threatened by Renewal’s proposal and will have a direct and 
serious impact on opportunities for young people in the Borough.  
 
Alongside this threat to the future of the MCT, Millwall’s Youth Academy is also threatened by 

the loss of the Lions Centre’s indoor astroturf pitch. It is a mandatory requirement under the 
Elite Player Performance Plan (EPPP) for a youth academy such as ours to have full time 
exclusive access to such a facility.  
 
Misleading statements about extent of land owned or controlled by Renewal  
 
Much is made in the report to Mayor and Cabinet that Renewal owns or controls the majority 

of the interests in the site. This is in fact, far from the case.  Very significantly, Renewal only 
has a conditional contract to acquire the freehold of the Club’s and MCT’s leasehold land. It 
therefore cannot deliver the scheme on this land without a compulsory purchase order 



 

Date:  13 December 2016  

Your ref:    

Our ref: GRIMBLRJ\156536-000009  

Page: 3 

 

 
 

lon_lib1\15412850\1\rolfev  

 

expropriating the Club’s and MCT’s interest. The development area for the scheme is 
approximately 27.2 acres and the Club’s and MCT’s leasehold interests together (excluding the 
stadium) is 11.5 acres. The Club’s and MCT’s areas therefore amount to fully 42% of the site. 
Taken with the other interests to be acquired, Renewal has ownership or control of something 

around only 50% of the land required for the scheme.  
 
Yet, last Friday the Council is quoted in the South London Press as saying: “Lewisham council’s 
Mayor and Cabinet has agreed to proceed with compulsory purchase orders on the remaining 
10% of the land at New Bermondsey…”  
 

In view of the above, we would ask that Mayor and Cabinet is recommended not to proceed to 
make a compulsory purchase order. 
 
Yours faithfully  

 

Eversheds LLP 



 

 

 

 

Mayor Sir Steve Bullock 

and Members of the Council’s Cabinet 

The London Borough of Lewisham 

Civic Suite 

Town Hall 

Catford 

SE6 4RU 

HQ Building 

Old Granada Studios 

2 Atherton Street 

Manchester 

M3 3GS 

DX 14393 Manchester 6 

 

T 03700 86 5600 

F 03700 86 5601 

 

lisa.tye@shoosmiths.co.uk 

 

Date 9 December 2016 

Our Ref LT-M-00433767 

  

 

 

Dear Sirs 

 

NEW BERMONDSEY REGENERATION – PROPOSED USE OF THE COUNCIL’S COMPULSORY 

PURCHASE POWERS 

 

We understand that a Report on the above is now to be reconsidered by the Council’s Mayor and 

Cabinet on 15 December 2016, following the deferral of a decision on 28 September 2016.   

 

We wrote to you on 16 February 2016 prior to consideration of this matter at the Council’s Mayor and 

Cabinet on 17 February 2016.  We also wrote to you on 2 September 2016 prior to further consideration 

of the matter on 7 September 2016.  Copies of both our letters are enclosed. 

 

To date we have not received the courtesy of an acknowledgment of those letters and have had no 

response whatsoever to the important issues raised, issues which relate to our clients’ basic human 

rights and their ability to live and work in peace. The lack of contact from the Council leaves our clients 

in a position where the only dealings they have are with Renewal, a private development company. This 

is entirely unacceptable in the context of the use by a public authority of draconian powers which will 

enable them to deprive our clients of their homes and places of business. 

 

Once again we would like members to be aware that no progress has been made in terms of discussion 

or meaningful negotiation with our clients since the February meeting. Ms Winston has requested a 

chance to speak at the meetings and will outline recent events from her perspective then but in summary 

she has had one visit from a Renewal representative who was not authorised to negotiate with her, and 

she has had one extremely derisory offer which would not enable her to remain in the area in which she 

has lived and worked for some years. Following the Aylesbury CPO decision these issues are critical 

and the failure to address her requirements could be fatal to the success of any CPO.   

 

At the very least, even if the 7 September decision is reaffirmed, no CPO should be made until the 

Council (not Renewal – they are not the Acquiring Authority here) has properly engaged with all 

remaining third party landowners.  As we set out in our previous letters there must be meaningful 

engagement by the Acquiring Authority.  Renewal are not making the CPO, the Council are. 

 



 

2 

The points contained in our previous two letters, and to which we still await either an acknowledgment 

or a substantive response, remain valid and we would ask on behalf of our clients for a proper response 

from the Council before the previous decision is reaffirmed. 

 

We look forward to hearing from you.  

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 
 

SHOOSMITHS LLP  

 

 













From: "Richard Slack" <rjbsl@btinternet.com> 
Date: 12 December 2016 at 00:36:08 GMT 
To: <cllr_abdeslam.amrani@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_alan.hall@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_alan.smith@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_alan.smith@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_alicia.kennedy@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_amanda.deryk@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_amanda.deryk@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_amanda.deryk@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_andre.bourne@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_bill.brown@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_brenda.dacres@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_carl.handley@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_chris.barnham@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_chris.best@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_colin.elliott@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_crada.onuegbu@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_eva.stamirowski@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_gareth.siddorn@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_helen.klier@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_hilary.moore@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_jacq.paschoud@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_james-j.walsh@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<Cllr_janet.daby@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_joan.millbank@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_jamie.milne@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_joan.reid@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_joe.dromey@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_jonathan.slater@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_kevin.bonavia@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_liz.johnston-franklin@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_luke.sorba@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_maja.hilton@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<Cllr_mark.ingleby@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_obajimi.adefiranye@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_olurotimi.ogunbadewa@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_pat.raven@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_paul.maslin@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_paul.upex@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_pauline.morrison@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_peter.bernards@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_rachel.onikosi@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_roy.kennedy@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_simon.hooks@lewisham.gov.uk>, <cllr_susan.wise@lewisham.gov.uk>, 
<cllr_susan.wise@lewisham.gov.uk> 
Subject: FW: CPO of leaseholds held by Millwall Football club 

Dear Councillors 
  
Once again the question of the CPOs of leasehold interests held by Millwall Football Club by renewal 
is back for discussion. Renewal have an agreement in principle to purchase the freehold of these 
pieces of Land from L B Lewisham but are seeking also to have the leaseholds held by Millwall. 
  
When this issue was brought up in September, the Labour group voted against confirming the CPOs 
at a meeting addressed by the chief executive. In spite of this the Cabinet voted in favour. The 
scrutiny panel subsequently expressed their dissatisfaction of the cabinet’s decision by calling the 
decision in. In the meantime reporting both in “The Guardian” newspaper, “Private eye” and 
elsewhere have probed more at the background of the issues and have found that “renewal” are far 
from transparent as to their structure, ownership and intentions and demonstrate grounds to doubt 
that they are intending to develop the site themselves or sell it on to another party to carry out the 
redevelopment. 
  
  
The report presented to Cabinet this week resolves none of these issues 
  

1) The identity of the ultimate beneficial owner of Renewal, via a web of companies leading to 
the British Virgin Islands remains a mystery and, it seems the council are paying legal fees to 
ensure that it remains unknown. While, as the report says, this is not essential for the deal 
to go through it is, one would have thought a matter that a Labour Council, or anyone 
concerned with open-ness in public life should be concerned about, particularly as public 
money will almost certainly be involved. The position of the Executive Mayor is also 
troubling in that he seems to have interests to declare 

mailto:rjbsl@btinternet.com
mailto:cllr_abdeslam.amrani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_alan.hall@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_alan.smith@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_alan.smith@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_alicia.kennedy@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_amanda.deryk@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_amanda.deryk@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_amanda.deryk@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_andre.bourne@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_bill.brown@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_brenda.dacres@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_carl.handley@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_chris.barnham@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_chris.best@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_colin.elliott@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_crada.onuegbu@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_eva.stamirowski@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_gareth.siddorn@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_helen.klier@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_hilary.moore@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_jacq.paschoud@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_james-j.walsh@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr_janet.daby@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_joan.millbank@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_jamie.milne@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_joan.reid@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_joe.dromey@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_jonathan.slater@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_kevin.bonavia@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_liz.johnston-franklin@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_luke.sorba@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_maja.hilton@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Cllr_mark.ingleby@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_obajimi.adefiranye@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_olurotimi.ogunbadewa@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_pat.raven@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_paul.maslin@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_paul.upex@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_pauline.morrison@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_peter.bernards@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_rachel.onikosi@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_roy.kennedy@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_simon.hooks@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_susan.wise@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:cllr_susan.wise@lewisham.gov.uk


2) It seems less than likely that Renewal will actually undertake to manage the regeneration 
themselves and will simply sell on  to a further developer. Such information as is available 
about Renewal’s finances indicate a company negative net worth. 

3) There is little, if any information on how the “Sporting Village” which was integral to the 
scheme is to be financed either in terms of Capital or revenue and whether or how the 
facilities at the Millwall Community Scheme, which is held in high renown, will operate. 

  
The function of a Compulsorily Purchase order, as normally understood, is to prevent land-holders 
stopping a development which has  overwhelming public good by un-reasonably refusing to sell land 
and which otherwise would be able to go ahead. The redevelopment here is a long way away from 
this, nowhere near the whole site has been assembled let along cleared for rebuilding. It seems 
more that the CPOs are sought because they will enable renewal to purchase land at minimal value 
and then be able to revalue it as development land making their assets look more healthy and, I 
would suggest make it easier for them to sell on. The advantage of working with Renewal was that 
they appeared to be a known entity who could work with the Council and stay within the terms of 
the planning consent; if renewal sell on then the Council will be faced with difficulties in ensuring 
that the developers stick to the planning brief and not use financial constraints as a reason for not 
providing the planning gain indicated in the planning consent. 
  
Sorry to have written at length but you as Lewisham Council, should be fully aware of the situation 
you are bringing about and its dangers, not just to Millwall Football Club who have been a constant 
feature of life in that part London for over a century but the area involved as well. You should use 
your powers very carefully. 
  
You should 
  

1) Debate this at the Labour Group meeting and call for the CPOs not to be granted. 
2) If this is agreed make a public statement to that effect and state that if the Cabinet approve 

the CPOs a full council meeting will be requisitioned to discuss the matter and if necessary 
overrule the Cabinet’s decision 

  
  
Sincerely 
  
  
Richard Slack 
48 Henniker Point 
Leytonstone Rd 
London 
E15 1LQ 
  
020 8555 9710 
  
07766544744 
 



From: SHIRLEY KEHOE [mailto:shirley.kehoe@btinternet.com]  
Sent: 09 December 2016 12:10 
To: Mayor; Smith, Cllr Alan; Best, Cllr Chris; Bonavia, Cllr Kevin; Daby, Cllr_Janet; Dromey, Cllr_Joe; 
Egan, Cllr Damien; Maslin, Cllr Paul; Millbank, Cllr Joan; Onikosi, Cllr_Rachel 
Cc: Adefiranye, Cllr Obajimi; Coughlin, Cllr_John; McGeevor, Cllr_Sophie; Dacres, Cllr_Brenda; 
Maslin, Cllr Paul; Hall, Cllr Alan; vicky.foxcroft.mp@parliament.uk; mayor@london.gov.uk; 
tom.watson.mp@parliament.uk 
Subject: Opposition to new Bermondsey Proposed CPO 

 

Dear Lewisham Mayor and Cabinet members 
 
I understand at the call-in meeting on 15th December Lewisham Mayor and Cabinet 
members will once again be voting on the proposed CPO for New Bermondsey, 
following the call-in by the Scrutiny Committee. Having read the latest documents, 
and as a longstanding Lewisham resident, voter, and council taxpayer, I am writing 
to express my opposition to this CPO and ask that Lewisham Cabinet Members, the 
senior body of our elected officials, do not vote for the Recommendations detailed in 
the published Officers Report (Response to Call-in). My request is based on the 
grounds that firstly I have serious concerns about the developer Renewal, and 
secondly I do not believe there is a compelling case in the public interest to warrant 
the use of a CPO. I address each of these grounds in more detail below: 
 
1) CONCERNS ABOUT RENEWAL 
I have very serious concerns about both the secrecy of the ultimate off shore 
ownership of Renewal and also any special treatment they may have received due to 
their current/previous links with Lewisham council officers and members. I am also 
concerned they have no previous experience of delivering a scheme of this size. 
 
One of Lewisham’s core values listed on the councils website is that ‘we are open, 
honest and fair in all we do’. From the published council papers and other articles I 
have read, I believe you have not been open, honest and fair in this case, particularly 
around the ultimate ownership/shareholders of Renewal and also about past 
relationships with individuals involved with Renewal.  
 
Ownership of Renewal 
Paragraph 6.2.2 of the latest report states that details that the names of the trusts 
“have not been made public because to do so would enable the individual 
beneficiaries of those trusts to be identified would result in a breach of data 
protection” I am no expert in data protection, but fail to see how disclosing this 
information cannot be in the public interest. Indeed as recently reported in the 
Guardian at the Labour Party conference the shadow chancellor, John McDonnell, 
spoke about the party’s commitment to curtailing the influence of offshore companies 
operating behind a veil of secrecy. “We will ensure that all British Crown 
Dependencies and Overseas Territories introduce a full, public register of company 
owners and beneficiaries,” McDonnell said. Renewal is owned by companies 
registered in the Isle of Man and the British Virgin Islands but the identity of its 
ultimate owners has still not been made public. 
 
If this information still can’t be disclosed despite the Shadow Chancellors’ comments, 
can Lewisham Council please confirm if the legal ownership/shareholders have any 

mailto:shirley.kehoe@btinternet.com
mailto:vicky.foxcroft.mp@parliament.uk
mailto:mayor@london.gov.uk
mailto:tom.watson.mp@parliament.uk


previous relationship with Lewisham Council ie are they ex-employees or 
Councillors?  
 
Renewal’s Past Links with Lewisham Council Officials 
Could you also please confirm if any of the council officers involved in working on 
this project and preparing the paperwork have declared any interests i.e. any 
previous longstanding relationship with current members of Renewal or its ultimate 
shareholders/owners? Or have any of the Cabinet Members (aside from the Mayor 
declaring he is a Director of the Surrey Canal Sports Foundation)? 
 
From what I have read/researched, I understand Renewal was set up by: the former 
Mayor of Lewisham David Sullivan (and ex board member of Millwall FC) who I 
understand sold his shares to an unnamed offshore organisation and is no longer a 
Renewal Director; and a previous senior officer at Lewisham council Mushtaq Malik 
who I understand also subsequently resigned as a director and sold shares, but is 
now I believe Chief Executive and his daughter Jordana is now listed as the Director 
of Renewal. I understand that this company Renewal set up by these two senior 
Lewisham officers has been buying pockets of land in this area for a number of years 
- obviously having had a lot of inside knowledge about areas ripe for regeneration/ 
development.  
 
Whilst this may be perfectly legal and above board, and I am no expert in 
regeneration or planning, it seems to me a humble council tax payer, highly suspect 
that you are granting this CPO in favour of a company Renewal set up by previous 
senior Lewisham council officials, some of whom may stand to earn significant 
amounts of money from this development. Indeed it seems an absolute disgrace this 
is happening whilst at the same time local residents will lose their homes, local 
businesses their livelihoods, and the future of the marvellous Millwall Community 
Trust, and Millwall Football Club (both of whom have been at the heart of this 
community for years) will be seriously affected! 
 
Indeed the council’s relationships with individuals at Renewal have even been 
documented as a positive point in the documentation - the Guardian newspaper 
reported the following was in the PWC report “The London Borough of Lewisham 
have a longstanding relationship with Mushtaq Malik. He was a former senior officer 
and latterly an outsourcing provider … [next sentence redacted] … Based on the 
longstanding relationship between the Council and Mushtaq the Council benefits 
from previous knowledge of working with this individual”. 
 
I also note in the minutes from the Scrutiny Panel of 20th September that Ms Willow 
Winston (a resident affected by the CPO) had mentioned that a former Council 
Officer Abdul Qureshi was now being paid by Renewal. I can see from LinkedIn that 
Abdul Qureshi was former Head of Strategy & development at Lewisham Council 
and lists the Surrey Canal Development (now New Bermondsey) as one of his 
achievements! 
 
So how many people actually working at, or getting paid from Renewal are ex 
Lewisham Council officials or councillors, or had strong family links with council 
officials (and are now set to greatly financially benefit from the use of this CPO)? It 
seems this company is so embedded within the council, to the extent that no other 



options for developing this land are being given a look-in! – Indeed Renewal have 
been the only developer/organisation offered the council’s freehold interest. 
 
If you truly have the values of being open honest and fair I believe before any CPO 
can be approved you should: 
i) Make public the ultimate ownership of Renewal  
ii) Please confirm if any of the officers involved in working on this project and 
preparing the paperwork, or cabinet members have declared any interest with 
Renewal or its ultimate shareholders/owners 
2) LACK OF COMPELLING CASE IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST  
 
One of key reasons for a CPO is there must be a compelling case in the public 
interest. I fail to see that in this scheme. From the latest report I understand only 
12% of houses are classed as affordable (which isn’t even affordable to most people 
) and only 25% of these ie only 3% of the whole scheme to be social housing or 
really affordable rent (ie 60% market rent). All other increases in affordable housing 
are not guaranteed and are dependent on sales figures exceeding targets. So as I 
see it out of the 2400 new homes only 3% ie 72 homes will be social housing or 
what’s classed as really affordable. I hardly think this is a compelling case in the 
public interest! Also I am unclear how many of these 72 homes are actually on the 
land covered by the CPO? Excuse me I am not an expert in these matters and found 
it difficult to determine this from the maps and paperwork? Couldn’t the wider 
development go ahead without the CPO? I read in the paperwork that the overall 
wider project is not financially viable without the land covered by the CPO but I fail to 
understand how a developer cannot make money from building homes on the land it 
already owns in an area so close to central London! 
 
So if the amount of affordable homes is not a compelling case in the public interest, 
then what is? Much has been made in the council papers about the benefits of new 
sports complex, which looks great, but I fail to see any reassurance as to how this 
will be affordable and accessible for current local residents? Some mention is made 
of facilities available to local people at discounted rates – but how do we know this 
discount won’t be nominal and that the facilities will actually be affordable for current 
local residents? How do we know that this whole new complex isn’t really just aimed 
at the 2328 new residents that will be moving in to the new housing and can afford 
the sky high market rents? 
 
I also have serious concerns that the Surrey Canal Sports Foundation is not really 
putting the fantastic charity the Millwall Community Trust (MCT) at the heart of its 
future plans. I have seen it mentions they are working with other organisations, but 
no mention is made of the MCT. The MCT has been doing a fantastic job for years in 
this borough, my daughter has been involved in their activities so have witnessed 
their work first hand, and as a charity worker myself I greatly admire what they have 
achieved in the borough to help disadvantaged young people.  
I also read that the Surrey Canal Sports Foundation was set up to be independent of 
Renewal, but how can this be the case when Jordana Malik is trustee? Also it has 
received a large loan from Renewal which needs to be repaid – at what level of 
interest? So again I do not at the moment see the Sports complex as a compelling 
case in the public interest for granting this CPO. 
 



I’m sorry this email is so long but there are so many unanswered questions that I do 
not believe the CPO should progress and I do hope you take my concerns into 
consideration at Thursdays’ meeting. As I have mentioned I am not an expert in 
these matters, and apologies if I have misinterpreted anything, but I would 
appreciate a response in any case to some of my specific questions. Whilst I don’t 
oppose the wider regeneration of the area, I oppose the use of a CPO to enable a 
private company (which has considerable links with Lewisham Council) to profit 
greatly from the CPO without there being a clear compelling case in the public 
interest. I personally think the best way forward would be to scrap the CPO and get 
the interested parties together (i.e. MFC, MCT, local residents and businesses, 
Renewal and the Council) with a truly independent organisation to find a way forward 
that meets the needs of the public and the various interested parties – and not just 
the maximum profits for Renewal. 
 
I have copied in the Mayor of London as he is providing funding for this scheme and 
think he needs to be aware of local residents concerns. I am also copying my local 
MP and councillors, as well as the Deputy Leader of the Labour Party Tom Watson 
who has previously tweeted his concern about the CPO. 
 
I look forward to your response. 
 
Yours sincerely 
Shirley Kehoe 
Resident of New Cross (Brockley Ward) 
 













 

 

MAYOR & CABINET  
 

Report Title 
 

New Bermondsey Housing Zone - Memorandum of Understanding 

Key Decision 
 

Yes  Item No.   
 

Ward 
 

New Cross 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Resources & Regeneration, Head of Law 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date:  11 January 2017 

 
1.0 Purpose of report: 
 
1.1 To provide Mayor & Cabinet with an update on the New Bermondsey 

(formerly Surrey Canal Triangle) Housing Zone and to seek approval to 
the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding between London 
Borough of Lewisham and Greater London Authority (GLA) for the 
Zone.    

 
 
2.0 Recommendations: 
 
 Mayor & Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
2.1 note the update on the New Bermondsey Housing Zone.  
 
2.2     approve the attached Memorandum of Understanding with the Greater 

London Authority for the Housing Zone designation for the scheme. 
 

2.3 note that further reports will be brought to Mayor and Cabinet in due 
course on the terms of the specific Borough Intervention Agreement for 
the new Overground Station at Surrey Canal Road that will be entered 
into with the GLA as set out in this report and any subsequent Borough 
Intervention Agreement. 

 
 
3.0 Policy context 
 
3.1 A number of strategies and plans are relevant to the New Bermondsey 

regeneration scheme. 
 
3.2  Lewisham’s overarching Sustainable Communities Strategy sets out a 

vision for the future of the borough. One of the priorities laid out in the 
strategy is to develop, build and grow communities that are dynamic 
and prosperous – where people are part of vibrant communities and 
town centres, well connected to London and beyond. 

 



 2 

 

 

3.3 Shaping our future’ identifies ‘Active healthy citizens as a key priority – 
where the Council is committed to ensuring that people can actively 
participate in maintaining and improving their health and well-being, 
supported by high quality health and care services, leisure, culture and 
recreational activities’. 

 
3.4 Strengthening the local economy is a corporate priority, emphasising 

the importance of 'gaining resources to regenerate key localities, 
strengthen employment skills and promote public transport. 

 
3.5 'People, prosperity, place', Lewisham's regeneration strategy 2008-

2020, (refreshed in 2015) also sets out the Council's aspiration for a 
vibrant, dynamic Lewisham focussed around the themes of people - 
investing in the individuals and communities which are Lewisham’s 
greatest asset - prosperity - fostering the skills and economic 
opportunities for Lewisham to flourish and thrive - and place - 
developing high quality public spaces, sustainable buildings and 
protecting the areas which are sensitive to change. The strategy 
identifies the area as a strategic site within the Borough. The strategy is 
also placed within the framework of the key national and regional 
policies which affect the Council’s work around regeneration of the 
borough, including the London Plan. 

 
3.6 Lewisham’s new Housing Strategy for 2015-2020 identifies four 

priorities: helping residents at times of housing need; security and 
quality for private renters; improving our residents’ homes; building the 
homes our residents need. The Council’s assets can play a role in this, 
creating opportunities to develop new housing supply of all tenures, 
making land available for the construction of new homes and by using 
an understanding of the borough to improve the way service delivery 
connects with communities at a local level.  

 
3.7 The Council's Local Development Framework sets the vision, 

objectives, strategy and policies that will guide development and 
regeneration in the Borough up to 2025. The Lewisham Core Strategy, 
the Lewisham Development Management Local Plan, the Lewisham 
Site Allocations Local Plan and the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, 
together with the London Plan form the statutory development plan for 
the Borough. 

 
 
4.0 Background  
 

4.1 In August 2014 the Department for Communities & Local Government 
(DCLG) and the GLA announced their plans to create twenty ‘Housing 
Zones’ across the capital. The aim of Housing Zone designation for an 
area is to boost the housing supply in London by unlocking and 
accelerating housing delivery through a range of planning and financial 
measures/interventions. 

  
4.2 The Government and the GLA jointly committed a total of £400m of 

funding for the initial twenty zones. Half of the funding (£200m), was 



 3 

 

 

made available in the form of loan funding which is accessible to 
private sector organisations only. The remainder of the funding was 
available in flexible funding forms, including grant funding. The Housing 
Zone  process seeks to encourage co-operation between local 
authorities, central government and developers. 

 
4.3 New homes developed in Housing Zones are expected to be geared 

towards meeting a range of housing need and address the affordability 
challenge currently facing many Londoners. This requires a mix of 
open market homes that are affordable for Londoners with an 
obligation, where possible, to prioritise the sale of individual homes to 
Londoners purchasing for owner-occupation. It also includes new long 
term market rent homes, as well as affordable homes for rent and low 
cost home ownership. 

 
4.4 The GLA identified Opportunity Areas as ‘ideal candidates’ for Housing 

Zone designation. Opportunity areas are often (but not always) places 
with relatively low land values, sometimes with an historic industrial 
use, and are usually characterised by some form of market failure that 
requires substantial intervention. Whilst identified as challenging they 
can provide opportunities for the public and private sector working 
collaboratively to regenerate areas and create new neighbourhoods 
and places. It is envisaged that through Housing Zone designation 
some of the challenges identified could be addressed unlocking 
schemes and accelerating the delivery of the planned housing. 

 
4.5 In addition to investment, Housing Zones are designed to offer 

focused, planning, place-making and intensive engagement with a wide 
range of delivery partners important to delivery of housing such as 
utility companies, Network Rail and Transport for London etc. 

 
4.6 The initial aim was to create twenty Housing Zones in London and build 

50,000 new homes by 2025. Due to the success of the first phase in 
securing commitments for approximately 53,000 new homes in London 
(with approximately a third being affordable housing), a second phase 
of the programme was launched in 2015 taking the total number of 
Housing Zones to 31 and a target housing provision of 75,000 new 
homes. The programme is also designed to provide 150,000 
associated jobs in the course of the 10 year delivery programme. 

 
4.7 The GLA raised the opportunity to bid for Housing Zone designation 

with the Council’s Strategic Housing team following the announcement 
in August 2014 and identified the potential of the New Bermondsey 
regeneration scheme as a possible candidate for designation.  

 
4.8 Following further consultation with the GLA, the developer (Renewal) 

and officers in Strategic Housing, Planning and Regeneration 
departments, it was agreed that the New Bermondsey site met the 
criteria for Housing Zone and could benefit from designation to bring 
forward the delivery of housing and infrastructure on the site. 

 



 4 

 

 

4.9 A bid was submitted by Renewal to the GLA on 30th September 2014. 
On 20 February 2015, the Mayor of London and the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer announced that the New Bermondsey regeneration scheme 
had been designated as one of the first of the Mayor of London’s 
Housing Zones. As one of the first Housing Zones, the site was 
recognised as a key development in London and as one of the few 
regeneration projects that has the capacity to deliver homes for 
Londoners faster by accelerating the development programme. 

 
4.10 Following the Housing Zone designation, the GLA allocated in principle 

funding of £20 million towards delivery of key infrastructure associated 
with the scheme, including the new Overground Station at Surrey 
Canal Road.  

 
4.11 The GLA initially proposed that the allocated sum would be advanced 

to Renewal as loan funding. In a revised approach, however, the GLA 
now proposes that a grant agreement (known as a Borough 
Intervention Agreement) is entered into between the Council and the 
GLA whereby the GLA will provide grant funding of approximately £12 
million which will be passed by the Council to TfL with a requirement 
that TfL deliver the new Overground Station at Surrey Canal Road and 
open it within a set period. The GLA has proposed this route because it 
is unable to directly transfer the grant to TfL under their current 
governance structure. The balance of the £20 million allocation will 
remain available for Renewal to take up through a second intervention, 
following due diligence and subject to contract.  

 
4.12 A clear benefit of this approach is that as the new station will now be 

grant funded, this enables the sum which would otherwise be paid by 
Renewal towards the new station to be applied to the provision of 
additional affordable housing within the scheme. Thus, not only will the 
GLA’s current funding approach allow early delivery of the station and 
development of the first two phases of the scheme (Phases 1A and 2) 
to proceed ahead of schedule delivering 532 new homes, it will also 
secure delivery of more additional affordable homes than were 
originally to be provided within the scheme. 

 
4.13 The revised arrangements in relation to the Housing Zone funding 

which mean the new station works will be grant funded by the GLA, 
mean that the benefit received by Renewal will be applied to the 
delivery of additional affordable housing. The funding could directly 
deliver between approximately 40 (10 social rent or affordable rent and 
30 shared ownership based on the current 75:25 tenure split) and 75 
(based on 100% shared ownership) additional affordable units in the 
early phases depending on the tenure of those homes.  The Council 
would also be seeking to ensure that any income from those affordable 
units would go back into the scheme to deliver additional affordable 
housing.  Discussions with the GLA regarding tenure are continuing, 
but it is understood that they wish to ensure that best endeavours are 
made to maximise the number of affordable units, which will then 
influence the final tenure mix. 

 



 5 

 

 

4.14 Accepting the Housing Zone status requires the Council to enter into 
an agreement with the GLA on the funding arrangement. The first 
agreement that the Council must enter into the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU). This sets out the general principles upon which 
it has been agreed that Housing Zone funding is to be made available 
by the GLA and is followed in due course by the individual Borough 
Intervention Agreement that will subsequently be entered into between 
the parties to enable the funding to be paid to the Council.  The terms 
of this Borough Intervention Agreement will be reported back to Mayor 
and Cabinet for approval. 
 

4.15 In agreeing to officers supporting the Housing Zone bid for New 
Bermondsey on 25 March 2015, Mayor and Cabinet also required that 
the Memorandum of Understanding with the GLA, in connection with 
the New Bermondsey Housing Zone bid, be reported back to Mayor 
and Cabinet for approval.  

 
 
4.16 Council officers have worked with counterparts at the GLA to agree a 

draft form of the MoU, attached as Appendix 1 of this report. Officers 
are therefore seeking Mayor and Cabinet approval to the draft MoU in 
order to secure the £20M Housing Zone allocation.  

 
 

5.0 Financial implications 
 
5.1 There are no specific financial implications for the Council directly 

arising from this report. The Memorandum of Understanding sets out 
the overarching principles upon which Housing Zone Funding may be 
made available to the scheme and the council’s role in supporting 
delivery of the Housing Zone outputs. The Memorandum does not 
impose any financial responsibility on the Council.  
 

5.2 Following the Housing Zone designation, the GLA has allocated in 
principal funding of £20m towards delivery of key infrastructure 
associated with the scheme. The GLA proposes that in due course a 
grant agreement (known as a Borough Intervention Agreement) is 
entered into between the Council and the GLA whereby the GLA will 
provide grant funding of approximately £12m which will be passed by 
the Council to TfL with a requirement that TfL deliver the new 
Overground Station at Surrey Canal Road and open it within a set 
period. The balance of the £20m allocation will remain available for 
Renewal to take up through a second intervention. 

 
 

6.0 Legal implications 
 
6.1 The Council has a wide general power of competence under Section 1 

of the Localism Act 2011 to do anything that individuals generally 
 may do.  The existence of the general power is not limited by the 
existence of any other power of the Council which (to any extent) 



 6 

 

 

overlaps the general power. The Council can therefore rely on this 
power to participate in the New Bermondsey Housing Zone bid. 

 
6.2  The proposed Memorandum of Understanding between the GLA and 

the Council will not be legally binding but will contain commitments 
between the public sector partners. The terms of the specific Borough 
Intervention Agreements will be reported back to Mayor  & Cabinet for 
approval.  

 
 
7.0 Equality Implications 
 
7.1 There are direct equality implications associated with the 

recommendations of this report.    
 
8.0 Environmental Implications  
 
8.1 There are no immediate environmental implications associated with the 

recommendations of this report.    
 
9.0 Crime and disorder implications 
 
9.1 There are no immediate implications associated with the 

recommendations of this report.  The planning report referred to in the 
background papers has the implications concerning the scheme.  

 
 
 

Short title of document Date File Location Contact Officer 

New Bermondsey Housing 
Zone 

25th March 
2015 

Laurence House Kplom Lotsu 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1: Memorandum of Understanding 
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Kplom Lotsu, SGM 
Capital Programme Delivery on 020 8314 9283. 

 



 

Dated     2016 

 

 

Greater London Authority 

and 

London Borough of Lewisham 

 

 

 

 

 

Memorandum of Understanding 

New Bermondsey Housing Zone 

 

 

 



 

 

Clause Page 

1 Introduction 1 

2 Principles of the provision of Zone  Funding 1 

3 State Aid 2 

4 Zone Outputs 2 

5 Borough Role and Responsibilities 2 

6 Notifications, reporting and audit 3 

7 Change in financial circumstances 4 

8 Public relations and publicity 4 

9 Reputation of the parties 4 

10 Confidentiality and freedom of information 5 

11 Data Protection Act 8 

12 No fettering of discretion/statutory powers 8 

13 Dispute Resolution 9 

14 Disclaimer 9 

15 Status 9 

16 Governing law 9 

Schedule 1 –Zone Plan 10 

Schedule 2 – Zone Outputs 0 

Schedule 3 – Borough Contribution 1 

Schedule 4 – Governance Arrangements 2 

Schedule 5 - Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 4 

 



 

1 
 

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 

dated     2016 

Parties 

(1) Greater London Authority of City Hall, The Queen's Walk, More, London SE1 2AA (the 

GLA);  

(2) London Borough of Lewisham of Laurence House, Catford Road, London SE6 4RU (the 

Borough); 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Borough, in partnership with the developer, Renewal Group Limited, (Renewal), 

submitted proposals to the GLA for funding and designation as part of the Housing Zones 

Programme in respect of the proposed construction and/or delivery of a number of outputs 

(the Zone Outputs) within the Zone.   

1.2 The proposed Zone is the area shown edged red on the plan in Schedule 1. The proposed 

Zone Outputs are detailed in Schedule 2. 

1.3 The GLA has agreed in principle to make funding available in respect of the Zone, subject 

to further due diligence, availability of GLA resources and subject to contract, to enable the 

delivery of the Zone Outputs. 

1.4 This Memorandum of Understanding sets out the overarching principles upon which Zone 

Funding may be made available to the Borough and or Renewal (as appropriate), and the 

Borough’s role in supporting delivery of the Zone Outputs.  Legally binding intervention 

agreements between the GLA, the Borough and or Renewal (as appropriate) will set out the 

detailed terms and conditions upon which specific amounts of Zone Funding will be 

advanced by the GLA. 

2 Principles of the provision of Zone Funding 

2.1 The GLA has agreed in principle during the period until March 2018 to make available 

funding to facilitate the delivery of the Zone Outputs in an aggregate principal amount equal 

to £20,000,000 (Zone Funding). The Borough and Renewal acknowledge that this 

allocation is an indicative amount only and may be adjusted by the GLA. 

2.2 The parties acknowledge and agree that the provision of any Zone Funding by the GLA is 

subject to: 

2.2.1 due diligence (including financial and legal due diligence) having been carried 

out by the GLA and the results of which being satisfactory to it;  

2.2.2 the availability of GLA resources; and 

2.2.3 a legally binding contract having been concluded between the GLA, the Borough 

and or Renewal (as appropriate) setting out the detailed terms and conditions 

pursuant to which the Borough or Renewal agrees to deliver or procure the 

delivery of the capital works or other outputs (as specified in the relevant 



 

2 
 

agreement) which secure the delivery of the Zone Outputs (the Intervention 

Agreements). 

2.3 The parties acknowledge that: 

2.3.1 the GLA will enter into a Borough Intervention Agreement with the Borough for 

up to £12,000,000 out of the Zone  Funding; and 

2.3.2 subject to clause 2.2 above, there will be further Intervention Agreements with 

the Borough and or Renewal (as appropriate) for every other intervention in the 

proposed Zone Outputs detailed in Schedule 2. 

3 State Aid 

3.1 The Borough acknowledges that Zone Funding will be given under each Intervention 

Agreement on the basis that such Zone Funding is compliant with State Aid requirements.  

The grounds for such compliance will vary depending on the particular circumstances of the 

Zone Outputs under each proposed Intervention Agreement but State Aid compliance is 

likely to be based on one or more of the following grounds: 

3.1.1 the funding is compatible aid given in accordance with an EU measure (including 

a Service of General Economic Interest or in accordance with the General Block 

Exemption Regulation); 

3.1.2 the funding does not constitute State Aid; 

3.1.3 the funding is provided for a public function which is not an economic activity; and 

3.1.4 such other grounds as may be applicable. 

4 Zone Outputs 

4.1 The Borough acknowledges that the GLA has (subject to clause 2 above) allocated the Zone 

Funding on the understanding that the Zone Outputs will be delivered in accordance with 

the details in Schedule 2. 

4.2 The Borough must take reasonable steps to support the delivery of the Zone Outputs in 

accordance with the terms and timescales set out in Schedule 2. 

4.3 If and to the extent that any variation is agreed in relation to an Intervention Agreement 

which has the effect or ought to have the effect of varying the Zone Outputs in Schedule 2 

or the Zone Funding allocation (as set out in clause 2.1 above and detailed in Schedule 2), 

the parties must amend this MoU, such amendment to be recorded in writing, to reflect the 

variation of the Intervention Agreement's terms. 

5 Borough Role and Responsibilities 

5.1 The Borough will: 

5.1.1 ensure that: 

(a) in relation to the Zone a Planning Performance Agreement is in place in 

relation to each of the sites on which the Zone Outputs are to be 



 

3 
 

constructed (the Sites) and, as and when requested by GLA, that GLA is 

a party to reach agreement in relation to any Site which is referable to it; 

or 

(b) an alternative arrangement (acceptable to GLA acting reasonably) is in 

place to ensure efficient and prompt decision-making in relation to 

planning matters; and 

(c) no change is made to the arrangements contemplated in this clause 

without the GLA's prior written consent; 

5.1.2 ensure the delivery of a number of related objectives and outcomes, which will 

help deliver the Zone Outputs, previously referred to as the “something-for-

something” offer in their Housing Zone proposals, (the Borough Contribution) 

in the form, quantum and timescales referred to in Schedule 3;  

5.1.3 comply with the provisions of the Governance Arrangements detailed in Schedule 

4 and not make any changes to the same without the prior written consent of the 

GLA; and 

5.1.4 take all reasonable steps to meet the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) listed in 

Schedule 5. 

6 Notifications, reporting and audit 

6.1 The Borough shall notify the GLA: 

6.1.1 immediately upon any change (whether actual or proposed) required to the Zone 

Outputs; 

6.1.2 immediately upon becoming aware of any event which: 

(a) prejudices or might prejudice the delivery of the Zone Outputs or any; or 

(b) prejudices or might prejudice the Borough’s ability to provide the Borough 

Contribution; or 

(c) has resulted in or might give rise to the making of a report under Section 

114(3) or Section 114A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 or 

Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or a direction 

by the Secretary of State under Section 15 of the Local Government Act 

1999. 

6.1.3 as soon as reasonably practicable on becoming aware of any claim brought 

against the Borough arising out of or relating to the activities of the Borough 

and/or the Zone  Funding or pursuant to any documents entered into (or to be 

entered into) by the Borough in relation to a Zone; or 

6.1.4 immediately upon failing to comply with clauses 5.1.2, 5.1.3 or 5.1.4. 

6.2 The GLA and the Borough shall attend a review meeting within ten (10) business days of 

each quarter date (31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December) (or within such 

longer period as the GLA may at its absolute discretion agree) to discuss (but without 



 

4 
 

limitation) progress in achieving the Zone Outputs and such other matters relevant to the 

Housing Zones Programme as are notified by any party to the others in writing at least five 

(5) business days prior to the date of the review meeting.  Renewal will be expected to 

attend this meeting and will be given reasonable notice to attend. 

6.3 The GLA or the Borough may also call a review meeting at any time outside of the quarterly 

cycle provided that the party requesting the meeting gives reasonable prior written notice to 

the others of such meeting. 

6.4 The GLA may also request (whether on behalf of itself or any Government office) at any 

other time information from the Borough in respect of the delivery of the Zone Outputs or 

such other matters relating to the Housing Zones Programme and the Borough shall 

promptly respond to any such request. 

6.5 The Borough shall, as and when requested by GLA, make available on a transparent and 

full disclosure basis, in good faith and in a timely manner to GLA where required in 

connection with this MoU or the Zone Outputs a copy of each of: all data, materials, 

documents and accounts of any nature created, acquired or brought into existence in any 

manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Borough (including by its officers, employees, 

agents or consultants) for the purposes of the Housing Zone Programme. 

7 Change in financial circumstances 

The Borough shall notify GLA immediately where there is or has been any reduction or 

withdrawal in relation to the Borough Contribution. 

8 Public relations and publicity 

8.1 The Borough will ensure that the GLA's requirements from time to time in relation to public 

relations and publicity for capital projects (including site signage) as notified to the relevant 

Borough from time to time are observed and implemented in respect of the Zone and/or the 

Zone Outputs. 

8.2 The Borough will not, and will procure that, no officer, employee or agent will not 

communicate with any representative of any press, television, radio or other 

communications media on any matter concerning the Zone and/or the Zone Outputs without 

GLA's prior written consent.  

8.3 The GLA will have the right to approve any announcement by the Borough in relation to the 

Zone and/or the Zone Outputs before it is made. 

8.4 The Borough shall grant GLA a non-exclusive, royalty free licence (to the extent that it can 

grant such a licence) to use any photographs, records, images, articles or illustrations in 

relation to the Zone undertaken by or for the Borough for use in any publicity or advertising, 

whether published alone or in conjunction with any other person. 

9 Reputation of the parties 

9.1 The Borough will not, and will use all reasonable endeavours to procure that all officers, 

employees or agents will not knowingly do or omit to do anything in relation to the Zone, 

Zone Outputs or in the course of their other activities that may bring the standing of the 



 

5 
 

Mayor, the GLA or any functional bodies or subsidiaries of the GLA into disrepute or attract 

adverse publicity for GLA. 

9.2 No party will publish any statement, orally or in writing, relating to another party which might 

damage that other party's reputation or that of any of its officers or employees. 

10 Confidentiality and freedom of information 

10.1 Confidentiality 

10.1.1 Subject to clauses 10.1.2 to 10.1.5 below, no party shall disclose to any third 

party any Confidential Information without the prior written consent of the other 

relevant party. 

10.1.2 Clause 10.1.1 shall not apply to any Confidential Information which: 

(a) is or becomes public knowledge (otherwise than by breach of clause 10);  

(b) is lawfully in the possession of the disclosing party, without restriction as 

to its disclosure, before they receive it from another party;  

(c) is received by the disclosing party from a third party who lawfully acquired 

it and who is under no obligation restricting its disclosure; 

(d) a party discloses in response to a Request for Information. 

10.1.3 Clause 10.1.1 shall not prevent any party from disclosing, without the other 

relevant party’s consent, any Confidential Information to the extent that it is 

required to be disclosed: 

(a) by law, including the FOIA Legislation, or by a court, arbitral or 

administrative tribunal or regulatory body in the course of proceedings 

before it or a regulatory body acting in the course of its duties; 

(b) to enable the disclosing party to perform its obligations under any 

Development Facility Agreement; or 

(c) in order to give proper instructions to any professional adviser of that 

party who also has an obligation to keep any such Confidential 

Information confidential. 

10.1.4 Nothing in this clause 10 shall prevent the GLA: 

(a) disclosing any Confidential Information for the purpose of the examination 

and certification of GLA’s accounts or any examination pursuant to 

section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness with which GLA has used its resources; or 

(b) disclosing any Confidential Information obtained from the Borough to any 

other department, office or agency of the Crown or to any person 

engaged in providing any services to GLA for any purpose relating to or 

ancillary to this MoU or the Housing Zones Programme or any person 

conducting an Office of Government Commerce gateway review; 



 

6 
 

provided that in disclosing information under clause 10.1.4(b) the GLA discloses 

only the information which is necessary for the purpose concerned and requires 

that the information is treated in confidence and that a confidentiality undertaking 

is given where appropriate.  

10.1.5 Nothing in this clause 10.1 shall prevent the GLA from publishing information 

relating to Zone Funding allocations, locational characteristics of a Housing Zone 

and/or Zone Outputs. 

10.2 Freedom of information 

10.2.1 Each party to this MoU acknowledges that the GLA and the Borough are FOIA 

Authorities and:  

(a) are subject to legal duties which may require the release of information; 

and   

(b) FOIA Authorities may be under an obligation to provide Information 

subject to a Request for Information.  

10.2.2 The FOIA Authority in receipt of or to receive the RFI (Relevant FOIA Authority) 

will be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether: 

(a) any Information is Exempted Information or remains Exempted 

Information; and/or 

(b) any Information is to be disclosed in response to a Request for 

Information;   

and in no event shall any party, other than the Relevant FOIA Authority, respond 

directly to a RFI except to confirm receipt of the RFI and that the RFI has been 

passed to the Relevant FOIA Authority unless otherwise expressly authorised to 

do so by the Relevant FOIA Authority.  

10.2.3 Subject to clause 10.2.4 below, each party acknowledges that the Relevant FOIA 

Authority may disclose Information: 

(a) without consulting them (or any one of them); or 

(b) following consultation with them (or any one of them) and having taken 

(or not taken, as the case may be) its (or their) views into account. 

10.2.4 Without in any way limiting clauses 10.2.2 and 10.2.3, in the event that the 

Relevant FOIA Authority receives a RFI, the Relevant FOIA Authority will, where 

appropriate, as soon as reasonably practicable notify the other parties. 

10.2.5 Each party will assist and co-operate as requested by the Relevant FOIA 

Authority to enable the Relevant FOIA Authority to comply with its disclosure 

requirements under FOIA and EIR within the prescribed periods for compliance 

and in particular without limitation will (and will procure that its  agents and sub-

contractors will), at their own cost: 



 

7 
 

(a) transfer any RFI received to the Relevant FOIA Authority as soon as 

practicable after receipt and in any event within two (2) Business Days of 

receiving a RFI; 

(b) provide all such assistance as may be required from time to time by the 

Relevant FOIA Authority and supply such data or information as may be 

requested by the Relevant FOIA Authority;  

(c) provide the Relevant FOIA Authority with any data or information in its 

possession or power in the form that the Relevant FOIA Authority requires 

within five (5) Business Days (or such other period as the Relevant FOIA 

Authority may specify) of the Relevant FOIA Authority requesting that 

Information; and 

(d) permit the Relevant FOIA Authority to inspect any records as requested 

from time to time. 

10.2.6 Nothing in this MoU will prevent the Relevant FOIA Authority from complying with 

any valid order, decision, enforcement or practice recommendation notice issued 

to it by the Information Commissioner under FOIA and / or EIR in relation to any 

Exempted Information.  

10.2.7 Each party acknowledges and agrees that GLA may in its absolute discretion 

redact all or part of the Information prior to its publication.  In so doing and in its 

absolute discretion GLA may take account of any EIR Exemptions and FOIA 

Exemptions.  GLA may in its absolute discretion consult with the relevant party 

(or parties) regarding any redactions to the Information to be published pursuant 

to this clause 10.  GLA will make the final decision regarding publication and/or 

redaction of the Information. 

10.3 The obligations in this clause 10 will survive the expiry or termination of this MoU and any 

Development Facility Agreements for a period of two (2) years or, in respect of any 

particular item of Confidential Information, until such earlier time as that item of 

Confidential Information reaches the public domain otherwise than by reason of a breach 

of this clause 10 or of any other duty of confidentiality relating to that information. 

10.4 In this clause 10, the following words and expressions have the following meanings: 

10.4.1 Business Day means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory bank 

holiday in England; 

10.4.2 Confidential Information means in respect of GLA all information relating to 

GLA or the existence or terms of this MoU or any agreement associated with this 

MoU (Associated Agreement) in respect of which any party hereto becomes 

aware in its capacity as a party to this MoU or which is received by such party in 

relation to this MoU or an Associated Agreement from either GLA or any of its 

advisers or from any third party if the information was obtained by that third party 

directly or indirectly from GLA or any of its advisors in whatever form in either 

case (including information given orally and any document electronic file or other 

means of recording or representing information which includes derives or is 

copied from such information) and in the case of the Borough means such 



 

8 
 

specific information as the Borough shall have identified to GLA prior to the date 

hereof as confidential information for the purposes of this MoU; 

10.4.3 EIR means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004, and any 

subordinate legislation made under this statutory instrument from time to time 

together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information 

Commissioner in relation to such legislation; 

10.4.4 EIR Exemption means any applicable exemption to EIR; 

10.4.5 Exempted Information means any Information that is designated as falling or 

potentially falling within the FOIA Exemptions or the EIR Exceptions; 

10.4.6 FOIA means the Freedom of Information Act 2000, and any subordinate 

legislation made under this Act from time to time together with any guidance 

and/or codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner in relation to 

such legislation; 

10.4.7 FOIA Authority/Authorities means a public authority as defined by FOIA and/or 

EIR; 

10.4.8 FOIA Exemption means any applicable exemption to the FOIA; 

10.4.9 Information means: 

(a) in relation to the FOIA has the meaning given under section 84 of the 

FOIA and which is held by GLA or the Borough at the time of receipt of 

an RFI; and 

(b) in relation to the EIR has the meaning given under the definition of 

“environmental information” in section 2 of the EIR and which is held by 

GLA the Borough at the time of receipt of an RFI; 

10.4.10 Information Commissioner has the meaning set out in section 6 of the Data 

Protection Act 1998 as amended or updated from time to time; 

10.4.11 Request for Information/RFI shall have the meaning set out in the FOIA or any 

request for information under EIR which may relate to the Zone, this MoU, any 

Development Facility Agreement or any activities or business of GLA; 

11 Data Protection Act 

The parties will co-operate with one another in order to enable each party to fulfil its statutory 

obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998 as amended or updated from time to time. 

12 No fettering of discretion/statutory powers 

Nothing contained in or carried out pursuant to this MoU or any Development Facility  

Agreement and no consents given by GLA or the Borough will unlawfully prejudice GLA's or 

the Borough’s rights, powers or duties and/or obligations in the exercise of its functions or 

under any statutes, byelaws, instruments, orders or regulations. 



 

9 
 

13 Dispute Resolution 

Any dispute as to the interpretation or application of this MoU shall be directed to senior 

representatives of the parties who will meet within ten (10) business days (or such longer 

period not exceeding twenty (20) business days as the parties may agree) of receipt of a 

notice from the party who considers that a dispute exists and use their reasonable 

endeavours to resolve such dispute amiably and in good faith. 

14 Disclaimer 

GLA will not be liable to the other party for any advice given by a representative of GLA.  In 

addition, GLA gives no assurance as to the suitability or viability of any Housing Zone and 

no endorsement of the same. 

15 Status 

15.1 Except as expressly specified in clause 15.2 below, this MoU is not intended to be legally 

binding and no legal obligations or legal rights shall arise between the parties as a result of 

this MoU. The parties sign the MoU intending to honour all their obligations. 

15.2 Clauses 8.4 (public relations and publicity), 10 (confidentiality and freedom of information), 

15.2 and 15.3 (status) and 16 (governing law) are legally binding and the obligations of each 

party under these clauses are made in consideration of the obligations of each other party 

under these clauses. 

15.3 Except as otherwise expressly provided no person who is not a party shall be entitled to 

enforce any of the legally binding terms of this MoU solely by virtue of the contracts (Rights 

of Third Parties) Act 1999. 

15.4 Nothing in this MoU is intended to, or shall be deemed to establish any partnership or joint 

venture between the parties, constitute any party as the agent of any other party, or 

authorise any of the parties to make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of the 

other party. 

16 Governing law 

This MoU shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and 

Wales and the parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England 

and Wales. 

 



 

10 
 

Schedule 1 –Zone Plan  

  



 

0 
 

Schedule 2 – Zone Outputs 

Lewisham-New 
Bermondsey_HZ_mou.xlsx

 

  



 

1 
 

 
 
Schedule 3 – Borough Contribution 

London Borough of Lewisham’s ‘something for something’  

In 2012 LBL committed £2m funding which enabled the delivery of passive provision to the station and 

three surrounding underpasses.  In addition to this historic contribution, the Borough has also 

committed £500k towards Energize and on 7 September 2016 resolved to make the CPO.   

 

 

 

  



 

2 
 

Schedule 4 – Governance Arrangements 

Delivery structure for the New Bermondsey Housing Zone 

 



 

 

Details of the proposed contractual agreement between entities and a summary of what 

purpose those agreements serve. 

 

Section 106 Agreement 

Renewal is the Master Developer (“the Developer”) and landowner of the overall New Bermondsey 

regeneration scheme.  

 

Renewal has signed a section 106 agreement, dated 31 March 2012, relating to the New Bermondsey 

outline planning consent. Signatories of the 31 March 2012 s106 agreement include Renewal (using 

the former company name Cragside), LB Lewisham and TfL.  

 

A revised s106 agreement, following the resolution to grant the s73 amendment to the masterplan on 

12 December 2013, was completed on 18 December 2015 to release the s73 consent.   

 

Pre Planning Agreements 

For the outline planning application and the s73 application the Developer and the Council entered into 

a Pre Planning Agreement (PPA). It is proposed that the Developer and the Council with enter into a 

PPA for prior to the submission of planning applications for phase 1A and phase 2.  

 

New Bermondsey Housing Zone Memorandum of Understanding 

As the scheme is Developer led and not Council led, the Memorandum of Understanding between the 

Council and the GLA formalises the Borough’s continued commitment to the delivery of the New 

Bermondsey regeneration scheme.  

 

The Memorandum of Understanding will include the following assurances: 

New 
Bermondsey 

Housing Zone 
Monitoring 

Group

GLA

Funding; Strategic 
Partner

Renewal

Master Developer; 
Land Owner

LB Lewisham

Strategic Partner; 
Planning; 

Regeneration; 
CPO

TfL

Delivery of New 
Station and 
Transport 

Interchange



 

3 
 

 Continued collaborative approach with public and private sector partners (GLA, TfL, Renewal) 
to facilitate the delivery of the wider New Bermondsey regeneration scheme; 

 participation in Housing Zone governance structure (i.e: representation on the New 
Bermondsey Housing Zone delivery board); 

 continued assistance in completion of site land assembly and agreement to consider use of 
Compulsory Purchase Powers should this be required. 

 

The final terms of the Memorandum of Understanding will be reported back to LB Lewisham’s Mayor 

and Cabinet for approval. 

 

 

Reporting process  

In the New Bermondsey Housing Zone bid addendum, 21 November 2014, it was proposed that “a 

reporting process will be agreed with the Developer to enable the Council to have regular updates on 

the delivery of phase 1A and 2 and early notification of any issues arising that may impact on delivery 

of the Housing Zone commitments.” 

 

There will be monthly New Bermondsey Housing Zone Monitoring Group meetings, attended by the 

Developer, LB Lewisham and the GLA to monitor the progress of the New Bermondsey Housing Zone; 

TfL will be invited as and when required.  

 

The first of Monitoring Group meeting took place on the 5 March 2015. 

  



 

4 
 

Schedule 5 - Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

 

  

Planning Performance Agreements 

  

KPI 1 

The Borough will enter into a Planning Performance Agreement with the developer 

and GLA in respect of any of the sites referable to it. 

 

  

Planning Committee 

  

KPI 2 

Any relevant reports to planning committee will be copied to the GLA and the GLA 

will be invited to attend pre application briefings to this committee in respect of any 

of the Sites referable to the GLA.  

  

Planning Team and Joint Working with the GLA 

  

KPI 3 

Joint pre-application meetings will be held and joint pre-application advice will be 

issued in respect of any of the sites on which the Zone Outputs are to be constructed 

referable to the GLA and the Borough will put in place a dedicated resource to 

manage Housing Zone planning applications.   

  

Planning Conditions 

  

KPI 4 

The Borough will agree draft planning conditions with applicants in respect of 

Housing Zone applications prior to applications being heard at planning committee 

(and provided that developer and or any other third party co-operates).  The Borough 

agrees, subject to the receipt of all requisite information, provided that it is 

satisfactory to the LPA, to discharge planning conditions within 6 weeks of receipt of 

this information.  

  

Determination Periods 

  

KPI 5 
The Borough will determine Housing Zone planning applications within statutory 

timescales unless otherwise agreed with the applicant.  

  

Section 106 

  

KPI 6 

For Housing Zone planning applications, the Borough will agree s106 heads of terms 

with applicants prior to planning committee, subject to third party cooperation, and 

will issue draft s106 agreements as soon as reasonably possible after resolution to 

grant planning permission and no later than 8 weeks from the date of the resolution 

by the planning committee. The Borough will comply with the PPA with regard to the 

timescales from completion of the s106 agreement to an applicant.  



 

0 
 

 

Signed for and on behalf of GLA  

Signature: ............................................ 

 

Name: ............................................ 

 

Position: ............................................ 

 

Date: ............................................ 

 

 

 

 

Signed for and on behalf of LBL  

Signature: ............................................ 

 

Name: ............................................ 

 

Position: ............................................ 

 

Date: ............................................ 

 



HZ Version: Contract Schedule 

v4  - March 2016

1) Direct homes completions delivery 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 

LB Lewisham 1) Direct homes completions delivery MARKET RENT homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 1) Direct homes completions delivery AFFORDABLE RENT homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 46

LB Lewisham 1) Direct homes completions delivery MARKET SALE homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,657 1,657

LB Lewisham 1) Direct homes completions delivery FIRST STEPS homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 137 137

LB Lewisham 1) Direct homes completions delivery TOTAL homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,840 1,840

2) Direct homes starts on site delivery 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 

LB Lewisham 2) Direct homes starts on site delivery MARKET RENT homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 2) Direct homes starts on site delivery AFFORDABLE RENT homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 2) Direct homes starts on site delivery MARKET SALE homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 2) Direct homes starts on site delivery FIRST STEPS homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 2) Direct homes starts on site delivery TOTAL homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3a) Indirect homes - completions 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total Rent Home Ownership Total 

LB Lewisham 3a) Indirect homes - completions Affordable Indirect (in other GLA progs) 0 0 235 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 235 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 3a) Indirect homes - completions Affordable Indirect (borough autonomous) 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 60 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 3a) Indirect homes - completions Open Mrkt Indirect (in other GLA progs) 0 0 243 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,657 1,900 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 3a) Indirect homes - completions Open Mrkt Indirect (borough autonomous) 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 137 177 0 0 0

LB Lewisham 3a) Indirect homes - completions TOTAL Indirect homes (completions) 0 0 532 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,840 2,372 0 0 0

3b) Indirect homes - starts on site 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 

LB Lewisham 3b) Indirect homes - starts on siteAffordable Indirect (in other GLA progs) 0 0 0 235 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 235

LB Lewisham 3b) Indirect homes - starts on siteAffordable Indirect (borough autonomous) 0 0 0 14 0 0 46 0 0 0 0 60

LB Lewisham 3b) Indirect homes - starts on siteOpen Mrkt Indirect (in other GLA progs) 0 0 0 243 0 0 1,657 0 0 0 0 1,900

LB Lewisham 3b) Indirect homes - starts on siteOpen Mrkt Indirect (borough autonomous) 0 0 0 40 0 0 137 0 0 0 0 177

LB Lewisham 3b) Indirect homes - starts on siteTOTAL Indirect homes (starts) 0 0 0 532 0 0 1,840 0 0 0 0 2,372

4) GLA funding payment profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2025 Beyond 2025 Total 

LB Lewisham 4) GLA funding payment profile Grant payments : £0 £12,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £12,000,000

LB Lewisham 4) GLA funding payment profile Recoverable Grant payments: £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

LB Lewisham 4) GLA funding payment profile Financial Transactions Equity: £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

LB Lewisham 4) GLA funding payment profile Financial Transactions Loan: £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000

LB Lewisham 4) GLA funding payment profile TOTAL payments £0 £12,000,000 £0 £8,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £20,000,000

5) Repayment profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2025 2025-30 Beyond 2030 Total 

LB Lewisham 5) Repayment profile Recoverable Grant repayment: £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

LB Lewisham 4) GLA funding payment profile FT Equity Stake repayment £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

LB Lewisham 5) Repayment profile FT Loan repayment £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0
FT Loan Interest payments £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000 £8,000,000

LB Lewisham 5) Repayment profile TOTAL repayment £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000 £8,000,000

OTHER NAMED PARTNERS: Renewal Group, Transport for London
BOROUGH LEAD OFFICER Kplom Lotsu

SUMMARY: Housing Zone Pre Contract Monitoring Proforma: Outputs, Payments, Repayments Summary

GLA LEAD BOROUGH OFFICER Jonathan Goldstraw
For contract schedule only: enter name of organisation the GLA is 

contracting with 

LB Lewisham / Renewal Group Limited

HOUSING ZONE Schedule 

HOUSING ZONE NAME: New Bermondsey
PARTICIPATING BOROUGH: LB Lewisham



1

2

1 Direct completions delivery profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 
Please enter site name :

MARKET RENT homes 0
AFFORDABLE RENT homes 0
MARKET SALE homes 0
FIRST STEPS homes 0
TOTAL homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other direct deliverables on this site.  

Please specify:

Additional table for each site to be inserted below

1 Direct completions delivery profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 
Please enter site name :

MARKET RENT homes 0 0
AFFORDABLE RENT homes 46 46
MARKET SALE homes 1,657 1,657
FIRST STEPS homes 137 137
TOTAL homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,840 1,840

Other direct deliverables on this site.  

Please specify:

2 Direct SoS delivery profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 
Please enter site name :

MARKET RENT homes 0
AFFORDABLE RENT homes 0
MARKET SALE homes 0
FIRST STEPS homes 0
TOTAL homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other direct deliverables on this site.  

Please specify:

Additional table for each site to be inserted below

2 Direct SoS delivery profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 
Please enter site name :

MARKET RENT homes 0
AFFORDABLE RENT homes 0
MARKET SALE homes 0
FIRST STEPS homes 0
TOTAL homes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other direct deliverables on this site.  

Please specify:

3a) Indirect homes - completions 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total Rent Home Ownership Total 

Affordable Indirect (in other GLA progs) 235 0 235

Affordable Indirect (borough autonomous) 14 46 60

Open Mrkt Indirect (in other GLA progs) 243 1,657 1,900

Open Mrkt Indirect (borough autonomous) 40 137 177

TOTAL Indirect homes (completions) 0 0 532 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,840 2,372 0 0 0

3b) Indirect homes - starts on site 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 Total 

2) Direct output Starts on Site delivery: Please provide details of direct housing starts to be delivered through GLA funding

New Bermondsey Station, London Overground

New Bermondsey Transport Interchange

3) Indirect output delivery: Please provide details of indirect housing outputs to be unlocked within the housing zone 

New Bermondsey Station, London Overground

New Bermondsey Transport Interchange

1) Direct output completions delivery: Please provide details of direct housing outputs to be delivered through GLA funding

New Bermondsey Station, London Overground

New Bermondsey Transport Interchange

Summary of Sites for Housing Zone 



Affordable Indirect (in other GLA progs) 235 0 235

Affordable Indirect (borough autonomous) 14 46 60

Open Mrkt Indirect (in other GLA progs) 243 1,657 1,900

Open Mrkt Indirect (borough autonomous) 40 137 177

TOTAL Indirect homes (starts) 0 0 0 532 0 0 1,840 0 0 0 0 2,372



4 GLA funding payment profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2025 Beyond 2025 Total 
Please enter site name :

Grant payments : £12,000,000 £12,000,000

Please specify the payment trigger Triggered once contract 

is signed - to enable New 

Station works to 

commence immediately.

Recoverable Grant payments: £0

Please specify the payment trigger

Financial Transactions Equity: £0

Please specify the payment trigger

Financial Transactions Loan: £0

Please specify the payment trigger

TOTAL payments £0 £12,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £12,000,000

Additional table for each site to be inserted below

4 GLA funding payment profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2025 Beyond 2025 Total 
Please enter site name :

Grant payments : £0

Please specify the payment trigger

Recoverable Grant payments: £0

Please specify the payment trigger

Financial Transactions Equity: £0

Please specify the payment trigger

Financial Transactions Loan: £8,000,000 £8,000,000

Please specify the payment trigger Trigger to be agreed.  

Only available subject to 

contract and due 

diligence.

TOTAL payments £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000

5 Repayment profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2025 2025-30 Beyond 2030 Total 
Please enter site name :

Recoverable Grant repayment: £0

Please specify the repayment trigger

FT Equity Stake repayment £0

New Bermondsey Station, London Overground

5) RE-PAYMENT PROFILE: Please provide details of when repayments will be made to the GLA 

New Bermondsey Transport Interchange

New Bermondsey Station, London Overground

4) GLA FUNDING PAYMENT PROFILE: Please provide details of when payments from GLA funding will be made



Please specify the repayment trigger

FT Loan repayment £0

Please specify the repayment trigger

FT Loan Interest payments £0

Please specify the payment trigger

TOTAL repayments £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Additional table for each site to be inserted below

5 Repayment profile 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2025 2025-30 Beyond 2030 Total 
Please enter site name :

Recoverable Grant repayment: £0

Please specify the repayment trigger

FT Equity Stake repayment £0

Please specify the repayment trigger

FT Loan repayment £0

Please specify the repayment trigger

FT Loan Interest payments £8,000,000 £8,000,000

Please specify the payment trigger

TOTAL repayments £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £8,000,000 £8,000,000

New Bermondsey Transport Interchange


	Agenda
	1 Declaration of Interests
	2 Consideration of call-in of decisions on New Bermondsey CPO
	New Bermondsey - CPO Reconsideration
	December Cover Sheet New Bermondsey CPO call-in
	Appendix 1 December New Bermondsey - Reconsideration
	December Appendix 1 New Bermondsey Compulsory Purchase Order
	December Appendix 2 - Letter to Councillor Hall - 19 09 16
	December Appendix 3 - Correspondence between MFC and LBL (2)
	December Appendix 4 - New Bermondsey Sales Brochure
	Appendix 2 OSBP Referral December 2016 on New Bermondsey CPO
	Appendix 3 LBL Correspondence with Millwall FC and Millwall Community Trust
	Appendix 3 Youth Development rules
	Appendix 4 Eversheds letter
	Appendix 4 Shoosmiths Letter to Mayor and Cabinet - 9 12 16
	Appendix 4 Shoosmiths Letter to Mayor and Cabinet September and February 2016
	Appendix 5 Richard Slack email
	Appendix 5 Shirley Keyhoe email
	Appendix 6 Email from Mushtaq Malik to Janet Senior 12 December 2016

	3 New Bermondsey Housing Zone
	New Bermondsey Housing Zone
	New Bermondsey Housing Zone Memorandum of Understanding
	Worksheet in NewBermondsey Housing Zone Memorandum of Understanding


